

Université Sorbonne Paris Cité Université Paris Diderot



### École Doctorale de Science Mathématiques de Paris Centre Laboratoire de Probabilités, Statistique et Modélisation

## THÈSE DE DOCTORAT

Discipline : Mathématiques Appliquées

présentée par

Xiaoli WEI

### Problèmes de contrôle de type McKean-Vlasov et applications

### Control of McKean-Vlasov systems and applications

Dirigée par Pr. Huyên PHAM

Soutenue publiquement le 27 November 2018 devant le jury composé de :

Jean-François CHASSAGNEUX	Université Paris Diderot	examinateur
François Delarue	Université Nice-Sophia Antipolis	rapporteur & examinateur
Xin Guo	University of California, Berkeley	rapporteure
Idris Kharroubi	Sorbonne Université, UPMC	examinateur
Huyên Pham	Université Paris Diderot	directeur
Agnès Sulem	Centre de Recherche Inria de Paris	examinatrice
Denis Talay	Inria Sophia-Antipolis	président du jury
Xiaolu Tan	Université Paris Dauphine	examinateur

## Remerciements

Je tiens tout d'abord à remercier mon directeur de thèse, Huyên Pham, pour m'avoir fait découvrir le monde de la recherche en mathématiques financières et contrôle stochastique. Je lui suis particulièrement reconnaissant pour sa grande disponibilité lors de ces trois années; ses nombreux conseils, ainsi que la rigueur mathématique m'ont beaucoup apporté.

Je voudrais ensuite adresser tous mes remerciements à François Delarue et Xin Guo qui ont accepté de rapporter cette thèse. Je suis très honoré par leurs précieux commentaires. Je voudrais également remercier Jean-François Chassagneux, François Delarue, Idris Kharroubi, Agnès Sulem, Denis Talay et Xiaolu Tan, d'avoir accepté de faire partie du jury de soutenance.

Toute ma reconnaissance va également à Chao Zhou. Notre collaboration a contribué à une partie de ce manuscript. Je lui suis également reconnaissante pour les séjours enrichissants à Singapour.

Ce fut un réel plaisir d'avoir travaillé au bâtiment Sophie Germain dans l'équipe mathématiques financières et probabilités numériques dont je remercie tous les enseignants chercheurs : Jean-François Chassagneux, Claudio Fontana, Noufel Frikha, Zorana Grbac, Idris Kharroubi, Gilles Pagès, Huyên Pham, Marie-Claire Quenez, Simone Scotti, ainsi que des post-doctorants et des doctorants avec qui j'ai eu des échanges et des partages : Matteo Basei, Cyril Benezet, Jiatu Cai, Junchao Chen, Yann Chiffaudel, Fabio Coppini, Clément Cosco, Mi-Song Dupuy, Thomas Galtier, Benjamin Havret, Côme Huré, David Krief, Arturo Leos Zamorategui, Houzhi Li, Shanqiu Li, Médéric Motte, Vu-Lan Nguyen, Johan Nicolle, Tingting Zhang. Je remercie également Nathalie Bergame et Valérie Juvé pour leurs excellents services au niveau de l'administration.

Je remercie tous les amis qui m'ont entouré ces dernières années, ainsi que ma famille dont la confiance lors de mes nombreuses années d'étude a été très précieuse. Enfin j'exprime toute ma reconnaissance à Tian pour ses encouragements et son soutien constant.

## Résumé

Cette thèse étudie le contrôle optimal de la dynamique de type McKean-Vlasov et ses applications en mathématiques financières. La thèse contient deux parties.

Dans la première partie, nous devéloppons la méthode de la programmation dynamique pour résoudre les problèmes de contrôle stochastique de type McKean-Vlasov. En utilisant les contrôles admissibles appropriés, nous pouvons reformuler la fonction valeur en fonction de la loi (resp. la loi conditionnelle) du processus comme seule variable d'état et obtenir la propriété du flot de la loi (resp. la loi conditionnelle) du processus, qui permettent d'obtenir en toute généralité le principe de la programmation dynamique. Ensuite nous obtenons l'équation de Bellman correspondante, en s'appuyant sur la notion de différentiabilité par rapport aux mesures de probabilité introduite par P.L. Lions [Lio12] et la formule d'Itô pour le flot de probabilité. Enfin nous montrons la propriété de viscosité et l'unicité de la fonction valeur de l'équation de Bellman. Dans le premier chaptire, nous résumons quelques résultats utiles du calcul différentiel et de l'analyse stochastique sur l'espace de Wasserstein. Dans le deuxième chapitre, nous considérons le contrôle optimal stochastique de système à champ moyen non linéaire en temps discret. Le troisème chapitre étudie le problème de contrôle optimal stochastique d'EDS de type McKean-Vlasov sans bruit commun en temps continu où les coefficients peuvent dépendre de la loi joint de l'état et du contrôle, et enfin dans le dernier chapitre de cette partie nous nous intéressons au contrôle optimal de la dynamique stochastique de type McKean-Vlasov en présence de bruit commun en temps continu.

Dans la deuxième partie, nous proposons un modèle d'allocation de portefeuille robuste permettant l'incertitude sur la rentabilité espérée et la matrice de corrélation des actifs multiples, dans un cadre de moyenne-variance en temps continu. Ce problème est formulé comme un jeu différentiel à champ moyen. Nous montrons ensuite un principe de séparation pour le problème associé. Nos résultats explicites permettent de justifier quantativement la sous-diversification, comme le montrent les études empiriques.

#### Mots-clefs

Équation de type McKean-Vlasov, EDS de type McKean-Vlasov, programmation dynamique, espace de Wasserstein, équation de Bellman, solution de viscosité , problème de Markowitz en temps continu, incertitude sur les modèles, drift et corrélation ambiguës, principe de séparation, sous-diversification

### Abstract

This thesis deals with the study of optimal control of McKean-Vlasov dynamics and its applications in mathematical finance. This thesis contains two parts.

In the first part, we develop the dynamic programming (DP) method for solving McKean-Vlasov control problem. Using suitable admissible controls, we propose to reformulate the value function of the problem with the law (resp. conditional law) of the controlled state process as sole state variable and get the flow property of the law (resp. conditional law) of the process, which allow us to derive in its general form the Bellman programming principle. Then by relying on the notion of differentiability with respect to probability measures introduced by P.L. Lions [Lio12], and Itô's formula along measure-valued processes, we obtain the corresponding Bellman equation. At last we show the viscosity property and uniqueness of the value function to the Bellman equation. In the first chapter, we summarize some useful results of differential calculus and stochastic analysis on the Wasserstein space. In the second chapter, we consider the optimal control of nonlinear stochastic optimal control problem of McKean-Vlasov SDEs without common noise in continuous time where the coefficients may depend upon the joint law of the state and control. In the last chapter, we are interested in the optimal control of stochastic McKean-Vlasov dynamics in the presence of common noise in continuous time.

In the second part, we propose a robust portfolio selection model, which takes into account ambiguity about both expected rate of return and correlation matrix of multiply assets, in a continuous-time meanvariance setting. This problem is formulated as a mean-field type differential game. Then we derive a separation principle for the associated problem. Our explicit results provide an explanation to underdiversification, as documented in empirical studies.

#### Keywords

McKean-Vlasov equation, McKean-Vlasov SDEs, dynamic programming, Wasserstein space, Bellman equation, viscosity solution, continuous-time Markowtiz problem, model uncertainty, ambiguous drift and correlation, separation principle, under-diversification

# Contents

In	trod	uction		1
0.1 Part I: The optimal control of McKean-Vlasov dynamics			: The optimal control of McKean-Vlasov dynamics	1
		0.1.1	Some differential calculus on Wasserstein space	4
		0.1.2	Dynamic programming for discrete time McKean-Vlasov control problem $\ldots$ .	4
		0.1.3	Bellman equation and viscosity solutions for continuous time McKean-Vlasov con- trol problem	6
		0.1.4	Dynamic programming for continuous time conditional McKean-Vlasov control problem	8
	0.2	Part I	I: Robust mean-variance problem under model uncertainty	11
Ι	Tł	ne opt	imal control of McKean-Vlasov dynamics	15
1	Son	ne diffe	erential calculus on Wasserstein space	17
	1.1	Wasse	rstein space	18
	1.2	Differe	entiability on Wassersetin space	18
	1.3	Itô's f	ormula on Wasserstein space	21
		1.3.1	Itô's formula along a flow of deterministic measures	21
		1.3.2	Itô's formula along a flow of random measures	22
2 Dynamic programming for discrete time McKean-Vlasov control problem		programming for discrete time McKean-Vlasov control problem	<b>25</b>	
	2.1	Introd	uction	26
	2.2	McKe	an-Vlasov control problem	27
	2.3	Dynar	nic programming	28
	2.4	Applie	eations	33
		2.4.1	Special cases	33
			2.4.1.1 No mean-field interaction	33

#### Contents

			2.4.1.2 First order interactions	34
		2.4.2	Linear-quadratic McKean-Vlasov control problem	35
3	Bell pro	lman e blem	quation and viscosity solutions for continuous time McKean-Vlasov control	41
	3.1	Introd	uction	42
	3.2	McKea	an-Vlasov control problem	44
	3.3	Dynan	nic programming and Bellman equation	45
		3.3.1	Dynamic programming principle	45
		3.3.2	Bellman equation	48
	3.4	Applic	ation: linear-quadratic McKean-Vlasov control problem	52
		3.4.1	Mean-variance portfolio selection	55
		3.4.2	Interbank systemic risk model	56
	3.5	Viscos	ity solutions	57
	3.6	The ca	use of open-loop controls	63
4	Dyr lem	namic I	programming for continuous time conditional McKean-Vlasov control prob-	67
	4.1	Introd	uction	68
	4.2	Condit	ional McKean-Vlasov control problem	71
	4.3	Dynan	nic programming	73
		4.3.1	Flow properties	73
		4.3.2	Continuity of the value function and dynamic programming principle	78
	4.4	Bellma	an equation and viscosity solutions	82
		4.4.1	Dynamic programming equation	82
	4.5	Linear	quadratic stochastic McKean-Vlasov control	88
11	R	obust	mean-variance problem under model uncertainty	93
5	Por app	tfolio roach	diversification and model uncertainty: a robust dynamic mean-variance	95
	5.1	Introd	uction	96
	5.2	Proble	m formulation	98
		5.2.1	Model uncertainty setting	98
		5.2.2	Robust mean-variance problem	99

#### Contents

5.3	Separation principle and robust solution	
5.4	4 Applications and examples	
	5.4.1	Minimal risk premium and worst-case scenario
		5.4.1.1 Case of ellipsoidal ambiguity parameter set $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
		5.4.1.2 Case of rectangular ambiguity parameter set
	5.4.2	Optimal robust strategy and portfolio diversification
		5.4.2.1 Full ambiguity correlation and anti-diversification
		5.4.2.2 Partial diversification $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
5.5	5 Appendix	
	5.5.1	Differentiation and characterization of convex function $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
	5.5.2	Proof of Lemma 5.3.2
	5.5.3	Proof of Proposition 5.4.1
	5.5.4	Proof of Proposition 5.4.2
	5.5.5	Proof of Proposition 5.4.3
	5.5.6	Proof of Proposition 5.4.4
	5.5.7	Proof of Proposition 5.4.5
	5.5.8	Proof of Proposition 5.4.6

### Bibliography

## Notations

#### I. Sets

- $\diamond~\mathbb{N}$  is the set of nonnegative integers.
- $\diamond~\mathbb{R}$  is the set of real numbers and  $\mathbb{R}_+$  the set of positive real numbers.
- $\diamond x.y$  denotes the scalar product of two Euclidian vectors x and y.
- $\diamond$  We denote by  $\|\cdot\|_2$  the  $L_2$ -norm (Euclidian norm) in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ :

$$||a||_2 = \sqrt{a.a}$$

- ♦ For any matrix or vector M, we denote its transpose by  $M^{\intercal}$  and its trace by tr(M). We denote identity matrix in  $\mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$  by  $I_{d \times d}$  and zero matrix in  $\mathbb{R}^{d \times q}$  by  $\mathbf{0}_{d \times q}$ .
- $\diamond \ \mathbb{S}^d$  is the set of symmetric matrices in  $\mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$ ,  $\mathbb{S}^d_+$  the set of nonnegative symmetric matrices in  $\mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$ and  $\mathbb{S}^d_{>+}$  the set of positive definite symmetric matrices in  $\mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$ . We define the order on  $\mathbb{S}^d_{>+}$  as

$$A < B \Longleftrightarrow B - A \in \mathbb{S}^d_{>+}.$$

#### **II.** Functions

- $\diamond 1_A(x)$  is the indicator function on the set A.
- ♦ Given a continuously differentiable function f on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , we denote by  $\nabla f$  the gradient vector in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  with components  $\frac{\partial f}{\partial x_i}$ ,  $1 \leq i \leq d$ .
- ♦ C([t, s], E) is the set of continuous functions from the interval [t, s], t < s, into some Euclidian space E. The interval [t, s] is often  $\mathbb{R}_+$  or  $\mathbb{R}$ .

#### **III.** Integration and probability

Given a topological space E and a probability space  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$ 

- $\diamond \mathcal{B}(E)$ : Borelian  $\sigma$ -filed generated by the open subsets of E.
- $\delta_x$  denotes the Dirac measure at x.  $\delta_x(B) = 1_B(x)$  for any  $B \in \mathcal{B}(E)$ .
- $\diamond \mathbb{P}_X$  is the probability measure of random variables X on  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$  under  $\mathbb{P}$  and  $\mathcal{L}(X)$  the law of X.  $\mathbb{P}_{(X,Y)}$  is the joint distribution of random variables X and Y on  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$ .
- $\diamond L^2(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P}; E)$  is the space of square integrable random variable X, valued in  $\mathbb{E}, \mathcal{F}$ -measurable and

such that  $\mathbb{E}|X|^2 < \infty$ . We sometimes omit some arguments and write  $L^2(\mathcal{F}; E)$  when there is no ambiguity.

- $\diamond \mathcal{P}(E)$ , denotes the set of all probability measures on measurable space  $(E, \mathcal{B}(E))$ .
- ♦  $\mathcal{P}_p(E)$ ,  $p \ge 1$ , denotes the set of all probability measures on measurable space  $(E, \mathcal{B}(E))$  with a finite *p*-order moment, i.e.  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}(E)$ , and the *p*-norm of  $\mu$ :  $\|\mu\|_p := (\int_E |x|^p)^{1/p} < \infty$ . We often call  $\mathcal{P}_p(E)$  Wasserstein space.
- ◊ For any  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(E)$ , F Euclidian space(often  $\mathbb{R}^q$  in our context), we denote by  $L^2_{\mu}(F)$  the set of measurable functions  $\varphi : E \to F$  which are square integrable with respect to  $\mu$ , by  $L^2_{\mu \otimes \mu}(F)$  the set of measurable functions  $\psi : \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d \to F$ , which are square integrable with respect to the product measure  $\mu \otimes \mu$ , and we set

$$\mu(\varphi) = \langle \varphi, \mu \rangle := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \varphi(x) \, \mu(dx), \qquad \mu \otimes \mu(\psi) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d} \psi(x, x') \mu(dx) \mu(dx').$$

We also define  $L^{\infty}_{\mu}(F)$  (resp.  $L^{\infty}_{\mu\otimes\mu}(F)$ ) as the subset of elements  $\varphi \in L^{2}_{\mu}(F)$  (resp.  $L^{2}_{\mu\otimes\mu}(F)$ ) which are bounded  $\mu$  (resp.  $\mu\otimes\mu$ ) a.e., and  $\|\varphi\|_{\infty}$  is their essential supremum.

- ♦  $f: E \to F$  is a measurable mapping, we denote pushforward measure by  $f \star \mu$ :  $f \star \mu(B) = \mu(f^{-1}(B))$ ,  $\forall B \in \mathcal{B}(F)$ .
- $\diamond \mathcal{P}$  is a family of probability measures. We say that a property holds  $\mathcal{P}$  quasi-surely ( $\mathcal{P}$ -q.s. for short) if it holds  $\mathbb{P}$ -a.s. for all  $\mathbb{P} \in \mathcal{P}$ .

## Introduction

The main objective of this Ph.D. thesis is to investigate the optimal control of McKean-Vlasov systems and give several applications.

In the first part, we analyze in detail the DP method for the optimal control of McKean-Vlasov systems. Due to the dependence of the coefficients on the law of the state process, DP requires adaptation. Therefore, the key idea is to reformulate the problem as a distributed control problem with the probability distribution (resp. conditional probability distribution) of the controlled state process as sole state variable. Then we state a dynamic programming principle (DPP) for the value function in the space of probability measures, which follows from a flow property of the law (resp. conditional law) of the controlled state process. Moreover by relying on Wasserstein results mentioned in Chapter 1, we derive the Bellman equation, and prove the viscosity property together with a uniqueness result for the value function. We also deduce a verification theorem when the value function is smooth, and solve explicitly the LQ McKean-Vlasov control problem with applications to the mean-variance portfolio selection and an interbank systemic risk model. In Chapter 1, we present some results of Wasserstein differential calculus such as the notion of differentiability with respect to measures due to P.L. Lions and Itô's formula along a flow of probability measures. In Chapter 2, we are interested in the optimal control of McKean-Vlasov systems in discrete time. Chapter 3 is about the optimal control of McKean-Vlasov SDEs in continuous time. In Chapter 4, we study the optimal control of stochastic SDEs of McKean-Vlasov type in the presence of a common noise.

In the second part, we build a framework for the robust continuous-time mean-variance portfolio selection where the model uncertainty carries on both expected rate of return and correlation matrix of multiply risky assets. It is formulated as a McKean-Vlasov control problem under model uncertainty and solved by a weak version of martingale optimality principle. We deduce a separation principle for this associated robust problem, which allows to reduce the computation of robust optimal portfolio strategy to the parametric infimum computation of the risk premium function. We quantify explicitly the diversification effects in terms of Sharpe ratio and correlation parameter. In particular, our findings consist in no trading in risky assets with large expected return ambiguity and trading only one risky asset with high level of ambiguity about correlation.

#### 0.1 Part I: The optimal control of McKean-Vlasov dynamics

McKean-Vlasov SDEs, whose coefficients may depend on the marginal distributions of the solutions, have a long history with the work initialed by [Kac56] and [McK67]. However, the optimal control of McKean-Vlasov dynamics, also called mean field type control problem, has notoriously been ignored in

#### INTRODUCTION

standard stochastic control literature for a while. Recently, it has been known a surge of renewed interest since the emergence of the MFG proposed by Lasry and Lions [LL07] and simultaneously by Huang et al. [HMC06].

The study of optimal control of McKean-Vlasov dynamics is motivated by the description of the asymptotic behavior of a large but finite numbers of players (financial agents, firms) with mean field interactions, which can be described loosely as follows: imagine there are N state processes interacting through their empirical measures via the following SDE system:

$$\begin{split} dX_t^i &= b(X_t^i, \bar{\rho}_t^N, \alpha_t^i) dt + \sigma(X_t^i, \bar{\rho}_t^N, \alpha_t^i) dB_t^i + \sigma_0(X_t^i, \bar{\rho}_t^N, \alpha_t^i) dW_t^0, \\ \bar{\rho}_t^N &= \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \delta_{X_t^i}. \end{split}$$

Here  $W^0$ ,  $B^1$ , ...,  $B^N$  are independent Brownian motions, and  $\alpha^i$  is the control of player *i*. As the player *i* feels only  $B^i$  directly, we call  $B^1$ , ...,  $B^N$  the idiosyncratic noises, and we call  $W^0$  common noise, since each player feels  $W^0$  equally. The cost functional associated to the player *i* of the strategy profile  $(\alpha^1, \ldots, \alpha^N)$  is

$$J^{i}(\alpha^{1},\ldots,\alpha^{N}) = \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{T} f(X^{i}_{t},\bar{\rho}^{N}_{t},\alpha^{i}_{t}) + g(X^{i}_{T},\bar{\rho}^{N}_{T})\right].$$

As the number of players increases, this system of N-player games with the interaction of mean field type is in high dimension of order N and not tractable in general. The required computational effort for equilibrium typically involves a system of N PDEs and is usually prohibitively large. From a practical point of view, one tends to study the asymptotic behavior of N-player games. The hope is to reduce the analysis of the whole system to the analysis of a single representative player from the theory of propagation of chaos. A natural question is in which sense this N-player stochastic differential games as  $N \to \infty$  converge.

Two different notions of equilibrium may be considered. One notion is Nash equilibrium, which usually takes two forms: open-loop Nash equilibrium and closed-loop Nash equilibrium. When the *N*-player equilibrium is open-loop, compactness arguments yield that every limit point of *N*-player Nash equilibrium is characterized as a weak solution of MFG, formulated as a standard control problem and a fixed point problem over the space of probability measures, see [CD18, Vol II, Chapter 6], [Lac16]; when the *N*-player equilibrium is closed-loop, the convergence to the MFG equilibrium is known in [CD18, Vol II, Chapter 6] when the associated Master equation has a unique smooth solution. There are two approaches to solve MFG. In the original work [LL07], Lasry and Lions followed an analytic PDE approach. The recent book by Carmona and Delarue [CD18, Vol II, Chapter 6] offers a comprehensive treatment of the probabilistic approach to MFG. It brings numerous applications in economics and finance such as [GLL11], [CFS15] among others.

The other notion is Pareto optimality where a social player chooses the control policy to minimize the averaged objective

$$J(\alpha^1, \dots, \alpha^N) := \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N J^i(\alpha^1, \dots, \alpha^N).$$

In [Lac17], the authors restricted themselves to the case without common noise and introduced the relaxed formulation of McKean-Vlasov control problem, meaning that the state equation for N-player games and the McKean-Vlasov control problem are formulated as controlled martingale problems and

#### 0.1. PART I: THE OPTIMAL CONTROL OF MCKEAN-VLASOV DYNAMICS

with relaxed (i.e. measure-valued) controls. They showed that the empirical measure sequence  $(\bar{\rho}_t^N)_{t\in[0,T]}$ of near-optimally controlled N-player games admits in distribution limit points, and that every limit point is supported on the set of measure flows  $(\mathbb{P}_{X_t})_{t\in[0,T]}$ , where X is an optimally controlled state in the McKean-Vlasov control problem. In particular, whenever the McKean-Vlasov control problem admits a unique optimal control, this is a proper convergence theorem, i.e. propagation of chaos. The strong formulation (compared to the relaxed formulation in [Lac17]) of the McKean-Vlasov control problem is given by

$$dX_t = b(X_t, \mathbb{P}_{X_t}^{W^0}, \alpha_t)dt + \sigma(X_t, \mathbb{P}_{X_t}^{W^0}, \alpha_t)dB_t + \sigma_0(X_t, \mathbb{P}_{X_t}^{W^0}, \alpha_t)dW_t^0,$$

where  $\mathbb{P}_{X_t}^{W^0}$  is the distribution of  $X_t$  given  $W^0$ , and the objective of the representative player is the minimization of the cost functional

$$J(\alpha) := \mathbb{E}\Big[\int_0^T f\big(X_t^\alpha, \mathbb{P}_{X_t^\alpha}^{W^0}, \alpha_t\big)dt + g\big(X_T, \mathbb{P}_{X_T}^{W^0}\big)\Big].$$

The similarities and differences between MFG and optimal control of McKean-Vlasov dynamics have been discussed in [CDLL15] and [CD18, Vol I, Chapter 6]. Being a counterpart of MFG, the optimal control of McKean-Vlasov dynamics also has numerous potential applications in several areas besides the traditional domain of statistical physics, like economics and finance, social interactions, engineering and so on. Actually, its applications in economics and finance include a portfolio liquidation problem with trade crowding and a substitutable production goods model in [BP17], an interbank systematic risk with partial observation model in [BHL<sup>+</sup>18] and a problem of interaction between customers and firms on renewable energy [ABP17].

In the literature there are essentially two approaches to solve the optimal control of McKean-Vlasov dynamics. The first, more probabilistic, approach is Pontryagain maximum principle. The early attempts at tackling this problem with maximum principle focused on a class of models where the dynamics depends solely upon moments of the distribution, see [AD10], [BDL11] and [BFY13]. By taking good advantage of Lion's differential calculus over the Wasserstein space, [CD15] and [CD18] developed an appropriate version of Pontryagin maximum principle in its full generality. They introduced adjoint processes by differentiating the Hamiltonian function with respect to both the state and its marginal distribution. Then they characterized the optimal trajectories as the solutions of a forward-backward SDE of McKean-Vlasov type.

The second approach is DPP. An important feature of DPP is that it does not require any convexity on the coefficients. However, the difficulty of using DPP lies in the fact that (i) the dynamics described by the McKean-Vlasov SDEs is non-Markovian and (ii) the dependence of the cost functional on the law of the state induces time inconsistency. For example, in the mean-variance problem, the optimal control at time t is precommittment, meaning that the solution depends not only on the current state but also on the initial state, see [LZ00], [BC10]. To restore time consistency, [LP14] and [BFY15] used the closed-loop feedback controls and reformulated the value function into the deterministic distributed control problem together with a Fokker-Planck equation. Then they derived the dynamic programming equation by calculus of variation. However, their work relies heavily on the assumption that the probability measure admits at all times square integrable probability density function.

Inspired by the works [LP14] and [BFY15], we drop the density assumption and extend the DP approach of these two papers over the McKean-Vlasov control problem, in discrete time and continuous time, with and without common noise developed below.

#### 0.1.1 Some differential calculus on Wasserstein space

In Chapter 1, we review the Wasserstein space and its topological structure, which will be often used implicitly in the remaining chapters. Then we recall the notion of differentiability on the Wasserstein space introduced by Lions in his seminar lectures at Collège de France [Lio12]: structure of the derivative of first order and second order. Finally, we recall the Itô's formula along a flow of deterministic or random probability measure and their lifted form, which will be useful for obtaining HJB equation and viscosity characterization of the value function.

#### 0.1.2 Dynamic programming for discrete time McKean-Vlasov control problem

In Chapter 2, we are interested in the optimal control of McKean-Vlasov equations in discrete time. It can be regarded as an approximation of the continuous time problem discussed in the next chapter.

We are given two normed spaces (E, |.|) and (A, |.|) representing respectively the state space and the control space. The dynamics of state valued in E (typically  $\mathbb{R}^d$ ) is described by the equation of McKean-Vlasov type

$$X_{k+1}^{\alpha} = F_{k+1}(X_k^{\alpha}, \mathbb{P}_{X^{\alpha}}, \alpha_k, \mathbb{P}_{\alpha_k}, \varepsilon_{k+1}), \quad k \in \mathbb{N}, \quad X_0^{\alpha} = \xi,$$

for some deterministic measurable functions  $F_k$  defined from  $E \times \mathcal{P}(E) \times A \times \mathcal{P}(A) \times \mathbb{R}^d$  to E, where  $(\xi_k)_k$  is a sequence of i.i.d random variables, independent of the square integrable initial random value  $\xi$ , and we denote by  $\mathbb{F} = (\mathcal{F}_k)_k$  the filtration generated by  $\{\xi, \xi_1, \ldots, \xi_k\}$ . The control  $(\alpha_k)_k$  is a square integrable  $\mathbb{F}$ -adapted process valued in A (typically a subset of  $\mathbb{R}^m$ ). For any  $(x, \mu, a, \lambda) \in E \times$  $\mathcal{P}(E) \times A \times \mathcal{P}(A)$ , we denote by  $P_{k+1}(x, \mu, a, \lambda, dx')$  the probability distribution of random variables  $F_{k+1}(x, \mu, a, \lambda, \xi_{k+1})$ . The cost functional over a finite horizon  $n \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}$  for a control process  $\alpha$ , is

$$J(\alpha) = \mathbb{E}\Big[\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} f_k(X_k^{\alpha}, \mathbb{P}_{X_k^{\alpha}}, \alpha_k, \mathbb{P}_{\alpha_k}) + g(X_n^{\alpha}, \mathbb{P}_{X_n^{\alpha}})\Big],$$

where  $f_k : E \times \mathcal{P}_2(E) \times A \times \mathcal{P}_2(A) \to \mathbb{R}$  and  $g : E \times \mathcal{P}_2(E) \to \mathbb{R}$  are measurable real-valued functions with square growth in each of their inputs. The objective is to minimize over all admissible controls the cost functional

$$V_0 = \inf_{\alpha} J(\alpha).$$

What does the admissible control set look like? In our context, we restrict our attention to controls  $\alpha$  in feedback form

$$\alpha_k = \tilde{\alpha}_k(X_k^{\alpha}), \quad \text{for} \quad \tilde{\alpha}_k \in A^E, \quad k = 0, \dots, n-1, \tag{0.1.1}$$

where  $A^E$  is the set of deterministic measurable functions:  $E \to A$ , satisfying a linear growth condition. Then the admissible control set  $\mathcal{A}$  consists of all  $\mathbb{F}$ -adapted square integrable controls  $\alpha$  given by (0.1.1). Note that by Fubini's theorem, we rewrite the cost functional as, for  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ 

$$J(\alpha) = \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \hat{f}_k(\mathbb{P}_{X_k^{\alpha}}, \tilde{\alpha}_k) + \hat{g}(\mathbb{P}_{X_n^{\alpha}}),$$

#### 0.1. PART I: THE OPTIMAL CONTROL OF MCKEAN-VLASOV DYNAMICS

where the functions  $\hat{f}_k$ , k = 0, ..., n-1, defined on  $\mathcal{P}_2(E) \times A^E$  and  $\hat{g}$  defined on  $\mathcal{P}_2(E)$  are given by:

$$\hat{f}_k(\mu, \tilde{\alpha}) := \int_E f_k(x, \mu, \tilde{\alpha}(x), \tilde{\alpha} \star \mu) \mu(dx), \qquad \hat{g}(\mu) := \int_E g(x, \mu) \mu(dx).$$

We transform the initial stochastic control problem into a deterministic control problem involving only the marginal distribution of the state process  $\mathbb{P}_{X_k^{\alpha}}$ , and then define the dynamic value processes  $V_k^{\alpha}$  at time k = 0, ..., n,

$$V_k^{\alpha} := \inf_{\beta \in \mathcal{A}_k(\alpha)} \sum_{j=k}^{n-1} \hat{f}_j(\mathbb{P}_{x_j^{\beta}}, \tilde{\beta}_j) + \hat{g}(\mathbb{P}_{x_n^{\beta}}), \text{ for } \alpha \in \mathcal{A},$$

where  $\mathcal{A}_k(\alpha) = \{\beta \in \mathcal{A} : \beta_j = \alpha_j, j = 0, \dots, k-1\}$ , with the convention that  $\mathcal{A}_0(\alpha) = \mathcal{A}$ . Now the initial value function  $V_0 = \inf_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} J(\alpha) = V_0^{\alpha}$ . When  $V_k^{\alpha} > -\infty$ , it is elementary to obtain the DPP for  $V_k^{\alpha}$ , which takes the following form

$$\begin{cases} V_n^{\alpha} = \hat{g}(\mathbb{P}_{X_n^{\alpha}}) \\ V_k^{\alpha} = \inf_{\beta \in \mathcal{A}_k(\alpha)} \hat{f}_k(\mathbb{P}_{X_k^{\beta}}, \tilde{\beta}_k) + V_{k+1}^{\beta}, \quad k = 0, \dots, n-1. \end{cases}$$
(0.1.2)

Actually, the value processes  $V_k^{\alpha}$ , k = 0, ..., n - 1, are deterministic measurable functions of  $\mathbb{P}_{X_k^{\alpha}}$ . The DPP (0.1.2) is reduced to the recursive computation of a sequence of deterministic functions  $(v_k)_k$  (called value functions) on  $\mathcal{P}(E)$ , which is described in the following Theorem.

**Theorem 0.1.1.** When  $V_k^{\alpha} > -\infty$ , we have for any  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ ,  $V_k^{\alpha} = v_k(\mathbb{P}_{X_k^{\alpha}})$ ,  $k = 0, \ldots, n$ , where  $(v_k)_k$  is the sequence of value functions defined recursively on  $\mathcal{P}_2(E)$  by:

$$\begin{cases} v_n(\mu) &= \hat{g}(\mu) \\ v_k(\mu) &= \inf_{\tilde{\alpha} \in A^E} \left[ \hat{f}_k(\mu, \tilde{\alpha}) + v_{k+1} \left( \Phi_{k+1}(\mu, \tilde{\alpha}) \right) \right] \end{cases}$$
(0.1.3)

for k = 0, ..., n - 1,  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(E)$ , where  $\Phi_{k+1}$  is the measurable function  $\mathcal{P}_2(E) \times A^E \to \mathcal{P}_2(E)$  defined by

$$\Phi_{k+1}(\mu,\tilde{\alpha})(dx') = \int_E \mu(dx) P_{k+1}(x,\mu,\tilde{\alpha}(x),\tilde{\alpha}\star\mu,dx').$$

The proof of Theorem (0.1.1) is an immediate consequence of backward induction and the flow property of controlled marginal distribution  $\mathbb{P}_{X_{\mu}^{\alpha}}$  given by

$$\mathbb{P}_{x_{k+1}^{\alpha}} = \Phi_{k+1} \big( \mathbb{P}_{x_{k}^{\alpha}}, \tilde{\alpha}_{k} \big), \quad k \in \mathbb{N}, \quad \mathbb{P}_{x_{0}^{\alpha}} = \mathbb{P}_{\xi}.$$

In view of the DPP (0.1.3), the verification theorem not only asserts that a solution to (0.1.3) equals the value functions  $(v_k)_k$  but also provides a sufficient condition for a feedback optimal control realizing the infimum of (0.1.3).

We then test verification results on several cases: (i) the case without mean-field interaction; in this case, the infimum in (0.1.3) can be reduced to the infimum on the finite-dimensional control space. (ii) the case where the interaction is of order 1 (integral of function with respect to probability measure); in this case, the value functions are defined on *n*-tuples and thus the size of this problem is reduced. (iii) finally, the case of multivariate LQ McKean-Vlasov type (the coefficients only depend on the expectation and variance of the state) has an explicit solution under suitable coercivity assumptions. DPP provides another approach to the problem of LQ McKean-Vlasov control solved in [ELN13] via four different approaches.

#### 0.1.3 Bellman equation and viscosity solutions for continuous time McKean-Vlasov control problem

In Chapter 3, we focus on the optimal control of McKean-Vlasov dynamics in continuous time, which can be viewed as the continuous version of the discrete time problem in the previous chapter. Our framework takes into account a more general class allowing for the mean-field interactions through controls, in addition to the mean-field interactions through states.

Let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$  be a filtered probability space,  $B = (B_t)_{t\geq 0}$  a *n*-dimensional Brownian motion defined on  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$ ,  $\mathbb{F} = (\mathcal{F}_t)_{0\leq t\leq T}$  the filtration generated by B, and  $\mathcal{F}_0$  a sub- $\sigma$ -algebra of  $\mathcal{F}$  independent of B. We assume that  $\mathcal{F}_0$  is rich enough in the sense that  $\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) = \{\mathbb{P}_{\xi}, \xi \in L^2(\mathcal{F}_0; \mathbb{R}^d)\}$ . Then, the controlled McKean-Vlasov SDE is given by

$$dX_t^{\alpha} = b(t, X_t^{\alpha}, \alpha_t, \mathbb{P}_{(X_t^{\alpha}, \alpha_t)})dt + \sigma(t, X_t^{\alpha}, \alpha_t, \mathbb{P}_{(X_t^{\alpha}, \alpha_t)})dB_t, \quad X_0^{\alpha} = X_0 \in L^2(\mathcal{F}_0, \mathbb{R}^d), \quad (0.1.4)$$

where the control process  $\alpha$  is progressively measurable, square integrable with values in a subset A of  $\mathbb{R}^m$ , and  $\mathbb{P}_{(X_t^{\alpha}, \alpha_t)}$  the joint distribution of the state  $X_t^{\alpha}$  and the control  $\alpha_t$ . On the coefficients b:  $[0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^d \times A \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d \times A) \to \mathbb{R}^d$  and  $\sigma : [0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^d \times A \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d \times A) \to \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$ , we impose standard lipschitz and linear growth conditions, which guarantee the existence and uniqueness of a square integrable solution to (0.1.4). The control problem consists in minimizing over all admissible control processes the following functional,

$$J(\alpha) := \mathbb{E}\Big[\int_0^T f(t, X_t, \alpha_t, \mathbb{P}_{(X_t, \alpha_t)})dt + g(X_T, \mathbb{P}_{X_T})\Big], \qquad (0.1.5)$$

where the deterministic measurable functions  $f : [0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^d \times A \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d \times A) \to \mathbb{R}$  and  $g : \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \to \mathbb{R}$  satisfy the quadratic growth conditions.

Even though the probability measure is deterministic, the dynamics  $X_t^{\alpha}$  described by the controlled McKean-Vlasov SDE is genuinely non-Markovian. Like in the previous chapter, we restrict ourselves to admissible controls  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  in feedback form:

$$\alpha_t = \tilde{\alpha}(t, X_t^{\alpha}, \mathbb{P}_{X_t^{\alpha}}), \qquad (0.1.6)$$

for some deterministic measurable function  $\tilde{\alpha} : [0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \to A$  which is linear growth and lipschitz in  $(x,\mu) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . We consider the dynamic version of (0.1.4) starting from  $\xi \in L^2(\mathcal{F}_t, \mathbb{R}^d)$ at time  $t \in [0,T]$ , and written as

$$\begin{aligned} X_{s}^{t,\xi} &= \xi + \int_{t}^{s} b(r, X_{r}^{t,\xi}, \tilde{\alpha}(r, X_{r}^{t,\xi}, \mathbb{P}_{X_{r}^{t,\xi}}), Id\tilde{\alpha}(r, ., \mathbb{P}_{X_{r}^{t,\xi}}) \star \mathbb{P}_{X_{r}^{t,\xi}})dr \\ &+ \int_{t}^{s} \sigma(r, X_{r}^{t,\xi}, \tilde{\alpha}(r, X_{r}^{t,\xi}, Id\tilde{\alpha}(r, ., \mathbb{P}_{X_{r}^{t,\xi}}) \star \mathbb{P}_{X_{r}^{t,\xi}})dB_{r}, \quad t \leq s \leq T. \end{aligned}$$

for any  $\tilde{\alpha} \in L(\mathbb{R}^d; A)$ , where the map  $\mathrm{Id}\tilde{\alpha} : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d \times A$  is defined by  $Id\tilde{\alpha}(x) := (x, \tilde{\alpha}(x))$ , and  $L(\mathbb{R}^d; A)$  is the set of Lipschitz functions from  $\mathbb{R}^d$  into A. The existence and uniqueness of a solution to (0.1.7) yield the flow property of  $X_s^{t,\xi}$ 

$$X_s^{t,\xi} = X_s^{\theta, X_{\theta}^{t,\xi}}, \quad \forall \ 0 \le t \le \theta \le s \le T, \ \xi \in L^2(\mathcal{F}_t; \mathbb{R}^d)$$

Notice that the law distribution of  $X_s^{t,\xi}$  depends on  $\xi$  only through its law  $\mathbb{P}_{\xi}$ . We are then allowed to define

$$\mathbb{P}^{t,\mu}_s \hspace{0.1 cm} := \hspace{0.1 cm} \mathbb{P}_{x^{t,\xi}_s}, \hspace{0.1 cm} \text{for} \hspace{0.1 cm} 0 \leq t \leq s \leq T, \hspace{0.1 cm} \mu \hspace{0.1 cm} = \hspace{0.1 cm} \mathbb{P}_{\xi} \hspace{0.1 cm} \in \hspace{0.1 cm} \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d),$$

#### 0.1. PART I: THE OPTIMAL CONTROL OF MCKEAN-VLASOV DYNAMICS

and immediately get the flow property for the marginal distribution process:

$$\mathbb{P}_{s}^{t,\mu} = \mathbb{P}_{s}^{\theta,\mathbb{P}_{\theta}^{t,\mu}}, \quad \forall \ 0 \le t \le \theta \le s \le T, \ \mu \in \mathcal{P}_{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d}).$$
(0.1.8)

Therefore, we now rewrite the cost functional (0.1.5) in the deterministic form in terms of marginal distribution in  $\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  as sole state variable:

$$J(\alpha) = \int_0^T \hat{f}(t, \mathbb{P}_{x_t}, \tilde{\alpha}(t, ., \mathbb{P}_{x_t})) dt + \hat{g}(\mathbb{P}_{x_T}),$$

where  $\hat{f}: [0,T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \times L(\mathbb{R}^d; A) \to \mathbb{R}$  and  $\hat{g}: \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \to R$  are defined by

$$\hat{f}(t,\mu,\tilde{\alpha}) := \langle f(t,.,\tilde{\alpha}(.), Id\tilde{\alpha}\star\mu), \mu \rangle, \qquad \hat{g}(\mu) := \langle g(.,\mu), \mu \rangle.$$

Now it is natural to define the dynamic cost functional and value function from the flow property of the marginal distribution process (0.1.8)

$$J(t,\mu,\alpha) = \left[ \int_{t}^{T} \hat{f}(s,\mathbb{P}^{t,\mu}_{s},\tilde{\alpha}(s,.,\mathbb{P}^{t,\mu}_{s}))ds + \hat{g}(\mathbb{P}^{t,\mu}_{T}) \right],$$
  
$$v(t,\mu) = \inf_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} J(t,\mu,\alpha) \quad t \in [0,T], \ \mu \in \mathcal{P}_{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d}).$$
(0.1.9)

Since (0.1.9) is a deterministic control problem that does not involve any measurable selection arguments, we obtain immediately the DPP.

**Theorem 0.1.2.** When  $v(t,\mu) > -\infty$ , we have for all  $0 \le t \le \theta \le T$ ,  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ :

$$v(t,\mu) = \inf_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \left[ \int_t^{\theta} \hat{f}(s, \mathbb{P}_s^{t,\mu}, \tilde{\alpha}(s, ., \mathbb{P}_s^{t,\mu})) ds + v(\theta, \mathbb{P}_{\theta}^{t,\mu}) \right].$$
(0.1.10)

In order to obtain a PDE from the DPP (0.1.10), we follow Lion's approach to the differential calculus on the Wasserstein space first introduced in [Lio12], then detailed in [Car12] and [CD18, Vol I, Chapter 5], and Itô's formula for functions of deterministic measure-valued processes in [BLPR17], [CCD15] and [CD18, Vol I, Chapter 5]. The Bellman equation associated to (0.1.10) is given by

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t v + \inf_{\tilde{\alpha} \in L(\mathbb{R}^d; A)} \left[ \hat{f}(t, \mu, \tilde{\alpha}) + \langle \mathcal{L}_t^{\tilde{\alpha}} v(t, \mu), \mu \rangle \right] = 0, \text{ on } [0, T) \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d), \\ v(T, \mu) = \hat{g}(\mu), \text{ on } \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \end{cases}$$
(0.1.11)

where for  $\tilde{\alpha} \in L(\mathbb{R}^d; A)$ ,  $\varphi \in \mathcal{C}^2_b(\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d))$  and  $(t, \mu) \in [0, T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $\mathcal{L}_t^{\tilde{\alpha}}$  is the function:  $\mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$  defined by

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{L}_{t}^{\tilde{\alpha}}\varphi(\mu)(x) &:= \partial_{\mu}\varphi(\mu)(x).b(t,x,\tilde{\alpha}(x),Id\tilde{\alpha}\star\mu) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2}\mathrm{tr}\big(\partial_{x}\partial_{\mu}\varphi(\mu)(x)\sigma\sigma^{\mathsf{T}}(t,x,\tilde{\alpha}(x),Id\tilde{\alpha}\star\mu)\big). \end{aligned}$$

To complete the DPP, we turn to the verification argument when the Bellman equation (0.1.11) has a smooth solution. This is a quite straightforward consequence of the chain rule for functions on the Wasserstein space. We then apply the verification theorem to one important class of LQ McKean-Vlasov control problem and obtain the explicit solution, which is reduced to the resolution of Riccati differential equation system. In particular, both mean-variance portfolio selection model and interbank system risk model fall into the LQ framework and are solved explicitly. However, except the class of LQ McKean-Vlasov control problem, in general the value function v does not have good regularity enough to interpret the fully nonlinear PDE of second order (0.1.11), and thus a notion of viscosity solutions is required. Indeed, the Wasserstein space  $\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  is infinite dimensional locally non compact space. There are few tools developed for viscosity solutions on Wasserstein space. To circumvent this difficulty, we work in Hilbert space  $L^2(\mathcal{F}_0; \mathbb{R}^d)$  instead of Wasserstein space  $\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ via the lifting identification, and identify the value function v and its lifted version. By abuse of notation  $v(t, \mathcal{L}(\xi)) = v(t, \xi)$ , the lifted Bellman equation in  $[0, T] \times L^2(\mathcal{F}_0; \mathbb{R}^d)$  is given by:

$$\begin{cases} -\frac{\partial v}{\partial t} + \mathcal{H}(t,\xi,Dv(t,\xi),D^2v(t,\xi)) = 0 \quad \text{on } [0,T) \times L^2(\mathcal{F}_0;\mathbb{R}^d), \\ v(T,\xi) = \hat{G}(\xi) := \mathbb{E}[g(\xi,\mathbb{P}_{\xi})], \quad \xi \in L^2(\mathcal{F}_0;\mathbb{R}^d), \end{cases}$$
(0.1.12)

where  $\mathcal{H}: [0,T] \times L^2(\mathcal{F}_0; \mathbb{R}^d) \times L^2(\mathcal{F}_0; \mathbb{R}^d) \times S(L^2(\mathcal{F}_0; \mathbb{R}^d)) \to \mathbb{R}$  is defined by

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{H}(t,\xi,P,Q) &= -\inf_{\tilde{\alpha}\in L(\mathbb{R}^d;A)} \Big\{ \mathbb{E}\Big[ f(t,\xi,\tilde{\alpha}(\xi),Id\tilde{\alpha}\star\mathbb{P}_{\xi}) + P.b(t,\xi,\tilde{\alpha}(\xi),Id\tilde{\alpha}\star\mathbb{P}_{\xi}) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2}Q\Big(\sigma(t,\xi,\tilde{\alpha}(\xi),Id\tilde{\alpha}\star\mathbb{P}_{\xi})N\Big).\Big(\sigma(t,\xi,\tilde{\alpha}(\xi),Id\tilde{\alpha}\star\mathbb{P}_{\xi})N\Big)\Big] \Big\}. \end{split}$$

with  $N \in L^2(\mathcal{F}_0; \mathbb{R}^n)$  of zero mean, unit variance, and independent of  $\xi$ . We choose all the twice continuously Fréchet differentiable functions on  $L^2(\mathcal{F}_0; \mathbb{R}^d)$  as test functions and then naturally define the viscosity subsolution (resp. supersolution) to the Bellman equation (0.1.11). After making stronger assumptions on the coefficients and exploiting the lifted form of DPP, we show that the value function v is a viscosity solution to the Bellman equation (0.1.11) satisfying the quadratic growth condition. Assume further that the  $\sigma$ -algebra  $\mathcal{F}_0$  is countably generated upto null sets, which guarantees that the Hilbert space  $L^2(\mathcal{F}_0; \mathbb{R}^d)$  is separable. By [FGS15, Theorem 3.5], we prove a comparison principle (hence uniqueness result) for the lifted Bellman equation (0.1.12). Our value function v in (0.1.9) is thus characterized as the unique solution to Bellman equation (0.1.11) in the viscosity sense.

In the last section of this chapter, we drop the closed-loop restriction on the admissible controls, and discuss a bit about more general open-loop controls when the coefficients depend only upon the mean-field component through the law of the state variable. In the closed-loop case, the reformulation (0.1.9) of the value function is an important step towards the DPP, however, in the open-loop case, the reformulation requires more mathematical tools and measurability issues. Anyway, HJB equation is proposed and its solution coincides with case of the closed-loop form when the solution is smooth, see [CCD15] for the existence of smooth solution under some coercive assumptions. We also refer to more recently [BCP18] for the case of open-loop controls with the randomization method.

#### 0.1.4 Dynamic programming for continuous time conditional McKean-Vlasov control problem

In this chapter, we deal with the McKean-Vlasov control problem with common noise. This is a generalization of the previous chapters without common noise. While the DPP in the case without common noise is quite straightforward, the presence of common noise makes it more intricate because of measurability issues, which requires more care.

Let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$  be a probability space in the form  $(\Omega^0 \times \Omega^1, \mathcal{F}^0 \otimes \mathcal{F}^1, \mathbb{P}^0 \otimes \mathbb{P}^1)$ ,  $\Omega^0$  the canonical space  $C(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}^m)$ ,  $W^0$  the canonical process,  $\mathbb{P}^0$  the Wiener measure,  $\mathcal{F}^0$  the  $\mathbb{P}^0$ -completion of the natural filtration generated by  $W^0$ , B a *n*-dimensional Brownian motion on  $(\Omega^1, \mathcal{F}^1, \mathbb{P}^1)$ ,  $\mathcal{G}$  a sub- $\sigma$ -algebra of

 $\mathcal{F}^1$  independent of B,  $\mathcal{F}$  the natural filtration generated by  $W^0$  and B, augmented with the independent  $\mathcal{G}$ . We denote by  $\mathbb{E}^0$  (resp.  $\mathbb{E}^1$ ) the expectation under  $\mathbb{P}^0$  (resp.  $\mathbb{P}^1$ ). We assume that  $\mathcal{G}$  is rich enough in the sense that  $\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) = \{\mathbb{P}_{\xi} : \xi \in L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)\}$ . Then, the controlled stochastic McKean-Vlasov dynamics starting from  $\xi \in L^2(\mathcal{F}_t, \mathbb{R}^d)$  at time  $t \in [0, T]$  follows the stochastic McKean-Vlasov equation:

$$dX_{s}^{t,\xi} = b(X_{s}^{t,\xi}, \mathbb{P}_{X_{s}^{t,\xi}}^{W^{0}}, \alpha_{s})ds + \sigma(X_{s}^{t,\xi}, \mathbb{P}_{X_{s}^{t,\xi}}^{W^{0}}, \alpha_{s})dB_{s} + \sigma_{0}(X_{s}^{t,\xi}, \mathbb{P}_{X_{s}^{t,\xi}}^{W^{0}}, \alpha_{s})dW_{s}^{0}, \quad (0.1.13)$$

where  $\mathbb{P}_{X_s^{t,\xi}}^{W^0}$  denotes the regular conditional distribution of  $X_s^{t,\xi}$  given  $W^0$  or equivalently  $\mathcal{F}^0$ , and the control  $\alpha$  is  $\mathbb{F}^0$ -progressive process valued in some polish space **A** (typically a closed subset of the space  $C(\mathbb{R}^d, A)$ ). We denote by  $\mathcal{A}$  the set of admissible control processes. It's worth mentioning that unlike the first two chapters, the admissible control  $\alpha$  is allowed to be in a more general form, see Remark 4.2.1 for details. As usual, the linear growth and lipschitz conditions on the coefficients  $b, \sigma$  guarantee the existence and uniqueness of a square integrable solution to (0.1.13). The dynamic cost functional associated to the stochastic McKean-Vlasov equation (0.1.13) is

$$J(t,\xi,\alpha) := \mathbb{E}\Big[\int_t^T f\big(X_s^{t,\xi}, \mathbb{P}^{W^0}_{X_s^{t,\xi}}, \alpha_s\big)ds + g\big(X_T^{t,\xi}, \mathbb{P}^{W^0}_{X_T^{t,\xi}}\big)\Big],$$

and the objective is to minimize over all admissible control processes  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  the cost functional

$$v(t,\xi) = \inf_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} J(t,\xi,\alpha), \quad (t,\xi) \in [0,T] \times L^2(\mathcal{G};\mathbb{R}^d).$$

$$(0.1.14)$$

Note that by the law of iterated conditional expectations, and as  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  is  $\mathbb{F}^0$ -progressive, we rewrite the cost functional in terms of the conditional law of the state

$$J(t,\xi,\alpha) = \mathbb{E}[\int_t^T \hat{f}(\mathbb{P}^{W^0}_{X^{t,\xi,\alpha}_s},\alpha_s)ds + \hat{g}(\mathbb{P}^{W^0}_{X^{t,\xi,\alpha}_T})]$$

where the functions  $\hat{f}: \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbf{A} \to \mathbb{R}$ , and  $\hat{g}: \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \to \mathbb{R}$  are defined by

$$\widehat{f}(\mu,a) \quad := \quad \mu \big( f(\cdot,\mu,a) \big), \quad \widehat{g}(\mu) \ := \ \mu \big( g(\cdot,\mu) \big).$$

Since  $\mathbb{P}_{X_s^{t,\xi,\alpha}}^{W^0}$  depends on the  $\xi$  only through its conditional law  $\mathbb{P}_{\xi}^{W_0}$ , and  $\mathcal{G} \subset \mathcal{F}_t$  is rich enough and independent of  $W^0$ , we define for any  $t \in [0,T]$ ,  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ ,

$$\rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha} \quad := \quad \mathbb{P}^{W^0}_{X^{t,\xi,\alpha}_s}, \quad t \leq s \leq T, \text{ for } \xi \in L^2(\mathcal{F}_t; \mathbb{R}^d) \text{ such that } \mathbb{P}^{W^0}_{\xi} = \mu,$$

a square integrable  $\mathbb{F}^0$ -progressive continuous process in  $\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . From the pathwise uniqueness of  $X_s^{t,\xi,\alpha}(\omega^0,\cdot)$  on  $(\Omega^1,\mathbb{F}^1,\mathbb{P}^1)$ ,  $\mathbb{P}^1$ -a.s.,  $\omega^0 \in \Omega^0$ , we obtain a flow property on the controlled conditional distribution  $\{\rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha}, t \leq s \leq T\}$ 

$$\rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha}(\omega^0) = \rho_s^{\theta(\omega^0),\rho_{\theta(\omega^0)}^{t,\mu,\alpha}(\omega^0),\alpha^{\theta(\omega^0),\omega^0}}(\omega^0), \quad s \in [\theta,T], \ \mathbb{P}^0(d\omega^0) - a.s.$$
(0.1.15)

for all  $\theta \in \mathcal{T}^{0}_{t,T}$ , the set of  $\mathbb{F}^{0}$ -stopping times valued in [t,T], where  $\alpha^{\theta(\omega^{0}),\omega^{0}}$  is a shifted control process by concatenation, independent of  $\mathcal{F}^{0}_{\theta(\omega^{0})}$  introduced in [CTT16].

Notice that the cost functional  $J(t, \xi, \alpha)$  depends on  $\xi$  only through its law  $\mu = \mathcal{L}(\xi)$ , and since  $\{\rho_s^{t,\mu}, t \leq s \leq T\}$  and the control  $\alpha$  are both  $\mathbb{F}^0$ -progressive. Therefore, the expectation is taken under  $\mathbb{P}^0$  and the value function defined on  $[0, T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  by abuse of notation

$$v(t,\mu) = \inf_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \mathbb{E}^0 \left[ \int_t^T \hat{f}(\rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha},\alpha_s) ds + \hat{g}(\rho_T^{t,\mu,\alpha}) \right].$$

As usual in the proof of the DPP for standard stochastic control problem, we use the flow property (0.1.15) and measurability selection arguments. The difference is that the process  $\{\rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha}, t \leq s \leq T\}$  here is measure-valued. We obtain the DPP for the conditional McKean-Vlasov control problem

$$\begin{split} v(t,\mu) &= \inf_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \inf_{\theta \in \mathcal{T}_{t,T}^{0}} \mathbb{E}^{0} \Big[ \int_{t}^{\theta} \hat{f}(\rho_{s}^{t,\mu,\alpha},\alpha_{s}) ds \, + \, v(\theta,\rho_{\theta}^{t,\mu,\alpha}) \Big] \\ &= \inf_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \sup_{\theta \in \mathcal{T}_{t,T}^{0}} \mathbb{E}^{0} \Big[ \int_{t}^{\theta} \hat{f}(\rho_{s}^{t,\mu,\alpha},\alpha_{s}) ds \, + \, v(\theta,\rho_{\theta}^{t,\mu,\alpha}) \Big]. \end{split}$$

Next, by relying on the notion of differentiability with respect to probability measures introduced by P.L. Lions [Lio12] and the chain rule along a flow of probability measures [BLM17], [CCD15], we derive the Bellman equation associated to the value function

$$\begin{cases} -\partial_t v - \inf_{a \in \mathbf{A}} \left[ \hat{f}(\mu, a) + \mu \left( \mathbf{L}^a v(t, \mu) \right) + \mu \otimes \mu \left( \mathbb{M}^a v(t, \mu) \right) \right] &= 0, \quad (t, \mu) \in [0, T) \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d), \\ v(T, \mu) &= \hat{g}(\mu), \quad \mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d), \end{cases}$$
(0.1.16)

where for  $\phi \in \mathcal{C}^2_c(\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d))$ ,  $a \in \mathbf{A}$ , and  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $\mathbb{L}^a \phi(\mu) \in L^2_\mu(\mathbb{R})$  is the function  $\mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$  defined by

$$\mathbf{L}^{a}\phi(\mu)(x) := \partial_{\mu}\phi(\mu)(x).b(x,\mu,a) + \frac{1}{2}\mathrm{tr}\big(\partial_{x}\partial_{\mu}\phi(\mu)(x)(\sigma\sigma^{\mathsf{T}} + \sigma_{0}\sigma^{\mathsf{T}}_{0})(x,\mu,a)\big),$$

and  $\mathbb{M}^a \phi(\mu) \in L^2_{\mu \otimes \mu}(\mathbb{R})$  is the function  $\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$  defined by

$$\mathbb{M}^a \phi(\mu)(x, x') := \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} \left( \partial^2_\mu \phi(\mu)(x, x') \sigma_0(x, \mu, a) \sigma_0^{\mathsf{T}}(x', \mu, a) \right).$$

In general, there is no classical solution to the Bellman equation (0.1.16). We turn to the viscosity characterization of the value function to the Bellman equation (0.1.16). As it is difficult to obtain comparison principle for viscosity solutions in the Wasserstein space which is a locally non compact space, we instead work in the Hilbert space  $L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$  by viewing the value function as a function on  $[0,T] \times L^2(\mathcal{G}, \mathbb{R}^d)$  via the lifting identification. With the same notation  $v(t,\xi) = v(t,\mathcal{L}(\xi))$ , the lifted Bellman equation is then written as

$$\begin{cases} -\partial_t v - H\left(\xi, Dv(t,\xi), D^2 v(t,\xi)\right) = 0, \quad (t,\xi) \in [0,T) \times L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d), \\ v(T,\xi) = \tilde{\mathbb{E}}^1 \left[g(\xi, \mathcal{L}(\xi))\right], \quad \xi \in L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d), \end{cases}$$
(0.1.17)

where  $H: L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d) \times L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d) \times S(L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)) \to \mathbb{R}$  is defined by

$$H(\xi, P, Q) = \inf_{a \in \mathbf{A}} \mathbb{E}^1 \Big[ f(\xi, \mathcal{L}(\xi), a) + P.b(\xi, \mathcal{L}(\xi), a) \\ + \frac{1}{2} Q(\sigma_0(\xi, \mathcal{L}(\xi), a)) . \sigma_0(\xi, \mathcal{L}(\xi), a) + \frac{1}{2} Q(\sigma(\xi, \mathcal{L}(\xi), a)N) . \sigma(\xi, \mathcal{L}(\xi), a)N \Big],$$

with  $N \in L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^n)$  of zero mean, and unit variance, and independent of  $\xi$ . We start with defining the viscosity subsolution (resp. supersolution) to the lifted Bellman equation (0.1.17). It is further assumed that the  $\sigma$ -algebra  $\mathcal{G}$  is countably generated upto null sets, hence  $L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$  is separable Hilbert space. From the DPP and [FGS15, Theorem 3.5], we can show that v is the unique viscosity solution to the Bellman equation (0.1.16). We also state some verification results, which allow us to get an analytic feedback of the optimal control when there is a smooth function to the Bellman equation (0.1.16). The proof of the verification theorem is based on the Itô's formula along a flow of conditional probability measures and also require an additional linear growth condition on  $\partial_{\mu}v(t,\mu)(x)$  to guarantee the vanishing of the martingale part of Itô's formula.

Finally, we illustrate our results on a class of LQ stochastic McKean-Vlasov type, for which explicit computations are possible. In particular, interbank systemic risk model fits into the LQ framework.

### 0.2 Part II: Robust mean-variance problem under model uncertainty

As in standard stochastic control problem, one interesting perspective of McKean-Vlasov control problem is to study it under G-expectation introduced by Peng [Pen10], called robust McKean-Vlasov control problem. This is a new and challenging problem in that it involves both the possible dependence of the coefficients upon the marginal distributions of the solutions and nonlinear expectation. In this part of this thesis, we consider one of its applications in finance: a robust mean-variance portfolio selection problem where model uncertainty carries on both rate of return and correlation matrix of the multiply assets.

Because of different kinds of reasons, model risk, see e.g. [Tal09], occurs in optimal portfolio allocation. In the literature on the robust portfolio selection problem, model uncertainty is usually parametrized by a prior set  $\Theta$ , in a general setting, a family of tuples  $(b, \sigma)$  describing the uncertainty about drift and volatility. In a probability setup,  $\mathcal{P}^{\Theta}$  consists of all semimartingale laws  $\mathbb{P}^{\theta}$  such that the associated differential characteristics  $(b_t, \sigma_t)$  take values in  $\Theta$ , see [NN18]. In the study of drift uncertainty, many authors introduced a dominated set of probability measures which are absolutely continuous with respect to a reference probability measure. While, in the framework of volatility uncertainty, the set of probability measures becomes non-dominated, see [MPZ15].

The majority of works on the robust portfolio selection problem focus on utility maximization. The mean-variance criterion has received little attention in the continuous-time setting, however, more recently [IP17] considered the robust mean-variance portfolio selection under covariance matrix ambiguity, in particular correlation ambiguity, and solved it by a McKean-Vlasov dynamic programming approach. Their method, however, can not be extended to tackle drift uncertainty. One key assumption in [IP17] is that one can aggregate a family of processes. In the case of drift uncertainty, this condition does not hold anymore. As mentioned in the first part of introduction, the nonlinear dependence of the cost functional on the law of the state makes the robust mean-variance portfolio under drift uncertainty into a non standard stochastic differential game. The objective of this part is to study the portfolio diversification under model uncertainty on drift and correlation of multi-aasets with a dynamic robust mean-variance approach.

Let us describe the model in detail. We consider a financial market which consists of one risk-free asset and  $d \ge 2$  risky assets on a finite investment horizon T > 0. Let  $\Omega$  be a canonical state space with the uniform norm and Borel  $\sigma$ -field  $\mathcal{F}$ ,  $B = (B_t)_{t \in [0,T]}$  the canonical space,  $\mathbb{F} = (\mathcal{F}_t)_{0 \le t \le T}$  the canonical filtration. We assume that the investor knows the marginal volatility of each asset  $\sigma_i$ ,  $1 \le i \le d$ , but is diffident about the rate of return b and correlation  $\rho$ , assumed to be valued in a nonempty convex set  $\Theta$  $\subset \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{C}^d_{>+}$  where  $\mathbb{C}^d_{>+}$  is the subset of all elements  $\rho = (\rho_{ij})_{1 \le i < j \le d} \in [-1, 1]^{d(d-1)/2}$  s.t. correlation matrix  $C(\rho)$  of the assets belongs to  $\mathbb{S}^d_{>+}$ . We consider the following cases for the parametrization of the ambiguity set  $\Theta$ :

#### INTRODUCTION

- (i) Product set:  $\Theta = \Delta \times \Gamma$ , where  $\Delta$  is a compact convex set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and  $\Gamma$  a convex set of  $\mathbb{C}^d_{>+}$ .
- (ii) Ellipsoidal set:  $\Theta = \{(b, \rho) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times \Gamma : \|\sigma(\rho)^{-1}(b-\hat{b})\|_2 \leq \delta\}$ , for some convex set  $\Gamma$  of  $\mathbb{C}^d_{>+}$ , where  $\hat{b}$  is a known vector and  $\delta > 0$  radius of ambiguity. For each given realization of  $\rho$ , the drift is allowed to vary in the ellipsoidal set.

This parametrization ( $\mathbf{H}\Theta$ ) includes large classes of model uncertainty. When there is no correlation ambiguity, i.e.  $\Gamma$  is singleton, the case of different levels of drift uncertainty on different asset subclass, see [ $\mathbf{GUW06}$ ], is included in ( $\mathbf{H}\Theta$ )(i). However, it is difficult to study this case in the structure of correlation ambiguity. When there is one subclass for all assets, it's an ellipsoidal set described in  $\mathbf{H}\Theta$ (ii). When there is *d* subclass for all assets, it's a rectangular set included in  $\mathbf{H}\Theta$ (i). The other subclass *m*, 1 < m < d with ambiguity on correlation is left for future studies. We denote by  $\Sigma(\rho)$  the prior covariance matrix of the assets and introduce the prior risk premium

$$R(b,\rho) = b^{\intercal} \Sigma(\rho)^{-1} b$$
 for  $\theta = (b,\rho) \in \Theta$ .

We consider all  $\mathbb{F}$ -progressively measurable processes  $\theta = (\theta_t) = (b_t, \rho_t)$  taking value in  $\Theta$ , denoted by  $\mathcal{V}_{\Theta}$ , and then build a correspondence between elements in  $\mathcal{V}_{\Theta}$  and probability measures on  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F})$ , namely,

$$\mathcal{P}^{\Theta} = \{ \mathbb{P}^{\theta} : \theta \in \mathcal{V}_{\Theta} \},\$$

where under each probability measure  $\mathbb{P}^{\theta}$ , there exists a Brownian motion  $W_t^{\theta}$  such that  $dB_t = b_t dt + \sigma(\rho_t) dW_t^{\theta}$ . It is worth mentioning that in this modelling the drift and correlation is allowed to be random processes.

Now given an admissible portfolio strategy  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ , the dynamics of the wealth process  $X_t^{\alpha}$  with initial value at  $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}$  evolves according to

$$dX_t^{\alpha} = \alpha_t^{\mathsf{T}} \operatorname{diag}(S_t)^{-1} dS_t = \alpha_t^{\mathsf{T}} dB_t, \quad 0 \le t \le T, \ \mathcal{P}^{\Theta} - q.s.$$
$$= \alpha_t^{\mathsf{T}} \left( b_t dt + \sigma(\rho_t) dW_t^{\theta} \right), \quad 0 \le t \le T, \ \mathbb{P}^{\theta} - a.s.$$

In our framework, the problem of mean-variance minimization problem is formulated as a McKean-Vlasov differential game,

$$V_0 := \sup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \inf_{\mathbb{P}^{\theta} \in \mathcal{P}^{\Theta}} J(\alpha, \theta) = \sup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \inf_{\mathbb{P}^{\theta} \in \mathcal{P}^{\Theta}} \left\{ \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[X_T^{\alpha}] - \lambda \operatorname{Var}_{\theta}(X_T^{\alpha}) \right\}.$$
(0.2.1)

In the classical mean-variance minimization problem,  $\mathcal{P}^{\Theta}$  contains only one probability measure, which corresponds to a singleton  $\Theta = \{(b^o, \rho^o)\}$ . This means that the investor knows the "historical" probability measure denoted by  $\mathbb{P}^o$  that describes the dynamics of the underlying assets. In this case, the optimal portfolio strategy is explicitly given by, see [LZ00] and Section 3.4.1 in Chapter 3

$$\alpha_t^* = \left[ x_0 + \frac{e^{R^o T}}{2\lambda} - X_t^* \right] (\Sigma^o)^{-1} b^o, \quad 0 \le t \le T, \ \mathbb{P}^o - a.s.$$
(0.2.2)

where  $X_t^*$  is the state process associated to  $\alpha_t^*$ . We see from (0.2.2) that the investor diversifies her portfolio among all the available assets according to (up to a scalar term) the vector  $(\Sigma^o)^{-1}b^o$  and in general all the available risky assets will be held, called well-diversification.

To find the initial value function  $V_0$  and an optimal portfolio strategy  $\alpha_t^*$  for (0.2.1), we follow the idea of the general martingale optimality principle approach. With the nonlinear dependence on the law of the state process via the variance term in the mean-variance criterion, we have to adapt it to our framework.

**Lemma 0.2.1.** Let  $\{V_t^{\alpha,\theta}, t \in [0,T], \alpha \in \mathcal{A}, \theta \in \mathcal{V}_{\Theta}\}$  be a family of real-valued processes in the form

$$V_t^{\alpha,\theta} := v_t(X_t^{\alpha}, \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[X_t^{\alpha}])$$

for some measurable functions  $v_t$  on  $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}$ ,  $t \in [0,T]$ , such that :

- (i)  $v_T(x, \bar{x}) = x \lambda (x \bar{x})^2$ , for all  $x, \bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}$ ,
- (ii) the function  $t \in [0,T] \mapsto \mathbb{E}_{\theta^*}[V_t^{\alpha,\theta^*}]$  is nonincreasing for all  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  and some  $\theta^* \in \mathcal{V}_{\Theta}$ ,
- (iii)  $\mathbb{E}_{\theta}[V_T^{\alpha^*,\theta}] \ge V_0^{\alpha^*,\theta} = v_0(x_0,x_0), \text{ for some } \alpha^* \in \mathcal{A} \text{ and all } \theta \in \mathcal{V}_{\Theta}.$

Then,  $\alpha^*$  is an optimal portfolio strategy for the robust mean-variance problem (5.2.4) with a worst-case scenario  $\theta^*$ , and

$$V_0 = \sup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \inf_{\mathbb{P}^{\theta} \in \mathcal{P}^{\Theta}} J(\alpha, \theta) = \inf_{\mathbb{P}^{\theta} \in \mathcal{P}^{\Theta}} \sup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} J(\alpha, \theta) = v_0(x_0, x_0) = J(\alpha^*, \theta^*).$$

According to the above lemma, we have to work on an enlarged space of both state and the expectation of the state. So we construct a function  $v_t(x, \bar{x}), t \in [0, T], x, \bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}$  in the following form

$$v_t(x,\bar{x}) = K_t(x-\bar{x})^2 + Y_t x + \chi_t,$$

and choose (if exist)  $\theta^*$ : =  $(b^*, \rho^*)$  =  $\arg\min_{\Theta} R(\theta) \in \Theta \subset \mathcal{V}_{\Theta}$  and  $\alpha_t^*$ , the optimal portfolio strategy in the classical mean-variance problem in the Black-Schole model with parameter  $(b^*, \sigma(\rho^*))$  under  $\mathbb{P}^{\theta^*}$ . We check that such a pair  $(\theta^*, \alpha^*)$  satisfies weak optimality principle, which yields the main result called separation principle.

**Theorem 0.2.1.** Let us consider a parametric set  $\Theta$  for model uncertainty as in (H $\Theta$ ). Suppose that there exists  $\theta^* = (b^*, \rho^*) \in \Theta$  solution to  $\arg\min_{\theta \in \Theta} R(\theta)$ . Then the robust mean-variance problem (5.2.4) admits an optimal portfolio strategy given by

$$\alpha_t^* = (x_0 + \frac{e^{R(\theta^*)T}}{2\lambda} - X_t^*) \Sigma(\rho^*)^{-1} b^*, \quad 0 \le t \le T, \ \mathcal{P}^\Theta - q.s.,$$
(0.2.3)

where  $X^*$  is the state process associated to  $\alpha_t^*$ . Moreover, the corresponding initial value function is

$$V_0 = x_0 + \frac{1}{4\lambda} \left[ e^{R(\theta^*)T} - 1 \right].$$

In the last section of this chapter, we provide some examples for explicit computation of the minimal risk premium function  $\theta \in \Theta \mapsto R(\theta)$  in Theorem 0.2.1 and implication for the optimal robust portfolio strategy and the portfolio diversification. According to drift uncertainty in (H $\Theta$ ), we distinguish the case of ellipsoidal set  $\Theta = \{(b, \rho) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times \Gamma : \|\sigma(\rho)^{-1}(b-\hat{b})\|_2 \leq \delta\}$  and rectangular set  $\Theta = \prod_{i=1}^d [\underline{b}_i, \bar{b}_i] \times \Gamma$ . Our first observation is that whenever  $\delta > \inf_{\rho \in \Gamma} \|\sigma(\rho)^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2$  in the ellipsoidal set and  $\underline{b}_i \leq 0 \leq \bar{b}_i$  for each  $1 \leq i \leq d$  in the rectangular set,  $\alpha_t^* \equiv 0$ . In other words, when the investor is poorly confident about the estimation on the expected rate of return, then she doesn't make risky investment at all. In what follows, we assume that  $\delta < \inf_{\rho \in \Gamma} \|\sigma(\rho)^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2$  in the ellipsoidal set and  $\underline{b}_i > 0$  for each  $1 \leq i \leq d$ , in the rectangular set. Our second observation is that if the investor is completely ambiguous about correlation, i.e.  $\Gamma = \mathbb{C}_{>+}^d$ , then the investor only holds the asset with the highest instantaneous (absolute value) Sharpe ratio. Next, we state our observation for two-asset model with drift uncertainty and partial correlation ambiguity, i.e.  $\Gamma = [\rho, \bar{\rho}] \subset (-1, 1)$ . Whenever ellipsoidal set or rectangular

set, there are three possible cases depending on the relation between Sharpe ratio "proximity" and the correlation bounds: directional trading, i.e. long or short in both assets, spread trading, i.e. long in one asset and short in the other one, and anti-diversification, i.e. only one asset with the highest Sharpe ratio is held in the portfolio. At the end, we give the result for three-asset model with drift uncertainty and partial correlation ambiguity, i.e.  $\Gamma = \prod_{j=1}^{3} \prod_{i=1}^{j-1} [\underline{\rho}_{ij}, \bar{\rho}_{ij}] \subset \mathbb{C}_{>+}^{3}$ . In this model, there are roughly five possible cases depending on the Sharpe ratio "proximity" and correlation bounds: anti-diversification, under-diversification in the sense that two assets are held in the optimal portfolio strategy, and well-diversification. One contribution in this part is to unify and extend, to some extent, the results obtained by [GUW06], [BGUW12] and [LZ17] with one type of model uncertainty in one period.

## Part I

# The optimal control of McKean-Vlasov dynamics

### Chapter 1

# Some differential calculus on Wasserstein space

<u>Abstract</u>: In this chapter, we present some useful elements of differential calculus and stochastic analysis such as differentiability and Itô's formula on Wasserstein space derived from the investigation of MFG. We mention [Lio12], [Car12], [BLPR17], [CCD15], [WZ17], [GT18], from which are quoted most of the results recalled without proof. Such a calculus plays an important role in the following chapters when we drive the Hamiltonian-Jacobi-Bellman (HJB) equation of stochastic control of McKean-Vlasov dynamics.

Keywords: Wasserstein space, differentiability, Itô's formula

#### 1.1 Wasserstein space

Assume that (E, d) is a complete separable metric space. Let us consider a probability space  $(\Omega, \mathcal{G}, \mathbb{P})$ (we have to adapt the notation of probability space to the need of the chapters below) which is rich enough in the sense that for every  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(E)$ , there is a random variable  $\xi \in L^2(\mathcal{G}; E)$  such that  $\mathbb{P}_{\xi} = \mu$ . For instance,  $\Omega$  is Polish space,  $\mathcal{G}$  its Borel  $\sigma$ -filed,  $\mathbb{P}$  is atomless probability measure on  $(\Omega, \mathcal{G})$  (Since  $\Omega$ is Polish, then  $\mathbb{P}$  is atomless if and only if every singleton has zero probability measure). The probability measure space  $\mathcal{P}_2(E)$  is endowed with the 2-Wasserstein distance defined by

$$\mathcal{W}_{2}(\mu,\mu') := \inf \left\{ \left( \int_{E\times E} d(x,y)^{2} \pi(dx,dy) \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} : \pi \in \mathcal{P}_{2}(E\times E) \text{ with marginals } \mu \text{ and } \mu' \right\}$$
$$= \inf \left\{ \left( \mathbb{E}[d(\xi,\xi')^{2}] \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} : \xi, \xi' \in L^{2}(\mathcal{G};E) \text{ with } \mathbb{P}_{\xi} = \mu, \mathbb{P}_{\xi'} = \mu' \right\},$$

Then, it's shown that  $(\mathcal{P}_2(E), \mathcal{W}_2)$  is a also complete separable metric space (see e.g. Theorem 6.18 in [Vil08]). We shall equip  $\mathcal{P}_2(E)$  with the corresponding Borel  $\sigma$ -field  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{P}_2(E))$ . We next recall some useful topological properties on this Borel  $\sigma$ -field when  $E = \mathbb{R}^d$ . This is implicitly used throughout the manuscript.

**Proposition 1.1.1.** We denote by  $\mathscr{C}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  the set of continuous functions on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  with quadratic growth, and for any  $\varphi \in \mathscr{C}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , define the map  $\Lambda_{\varphi} : \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \to \mathbb{R}$  by  $\Lambda_{\varphi}\mu := \mu(\varphi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \varphi(x)\mu(dx)$ , for  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Then

- (i) for  $(\mu_n)_n$ ,  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , we have that  $\mathcal{W}_2(\mu_n, \mu) \to 0$  if and only if, for every  $\varphi \in \mathscr{C}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $\Lambda_{\varphi}\mu_n \to \Lambda_{\varphi}\mu$ .
- (ii) given a measurable space  $(O, \mathcal{O})$  and a map  $\rho : O \to \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $\rho$  is measurable if and only if the map  $\Lambda_{\varphi} \circ \rho = \rho(\varphi) : O \to \mathbb{R}$  is measurable, for any  $\varphi \in \mathscr{C}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ .

Notice that  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d))$  is generated by the family of functions  $(\mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \mapsto \mu(D))_{D \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^d)}$ . Alternatively, it coincides with the cylindrical  $\sigma$ -algebra  $\sigma(\Lambda_{\varphi}, \varphi \in \mathscr{C}_2(\mathbb{R}^d))$  and that the map  $\Lambda_{\varphi}$  is  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d))$ -measurable, for any measurable function  $\varphi$  with quadratic growth condition, by using a monotone class argument since it holds true whenever  $\varphi \in \mathscr{C}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ .

#### **1.2** Differentiability on Wassersetin space

There are various notions of differentiability in the Wasserstein space  $\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . For example, the notion of Wasserstein derivative have been discussed in the theory of optimal transport. Briefly speaking, based on the geometric theory of Wasserstein space, Wasserstein derivative is defined in terms of sub- and super-differentials. An alternative notion has been introduced by Lions in his lectures at Collège de France [Lio12], and then detailed in [Car12] and [CD18, Vol I, Chapter 5]. Lions' notion is based on the *lifting* of the function  $u : \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \to \mathbb{R}$  into a function  $\tilde{u}$  defined on the so-called "flat" space  $L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$ by  $\tilde{u}(\xi) = u(\mathbb{P}_{\xi})$ . Conversely, given a function  $\tilde{u}$  defined on  $L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$ , we call inverse-lifted function of  $\tilde{u}$ defined on  $\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  by  $u(\mu) = \tilde{u}(\xi)$  for  $\mu = \mathcal{L}(\xi)$ , and we notice that such u exists iff  $\tilde{u}(\xi)$  depends only on the distribution of  $\xi$  for any  $\xi \in L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$ . In this case, we shall often identify the function u and its lifted version  $\tilde{u}$  by using the same notation  $u = \tilde{u}$ .

**Definition 1.2.1.** We say that u is L-differentiable (resp.  $C^1$ ) on  $\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  if the lifting  $\tilde{u}$  is Fréchet differentiable (resp. Fréchet differentiable with continuous derivatives) on  $L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$ .

#### 1.2. DIFFERENTIABILITY ON WASSERSETIN SPACE

In this case, the Fréchet derivative  $[D\tilde{u}](\xi)$  is viewed as an element  $D\tilde{u}(\xi)$  of  $L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$  by Riesz' theorem:  $[D\tilde{u}](\xi)(Y) = \mathbb{E}[D\tilde{u}(\xi).Y]$  for any  $Y \in L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$ . In [Car12] and [CD18, Vol I, Chapter 5], it has been shown that the law of the random variable  $D\tilde{u}(\xi)$  does not depend upon the particular choice of  $\xi$  satisfying  $\mathbb{P}_{\xi} = \mu$ . Moreover, if u is  $\mathcal{C}^1$ , then there exists a deterministic measurable function  $h : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$  such that  $D\tilde{u}(\xi)$  can be represented as

$$D\tilde{u}(\xi) = h(\xi), \quad \mu = \mathbb{P}_{\xi} - a.e.$$
 (1.2.1)

We also refer to [WZ17] for an alternative proof of this structure of Lions derivative. Therefore, we denote by  $\partial_{\mu}u(\mathbb{P}_{\xi})(\xi) := h(\xi)$ , which is called L-derivative of u at  $\mu = \mathbb{P}_{\xi}$ . From a geometric analysis perspective, Lions L-differentiability may be not as intuitive as differentiability in the sense of Wasserstein, actually, one can reconcile the notion of Lions L-derivative and Wasserstein derivative, that is, u is continuously L-differentiable iff u is Wasserstein differentiable, and  $\partial_{\mu}u(\mu)$  equals Wasserstein derivative, see [GT18] for a deep connection between these two notions of derivatives.

Next, we consider the structure of second-order derivatives.

**Definition 1.2.2.** We say that u is partially  $C^2$  if it is  $C^1$ , and one can find, for any  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , a continuous version of the mapping  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d \mapsto \partial_{\mu}u(\mu)(x)$ , such that the mapping  $(\mu, x) \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d \mapsto \partial_{\mu}u(\mu)(x)$  is jointly continuous at any point  $(\mu, x)$  such that  $x \in Supp(\mu)$ , and if for any  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , the mapping  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d \mapsto \partial_{\mu}u(\mu)(x)$  is differentiable, its derivative being jointly continuous at any point  $(\mu, x)$  such that  $x \in Supp(\mu)$ . The gradient is then denoted by  $\partial_x \partial_\mu u(\mu)(x) \in \mathbb{S}^d$ .

**Definition 1.2.3.** We say that u is fully  $C^2$  if it is  $C^1$ , and one can find, for any  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , a continuous version of the mapping  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d \mapsto \partial_{\mu} u(\mu)(x)$ , such that the mapping  $(\mu, x) \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d \mapsto \partial_{\mu} u(\mu)(x)$  is jointly continuous at any point  $(\mu, x)$  such that  $x \in Supp(\mu)$ , and

- (i) for each fixed  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , the mapping  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d \mapsto \partial_\mu u(\mu)(x)$  is differentiable in the standard (classical) sense, with a gradient denoted by  $\partial_x \partial_\mu u(\mu)(x) \in \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$ , and s.t. the mapping  $(\mu, x) \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d \mapsto \partial_x \partial_\mu u(\mu)(x)$  is jointly continuous
- (ii) for each fixed  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ , the mapping  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \mapsto \partial_\mu u(\mu)(x)$  is differentiable in the above lifted sense. Its derivative, interpreted thus as a mapping  $x' \in \mathbb{R}^d \mapsto \partial_\mu [\partial_\mu u(\mu)(x)](x') \in \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$  in  $L^2_\mu(\mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$ , is denoted by  $x' \in \mathbb{R}^d \mapsto \partial^2_\mu u(\mu)(x, x')$ , and s.t. the mapping  $(\mu, x, x') \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d \mapsto \partial^2_\mu u(\mu)(x, x')$  is continuous.

**Definition 1.2.4.** We say that u is  $\mathcal{C}^2_b(\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d))$  if it is partially  $\mathcal{C}^2$ ,  $\partial_x \partial_\mu u(\mu) \in L^\infty_\mu(\mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$ , and for any compact set  $\mathcal{K}$  of  $\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , we have

$$\sup_{\mu \in \mathcal{K}} \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left| \partial_{\mu} u(\mu)(x) \right|^2 \mu(dx) + \left\| \partial_x \partial_{\mu} u(\mu) \right\|_{\infty} \right] < \infty.$$

As shown in [CCD15], if the *lifting*  $\tilde{u} \in C_c^2(L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d))$ , the set of twice continuously Fréchet differentiable on  $L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$  with Lipschitz Fréchet derivative, then u lies in  $C_b^2(\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d))$ . In this case, the second Fréchet derivative  $D^2\tilde{u}(\xi)$  is identified indifferently by Riesz' theorem as a bilinear form on  $L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$  or as a symmetric operator (hence bounded) on  $L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$ , denoted by  $D^2\tilde{u}(\xi) \in S(L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d))$ , and we have the relation (see Appendix A.2 in [CD14]):

$$D^{2}\tilde{u}(\xi)[YN,YN] = \mathbb{E}\Big[D^{2}\tilde{u}(\xi)(YN).YN\Big] = \mathbb{E}\Big[\operatorname{tr}\big(\partial_{x}\partial_{\mu}u(\mathbb{P}_{\xi})(\xi)YY^{\mathsf{T}}\big)\Big], \qquad (1.2.2)$$

for any  $\xi \in L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $Y \in L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^{d \times q})$ , and where  $N \in L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^q)$  is independent of  $(\xi, Y)$  with zero mean and unit variance.

**Definition 1.2.5.** We say that u is fully  $C_c^2$  if it is fully  $C^2$ ,  $\partial_x \partial_\mu u(\mu) \in L^{\infty}_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$ ,  $\partial^2_{\mu} u(\mu) \in L^{\infty}_{\mu \otimes \mu}(\mathbb{R}^{d \times d})$  for any  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , and for any compact set  $\mathcal{K}$  of  $\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , we have

$$\sup_{\mu \in \mathcal{K}} \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left| \partial_{\mu} u(\mu)(x) \right|^2 \mu(dx) + \left\| \partial_x \partial_{\mu} u(\mu) \right\|_{\infty} + \left\| \partial_{\mu}^2 u(\mu) \right\|_{\infty} \right] < \infty.$$
(1.2.3)

We illustrate the notion of differentiability with some fundamental examples, some of which are from [CD18].

**Example 1.2.1.** (i) The function u is of the first order form:

$$u(\mu) = \langle \varphi, \mu \rangle := \int_{R^d} \varphi(x) \mu(dx),$$

for some continuously differentiable function  $\varphi$  defined on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , whose derivative is at most of linear growth. In this case, the lifted function of u is given by  $\tilde{u}(\xi) = \mathbb{E}[\varphi(\xi)]$  and

$$\begin{split} (\xi+Y) &= & \mathbb{E}[\varphi(\xi+Y)] \\ &= & \mathbb{E}[\varphi(\xi)] + \int_0^1 \mathbb{E}[\nabla\varphi(\xi+hY).Y]dh \\ &= & \mathbb{E}[\varphi(\xi)] + \mathbb{E}[\nabla\varphi(\xi).Y] + \mathbb{E}\int_0^1 [(\nabla\varphi(\xi+hY) - \nabla\varphi(\xi)).Y]dh. \end{split}$$

It is easy to check that the last term in the r.h.s is  $o(||Y||_2^2)$ , and thus the Fréchet derivative of  $\tilde{u}$  at  $\xi$  is given by  $\nabla \varphi$ . Consequently, we have  $\partial_{\mu} u(\mu) = \nabla \varphi$ .

(ii) For any  $\Lambda \in \mathbb{S}^d$ , we set

 $\tilde{u}$ 

$$\bar{\mu} := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} x\mu(dx), \ \bar{\mu}_2(\Lambda) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} x^{\mathsf{T}}\Lambda x\mu(dx), \ \operatorname{Var}(\mu)(\Lambda) := \bar{\mu}_2(\Lambda) - \bar{\mu}^{\mathsf{T}}\Lambda\bar{\mu},$$

which corresponds to  $\varphi(x) = x$ ,  $\varphi(x) = x^{\intercal}\Lambda x$ , and  $\varphi(x) = (x - \mu)^{\intercal}\Lambda(x - \mu)$  in (i) respectively. Therefore, we have

$$\partial_{\mu}\bar{\mu} = I_{d \times d}, \ \partial_{\mu}\bar{\mu}_2(\Lambda) = 2\Lambda x, \ \partial_{\mu}\operatorname{Var}(\mu)(\Lambda) = 2\Lambda(x - \bar{\mu}),$$

which shall be used in the class of LQ McKean-Vlasov problem.

(iii) The function u is in the cylindrical form:

$$u(\mu) = F(\langle \varphi_1, \mu \rangle, \dots, \langle \varphi_d, \mu \rangle)$$

for some continuously differentiable functions  $F, \varphi_1, \ldots, \varphi_d$  defined on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , whose derivatives are at most of linear growth. In this case, the lifted function of u is given by  $\tilde{u}(\xi) = F(\mathbb{E}[\varphi_1(\xi)], \ldots, \mathbb{E}[\varphi_d(\xi)])$  and

$$\begin{split} \tilde{u}(\xi+Y) &= F(\mathbb{E}[\varphi_1(\xi+Y)], \dots, \mathbb{E}[\varphi_d(\xi+Y)]) \\ &= F(\mathbb{E}[\varphi_1(\xi)], \dots, \mathbb{E}[\varphi_d(\xi)]) + \sum_{i=1}^d \partial_{x_i} F(\mathbb{E}[\varphi_1(\xi)], \dots, \mathbb{E}[\varphi_d(\xi)]) E[\nabla \varphi_i(\xi).Y] \\ &+ \int_0^1 \sum_{i=1}^d \left[ \partial_{x_i} F(\mathbb{E}[\varphi_1(\xi+hY)], \dots, \mathbb{E}[\varphi_d(\xi+hY)]) \mathbb{E}[\nabla \varphi_i(\xi+hY).Y] \right. \\ &- \partial_{x_i} F(\mathbb{E}[\varphi_1(\xi)], \dots, \mathbb{E}[\varphi_d(\xi)]) \mathbb{E}[\nabla \varphi_i(\xi).Y]] dh \end{split}$$

#### 1.3. Itô's formula on Wasserstein space

We check that the last term in the r.h.s is  $o(||Y||_2^2)$ , and thus the Fréchete derivative of  $\tilde{u}$  is given by  $\sum_{i=1}^d \partial_{x_i} F(\mathbb{E}[\varphi_1(\xi)], \dots, \mathbb{E}[\varphi_d(\xi)]) \nabla \varphi_i(\xi)$ . Therefore, we have

$$\partial_{\mu}\varphi(\mu) = \sum_{i=1}^{d} \partial_{x_i} F(\langle \varphi_1, \mu \rangle, \dots, \langle \varphi_d, \mu \rangle) \nabla \varphi_i.$$

#### 1.3 Itô's formula on Wasserstein space

#### 1.3.1 Itô's formula along a flow of deterministic measures

In this thesis, we shall use a chain rule (or Itô's formula) along a flow of deterministic probability measures and recall it here. Let us consider an  $\mathbb{R}^d$ -valued Itô process

$$X_t = X_0 + \int_0^t b_s ds + \int_0^t \sigma_s dB_s, \quad 0 \le t \le T,$$
(1.3.1)

where  $(b_t)$  and  $(\sigma_t)$  are progressively measurable processes with respect to the filtration generated by the *n*-dimensional Brownian motion *B*, valued respectively in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and  $\mathbb{R}^{d \times n}$ , and satisfying the integrability condition:

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_0^T |b_t|^2 + |\sigma_t|^2 dt\right] < \infty.$$
(1.3.2)

We then claim:

**Proposition 1.3.1.** Let u be  $C_b^2(\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d))$ . Then, under condition (1.3.2), for all  $t \in [0,T]$ ,

$$u(\mathbb{P}_{X_t}) = u(\mathbb{P}_{X_0}) + \int_0^t \mathbb{E} \left[ \partial_\mu u(\mathbb{P}_{X_s})(X_s) \cdot b_s + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} \left( \partial_x \partial_\mu u(\mathbb{P}_{X_s})(X_s) \sigma_s \sigma_s^{\mathsf{T}} \right) \right] ds.$$
(1.3.3)

This proposition is proved independently in [BLPR17] and [CCD15], see also the Appendix in [CD14].

It will be useful to reformulate the Itô's formula for the lifted function  $\tilde{u}$  on  $L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$  (=  $L^2(\Omega, \mathcal{G}, \mathbb{P}; \mathbb{R}^d)$ ). Now, denoting by  $(\tilde{B}_t)_{0 \leq t \leq T}$ ,  $(\tilde{b}_t)_{0 \leq t \leq T}$ ,  $(\tilde{\sigma}_t)_{0 \leq t \leq T}$  the copies of  $(B_t)_{0 \leq t \leq T}$ ,  $(b_t)_{0 \leq t \leq T}$  and  $(\sigma_t)_{0 \leq t \leq T}$  on the space  $(\Omega, \mathcal{G}, \mathbb{P})$ , we then have an Itô process of the form on  $(\Omega, \mathcal{G}, \mathbb{P})$ 

$$\tilde{X}_t = \tilde{X}_0 + \int_0^t \tilde{b}_t dt + \int_0^t \tilde{\sigma}_t d\tilde{B}_t, \quad 0 \le t \le T,$$

which is then the copy of X in (1.3.1). Thus, when the lifted function  $\tilde{u} \in \mathcal{C}_2(L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d))$ , we obtain from (1.3.7) and (1.2.2) an Itô's formula on the lifted space  $L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$ ,

$$u(\tilde{X}_{t}) = u(\tilde{X}_{0}) + \int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{E}[D\tilde{u}(\tilde{X}_{s}).\tilde{b}_{s} + \frac{1}{2}D^{2}\tilde{u}(\tilde{X}_{s})(\tilde{\sigma}_{s}N).\tilde{\sigma}_{s}N], \quad 0 \le t \le T,$$
(1.3.4)

where  $N \in L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$ , is independent of  $(\tilde{X}_0, \tilde{B})$ , with zero mean, and unit variance.

#### 1.3.2 Itô's formula along a flow of random measures

We next give an Itô's formula along a flow of conditional measures proved in [CCD15] (see also [CDLL15] and [CD15]). Let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$  be a probability space of the form  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P}) = (\Omega^0 \times \Omega^1, \mathcal{F}^0 \otimes \mathcal{F}^1, \mathbb{P}^0 \otimes \mathbb{P}^1)$ , where  $(\Omega^0, \mathcal{F}^0, \mathbb{P}^0)$  supports  $W^0$  and  $(\Omega^1, \mathcal{F}^1, \mathbb{P}^1)$  supports B. Let us consider an Itô process in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  of the form:

$$X_t = X_0 + \int_0^t b_s ds + \int_0^t \sigma_s dB_s + \int_0^t \sigma_s^0 dW_s^0, \quad 0 \le t \le T,$$
(1.3.5)

where  $X_0$  is independent of  $(B, W^0)$ , and the coefficients b,  $\sigma$  and  $\sigma^0$  are progressively measurable processes with respect to the natural filtration  $\mathbb{F}$  generated by  $(X^0, B, W^0)$ , and satisfying the square integrability condition:

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{T} |b_{t}|^{2} + |\sigma_{t}|^{2} + |\sigma_{t}^{0}|^{2} dt\right] < \infty.$$
(1.3.6)

Denote by  $\mathbb{P}_{X_t}^{W^0}$  the conditional law of  $X_t$ ,  $t \in [0, T]$ , given the  $\sigma$ -algebra  $\mathcal{F}^0$  generated by the whole filtration of  $W^0$ , and by  $\mathbb{E}_{W^0} = \mathbb{E}^1$  the conditional expectation w.r.t.  $\mathcal{F}^0$ .

**Proposition 1.3.2.** Let  $u \in \mathcal{C}^2_c(\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d))$ . Then, under condition (1.3.6), for all  $t \in [0,T]$ , we have:

$$u(\mathbb{P}_{X_{t}}^{W^{0}}) = u(\mathbb{P}_{X_{0}}) + \int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{E}_{W^{0}} \Big[ \partial_{\mu} u(\mathbb{P}_{X_{s}}^{W^{0}})(X_{s}).b_{s} + \frac{1}{2} \mathrm{tr} \big( \partial_{x} \partial_{\mu} u(\mathbb{P}_{X_{s}}^{W^{0}})(X_{s})(\sigma_{s} \sigma_{s}^{\intercal} + \sigma_{s}^{0}(\sigma_{s}^{0})^{\intercal}) \big) \Big] \\ + \mathbb{E}_{W^{0}} \Big[ \mathbb{E}'_{W^{0}} \Big[ \frac{1}{2} \mathrm{tr} \big( \partial_{\mu}^{2} u(\mathbb{P}_{X_{s}}^{W^{0}})(X_{s}, X'_{s}) \sigma_{s}^{0}(\sigma_{s}^{'0})^{\intercal} \big) \Big] \Big] ds \\ + \int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{E}_{W^{0}} \Big[ \partial_{\mu} u(\mathbb{P}_{X_{s}}^{W^{0}})(X_{s})^{\intercal} \sigma_{s}^{0} \Big] dW_{s}^{0}, \qquad (1.3.7)$$

where X' and  $\sigma^{'0}$  are copies of X and  $\sigma^{0}$  on another probability space  $(\Omega^{0} \times \Omega^{'1}, \mathcal{F}^{0} \otimes \mathcal{F}^{'1}, \mathbb{P}^{0} \times \mathbb{P}^{'1})$ , with  $(\Omega^{'1}, \mathcal{F}^{'1}, \mathbb{P}^{'1})$  supporting B' a copy of B, and  $\mathbb{E}'_{w^{0}} = \mathbb{E}^{'1}$ .

Assume further that  $(\Omega^1, \mathcal{F}^1, \mathbb{P}^1)$  is in the form  $\Omega^1 = \tilde{\Omega}^1 \times \Omega'^1$ ,  $\mathcal{F}^1 = \mathcal{G} \otimes \mathcal{F}'^1$ ,  $\mathbb{P}^1 = \tilde{\mathbb{P}}^1 \otimes \mathbb{P}'^1$ , where  $\tilde{\Omega}^1$  is a Polish space,  $\mathcal{G}$  its Borel  $\sigma$ -algebra,  $\tilde{\mathbb{P}}^1$  an atomless probability measure on  $(\tilde{\Omega}^1, \mathcal{G})$ , while  $(\Omega'^1, \mathcal{F}'^1, \mathbb{P}'^1)$ supports B. We denote by  $\mathbb{E}^1$  (resp.  $\tilde{\mathbb{E}}^1$ ) the expectation under  $\mathbb{P}^1$  (resp.  $\tilde{\mathbb{P}}^1$ ). It will be useful to formulate Itô's formula for the lifted function  $\tilde{u}$  on  $L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$  (=  $L^2(\tilde{\Omega}^1, \mathcal{G}, \tilde{\mathbb{P}}^1; \mathbb{R}^d)$ ). Notice, however, that even if  $u \in \mathcal{C}^2_c(\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d))$ , then its lifted function  $\tilde{u}$  may not be in general twice continuously Fréchet differentiable on  $L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$ , as discussed in Example 2.1 in [BLPR17]. Under the extra-assumption that the lift  $\tilde{u} \in \mathcal{C}^2(L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d))$  (the set of real-valued twice continuously Fréchet differentiable on  $L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$ ), the second Fréchet derivative  $D^2\tilde{u}(\xi)$  is identified indifferently by Riesz' theorem as a bilinear form on  $L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$  or as a self-adjoint operator (hence bounded) on  $L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$ , denoted by  $D^2\tilde{u}(\xi) \in S(L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d))$ , and we have the relation (see Appendix A.2 in [CD14]):

$$D^{2}\tilde{u}(\xi)[Y,Y] = \tilde{\mathbb{E}}^{1}\left[D^{2}\tilde{u}(\xi)(Y).Y\right] = \tilde{\mathbb{E}}^{1}\left[\tilde{\mathbb{E}}^{\prime 1}\left[\operatorname{tr}\left(\partial_{\mu}^{2}u(\mathcal{L}(\xi))(\xi,\xi^{\prime})Y(Y^{\prime})^{\intercal}\right)\right]\right] + \tilde{\mathbb{E}}^{1}\left[\operatorname{tr}\left(\partial_{x}\partial_{\mu}u(\mathcal{L}(\xi))(\xi)YY^{\intercal}\right)\right], \quad (1.3.8)$$
$$D^{2}\tilde{u}(\xi)[ZN,ZN] = \tilde{\mathbb{E}}^{1}\left[D^{2}\tilde{u}(\xi)(ZN).ZN\right] = \tilde{\mathbb{E}}^{1}\left[\operatorname{tr}\left(\partial_{x}\partial_{\mu}u(\mathcal{L}(\xi))(\xi)ZZ^{\intercal}\right)\right],$$

for any  $\xi \in L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $Y \in L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $Z \in L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^{d \times q})$ , and where  $(\xi', Y')$  is a copy of  $(\xi, Y)$  on another Polish and atomless probability space  $(\tilde{\Omega}'^1, \mathcal{G}', \tilde{\mathbb{P}}'^1)$ ,  $N \in L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^q)$  is independent of  $(\xi, Z)$  with zero
## 1.3. Itô's formula on Wasserstein space

mean, and unit variance. Now, let us consider a copy  $\tilde{B}$  of B on the probability space  $(\tilde{\Omega}^1, \mathcal{G}, \tilde{\mathbb{P}}^1)$ , denote by  $\tilde{X}_0, \tilde{b}, \tilde{\sigma}, \tilde{\sigma}_0$  copies of  $X_0, b, \sigma, \sigma_0$  on  $(\tilde{\Omega} = \Omega^0 \times \tilde{\Omega}^1, \tilde{\mathcal{F}} = \mathcal{F}^0 \otimes \mathcal{G}, \tilde{\mathbb{P}} = \mathbb{P}^0 \otimes \tilde{\mathbb{P}}^1)$ , and consider the Itô process  $\tilde{X}$  on  $(\tilde{\Omega}, \tilde{\mathcal{F}}, \tilde{P})$  of the form

$$\tilde{X}_t = \tilde{X}_0 + \int_0^t \tilde{b}_s ds + \int_0^t \tilde{\sigma}_s d\tilde{B}_s + \int_0^t \tilde{\sigma}_s^0 dW_s^0, \quad 0 \le t \le T,$$

which is then a copy of X in (1.3.5). The process  $\check{X}$  defined by  $\check{X}_t(\omega^0) = \tilde{X}_t(\omega^0, .), 0 \leq t \leq T$ , is  $\mathbb{F}^0$ -progressive, and valued in  $L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$ . Similarly, the processes defined by  $\check{b}_t(\omega^0) = \tilde{b}_t(\omega^0, .), \check{\sigma}_t(\omega^0) = \tilde{\sigma}_t(\omega^0, .), \check{\sigma}_t(\omega^0, .), 0 \leq t \leq T$ , are valued in  $L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d), \mathbb{P}^0$ -a.s. Thus, when the lifted function  $\tilde{u} \in \mathcal{C}^2(L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d))$ , we obtain from (1.3.7) and relation (1.2.1)-(1.3.8) an Itô's formula on the lifted space  $L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$ :

$$\widetilde{u}(\check{X}_{t}) = \widetilde{u}(\check{X}_{0}) + \int_{0}^{t} \widetilde{\mathbb{E}}^{1} \Big[ D\widetilde{u}(\check{X}_{s}).\check{b}_{s} + \frac{1}{2} D^{2} \widetilde{u}(\check{X}_{s})(\check{\sigma}_{s}N).\check{\sigma}_{s}N + \frac{1}{2} D^{2} \widetilde{u}(\check{X}_{s})(\check{\sigma}_{s}^{0}).\check{\sigma}_{s}^{0} \Big] ds 
+ \int_{0}^{t} \widetilde{\mathbb{E}}^{1} \Big[ D\widetilde{u}(\check{X}_{s})^{\intercal} \check{\sigma}_{s}^{0} \Big] dW_{s}^{0}, \qquad 0 \le t \le T, \ \mathbb{P}^{0} - a.s.$$
(1.3.9)

where  $N \in L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$  is independent of  $(\tilde{B}, \tilde{X}_0)$ , with zero mean, and unit variance.

**Remark 1.3.1.** Itô's formula (1.3.9) is proved in Proposition 6.3 in [CD15], and holds true for any function  $\tilde{u}$  which is twice continuously Fréchet differentiable on  $L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$ . The fact that  $\tilde{u}$  has a lifted structure plays no role, and is used only to derive from (1.2.1)-(1.3.8) Itô's formula (1.3.7) on the Wasserstein space  $\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Recall however that Itô's formula (1.3.7) holds even if the lift is not twice continuously Fréchet differentiable as shown in [CCD15] (see also [CDLL15]).

## Chapter 2

# Dynamic programming for discrete time McKean-Vlasov control problem<sup>°</sup>

<u>Abstract</u>: We consider the stochastic optimal control problem of nonlinear mean-field systems in discrete time. We reformulate the problem into a deterministic control problem with marginal distribution as controlled state variable, and prove that dynamic programming principle holds in its general form. We apply our method for solving explicitly the mean-variance portfolio selection and the multivariate linear-quadratic McKean-Vlasov control problem.

Keywords: McKean-Vlasov equation, dynamic programming, calculus of variations.

a. This chapter is based on a paper in collaboration with Huyên Pham [PW16]. This paper is published in *Applied Mathematics and Optimization*, **74**(3), 2016.

## 2.1 Introduction

The problem studied in this paper concerns the optimal control of nonlinear stochastic dynamical systems in discrete time of McKean-Vlasov type. Such topic is related to the modeling of collective behaviors for a large number of players with mutual interactions, which has led to the theory of MFGs, introduced in [LL07] and [HMC06].

Since the emergence of MFG theory, the optimal control of mean-field dynamical systems has attracted a lot of interest in the literature, mostly in continuous time. It has been first studied in [AD01] by functional analysis method with a value function expressed in terms of the Nisio semigroup of operators. More recently, several papers have adopted the stochastic maximum principle for characterizing solutions to the controlled McKean-Vlasov systems in terms of adjoint backward stochastic differential equations (BSDEs), see [AD10], [BDL11], [CD15]. We also refer to the paper [Yon13] which focused on the LQ case where the BSDE from the maximum principle leads to a Riccati equation system. It is mentioned in these papers that due to the non-markovian nature of the McKean-Vlasov systems, dynamic programming (also called Bellman optimality) principle does not hold and the problem is time inconsistent in general. Indeed, the standard Markov property of the state process, say X, is ruled out, however, as noticed in [BFY13], [BFY15], this can be restored by working with the marginal distribution of X. The dynamic programming has then been applied in [LP14] for a specific control problem where the objective function depends upon statistics of X like its mean value but with no mean-field interaction on the dynamics of X, and by assuming the existence at all times of a density function for the marginal distribution of X.

The purpose of this paper is to provide a detailed analysis of the dynamic programming method for the optimal control of nonlinear mean-field systems in discrete time, where the coefficients may depend both upon the marginal distributions of the state and of the control. The case of continuous time McKean-Vlasov equations requires more technicalities and mathematical tools, and is under current investigation. The discrete time framework has been also considered in [ELN13] for LQ problem, and arises naturally in situations where signal values are available only at certain times. On the other hand, it can also be viewed as the discrete time version or approximation of the optimal control of continuous time McKean-Vlasov stochastic differential equations. Our methodology is the following. By using closed-loop (also called feedback) controls, we first convert the stochastic optimal control problem into a deterministic control problem involving only the marginal distribution of the state process. We then derive the deterministic evolution of the controlled marginal distribution, and prove in its general form the DPP. This gives sufficient conditions for optimality in terms of calculus of variations in the space of feedback control functions. Classical DPP for stochastic control problem without mean-field interaction falls within our approach. We finally apply our method for solving explicitly the mean-variance portfolio selection problem and the multivariate LQ mean-field control problem, and retrieve in particular the results obtained in [ELN13] by four different approaches.

The outline of the paper is as follows. The next section formulates the McKean-Vlasov control problem in discrete time. In Section 2.3, we develop the dynamic programming method in this framework. Section 2.4 is devoted to applications of the DPP with explicit solutions in the LQ case including the mean-variance problem.

## 2.2 McKean-Vlasov control problem

We consider a general class of optimal control of mean-field type in discrete time. We are given two measurable spaces  $(E, \mathcal{B}(E))$  and  $(A, \mathcal{B}(A))$  representing respectively the state space, and the control space. On a probability space  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$ , we consider a controlled stochastic dynamics of McKean-Vlasov type:

$$X_{k+1}^{\alpha} = F_{k+1}(X_k^{\alpha}, \mathbb{P}_{X_k^{\alpha}}, \alpha_k, \mathbb{P}_{\alpha_k}, \varepsilon_{k+1}), \quad k \in \mathbb{N}, \quad X_0^{\alpha} = \xi,$$

$$(2.2.1)$$

for some measurable functions  $F_k$  defined from  $E \times \mathcal{P}(E) \times A \times \mathcal{P}(A) \times \mathbb{R}^d$  into E, where  $(\varepsilon_k)_k$  is a sequence of i.i.d. random variables, independent of the initial random value  $\xi$ , and we denote by  $\mathbb{F} = (\mathcal{F}_k)_k$  the filtration with  $\mathcal{F}_k$  the  $\sigma$ -algebra generated by  $\{\xi, \varepsilon_1, \ldots, \varepsilon_k\}$ . Here,  $(X_k^{\alpha})_k$  is the state process valued in E controlled by the  $\mathbb{F}$ -adapted process  $(\alpha_k)_k$  valued in A, Thus, the dynamics of  $(X_k^{\alpha})$  depends at any time k of its marginal distribution, but also of the marginal distribution of the control, which represents an additional mean-field feature with respect to classical McKean Vlasov equations, and also considered recently in [ELN13].

Let us now precise the assumptions on the McKean-Vlasov equation. We shall assume that (E, |.|) is a normed space (most often  $\mathbb{R}^d$ ), (A, |.|) is also a normed space (typically a subset of  $\mathbb{R}^m$ ), and we recall from Notations that  $\mathcal{P}_2(E)$  the space of square integrable probability measures over E, i.e.  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}(E)$ s.t.  $\|\mu\|_2^2 := \int_E |x|^2 \mu(dx) < \infty$ , and similarly for  $\mathcal{P}_2(A)$ . For any  $(x, \mu, a, \lambda) \in E \times \mathcal{P}(E) \times A \times \mathcal{P}(A)$ , and  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , we denote by  $P_{k+1}(x, \mu, a, \lambda, dx')$  the probability distribution of the E-valued random variable  $F_{k+1}(x, \mu, a, \lambda, \varepsilon_{k+1})$  on  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$ , and we assume

(H1) For any  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , there exists some positive constant  $C_{k,F}$  s.t. for all  $(x, a, \mu, \lambda) \in E \times A \times \mathcal{P}(E) \times \mathcal{P}(A)$ :

$$\int_{E} |x'|^{2} P_{k+1}(x,\mu,a,\lambda,dx') = \mathbb{E} \Big[ \big| F_{k+1}(x,\mu,a,\lambda,\varepsilon_{k+1}) \big|^{2} \Big]$$
  
 
$$\leq C_{k,F}(1+|x|^{2}+|a|^{2}+\|\mu\|_{2}^{2}+\|\lambda\|_{2}^{2}).$$

Assuming that the initial random value  $\xi$  is square integrable, and considering admissible controls  $\alpha$  which are square integrable, i.e.  $\mathbb{E}|\alpha_k|^2 < \infty$ , for any k, it is then clear under **(H1)** that  $\mathbb{E}|X_k^{\alpha}|^2 < \infty$ , i.e.  $\mathbb{P}_{X_k^{\alpha}} \in \mathcal{P}_2(E)$ , and there exists some positive constant  $C_k$  s.t.

$$\mathbb{E}|X_k^{\alpha}|^2 \leq C_k \left(1 + \mathbb{E}|\xi|^2 + \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} \mathbb{E}|\alpha_j|^2\right).$$
(2.2.2)

The cost functional associated to the system (2.2.1) over a finite horizon  $n \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}$  is:

$$J(\alpha) := \mathbb{E}\Big[\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} f_k(X_k^{\alpha}, \mathbb{P}_{X_k^{\alpha}}, \alpha_k, \mathbb{P}_{\alpha_k}) + g(X_n^{\alpha}, \mathbb{P}_{X_n^{\alpha}})\Big], \qquad (2.2.3)$$

for any square integrable  $\mathbb{F}$ -adapted processes  $\alpha$  valued in A, where the running cost functions  $f_k$ ,  $k = 0, \ldots, n-1$ , are measurable real-valued functions on  $E \times \mathcal{P}_2(E) \times A \times \mathcal{P}_2(A)$ , and the terminal cost function g is a real-valued measurable function on  $E \times \mathcal{P}_2(E)$ . We shall assume

(H2) There exist some positive constant  $C_g$  and for any k = 0, ..., n-1, some positive constant  $C_{k,f}$  s.t. for all  $(x, a, \mu, \lambda) \in E \times A \times \mathcal{P}_2(E) \times \mathcal{P}_2(A)$ :

$$\begin{aligned} \left| f_k(x,\mu,a,\lambda) \right| &\leq C_{k,f}(1+|x|^2+|a|^2+\|\mu\|_2^2+\|\lambda\|_2^2), \\ \left| g(x,\mu) \right| &\leq C_g(1+|x|^2+\|\mu\|_2^2). \end{aligned}$$

Under (H1)-(H2), the cost functional  $J(\alpha)$  is well-defined and finite for any admissible control, and the objective is to minimize over all admissible controls the cost functional, i.e. by solving

$$V_0 := \inf_{\alpha} J(\alpha), \tag{2.2.4}$$

and when  $V_0 > -\infty$ , find an optimal control  $\alpha^*$  i.e. achieving the minimum in (2.2.4) if it exists.

Problem (2.2.1)-(2.2.4) arises in the study of collective behaviors of a large number of players (particles) resulting from mean-field interactions: typically, the controlled dynamics of a system of N symmetric particles are given by

$$X_{k+1}^{i,\alpha^{i}} = F_{k+1}(X_{k}^{i,\alpha^{i}}, \frac{1}{N}\sum_{j=1}^{N}\delta_{X_{k}^{j,\alpha^{i}}}, \alpha_{k}^{i}, \frac{1}{N}\sum_{j=1}^{N}\delta_{\alpha_{k}^{j}}, \varepsilon_{k+1}^{i}), \quad i = 1, \dots, N,$$

by assuming that a center decides of the general same policy  $\alpha^i = \alpha$  for all players with same running and terminal gain functions, the propagation of chaos argument from McKean-Vlasov theory (see [Szn91]) states that when the number of players N goes to infinity, the problem of each agent is asymptotically reduced to the problem of a single agent with controlled dynamics (2.2.1) and objective (2.2.4). We refer to [CDL13] for a detailed discussion about optimal control of McKean-Vlasov equations and connection with equilibrium of large populations of individuals with mean-field interactions.

## 2.3 Dynamic programming

In this section, we make the standing assumptions (H1)-(H2), and our purpose is to show that dynamic programming principle holds for problem (2.2.4), which we would like to combine with some Markov property of the controlled state process. However, notice that the McKean-Vlasov type dependence on the dynamics of the state process rules out the standard Markov property of the controlled process  $(X_k^{\alpha})$ . Actually, this Markov property can be restored by considering its probability law  $(\mathbb{P}_{X_k^{\alpha}})_k$ . To be more precise and for the sake of definiteness, we shall restrict ourselves to controls  $\alpha = (\alpha_k)_k$  given in closed-loop (or feedback) form:

$$\alpha_k = \tilde{\alpha}_k(X_k^{\alpha}), \quad k = 0, \dots, n-1, \tag{2.3.1}$$

for some deterministic measurable functions  $\tilde{\alpha}_k$  of the state. Notice that the feedback control may also depend on the (deterministic) marginal distribution, and it will be indeed the case for the optimal one, but to alleviate notation, we omit this dependence which is implicit through the deterministic function  $\tilde{\alpha}_k$ . We denote by  $A^E$  the set of measurable functions on E valued in A, which satisfy a linear growth condition, and by  $\mathcal{A}$  the set of admissible controls  $\alpha$  in closed loop form (2.3.1) with  $\tilde{\alpha}_k$  in  $A^E$ ,  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . We shall often identify  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  with the sequence  $(\tilde{\alpha}_k)_k$  in  $A^E$  via (2.3.1). Notice that any  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  satisfies the square integrability condition, i.e.  $\mathbb{E}|\alpha_k|^2 < \infty$ , for all k. Indeed from the linear growth condition on  $\tilde{\alpha}_k$  in  $A^E$ , we have  $\mathbb{E}|\alpha_k|^2 \leq C_{\alpha}(1 + \mathbb{E}|X_k^{\alpha}|^2)$  for some constant  $C_{\alpha}$  (depending on  $\alpha$ ), which gives the square integrability condition by (2.2.2).

Next, we show that the initial stochastic control problem can be reduced to a deterministic control problem. Indeed, the key point is to observe by definition of  $\mathbb{P}_{X_k^{\alpha}}$  and noting that  $\mathbb{P}_{\alpha_k}$  is the image by  $\tilde{\alpha}_k$  of  $\mathbb{P}_{X_k^{\alpha}}$  for a feedback control  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ , that the gain functional in (2.3.2) can be rewritten as:

$$J(\alpha) = \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \hat{f}_k(\mathbb{P}_{X_k^{\alpha}}, \tilde{\alpha}_k) + \hat{g}(\mathbb{P}_{X_n^{\alpha}}), \qquad (2.3.2)$$

28

#### 2.3. Dynamic programming

where  $\hat{f}_k$ , k = 0, ..., n-1, are defined on  $\mathcal{P}_2(E) \times A^E$ ,  $\hat{g}$  is defined on  $\mathcal{P}_2(E)$  by:

$$\hat{f}_k(\mu, \tilde{\alpha}) := \int_E f_k(x, \mu, \tilde{\alpha}(x), \tilde{\alpha} \star \mu) \mu(dx), \qquad \hat{g}(\mu) := \int_E g(x, \mu) \mu(dx), \qquad (2.3.3)$$

and  $\tilde{\alpha} \star \mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(A)$  is the

$$(\tilde{\alpha} \star \mu)(B) = \mu(\tilde{\alpha}^{-1}(B)), \quad \forall B \in \mathcal{B}(A).$$

Hence, the original problem (2.2.4) is transformed into a deterministic control problem involving the infinite dimensional marginal distribution process. Let us then define the dynamic version for problem (2.2.4):

$$V_k^{\alpha} := \inf_{\beta \in \mathcal{A}_k(\alpha)} \sum_{j=k}^{n-1} \hat{f}_j(\mathbb{P}_{x_j^{\beta}}, \tilde{\beta}_j) + \hat{g}(\mathbb{P}_{x_n^{\beta}}), \quad k = 0, \dots, n,$$
(2.3.4)

for  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ , where  $\mathcal{A}_k(\alpha) = \{\beta \in \mathcal{A} : \beta_j = \alpha_j, j = 0, \dots, k-1\}$ , with the convention that  $\mathcal{A}_0(\alpha) = \mathcal{A}$ , so that  $V_0 = \inf_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} J(\alpha)$  is equal to  $V_0^{\alpha}$ . It is clear that  $V_k^{\alpha} < \infty$ , and we shall assume that

$$V_k^{\alpha} > -\infty, \qquad k = 0, \dots, n, \ \alpha \in \mathcal{A}.$$

$$(2.3.5)$$

**Remark 2.3.1.** The finiteness condition (2.3.5) can be checked a priori directly from the assumptions on the model. For example, when  $f_k$ , g, hence  $\hat{f}_k$ , g, k = 0, ..., n - 1, are lower-bounded functions, condition (2.3.5) clearly holds. Another example is the case when  $f_k(x, \mu, a, \lambda)$ , k = 0, ..., n - 1, and gare lower bounded by a quadratic function in x,  $\mu$ , and  $\lambda$ , so that by the linear growth condition on  $\tilde{\alpha}$ ,

$$\hat{f}_k(\mu, \tilde{\alpha}) + \hat{g}(x, \mu) \geq -C_k \left( 1 + \|\mu\|_2 \right), \quad \forall \ \mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(E), \tilde{\alpha} \in A^E,$$

and we are able to derive moment estimates on  $X_k^{\alpha}$ , uniformly in  $\alpha$ :  $\left\|\mathbb{P}_{X_k^{\alpha}}\right\|_2^2 = \mathbb{E}[|X_k^{\alpha}|^2] \leq C_k$ , which arises typically when A is bounded from (2.2.2). Then, it is clear that (2.3.5) holds true. Otherwise, this finiteness condition can be checked a posteriori from a verification theorem, see Theorem 2.3.2.

The DPP for the deterministic control problem (2.3.4) takes the following formulation:

Lemma 2.3.1. (Dynamic Programming Principle)

Under (2.3.5), we have

$$\begin{cases} V_n^{\alpha} = \hat{g}(\mathbb{P}_{x_n^{\alpha}}) \\ V_k^{\alpha} = \inf_{\beta \in \mathcal{A}_k(\alpha)} \hat{f}_k(\mathbb{P}_{x_k^{\beta}}, \tilde{\beta}_k) + V_{k+1}^{\beta}, \quad k = 0, \dots, n-1. \end{cases}$$
(2.3.6)

**Proof.** In the context of deterministic control problem, the proof of the DPP is standard and does not require any measurable selection arguments. For sake of completeness and since it is quite elementary, we give it. Denote by  $J_k(\alpha)$  the cost functional at time k, i.e.

$$J_k(\alpha) := \sum_{j=k}^{n-1} \hat{f}_k(\mathbb{P}_{x_k^{\alpha}}, \tilde{\alpha}_k) + \hat{g}(\mathbb{P}_{x_n^{\alpha}}), \quad k = 0, \dots, n,$$

so that  $V_k^{\alpha} = \inf_{\beta \in \mathcal{A}_k(\alpha)} J_k(\beta)$ , and by  $W_k^{\alpha}$  the r.h.s. of (2.3.6). Then,

$$W_{k}^{\alpha} = \inf_{\beta \in \mathcal{A}_{k}(\alpha)} \left[ \hat{f}_{k}(\mathbb{P}_{x_{k}^{\beta}}, \tilde{\beta}_{k}) + \inf_{\gamma \in \mathcal{A}_{k+1}(\beta)} J_{k+1}(\gamma) \right]$$
  
$$= \inf_{\beta \in \mathcal{A}_{k}(\alpha)} \inf_{\gamma \in \mathcal{A}_{k+1}(\beta)} \left[ \hat{f}_{k}(\mathbb{P}_{x_{k}^{\beta}}, \tilde{\beta}_{k}) + J_{k+1}(\gamma) \right]$$
  
$$= \inf_{\beta \in \mathcal{A}_{k}(\alpha)} \inf_{\gamma \in \mathcal{A}_{k+1}(\beta)} \left[ \hat{f}_{k}(\mathbb{P}_{x_{k}^{\gamma}}, \tilde{\gamma}_{k}) + J_{k+1}(\gamma) \right]$$
  
$$= \inf_{\gamma \in \{\mathcal{A}_{k+1}(\beta): \beta \in \mathcal{A}_{k}(\alpha)\}} J_{k}(\gamma),$$

where we used in the third equality the fact that  $X_k^{\beta} = X_k^{\gamma}$ ,  $\beta_k = \gamma_k$  for  $\gamma \in \mathcal{A}_{k+1}(\beta)$ . Finally, we notice that  $\{\mathcal{A}_{k+1}(\beta) : \beta \in \mathcal{A}_k(\alpha)\} = \mathcal{A}_k(\alpha)$ . Indeed, the inclusion  $\subset$  is clear while for the converse inclusion, it suffices to observe that any  $\gamma$  in  $\mathcal{A}_k(\alpha)$  satisfies obviously  $\gamma \in \mathcal{A}_{k+1}(\gamma)$ . This proves the required equality:  $W_k^{\alpha} = V_k^{\alpha}$ .

Let us now show how one can simplify the DPP by exploiting the flow property of  $(\mathbb{P}_{X_k^{\alpha}})_k$  for any admissible control  $\alpha$  in feedback form  $\in \mathcal{A}$ . Actually, we can derive the evolution of the controlled deterministic process  $(\mathbb{P}_{X_{\alpha}^{\alpha}})_k$ .

**Lemma 2.3.2.** For any admissible control in closed-loop form  $\alpha \in A$ , we have

$$\mathbb{P}_{X_{k+1}^{\alpha}} = \Phi_{k+1} \left( \mathbb{P}_{X_{k}^{\alpha}}, \tilde{\alpha}_{k} \right), \quad k \in \mathbb{N}, \quad \mathbb{P}_{X_{0}^{\alpha}} = \mathbb{P}_{\xi}$$

$$(2.3.7)$$

where  $\Phi_{k+1}$  is the measurable function defined from  $\mathcal{P}_2(E) \times A^E$  into  $\mathcal{P}_2(E)$  by:

$$\Phi_{k+1}(\mu,\tilde{\alpha})(dx') = \int_E \mu(dx) P_{k+1}(x,\mu,\tilde{\alpha}(x),\tilde{\alpha}\star\mu,dx').$$
(2.3.8)

**Proof.** Fix  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ . Recall from the definition of the transition probability  $P_{k+1}(x, \mu, a, \lambda, dx')$  associated to (2.2.1) that

$$\mathbb{P}\left[X_{k+1}^{\alpha} \in dx' \middle| \mathcal{F}_k\right] = P_{k+1}(X_k^{\alpha}, \mathbb{P}_{X_k^{\alpha}}, \alpha_k, \mathbb{P}_{\alpha_k}, dx'), \quad k \in \mathbb{N}.$$
(2.3.9)

For any bounded measurable function  $\varphi$  on E, we have by the law of iterated conditional expectation and (2.3.9):

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}\Big[\varphi(X_{k+1}^{\alpha})\Big] &= \mathbb{E}\Big[\mathbb{E}\big[\varphi(X_{k+1}^{\alpha})\big|\mathcal{F}_{k}\big]\Big] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\Big[\int_{E}\varphi(x')P_{k+1}(X_{k}^{\alpha},\mathbb{P}_{x_{k}^{\alpha}},\alpha_{k},\mathbb{P}_{\alpha_{k}},dx')\Big] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\Big[\int_{E\times E}\varphi(x')P_{k+1}(x,\mathbb{P}_{x_{k}^{\alpha}},\tilde{\alpha}_{k}(x),\tilde{\alpha}_{k}\star\mathbb{P}_{x_{k}^{\alpha}},dx')\mathbb{P}_{x_{k}^{\alpha}}(dx)\Big] \end{split}$$

where we used in the last equality the fact that  $\alpha_k = \tilde{\alpha}_k(X_k^{\alpha})$  is in closed loop form, the definition of  $\mathbb{P}_{X_k^{\alpha}}$ , and noting that  $\mathbb{P}_{\alpha_k} = \tilde{\alpha}_k \star \mathbb{P}_{X_k^{\alpha}}$ . This shows the required inductive relation for  $\mathbb{P}_{X_k^{\alpha}}$ .

**Remark 2.3.2.** Relation (2.3.7) is the Fokker-Planck equation in discrete time for the marginal distribution of the controlled process  $(X_k^{\alpha})$ . In absence of control and McKean-Vlasov type dependence, i.e.  $P_{k+1}(x, dx')$  does not depend on  $(\mu, a, \lambda)$ , we retrieve the standard Fokker-Planck equation with a linear function  $\Phi_{k+1}(\mu) = \mu P_{k+1}$ . In our McKean-Vlasov control context, the function  $\Phi_{k+1}(\mu, \tilde{\alpha})$  is nonlinear in  $\mu$ .

#### 2.3. Dynamic programming

By exploiting the inductive relation (2.3.7) on the controlled process  $(\mathbb{P}_{X_k^{\alpha}})_k$ , the calculation of the value processes  $V_k^{\alpha}$  can be reduced to the recursive computation of deterministic functions (called value functions) on  $\mathcal{P}(E)$ .

## **Theorem 2.3.1.** (Dynamic programming and value functions)

Under (2.3.5), we have for any  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ ,  $V_k^{\alpha} = v_k(\mathbb{P}_{X_k^{\alpha}})$ ,  $k = 0, \ldots, n$ , where  $(v_k)_k$  is the sequence of value functions defined recursively on  $\mathcal{P}_2(E)$  by:

$$\begin{cases} v_n(\mu) &= \hat{g}(\mu) \\ v_k(\mu) &= \inf_{\tilde{\alpha} \in A^E} \left[ \hat{f}_k(\mu, \tilde{\alpha}) + v_{k+1} \left( \Phi_{k+1}(\mu, \tilde{\alpha}) \right) \right] \end{cases}$$
(2.3.10)

for  $k = 0, ..., n - 1, \mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(E)$ .

**Proof.** First observe that for any  $\beta \in \mathcal{A}_k(\alpha)$ ,  $X_k^{\beta} = X_k^{\alpha}$ ,  $k = 0, \ldots, n$ . Let us prove the result by backward induction. For k = n, the result clearly holds since  $V_n^{\alpha} = \hat{g}(\mathbb{P}_{X_n^{\alpha}})$ . Suppose now that at time k + 1,  $V_{k+1}^{\alpha} = v_{k+1}(\mathbb{P}_{X_{k+1}^{\alpha}})$  for some deterministic function  $v_{k+1}$  and any  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ . Then, from the DPP (2.3.6) and Lemma 2.3.2, we get

$$V_{k}^{\alpha} = \inf_{\beta \in \mathcal{A}_{k}(\alpha)} \hat{f}_{k}(\mathbb{P}_{x_{k}^{\alpha}}, \tilde{\beta}_{k}) + v_{k+1}(\mathbb{P}_{x_{k+1}^{\beta}})$$
  
$$= \inf_{\beta \in \mathcal{A}_{k}(\alpha)} w_{k}(\mathbb{P}_{x_{k}^{\alpha}}, \tilde{\beta}_{k})$$
(2.3.11)

where

$$w_k(\mu, \tilde{\alpha}) := \hat{f}_k(\mu, \tilde{\alpha}) + v_{k+1}(\Phi_{k+1}(\mu, \tilde{\alpha})).$$

Now, for any  $\beta \in \mathcal{A}_k(\alpha)$ , and since  $\tilde{\beta}_k$  is valued in  $A^E$ , we clearly have:  $w_k(\mu, \beta_k) \ge \inf_{\tilde{\alpha} \in A^E} w_k(\mu, \tilde{\alpha})$ , and so  $\inf_{\beta \in \mathcal{A}_k(\alpha)} w_k(\mu, \tilde{\beta}_k) \ge \inf_{\tilde{\alpha} \in A^E} w_k(\mu, \tilde{\alpha})$ . Conversely, for any  $\tilde{\alpha} \in A^E$ , the control  $\beta$  defined by  $\beta_j = \alpha_j, j \le k - 1$ , and  $\tilde{\beta}_j = \tilde{\alpha}$  for  $j \ge k$ , lies in  $\mathcal{A}_k(\alpha)$ , so:  $w_k(\mu, \tilde{\alpha}) \ge \inf_{\beta \in \mathcal{A}_k(\alpha)} w_k(\mu, \tilde{\beta}_k)$ , and thus  $\inf_{\beta \in \mathcal{A}_k(\alpha)} w_k(\mu, \tilde{\beta}_k) = \inf_{\tilde{\alpha} \in A^E} w_k(\mu, \tilde{\alpha})$ . We conclude from (2.3.11) that:  $V_k^{\alpha} = v_k(\mathbb{P}_{X_k^{\alpha}})$  with  $v_k(\mu) = \inf_{\tilde{\alpha} \in A^E} w_k(\mu, \tilde{\alpha})$ , i.e. given by (2.3.10).

**Remark 2.3.3.** Problem (2.2.4) includes the case where the cost functional in (2.3.2) is a nonlinear function of the expected value of the state process, i.e. the running cost functions and the terminal gain function are in the form:  $f_k(X_k^{\alpha}, \mathbb{P}_{X_k^{\alpha}}, \alpha_k) = \bar{f}_k(X_k^{\alpha}, \mathbb{E}[X_k^{\alpha}], \alpha_k), \ k = 0, \ldots, n-1, \ g(X_n^{\alpha}, \mathbb{P}_{X_n^{\alpha}}) = \bar{g}(X_n^{\alpha}, \mathbb{E}[X_n^{\alpha}])$ , which arise for example in mean-variance problem (see Section 2.4). It is claimed in [BM14] and [Yon13] that Bellman optimality principle does not hold, and therefore the problem is time-inconsistent. This is true when one takes into account only the state process  $X^{\alpha}$  (that is its realization), since it is not Markovian, but as shown in this section, dynamic programming principle holds whenever we consider the marginal distribution as state variable.  $\Box$ 

We complete the above Bellman's optimality principle with a verification theorem, which gives a sufficient condition for finding an optimal control.

**Theorem 2.3.2.** (Verification theorem)

(i) Suppose we can find a sequence of real-valued functions  $w_k$ , k = 0, ..., n, defined on  $\mathcal{P}_2(E)$  and satisfying the dynamic programming relation:

$$\begin{cases} w_n(\mu) &= \hat{g}(\mu) \\ w_k(\mu) &= \inf_{\tilde{\alpha} \in A^E} \left[ \hat{f}_k(\mu, \tilde{\alpha}) + w_{k+1} \left( \Phi_{k+1}(\mu, \tilde{\alpha}) \right) \right] \end{cases}$$
(2.3.12)

for  $k = 0, \ldots, n-1$ ,  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(E)$ . Then  $V_k^{\alpha} = w_k(\mathbb{P}_{X_k^{\alpha}})$ , for all  $k = 0, \ldots, n$ ,  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ , and thus  $w_k = v_k$ .

(ii) Moreover, suppose that at any time k and  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}(E)$ , the infimum in (2.3.12) for  $w_k(\mu)$  is attained, by some  $\tilde{\alpha}_k^*(.,\mu)$  in  $A^E$ . Then, by defining by induction the control  $\alpha^*$  in feedback form by  $\alpha_k^* = \tilde{\alpha}_k^*(X_k^{\alpha^*}, \mathbb{P}_{x^{\Omega^*}}), k = 0, \ldots, n-1$ , we have

$$V_0 = J(\alpha^*),$$

which means that  $\alpha^* \in \mathcal{A}$  is an optimal control.

**Proof.** (i) Fix some  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ , and arbitrary  $\beta \in \mathcal{A}$  associated to a feedback sequence  $(\tilde{\beta}_k)_k$  in  $A^E$ . Then, from the dynamic programming relation (2.3.12) for  $w_k$ , and recalling the evolution (2.3.7) of the controlled marginal distribution  $\mathbb{P}_{x_i^{\beta}}$ , we have

$$w_k(\mathbb{P}_{x_k^{\beta}}) \leq \hat{f}_k(\mathbb{P}_{x_k^{\beta}}, \tilde{\beta}_k) + v_{k+1}(\mathbb{P}_{x_{k+1}^{\beta}}), \quad k = 0, \dots, n-1.$$

By induction and since  $w_n = \hat{g}$ , this gives

$$w_k(\mathbb{P}_{X_k^\beta}) \leq \sum_{j=k}^{n-1} \hat{f}_j(\mathbb{P}_{X_j^\beta}, \tilde{\beta}_j) + \hat{g}(\mathbb{P}_{X_n^\beta}).$$

By noting that  $\mathbb{P}_{x_k^{\alpha}} = \mathbb{P}_{x_k^{\beta}}$ , when  $\beta \in \mathcal{A}_k(\alpha)$ , and since  $\beta$  is arbitrary, this proves that  $w_k(\mathbb{P}_{x_k^{\alpha}}) \leq V_k^{\alpha}$ . In particular,  $V_k^{\alpha} > -\infty$ , i.e. relation (2.3.5) holds, and then by Theorem 2.3.1,  $V_k^{\alpha}$  is characterized by the sequence of value functions  $(v_k)_k$  defined by the DP (2.3.10). This DP obviously defines by backward induction a unique sequence of functions on  $\mathcal{P}_2(E)$ , hence  $w_k = v_k$ ,  $k = 0, \ldots, n$ , and therefore  $V_k^{\alpha} = w_k(\mathbb{P}_{x_k^{\alpha}})$ .

(ii) By definition of  $\tilde{\alpha}_k^*$  which attains the infimum in (2.3.12), we have

$$w_k(\mathbb{P}_{X_k^{\alpha^*}}) = \hat{f}_k(\mathbb{P}_{X_k^{\alpha^*}}, \tilde{\alpha}_k^*(., \mathbb{P}_{X_k^{\alpha^*}})) + w_{k+1}(\mathbb{P}_{X_{k+1}^{\alpha^*}}), \quad k = 0, \dots, n-1.$$

By induction this implies that

$$V_0 = w_0(\mathbb{P}_{\xi}) = \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \hat{f}_k \big( \mathbb{P}_{X_k^{\alpha^*}}, \tilde{\alpha}_k^*(., \mathbb{P}_{X_k^{\alpha^*}}) \big) + \hat{g}(\mathbb{P}_{X_n^{\alpha^*}}) = J(\alpha^*),$$

which shows that  $\alpha^*$  is an optimal control.

The above verification theorem, which consists in solving the dynamic programming relation (2.3.12), is useful to check a posteriori the finiteness condition (2.3.5), and can be applied in practice fo find explicit solutions to some McKean-Vlasov control problems, as investigated in the next section.

2.4. Applications

## 2.4 Applications

## 2.4.1 Special cases

We consider some particular cases, and provide the special forms of the DPP.

## 2.4.1.1 No mean-field interaction

We first consider the standard control case where there is no mean-field interaction in the dynamics of the state process, i.e.  $F_{k+1}(x, a, \varepsilon_{k+1})$ , hence  $P_{k+1}(x, a, dx')$  do not depend on  $\mu, \lambda$ , as well as in the cost functions  $f_k(x, a)$  and g(x). For simplicity, we assume that A is a bounded set, which ensures the finiteness condition (2.3.5). In this case, we can see that the value functions  $v_k$  are in the form

$$v_k(\mu) = \int_E \tilde{v}_k(x)\mu(dx), \quad k = 0, \dots, n,$$
 (2.4.1)

where the functions  $\tilde{v}_k$  defined on E satisfy the classical dynamic programming principle:

$$\begin{cases} \tilde{v}_n(x) &= g(x) \\ \tilde{v}_k(x) &= \inf_{a \in A} \left[ f_k(x, a) + \mathbb{E} \left[ \tilde{v}_{k+1}(X_{k+1}^{\alpha}) \middle| X_k^{\alpha} = x, \alpha_k = a \right] \right], \end{cases}$$
(2.4.2)

for k = 0, ..., n-1. Let us check this result by backward induction. This holds true for k = n since  $v_n(\mu) = \hat{g}(\mu) = \int_E g(x)\mu(dx)$ . Suppose that (2.4.1) holds true at time k + 1. Then, from the DPP (2.3.10), (2.3.8) and Fubini's theorem, we have

$$v_{k}(\mu) = \inf_{\tilde{\alpha} \in A^{E}} \left[ \int_{E} f_{k}(x, \tilde{\alpha}(x))\mu(dx) + \int_{E} \tilde{v}_{k+1}(x')\Phi_{k+1}(\mu, \tilde{\alpha})(dx') \right]$$
  
$$= \inf_{\tilde{\alpha} \in A^{E}} \left[ \int_{E} \left[ f_{k}(x, \tilde{\alpha}(x)) + \int_{E} \tilde{v}_{k+1}(x')P_{k+1}(x, \tilde{\alpha}(x), dx') \right] \mu(dx) \right]$$
  
$$= \inf_{\tilde{\alpha} \in A^{E}} \int_{E} \tilde{w}_{k}(x, \tilde{\alpha}(x))\mu(dx)$$

where we set  $\tilde{w}_k(x,a) = f_k(x,a) + \int_E \tilde{v}_{k+1}(x') P_{k+1}(x,a,dx')$ . Now, we observe that

$$\inf_{\tilde{\alpha}\in A^E} \int_E \tilde{w}_k(x,\tilde{\alpha}(x))\mu(dx) = \int_E \inf_{a\in A} \tilde{w}_k(x,a)\mu(dx).$$
(2.4.3)

Indeed, since for any  $\tilde{\alpha} \in A^E$ , the value  $\tilde{\alpha}(x)$  is valued in A for any  $x \in E$ , it is clear that the inequality  $\geq$  in (2.4.3) holds true. Conversely, for any  $\varepsilon > 0$ , and  $x \in E$ , one can find  $\tilde{\alpha}^{\varepsilon}(x)$  in A such that

$$\tilde{w}_k(x, \tilde{\alpha}^{\varepsilon}(x)) \leq \inf_{a \in A} \tilde{w}_k(x, a) + \varepsilon.$$

By a measurable selection theorem, the map  $x \mapsto \tilde{\alpha}^{\varepsilon}(x)$  can be chosen measurable, and since A is bounded, the function  $\tilde{\alpha}^{\varepsilon}$  lies in  $A^{E}$ . It follows that

$$\inf_{\tilde{\alpha}\in A^E} \int_E \tilde{w}_k(x,\tilde{\alpha}(x))\mu(dx) \leq \int_E \tilde{w}_k(x,\tilde{\alpha}^\varepsilon(x))\mu(dx) \leq \int_E \inf_{a\in A} \tilde{w}_k(x,a)\mu(dx) + \varepsilon,$$

which shows (2.4.3) since  $\varepsilon$  is arbitrary. Therefore, we have  $v_k(\mu) = \int_E \tilde{v}_k(x)\mu(dx)$  with

$$\tilde{v}_k(x) = \inf_{a \in A} \tilde{w}_k(x, a)$$

$$= \inf_{a \in A} \left[ f_k(x, a) + \int_E \tilde{v}_{k+1}(x') P_{k+1}(x, a, dx') \right],$$

which is the relation (2.4.2) at time k from the definition of the transition probability  $P_{k+1}$ .

## 2.4.1.2 First order interactions

We consider the case of first order interactions, i.e. the dependence of the model coefficients upon the probability measures is linear in the sense that for any  $(x, \mu, a) \in E \times \mathcal{P}_2(E) \times A$ ,  $\tilde{\alpha} \in A^E$ ,

$$P_{k+1}(x,\mu,a,\tilde{\alpha}\star\mu,dx') = \int_{E} \tilde{P}_{k+1}(x,y,a,\tilde{\alpha}(y),dx')\mu(dy),$$
  
$$f_{k}(x,\mu,a,\tilde{\alpha}\star\mu) = \int_{E} \tilde{f}_{k}(x,y,a,\tilde{\alpha}(y))\mu(dy), \quad g(x,\mu) = \int_{E} \tilde{g}(x,y)\mu(dy),$$

for some transition probability kernels  $\tilde{P}_{k+1}$  from  $E \times E \times A \times A$  into E, measurable functions  $\tilde{f}_k$  defined on  $E \times E \times A \times A$ ,  $k = 0, \ldots, n-1$ , and  $\tilde{g}$  defined on  $E \times E$ . In this case, the value functions  $v_k$  are in the reduced form

$$v_k(\mu) = \int_{E^{2n-k+1}} \tilde{v}_k(\mathbf{x}_{2^{n-k+1}}) \mu(d\mathbf{x}_{2^{n-k+1}}), \quad k = 0, \dots, n,$$
(2.4.4)

where we denote by  $\mathbf{x}_p$  the *p*-tuple  $(x_1, \ldots, x_p) \in E^p$ , by  $\mu(d\mathbf{x}_p)$  the product measure  $\mu(dx_1) \otimes \ldots \otimes \mu(dx_p)$ , and the functions  $\tilde{v}_k$  are defined recursively on  $E^{2^{n-k+1}}$  by

$$\begin{cases} \tilde{v}_n(x,y) &= \tilde{g}(x,y) \\ \tilde{v}_k(\mathbf{x}_{2^{n-k}},\mathbf{y}_{2^{n-k}}) &= \inf_{\tilde{\alpha}\in A^E} \left[ \tilde{f}_k(x_1,y_1,\tilde{\alpha}(x_1),\tilde{\alpha}(y_1)) \\ &+ \int_{E^{2^{n-k}}} \tilde{v}_{k+1}(\mathbf{x}'_{2^{n-k}}) \tilde{\mathbf{P}}_{\mathbf{k}+1}(\mathbf{x}_{2^{n-k}},\mathbf{y}_{2^{n-k}},\tilde{\alpha}(\mathbf{x}_{2^{n-k}}),\tilde{\alpha}(\mathbf{y}_{2^{n-k}}), d\mathbf{x}'_{2^{n-k}}) \right]. \end{cases}$$

where we set

$$\tilde{\mathbf{P}}_{\mathbf{k}+1}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathbf{p}}, \mathbf{y}_{\mathbf{p}}, \tilde{\alpha}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathbf{p}}), \tilde{\alpha}(\mathbf{y}_{\mathbf{p}}), \mathbf{d}\mathbf{x}_{\mathbf{p}}')$$

$$= \tilde{P}_{k+1}(x_1, y_1, \tilde{\alpha}(x_1), \tilde{\alpha}(y_1), dx_1') \otimes \ldots \otimes \tilde{P}_{k+1}(x_p, y_p, \tilde{\alpha}(x_p), \tilde{\alpha}(y_p), dx_p')$$

Let us check this result by backward induction. This holds true for k = n since  $\hat{v}_n(\mu) = \int_{E^2} \tilde{g}(x, y) \mu(dx) \mu(dy)$ . Suppose that (2.4.4) holds true at time k+1. Then, from the DPP (2.3.10), (2.3.8) and Fubini's theorem, we have

$$\begin{aligned} v_{k}(\mu) &= \inf_{\tilde{\alpha}\in A^{E}} \{ \int_{E^{2}} \tilde{f}_{k}(x_{1}, y_{1}, \tilde{\alpha}(x_{1}), \tilde{\alpha}(y_{1})) \mu(dx_{1}) \mu(dy_{1}) \\ &+ \int_{E^{3*2^{n-k}}} \tilde{v}_{k+1}(\mathbf{x}'_{2^{n-k}}) \tilde{\mathbf{P}}_{\mathbf{k}+1}(\mathbf{x}_{2^{n-k}}, \mathbf{y}_{2^{n-k}}, \tilde{\alpha}(\mathbf{x}_{2^{n-k}}), \tilde{\alpha}(\mathbf{y}_{2^{n-k}}), \mathbf{d}\mathbf{x}'_{2^{n-k}}) \mu(d\mathbf{x}_{2^{n-k}}) \mu(d\mathbf{y}_{2^{n-k}}) \} \\ &= \inf_{\tilde{\alpha}\in A^{E}} \int_{E^{2^{n-k+1}}} \tilde{w}_{k}(\mathbf{x}_{2^{n-k}}, \mathbf{y}_{2^{n-k}}, \tilde{\alpha}(\mathbf{x}_{2^{n-k}}), \tilde{\alpha}(\mathbf{y}_{2^{n-k}})) \mu(d\mathbf{x}_{2^{n-k}}) \mu(d\mathbf{y}_{2^{n-k}}) \end{aligned}$$

where we set

$$\begin{split} \tilde{w}_k(\mathbf{x}_{2^{n-k}}, \mathbf{y}_{2^{n-k}}, \tilde{\alpha}(\mathbf{x}_{2^{n-k}}), \tilde{\alpha}(\mathbf{y}_{2^{n-k}})) &= \tilde{f}_k(x_1, y_1, \tilde{\alpha}(x_1), \tilde{\alpha}(y_1)) \\ &+ \int_{E^{2^{n-k}}} \tilde{v}_{k+1}(\mathbf{x}'_{2^{n-k}}) \tilde{\mathbf{P}}_{\mathbf{k}+1}(\mathbf{x}_{2^{n-k}}, \mathbf{y}_{2^{n-k}}, \tilde{\alpha}(\mathbf{x}_{2^{n-k}}), \tilde{\alpha}(\mathbf{y}_{2^{n-k}}), \mathbf{d}\mathbf{x}'_{2^{n-k}}) \end{split}$$

Now, proceeding the similar argument as no mean-field interaction case, we observe that

$$\inf_{\tilde{\alpha}\in A^{E}} \int_{E^{2^{n-k+1}}} \tilde{w}_{k}(\mathbf{x}_{2^{n-k}}, \mathbf{y}_{2^{n-k}}, \tilde{\alpha}(\mathbf{x}_{2^{n-k}}), \tilde{\alpha}(\mathbf{y}_{2^{n-k}})) \mu(d\mathbf{x}_{2^{n-k}}) \mu(d\mathbf{y}_{2^{n-k}}) \\
= \int_{E^{2^{n-k+1}}} \inf_{\tilde{\alpha}\in A^{E}} \tilde{w}_{k}(\mathbf{x}_{2^{n-k}}, \mathbf{y}_{2^{n-k}}, \tilde{\alpha}(\mathbf{x}_{2^{n-k}}), \tilde{\alpha}(\mathbf{y}_{2^{n-k}})) \mu(d\mathbf{x}_{2^{n-k}}) \mu(d\mathbf{y}_{2^{n-k}}).$$

## 2.4. Applications

Therefore, we have  $v_k(\mu) = \int_{E^{2^{n-k+1}}} v_k(\mathbf{x}_{2^{n-k}}, \mathbf{y}_{2^{n-k}}) \mu(d\mathbf{x}_{2^{n-k}}) \mu(d\mathbf{y}_{2^{n-k}})$  with

$$\begin{aligned} v_k(\mathbf{x}_{2^{n-k}},\mathbf{y}_{2^{n-k}}) &= \inf_{\tilde{\alpha}\in A^E} \Big[ \tilde{f}_k(x_1,y_1,\tilde{\alpha}(x_1),\tilde{\alpha}(y_1)) \\ &+ \int_{E^{2^{n-k}}} \tilde{v}_{k+1}(\mathbf{x}'_{2^{n-k}}) \tilde{\mathbf{P}}_{\mathbf{k}+1}(\mathbf{x}_{2^{n-k}},\mathbf{y}_{2^{n-k}},\tilde{\alpha}(\mathbf{x}_{2^{n-k}}),\tilde{\alpha}(\mathbf{y}_{2^{n-k}}), \mathbf{d}\mathbf{x}'_{2^{n-k}}) \Big], \end{aligned}$$

## 2.4.2 Linear-quadratic McKean-Vlasov control problem

We consider a general multivariate linear McKean-Vlasov dynamics in  $E = \mathbb{R}^d$  with control valued in  $A = \mathbb{R}^m$ :

$$X_{k+1}^{\alpha} = \left( B_k X_k^{\alpha} + \bar{B}_k \mathbb{E}[X_k^{\alpha}] + C_k \alpha_k + \bar{C}_k \mathbb{E}[\alpha_k] \right) + \left( D_k X_k^{\alpha} + \bar{D}_k \mathbb{E}[X_k^{\alpha}] + H_k \alpha_k + \bar{H}_k \mathbb{E}[\alpha_k] \right) \varepsilon_{k+1}, \quad k = 0, \dots, n-1,$$

$$(2.4.5)$$

starting from  $X_0^{\alpha} = \xi$ , where  $B_k$ ,  $\bar{B}_k$ ,  $D_k$ ,  $\bar{D}_k$  are constant matrices in  $\mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$ ,  $C_k$ ,  $\bar{C}_k$ ,  $H_k$ ,  $\bar{H}_k$  are constant matrices in  $\mathbb{R}^{d \times m}$ , and  $(\varepsilon_k)$  is a sequence of i.i.d. random variables with distribution  $\mathcal{N}(0, 1)$ , independent of  $\xi$ . The quadratic cost functional to be minimized is given by

$$J(\alpha) = \mathbb{E}\Big[\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \left[ (X_k^{\alpha})^{\mathsf{T}} Q_k X_k^{\alpha} + \left(\mathbb{E}[X_k^{\alpha}]\right)^{\mathsf{T}} \bar{Q}_k \mathbb{E}[X_k^{\alpha}] + L_k^{\mathsf{T}} X_k^{\alpha} + \bar{L}_k^{\mathsf{T}} \mathbb{E}[X_k^{\alpha}] \right. \\ \left. + \alpha_k^{\mathsf{T}} R_k \alpha_k + \left(\mathbb{E}[\alpha_k]\right)^{\mathsf{T}} \bar{R}_k \mathbb{E}[\alpha_k] \right] \\ \left. + \left(X_n^{\alpha}\right)^{\mathsf{T}} Q X_n^{\alpha} + \left(\mathbb{E}[X_n^{\alpha}]\right)^{\mathsf{T}} \bar{Q} \mathbb{E}[X_n^{\alpha}] + L^{\mathsf{T}} X_n^{\alpha} + \bar{L}^{\mathsf{T}} \mathbb{E}[X_k^{\alpha}] \right], \qquad (2.4.6)$$

for some constants matrices  $Q_k$ ,  $\bar{Q}_k$ , Q,  $\bar{Q}$ , in  $\mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$ ,  $R_k$ ,  $\bar{R}_k$  in  $\mathbb{R}^{m \times m}$ , and vectors  $L_k$ ,  $\bar{L}_k$ , L,  $\bar{L} \in \mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $k = 0, \ldots, n-1$ . Since the cost functions are real-valued, we may assume w.l.o.g. that all these matrices  $Q_k$ ,  $\bar{Q}_k$ , Q,  $\bar{Q}$ ,  $R_k$  and  $\bar{R}_k$  are symmetric. This model is in the form (2.2.1) and associated to a transition probability satisfying:

$$P_{k+1}(x,\mu,a,\lambda,dx') \quad \rightsquigarrow \quad \mathcal{N}\Big(M_k(x,\mu,a,\lambda); \Sigma_k(x,\mu,a,\lambda)\Sigma_k(x,\mu,a,\lambda)^{\intercal}\Big)$$

$$M_k(x,\mu,a,\lambda) = B_k x + \bar{B}_k \bar{\mu} + C_k a + \bar{C}_k \bar{\lambda}$$

$$\Sigma_k(x,\mu,a,\lambda) = D_k x + \bar{D}_k \bar{\mu} + H_k a + \bar{H}_k \bar{\lambda}$$

$$(2.4.7)$$

where we set for any  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  (resp.  $\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^m)$ ) symmetric matrix  $\Lambda \in \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$  (resp. in  $\mathbb{R}^{m \times m}$ ):

$$\bar{\mu} \ := \ \int \!\! x \mu(dx), \quad \bar{\mu}_2(\Lambda) \ := \ \int \!\! x^\intercal \Lambda x \mu(dx), \quad \mathrm{Var}(\mu)(\Lambda) \ := \ \bar{\mu}_2(\Lambda) - \bar{\mu}^\intercal \Lambda \bar{\mu},$$

and in the form (2.3.2), hence (2.3.2) for feedback controls, with

$$\begin{aligned} \hat{f}_k(\mu, \tilde{\alpha}) &= \operatorname{Var}(\mu)(Q_k) + \bar{\mu}^{\mathsf{T}}(Q_k + \bar{Q}_k)\bar{\mu} + (L_k + \bar{L}_k)^{\mathsf{T}}\bar{\mu} \\ &+ \operatorname{Var}(\tilde{\alpha} \star \mu)(R_k) + \overline{\tilde{\alpha} \star \mu}^{\mathsf{T}}(R_k + \bar{R}_k)\overline{\tilde{\alpha} \star \mu} \\ \hat{g}(\mu) &= \operatorname{Var}(\mu)(Q) + \bar{\mu}^{\mathsf{T}}(Q + \bar{Q})\bar{\mu} + (L + \bar{L})^{\mathsf{T}}\bar{\mu}. \end{aligned}$$

We look for candidate  $w_k$ , k = 0, ..., n, of values functions satisfying the dynamic programming principle (2.3.10), in the quadratic form:

$$w_k(\mu) = \operatorname{Var}(\mu)(\Lambda_k) + \bar{\mu}^{\mathsf{T}} \Gamma_k \bar{\mu} + \rho_k^{\mathsf{T}} \bar{\mu} + \chi_k, \qquad (2.4.8)$$

for some constant symmetric matrices  $\Lambda_k$  and  $\Gamma_k$  in  $\mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$ , vector  $\rho_k \in \mathbb{R}^d$  and real  $\chi_k$  to be determined below. We proceed by backward induction. For k = n, we see that  $w_k = \hat{g} (= v_k)$  iff

$$\Lambda_n = Q, \qquad \Gamma_n = Q + \bar{Q}, \quad \rho_n = L + \bar{L}, \quad \chi_n = 0.$$
 (2.4.9)

Now, suppose that the form (2.4.8) holds true at time k + 1, and observe from (2.3.8) and (2.4.7) that for any  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $\tilde{\alpha} \in A^E$ ,  $\Lambda \in \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$ , we have by Fubini's theorem:

$$\overline{\Phi_{k+1}(\mu,\tilde{\alpha})} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathbb{E} \big[ Y(x,\mu,\tilde{\alpha}) \big] \mu(dx) \overline{\Phi_{k+1}(\mu,\tilde{\alpha})}_2(\Lambda) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathbb{E} \big[ Y(x,\mu,\tilde{\alpha})^{\mathsf{T}} \Lambda Y(x,\mu,\tilde{\alpha}) \big] \mu(dx),$$

where  $Y(x,\mu,\tilde{\alpha}) \rightsquigarrow \mathcal{N}\Big(M_k(x,\mu,\tilde{\alpha}(x),\tilde{\alpha}\star\mu); \Sigma_k(x,\mu,\tilde{\alpha}(x),\tilde{\alpha}\star\mu)\Sigma_k(x,\mu,\tilde{\alpha}(x),\tilde{\alpha}\star\mu)^{\intercal}\Big)$ . Therefore,

$$\overline{\Phi_{k+1}(\mu,\tilde{\alpha})} = (B_k + \bar{B}_k)\bar{\mu} + (C_k + \bar{C}_k)\tilde{\alpha}\star\mu,$$

and after some tedious but straightforward calculation:

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Var}(\Phi_{k+1}(\mu,\tilde{\alpha}))(\Lambda) &= \overline{\Phi_{k+1}(\mu,\tilde{\alpha})}_{2}(\Lambda) - \overline{\Phi_{k+1}(\mu,\tilde{\alpha})}^{\mathsf{T}} \Lambda \overline{\Phi_{k+1}(\mu,\tilde{\alpha})} \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left[ \Sigma_{k}(x,\mu,\tilde{\alpha}(x),\tilde{\alpha}\star\mu)^{\mathsf{T}} \Lambda \Sigma(x,\mu,\tilde{\alpha}(x),\tilde{\alpha}\star\mu) \\ &+ M_{k}(x,\mu,\tilde{\alpha}(x),\tilde{\alpha}\star\mu)^{\mathsf{T}} \Lambda M(x,\mu,\tilde{\alpha}(x),\tilde{\alpha}\star\mu) \right] \mu(dx) \\ &- \left( (B_{k}+\bar{B}_{k})\bar{\mu} + (C_{k}+\bar{C}_{k})\overline{\tilde{\alpha}\star\mu} \right)^{\mathsf{T}} \Lambda \left( (B_{k}+\bar{B}_{k})\bar{\mu} + (C_{k}+\bar{C}_{k})\overline{\tilde{\alpha}\star\mu} \right) \\ &= \operatorname{Var}(\mu)(B_{k}^{\mathsf{T}}\Lambda B_{k} + D_{k}^{\mathsf{T}}\Lambda D_{k}) + \bar{\mu}^{\mathsf{T}}(D_{k}+\bar{D}_{k})^{\mathsf{T}}\Lambda(D_{k}+\bar{D}_{k})\bar{\mu} \\ &+ \operatorname{Var}(\tilde{\alpha}\star\mu)(H_{k}^{\mathsf{T}}\Lambda H_{k} + C_{k}^{\mathsf{T}}\Lambda C_{k}) \\ &+ \overline{\tilde{\alpha}\star\mu}^{\mathsf{T}}(H_{k}+\bar{H}_{k})^{\mathsf{T}}\Lambda(H_{k}+\bar{H}_{k})\overline{\tilde{\alpha}\star\mu} \\ &+ 2\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} (x-\bar{\mu})^{\mathsf{T}}(D_{k}^{\mathsf{T}}\Lambda H_{k} + B_{k}^{\mathsf{T}}\Lambda C_{k})\tilde{\alpha}(x)\mu(dx) \\ &+ 2\bar{\mu}^{\mathsf{T}}(D_{k}+\bar{D}_{k})^{\mathsf{T}}\Lambda(H_{k}+\bar{H}_{k}) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \overline{\tilde{\alpha}\star\mu}. \end{aligned}$$

Then,  $w_k$  satisfies the DPP (2.3.10) iff

$$w_{k}(\mu) = \inf_{\tilde{\alpha}\in A^{E}} \left[ \hat{f}_{k}(\mu,\tilde{\alpha}) + \operatorname{Var}(\Phi_{k+1}(\mu,\tilde{\alpha}))(\Lambda_{k+1}) + \overline{\Phi_{k+1}(\mu,\tilde{\alpha})}^{\mathsf{T}}\Gamma_{k+1}\overline{\Phi_{k+1}(\mu,\tilde{\alpha})} \right]$$
(2.4.10)  
$$= \operatorname{Var}(\mu)(Q_{k} + B_{k}^{\mathsf{T}}\Lambda_{k+1}B_{k} + D_{k}^{\mathsf{T}}\Lambda_{k+1}D_{k}) + \inf_{\tilde{\alpha}\in A^{E}} G_{k+1}^{\mu}(\tilde{\alpha})$$
$$+ \bar{\mu}^{\mathsf{T}}(Q_{k} + \bar{Q}_{k} + (D_{k} + \bar{D}_{k})^{\mathsf{T}}\Lambda_{k+1}(D_{k} + \bar{D}_{k}) + (B_{k} + \bar{B}_{k})^{\mathsf{T}}\Gamma_{k+1}(B_{k} + \bar{B}_{k}))\bar{\mu}$$
$$+ (L_{k} + \bar{L}_{k} + (B_{k} + \bar{B}_{k})^{\mathsf{T}}\rho_{k+1})^{\mathsf{T}}\bar{\mu} + \chi_{k+1},$$
(2.4.11)

where we define the function  $G_{k+1}^{\mu}:L^{2}(\mu;A)\mapsto \mathbb{R}$  by

$$G_{k+1}^{\mu}(\tilde{\alpha}) = \operatorname{Var}(\tilde{\alpha} \star \mu)(V_k) + \overline{\tilde{\alpha} \star \mu}^{\mathsf{T}} W_k \overline{\tilde{\alpha} \star \mu} + 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (x - \bar{\mu})^{\mathsf{T}} S_k \tilde{\alpha}(x) \mu(dx) + 2\bar{\mu}^{\mathsf{T}} T_k \overline{\tilde{\alpha} \star \mu} + \rho_{k+1}^{\mathsf{T}} (C_k + \bar{C}_k) \overline{\tilde{\alpha} \star \mu}, \qquad (2.4.12)$$

#### 2.4. Applications

and we set  $V_k = V_k(\Lambda_{k+1}), W_k = W_k(\Lambda_{k+1}, \Gamma_{k+1}), S_k = S_k(\Lambda_{k+1}), T_k = T_k(\Lambda_{k+1}, \Gamma_{k+1})$ , with

Here,  $L^2(\mu; A) \supset A^E$  is the Hilbert space of measurable functions on  $E = \mathbb{R}^d$  valued in  $A = \mathbb{R}^m$  and square integrable w.r.t.  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(E)$ .

We now search for the infimum of the function  $G_{k+1}^{\mu}$ , and shall make the following assumptions on the symmetric matrices of the quadratic cost functional and on the coefficients of the state dynamics:

$$\begin{cases} Q \ge 0, \ Q + \bar{Q} \ge 0, \\ R_k \ge 0, \ R_k + \bar{R}_k \ge 0, \\ R_k \ge 0, \ R_k + \bar{R}_k \ge 0, \\ R_k \ge 0, \\ R_k \ge 0, \\ R_k = 0, \dots, n-1 \end{cases}$$

and for all k = 0, ..., n - 1,

(c1)  $R_k > 0$  or  $[C_k$  of full rank,  $Q_{k+1} > 0]$ , or  $[H_k$  of full rank,  $Q_{k+1} > 0]$ ,

(c2)  $R_k + \bar{R}_k > 0$  or  $[C_k + \bar{C}_k$  of full rank,  $Q_{k+1} + \bar{Q}_{k+1} > 0]$ , or  $[H_k + \bar{H}_k$  of full rank,  $Q_{k+1} > 0]$ .

Conditions (c0)-(c1)-(c2) is slightly weaker than the condition in [ELN13] (see their Theorem 3.1), where the condition (c0) is strengthened to  $R_k > 0$  and  $R_k + \bar{R}_k > 0$  for all k = 0, ..., n-1, for ensuring the existence of an optimal control. We relax this positivity condition with the conditions (c1)-(c2) in order to include the case of mean-variance problem (see the example at the end of this section). Actually, as we shall see in Remark 2.4.1, these conditions will guarantee that for  $\Lambda_k$ ,  $\Gamma_k$  to be determined below, the function  $G_{k+1}^{\mu}$  is convex and coercive on  $L^2(\mu; A)$  for any k = 0, ..., n-1. For the moment, we derive after some straightforward calculation the Gateaux derivative of  $G_{k+1}^{\mu}$  at  $\tilde{\alpha}$  in the direction  $\beta \in L^2(\mu; A)$ , which is given by:

$$DG_{k+1}^{\mu}(\tilde{\alpha};\beta) := \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{G_{k+1}^{\mu}(\tilde{\alpha}+\varepsilon\beta) - G_{k+1}^{\mu}(\tilde{\alpha})}{\varepsilon} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} g_{k+1}(x,\tilde{\alpha})\beta(x)\mu(dx)$$

with

$$g_{k+1}(x,\tilde{\alpha}) = 2\tilde{\alpha}(x)^{\mathsf{T}}V_k + 2\overline{\alpha}\star\mu^{\mathsf{T}} (W_k - V_k) + 2(x-\mu)^{\mathsf{T}}S_k + 2\bar{\mu}^{\mathsf{T}}T_k + \rho_{k+1}^{\mathsf{T}}(C_k + \bar{C}_k)$$

We shall check later in Remark 2.4.1 that  $V_k$  and  $W_k$  are positive symmetric matrices, hence invertible. We thus see that  $DG_{k+1}^{\mu}(\tilde{\alpha};.)$  vanishes for  $\tilde{\alpha} = \tilde{\alpha}_k^*(.,\mu)$  s.t.  $g_{k+1}(x, \tilde{\alpha}_k^*(.,\mu)) = 0$  for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ , which gives:

$$\tilde{\alpha}_{k}^{*}(x,\mu) = -V_{k}^{-1}S_{k}^{\mathsf{T}}(x-\bar{\mu}) - W_{k}^{-1}T_{k}^{\mathsf{T}}\bar{\mu} - \frac{1}{2}W_{k}^{-1}(C_{k}+\bar{C}_{k})^{\mathsf{T}}\rho_{k+1}$$
(2.4.14)

and then after some straightforward caculation:

$$\begin{aligned} G_{k+1}^{\mu}(\tilde{\alpha}_{k}^{*}(.,\mu)) &= -\operatorname{Var}(\mu) \left( S_{k} V_{k}^{-1} S_{k}^{\dagger} \right) - \bar{\mu}^{\dagger} \left( T_{k} W_{k}^{-1} T_{k}^{\dagger} \right) \bar{\mu} - \bar{\mu}^{\dagger} T_{k} W_{k}^{-1} (C_{k} + \bar{C}_{k})^{\dagger} \rho_{k+1} \\ &- \frac{1}{4} \rho_{k+1}^{\dagger} (C_{k} + \bar{C}_{k}) W_{k}^{-1} (C_{k} + \bar{C}_{k})^{\dagger} \rho_{k+1}. \end{aligned}$$

Assuming for the moment that  $\tilde{\alpha}_{k}^{*}(.,\mu)$  attains the infimum of  $G_{k+1}^{\mu}$  (this is a consequence of the convexity and coercivity of  $G_{k+1}^{\mu}$  shown in Remark 2.4.1), and plugging the above expression in (2.4.10), we see that  $w_{k}$  is like the function  $\mu \mapsto G_{k+1}^{\mu}(\tilde{\alpha}_{k}^{*}(.,\mu))$ , a linear combination of terms in  $\operatorname{Var}(\mu)(.), \bar{\mu}^{\dagger}(.)\bar{\mu}$ , and by identification with the form (2.4.8), we obtain an inductive relation for  $\Lambda_{k}, \Gamma_{k}, \rho_{k}, \chi_{k}$ :

$$\begin{cases} \Lambda_{k} = Q_{k} + B_{k}^{\intercal} \Lambda_{k+1} B_{k} + D_{k}^{\intercal} \Lambda_{k+1} D_{k} - S_{k} (\Lambda_{k+1}) V_{k}^{-1} (\Lambda_{k+1}) S_{k}^{\intercal} (\Lambda_{k+1}) \\ \Gamma_{k} = (Q_{k} + \bar{Q}_{k}) + (B_{k} + \bar{B}_{k})^{\intercal} \Gamma_{k+1} (B_{k} + \bar{B}_{k}) + (D_{k} + \bar{D}_{k})^{\intercal} \Lambda_{k+1} (D_{k} + \bar{D}_{k}) \\ - T_{k} (\Lambda_{k+1}, \Gamma_{k+1}) W_{k}^{-1} (\Lambda_{k+1}, \Gamma_{k+1}) T_{k}^{\intercal} (\Lambda_{k+1}, \Gamma_{k+1}) \\ \rho_{k} = L_{k} + \bar{L}_{k} + \left[ (B_{k} + \bar{B}_{k}) - (C_{k} + \bar{C}_{k}) W_{k}^{-1} (\Lambda_{k+1}, \Gamma_{k+1}) T_{k}^{\intercal} (\Lambda_{k+1}, \Gamma_{k+1}) \right] \rho_{k+1} \\ \chi_{k} = \chi_{k+1} - \frac{1}{4} \rho_{k+1}^{\intercal} (C_{k} + \bar{C}_{k}) W_{k}^{-1} (\Lambda_{k+1}, \Gamma_{k+1}) (C_{k} + \bar{C}_{k})^{\intercal} \rho_{k+1}. \end{cases}$$

$$(2.4.15)$$

for all k = 0, ..., n-1, starting from the terminal condition (2.4.9). The relations for  $(\Lambda_k, \Gamma_k)$  in (2.4.15) are two algebraic Riccati difference equations, while the equations for  $\rho_k$  and  $\chi_k$  are linear equations once  $(\Lambda_k, \Gamma_k)$  are determined. This system (2.4.15) is the same as the one obtained in [ELN13]. In the particular mean-variance problem considered at the end of this section, we can obtain explicit closed-form expressions for the solutions  $(\Lambda_k, \Gamma_k, \rho_k, \chi_k)$  to this Riccati system. However, in general, there are no closed-form formulae, and these quantities are simply computed by induction.

In the following remark, we check the issues that have left open up to now.

**Remark 2.4.1.** Let conditions (c0)-(c1)-(c2) hold. We prove by backward induction that for all k = 1, ..., n, the matrices  $V_{k-1} = V_{k-1}(\Lambda_k)$ ,  $W_{k-1} = W_{k-1}(\Lambda_k, \Gamma_k)$  are symmetric positive, hence invertible, with  $(\Lambda_k, \Gamma_k)$  given by (2.4.15), together with the nonnegativity of the symmetric matrices  $\Lambda_k$ ,  $\Gamma_k$ , which will immediately gives the convexity and coercivity of the function  $G_k^{\mu}$  in (4.5.7) for  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ .

At time k = n, we have  $\Lambda_n = Q \ge 0$ ,  $\Gamma_n = Q + \overline{Q} \ge 0$ , and thus from (2.4.13),  $V_{n-1} = V_{n-1}(\Lambda_n)$ ,  $W_{n-1} = W_{n-1}(\Lambda_n, \Gamma_n)$  are symmetric positive under (c0)-(c1)-(c2). Now, suppose that the assertion is true at time k + 1, i.e.  $V_k$ ,  $W_k$  are symmetric positive, and  $\Lambda_{k+1}$ ,  $\Gamma_{k+1}$  are symmetric nonnegative. Then, it is clear from (2.4.15) that  $\Lambda_k$  and  $\Gamma_k$  are symmetric, and noting that they can be rewritten from the expression of  $V_k, W_k, S_k, T_k$  in (2.4.13) as

$$\begin{cases} \Lambda_{k} = Q_{k} + S_{k}V_{k}^{-1}R_{k}(S_{k}V_{k}^{-1})^{\mathsf{T}} + (B_{k} - C_{k}(S_{k}V_{k}^{-1})^{\mathsf{T}}]^{\mathsf{T}}\Lambda_{k+1}[B_{k} - C_{k}(S_{k}V_{k}^{-1})^{\mathsf{T}}) \\ + (D_{k} - H_{k}(S_{k}V_{k}^{-1})^{\mathsf{T}})^{\mathsf{T}}\Lambda_{k+1}(D_{k} - H_{k}(S_{k}V_{k}^{-1})^{\mathsf{T}}) \\ \Gamma_{k} = Q_{k} + \bar{Q}_{k} + T_{k}W_{k}^{-1}(R_{k} + \bar{R}_{k})(T_{k}W_{k}^{-1})^{\mathsf{T}} \\ + (B_{k} + \bar{B}_{k} - (C_{k} + \bar{C}_{k})(T_{k}W_{k}^{-1})^{\mathsf{T}})^{\mathsf{T}}\Gamma_{k+1}(B_{k} + \bar{B}_{k} - (C_{k} + \bar{C}_{k})(T_{k}W_{k}^{-1})^{\mathsf{T}}) \\ + (D_{k} + \bar{D}_{k} - (H_{k} + \bar{H}_{k})(T_{k}W_{k}^{-1})^{\mathsf{T}})^{\mathsf{T}}\Gamma_{k+1}(D_{k} + \bar{D}_{k} - (H_{k} + \bar{H}_{k})(T_{k}W_{k}^{-1})^{\mathsf{T}}), \end{cases}$$

it is also clear that they are nonnegative under (c0). Finally from the expression (2.4.13) at time k - 1, we see that  $V_{k-1} = V_{k-1}(\Lambda_k)$  and  $W_{k-1} = W_{k-1}(\Lambda_k, \Gamma_k)$  are symmetric positive under (c0)-(c1)-(c2), which shows the required assertion.

In view of the above derivation and Remark 2.4.1, it follows that the functions  $w_k$ , k = 0, ..., n, given in the quadratic form (2.4.8) with  $(\Lambda_k, \Gamma_k, \rho_k, \chi_k)$  as in (2.4.15), satisfy by construction the DPP (2.3.10), and by the verification theorem, this implies that the value functions are given by  $v_k = w_k$ , while the optimal control is given in feedback form from (2.4.14) by:

$$\alpha_k^* = \tilde{\alpha}_k(X_k^*, \mathbb{P}_{X_k^*}) = -V_k^{-1} S_k^{\mathsf{T}} (X_k^* - \mathbb{E}[X_k^*]) - W_k^{-1} T_k^{\mathsf{T}} \mathbb{E}[X_k^*], \qquad (2.4.16)$$

where  $X_k^* = X_k^{\alpha^*}$  is the optimal wealth process with the feedback control  $\alpha^*$ . We retrieve the expression obtained in [ELN13] by four different methods (see e.g. their Theorem 3.1). We can push further our

#### 2.4. Applications

calculations to get an explicit form of the optimal control expressed only in terms of the state process (and not on its mean). Indeed, from the linear dynamics (2.4.5), we have

$$\mathbb{E}[X_{k+1}^*] = (B_k + B_k)\mathbb{E}[X_k^*] + (C_k + C_k)\mathbb{E}[\alpha_k^*] = (B_k + \bar{B}_k)\mathbb{E}[X_k^*] - (C_k + \bar{C}_k)(W_k^{\mathsf{T}})^{-1}T_k^{\mathsf{T}}\mathbb{E}[X_k^*] = N_k\mathbb{E}[X_k^*],$$

with  $N_k = B_k + \overline{B}_k - (C_k + \overline{C}_k)W_k^{-1}T_k$ , for  $k = 0, \dots, n-1$ , and so by induction:

$$\mathbb{E}[X_k^*] = N_{k-1} \dots N_0 \mathbb{E}[\xi].$$

Plugging into (2.4.16), this gives the explicit form of the optimal control as

$$\alpha_k^* = -V_k^{-1} S_k^{\mathsf{T}} X_k^* + \left( V_k^{-1} S_k^{\mathsf{T}} - W_k^{-1} T_k^{\mathsf{T}} \right) N_{k-1} \dots N_0 \mathbb{E}[\xi], \quad k = 0, \dots, n-1.$$
(2.4.17)

We observe that the optimal control at any time k does not only depend on the current state  $X_k^*$  but also on its the initial state  $\xi$  (via its mean).

### Example: Mean-variance portfolio selection

The mean-variance discrete-time problem consists in minimizing the cost functional:

$$J(\alpha) = \frac{\gamma}{2} \operatorname{Var}(X_n^{\alpha}) - \mathbb{E}[X_n^{\alpha}]$$
  
=  $\mathbb{E}\left[\frac{\gamma}{2} (X_n^{\alpha})^2 - X_n^{\alpha}\right] - \frac{\gamma}{2} \left(\mathbb{E}[X_n^{\alpha}]\right)^2,$ 

for some  $\gamma > 0$ , with a dynamics for the wealth process  $(X_k^{\alpha})$  valued in  $E = \mathbb{R}$  controlled by the amount  $\alpha_k$  valued in  $A = \mathbb{R}$  invested in the stock at time k (we assume zero interest rate):

$$X_{k+1}^{\alpha} = X_k^{\alpha} + \alpha_k (b\Delta + \sigma \sqrt{\Delta} \varepsilon_{k+1}), \quad k = 0, \dots, n-1, \ X_0^{\alpha} = x_0.$$

$$(2.4.18)$$

Here  $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}$  is the initial capital,  $b, \sigma > 0$  are some constants, representing respectively the rate of return and volatility of the stock,  $\Delta > 0$  is a parameter, e.g.  $\Delta = T/n$ , arising when considering a time discretization of a continuous-time model over [0, T], and  $(\varepsilon_k)$  is a sequence of i.i.d. random variables with distribution  $\mathcal{N}(0, 1)$ . This univariate model fits into the LQ framework (2.4.5)-(2.4.6) with:

$$B_{k} = 1, \ B_{k} = 0, \ C_{k} = b\Delta, \ C_{k} = 0, \ D_{k} = D_{k} = 0, \ H_{k} = \sigma\sqrt{\Delta}, \ H_{k} = 0, \ Q_{k} = \bar{Q}_{k} = L_{k} = \bar{L}_{k} = R_{k} = \bar{R}_{k} = 0, \ Q = \frac{\gamma}{2}, \ \bar{Q} = -\frac{\gamma}{2}, \ L = 0, \ \bar{L} = -1.$$

Conditions (c0)-(c1)-(c2) are clearly satisfied, and the Riccati system (2.4.15) for  $(\Lambda_k, \Gamma_k, \rho_k, \chi_k) \in \mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}$  is written in this case as:

$$\begin{cases} \Lambda_k &= \Lambda_{k+1} \frac{\sigma^2}{\sigma^2 + b^2 \Delta} \\ \Gamma_k &= \frac{\sigma^2 \Lambda_{k+1}}{\sigma^2 \Lambda_{k+1} + b^2 \Delta \Gamma_{k+1}} \Gamma_{k+1} \\ \rho_k &= \frac{\sigma^2 \Lambda_{k+1}}{b^2 \Delta \Gamma_{k+1} + \sigma^2 \Lambda_{k+1}} \rho_{k+1} \\ \chi_k &= \chi_{k+1} - \frac{1}{4} \frac{b^2 \Delta \rho_{k+1}^2}{\sigma^2 \Lambda_{k+1} + b^2 \Delta \Gamma_{k+1}}, \end{cases}$$

together with the terminal condition  $\Lambda_n = \frac{\gamma}{2}$ ,  $\Gamma_n = 0$ ,  $\rho_n = -1$ ,  $\chi_n = 0$ . This leads by induction to the explicit form for  $(\Lambda_k, \Gamma_k, \rho_k, \chi_k)$ :

$$\begin{cases} \Lambda_k = \frac{\gamma}{2} \left( \frac{\sigma^2}{\sigma^2 + b^2 \Delta} \right)^{n-k}, \\ \Gamma_k = 0, \ \rho_k = -1 \\ \chi_k = -\frac{1}{2\gamma} \left( \left( \frac{\sigma^2 + b^2 \Delta}{\sigma^2} \right)^{n-k} - 1 \right). \end{cases}$$
(2.4.19)

The value functions are then explicitly given by

$$v_k(\mu) = \frac{\gamma}{2} \left( \frac{\sigma^2}{\sigma^2 + b^2 \Delta} \right)^{n-k} \operatorname{Var}(\mu) - \bar{\mu} - \frac{1}{2\gamma} \left( \left( \frac{\sigma^2 + b^2 \Delta}{\sigma^2} \right)^{n-k} - 1 \right),$$

for all  $k = 0, ..., n, \mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R})$ . Moreover, the optimal control is given in feedback form from (2.4.16) by:

$$\alpha_k^* = \tilde{\alpha}_k(X_k^*, \mathbb{P}_{X_k^*}) = -\frac{b}{\sigma^2 + b^2 \Delta} \left( X_k^* - \mathbb{E}[X_k^*] \right) + \frac{b}{\sigma^2 \gamma} \left( \frac{\sigma^2 + b^2 \Delta}{\sigma^2} \right)^{n-k-1},$$

where  $X_k^* = X_k^{\alpha^*}$  is the optimal wealth process with the feedback control  $\alpha^*$ . It is then explicitly written from (2.4.17) by

$$\alpha_{k}^{*} = -\frac{b}{\sigma^{2} + b^{2}\Delta} \Big[ X_{k}^{*} - x_{0} - \frac{1}{\gamma} \Big( 1 + \frac{b^{2}}{\sigma^{2}} \Delta \Big)^{n} \Big].$$
(2.4.20)

We then observe that the optimal control at any time k does not only depend on the current wealth  $X_k^*$  but also on the initial wealth  $x_0$ . This expression (2.4.20) of the optimal control is the discrete time analog of the continuous time optimal control obtained in [LZ00] or [AD10]. Actually, if we view (2.4.18) as a time discretization (with a time step  $\Delta = T/n$ ) of a continuous time Black-Scholes model for the stock price over [0, T], with a controlled wealth dynamics

$$dX_t^{\alpha} = \alpha_t (bdt + \sigma dW_t), \quad X_0^{\alpha} = x_0,$$

then by sending n to infinity (hence  $\Delta$  to zero) into (2.4.20), we retrieve the closed-form expression of the optimal control in [LZ00] or [AD10]:

$$\alpha_t^* = -\frac{b}{\sigma^2} \Big[ X_t^{\alpha^*} - x_0 - \frac{1}{\gamma} \exp\left(\frac{b^2}{\sigma^2}T\right) \Big].$$

## Chapter 3

# Bellman equation and viscosity solutions for continuous time McKean-Vlasov control problem<sup>\*</sup>

<u>Abstract</u>: We consider the stochastic optimal control problem of McKean-Vlasov stochastic differential equation where the coefficients may depend upon the joint marginal law of the state and control. By using feedback controls, we reformulate the problem into a deterministic control problem with only the marginal distribution of the process as controlled state variable, and prove that dynamic programming principle holds in its general form. Then, by relying on the notion of differentiability with respect to probability measures recently introduced by P.L. Lions in [Lio12], and a special Itô formula for flows of probability measures, we derive the (dynamic programming) Bellman equation for mean-field stochastic control problem, and prove a verification theorem in our McKean-Vlasov framework. We give explicit solutions to the Bellman equation for the linear quadratic mean-field control problem, with applications to the mean-variance portfolio selection and a systemic risk model. We also consider a notion of lifted viscosity solutions for the Bellman equation, and show the viscosity property and uniqueness of the value function to the McKean-Vlasov control problem. Finally, we discuss the case of McKean-Vlasov control problem with open-loop controls and compare the associated dynamic programming equation with the case of feedback controls.

**Keywords**: McKean-Vlasov SDEs, dynamic programming, Bellman equation, Wasserstein space, viscosity solutions.

a. This chapter is based on a paper written in collaboration with Pham Huyên [PW18]. This paper is published in ESAIM: Control, Optimisation, Calculus of Variations, 24(1), 2018.

## 3.1 Introduction

The problem studied in this paper concerns the optimal control of mean-field SDEs, also known as McKean-Vlasov equations. This topic is closely related to the mean-field game (MFG) problem as originally formulated by Lasry and Lions in [LL07] and simultaneously by Huang, Caines and Malhamé in [HMC06]. It aims at describing equilibrium states of large population of symmetric players (particles) with mutual interactions of mean-field type, and we refer to [CDL13] for a discussion pointing out the subtle differences between the notions of equilibrium in MFG and optimal control of McKean-Vlasov dynamics.

While the analysis of McKean-Vlasov SDEs has a long history with the pioneering works by Kac [Kac56] and H. McKean [McK67], and later on with papers in the general framework of propagation of chaos, see e.g. [Szn91], [JMW08], the optimal control of McKean-Vlasov dynamics is a rather new problem, which attracts an increasing interest since the emergence of the MFG theory and its numerous applications in several areas outside physics, like economics and finance, biology, social interactions, networks. Actually, it has been first studied in [AD01] by functional analysis method with a value function expressed in terms of the Nisio semigroup of operators. More recently, several papers have adopted the stochastic maximum (also called Pontryagin) principle for characterizing solutions to the controlled McKean-Vlasov systems in terms of an adjoint backward stochastic differential equation (BSDE) coupled with a forward SDE: see [AD10], [BDL11], [Yon13] with a state dynamics depending upon moments of the distribution, and [CD15] for a deep investigation in a more general setting. Alternatively, and although the dynamics of mean-field SDEs is non-Markovian, it is tempting to use DP method (also called Bellman principle), which is known to be a powerful tool for standard Markovian stochastic control problem, see e.g. [FS06], [Pha09], and does not require any convexity assumption usually imposed in Pontryagin principle. Indeed, mean-field type control problem was tackled by DP in [LP14] and [BFY15] for specific McKean-Vlasov SDE and cost functional, typically depending only upon statistics like its mean value or with uncontrolled diffusion coefficient, and especially by assuming the existence at all times of a density for the marginal distribution of the state process. The key idea in both papers [LP14] and [BFY15] is to reformulate the stochastic control problem with feedback strategy as a deterministic control problem involving the density of the marginal distribution, and then to derive a dynamic programming equation in the space of density functions.

Inspired by the works [BFY15] and [LP14], the objective of this paper is to analyze in detail the dynamic programming method for the optimal control of mean-field SDEs where the drift, diffusion coefficients and running costs may depend both upon the joint marginal distribution of the state and of the control. This additional dependence related to the mean-field interaction on control is natural in the context of McKean-Vlasov control problem, but has been few considered in the literature, see however [Yon13] for a dependence only through the moments of the control. Our paper can be viewed as the continuous time version of the discrete time problem studied recently in [PW16]. By using closed-loop (also called feedback) controls, we first convert the stochastic optimal control problem into a deterministic control problem where the marginal distribution is the sole controlled state variable, and we prove that dynamic programming holds in its general form. The next step for exploiting the DP is to differentiate functions defined on the space of probability measures. There are various notions of derivatives with respect to measures which have been developed in connection with the theory of optimal transport and using Wasserstein metric on the space of probability measures, see e.g. the monographs [AGS08], [Vil08]. For our purpose, we shall use the notion of differentiability introduced by P.L. Lions in his lectures at the Collège de France [Lio12], see also the helpful redacted notes [Car12]. This notion of derivative is based

#### 3.1. INTRODUCTION

on the lifting of functions defined on the space of square integrable probability measures into functions defined on the Hilbert space of square integrable random variables distributed according to the "lifted" probability measure. It has been used in [CD15] for differentiating the Hamiltonian function appearing in stochastic Pontryagin principle for controlled McKean-Vlasov dynamics. As usual in continuous time control problem, we need a dynamic differential calculus for deriving the infinitesimal version of the DP, and shall rely on a special Itô's chain rule for flows of probability measures as recently developed in [BLPR17] and [CCD15], and used in [CD14] for deriving the so-called Master equation in MFG. We are then able to derive the dynamic programming Bellman equation for mean-field stochastic control problem. This infinite dimensional fully nonlinear partial differential equation (PDE) of second order in the Wassertein space of probability measures extends previous results in the literature [BFY15], [CD14], [LP14]: it reduces in particular to the Bellman equation in the space of density functions derived by Bensoussan, Frehse and Yam [BFY17] when the marginal distribution admits a density, and on the other hand, we notice that it differs from the Master equation for McKean-Vlasov control problem obtained by Carmona and Delarue in [CD14] where the value function is a function of both the state and its marginal distribution, and so with associated PDE in the state space comprising probability measures but also Euclidian vectors. Following the traditional approach for stochastic control problem, we prove a verification theorem for the Bellman equation of the McKean-Vlasov control problem, which reduces to the classical Bellman equation in the case of no mean-field interaction. We apply our verification theorem to the important class of LQ McKean-Vlasov control problems, addressed e.g. in [Yon13] and [BSYY16] by maximum principle and adjoint equations, and that we solve by a different approach where it turns out that derivations in the space of probability measures are quite tractable and lead to explicit classical solutions for the Bellman equation. We illustrate these results with two examples arising from finance: the mean-variance portfolio selection and an interbank systemic risk model, and retrieve the results obtained in [LZ00], [FL16] and [CFS15] by different methods.

In general, there are no classical solutions to the Bellman equation, and we thus introduce a notion of viscosity solutions for the Bellman equation in the Wasserstein space of probability measures. There are several definitions of viscosity solutions for Hamilton Jacobi equations of first order in Wasserstein space and more generally in metric spaces, see e.g. [AGS08], [GNT08], [FK09] or [GŚ15b]. We adopt the approach in [Lio12], and detailed in [Car12], which consists, after the lifting identification between measures and random variables, in working in the Hilbert space of square integrable random variables instead of working in the Wasserstein space of probability measures, in order to use the various tools developed for viscosity solutions in separable Hilbert spaces, in particular in our context, for second order Hamilton-Jacobi equations, see [Lio88], [Lio89a], [Lio89b], and the recent monograph [FGS15]. We then prove the viscosity property of the value function and a comparison principle, hence uniqueness result, for our Bellman equation associated to the McKean-Vlasov control problem.

Finally, we consider the more general class of open-loop controls instead of (Lipschitz) closed-loop controls, hence allowing a priori bang-bang controls, which is useful in the applications. We derive the corresponding dynamic programming equation, and compare with the Bellman equation arising from McKean-Vlasov control problem with feedback controls.

The rest of the paper is organized as follows. Section 2 describes the McKean-Vlasov control problem and fix the standing assumptions. In Section 3, we state the dynamic programming principle after the reformulation into a deterministic control problem, and derive the Bellman equation together with the proof of the verification theorem. We present in Section 4 the applications to the LQ framework where explicit solutions are provided with two examples arising from financial models. Section 5 deals with viscosity solutions for the Bellman equation, and the last section considers the case of open-loop controls.

## 3.2 McKean-Vlasov control problem

Let us fix some probability space  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$  on which is defined a *n*-dimensional Brownian motion  $B = (B_t)_{0 \leq t \leq T}$ , and denote by  $\mathbb{F} = (\mathcal{F}_t)_{0 \leq t \leq T}$  its natural filtration, augmented with an independent  $\sigma$ -algebra  $\mathcal{F}_0 \subset \mathcal{F}$ . Given a normed space (E, |.|), recall that  $\mathcal{P}_2(E)$  is Wasserstein space and  $L^2(\mathcal{F}_0; E)$   $(=L^2(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_0, \mathbb{P}; E))$  the set of square integrable *E*-valued random variables on  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_0, \mathbb{P})$ . In the sequel, *E* will be either  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , the state space, or *A*, the control space, a subset of  $\mathbb{R}^m$ , or the product space  $\mathbb{R}^d \times A$ . We shall assume without loss of generality (see Remark 3.2.1 below) that  $\mathcal{F}_0$  is rich enough to carry *E*-valued random variables with any arbitrary square integrable distribution, i.e.  $\mathcal{P}_2(E) = \{\mathbb{P}_{\xi}, \xi \in L^2(\mathcal{F}_0; E)\}$ .

**Remark 3.2.1.** A possible construction of a probability space, which is rich enough to satisfy the above conditions is the following. We consider a Polish space  $\Omega_0$ , its Borel  $\sigma$ -algebra  $\mathcal{F}_0$  and let  $\mathbb{P}_0$  be an atomless probability measure on  $(\Omega_0, \mathcal{F}_0)$ . We consider another probability space  $(\Omega_1, \mathcal{F}_1, \mathbb{P}_1)$  supporting a *n*-dimensional Brownian motion *B* and denote by  $\mathbb{F}^B = (\mathcal{F}^B_t)$  its natural filtration. By defining  $\Omega = \Omega_0 \times \Omega_1$ ,  $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{F}_0 \vee \mathcal{F}_1$ ,  $\mathbb{P} = \mathbb{P}_0 \otimes \mathbb{P}_1$ , and  $\mathbb{F} = (\mathcal{F}_t)$  with  $\mathcal{F}_t = \mathcal{F}^B_t \vee \mathcal{F}_0$ ,  $0 \le t \le T$ , we then obtain that the filtered probability space  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{F}, \mathbb{P})$  satisfies the required condition in the above framework.

We also denote by  $\mathcal{W}_2$  the 2-Wasserstein distance defined on  $\mathcal{P}_2(E)$  by

$$\mathcal{W}_{2}(\mu,\mu') := \inf \left\{ \left( \int_{E\times E} |x-y|^{2} \pi(dx,dy) \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} : \pi \in \mathcal{P}_{2}(E\times E) \text{ with marginals } \mu \text{ and } \mu' \right\}$$
$$= \inf \left\{ \left( \mathbb{E}|\xi-\xi'|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} : \xi, \xi' \in L^{2}(\mathcal{F}_{0};E) \text{ with } \mathbb{P}_{\xi} = \mu, \mathbb{P}_{\xi'} = \mu' \right\}.$$

We consider a controlled stochastic dynamics of McKean-Vlasov type for the process  $X^{\alpha} = (X_t^{\alpha})_{0 \le t \le T}$ valued in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ :

$$dX_t^{\alpha} = b(t, X_t^{\alpha}, \alpha_t, \mathbb{P}_{(X_t^{\alpha}, \alpha_t)})dt + \sigma(t, X_t^{\alpha}, \alpha_t, \mathbb{P}_{(X_t^{\alpha}, \alpha_t)})dB_t, \quad X_0^{\alpha} = X_0, \quad (3.2.1)$$

where  $X_0 \in L^2(\mathcal{F}_0; \mathbb{R}^d)$ , and the control process  $\alpha = (\alpha_t)_{0 \leq t \leq T}$  is progressively measurable with values in a subset A of  $\mathbb{R}^m$ . The coefficients b and  $\sigma$  are deterministic measurable functions from  $[0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^d \times A \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d \times A)$  into  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and  $\mathbb{R}^{d \times n}$  respectively. Notice here that the drift and diffusion coefficients b,  $\sigma$  of the controlled state process do not depend only on the marginal distribution of the state process  $X_t$  at time t but more generally on the joint marginal distribution of the state/control  $(X_t, \alpha_t)$  at time t, which represents an additional mean-field feature with respect to classical McKean-Vlasov equations. We make the following assumption:

(H1) There exists some constant  $C_{b,\sigma} > 0$  s.t. for all  $t \in [0,T]$ ,  $x, x' \in \mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $a, a' \in A$ ,  $\lambda, \lambda' \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d \times A)$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} &|b(t,x,a,\lambda) - b(t,x',a',\lambda')| + |\sigma(t,x,a,\lambda) - \sigma(t,x',a',\lambda')| \\ &\leq \quad C_{b,\sigma} \big[ |x-x'| + |a-a'| + \mathcal{W}_2(\lambda,\lambda') \big], \end{aligned}$$

and

$$\int_0^T |b(t,0,0,\delta_{(0,0)})|^2 + |\sigma(t,0,0,\delta_{(0,0)})|^2 dt < \infty$$

Condition (H1) ensures that for any control process  $\alpha$ , which is square integrable, i.e.  $\mathbb{E}[\int_0^T |\alpha_t|^2 dt] < \infty$ , there exists a unique solution  $X^{\alpha}$  to (3.2.1), and moreover this solution satisfies (see e.g. [Szn91])

#### 3.3. Dynamic programming and Bellman equation

or [JMW08]):

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{0 \le t \le T} |X_t^{\alpha}|^2\right] \le C\left(1 + \mathbb{E}|X_0|^2 + \mathbb{E}\left[\int_0^T |\alpha_t|^2 dt\right]\right) < \infty.$$
(3.2.2)

In the sequel of the paper, we stress the dependence of  $X^{\alpha}$  on  $\alpha$  if needed, but most often, we shall omit this dependence and simply write  $X = X^{\alpha}$  when there is no ambiguity.

The cost functional associated to the McKean-Vlasov equation (3.2.1) is

$$J(\alpha) := \mathbb{E}\left[\int_0^T f(t, X_t, \alpha_t, \mathbb{P}_{(X_t, \alpha_t)})dt + g(X_T, \mathbb{P}_{X_T})\right]$$
(3.2.3)

for a square integrable control process  $\alpha$ . The running cost function f is a deterministic real-valued function on  $[0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^d \times A \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d \times A)$  and the terminal gain function g is a deterministic real-valued function on  $\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . We shall assume the following quadratic condition on f, g:

(H2) There exists some constant  $C_{f,g} > 0$  s.t. for all  $t \in [0,T]$ ,  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $a \in A$ ,  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $\lambda \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d \times A)$ ,

$$|f(t, x, a, \lambda)| + |g(x, \mu)| \leq C_{f,g} \left( 1 + |x|^2 + |a|^2 + \|\mu\|_2^2 + \|\lambda\|_2^2 \right).$$

Under Condition (H2), and from (3.2.2), we see that  $J(\alpha)$  is well-defined and finite for any square integrable control process  $\alpha$ . The stochastic control problem of interest in this paper is to minimize the cost functional:

$$V_0 := \inf_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} J(\alpha), \tag{3.2.4}$$

over a set of admissible controls  $\mathcal{A}$  to be precised later.

## 3.3 Dynamic programming and Bellman equation

## 3.3.1 Dynamic programming principle

In this paragraph, we make the standing assumptions (H1)-(H2), and our purpose is to show that dynamic programming principle holds for problem (3.2.4), which we would like to combine with some Markov property of the controlled state process. However, notice that the McKean-Vlasov type dependence on the dynamics of the state process rules out the standard Markov property of the controlled process  $(X_t)_t$ . Actually, this Markov property can be restored by considering its probability law  $(\mathbb{P}_{X_t})_t$ . To be more precise and for the sake of definiteness, we shall restrict ourselves to controls  $\alpha = (\alpha_t)_{0 \le t \le T}$ given in closed loop (or feedback) form:

$$\alpha_t = \tilde{\alpha}(t, X_t, \mathbb{P}_{X_t}), \quad 0 \le t \le T, \tag{3.3.1}$$

for some deterministic measurable function  $\tilde{\alpha}(t, x, \mu)$  defined on  $[0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . We shall discuss in the last section how one deal more generally with open-loop controls. We denote by  $Lip([0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d); A)$  the set of deterministic measurable functions  $\tilde{\alpha}$  on  $[0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , valued in A, which are Lipschitz in  $(x, \mu)$ , and satisfy a linear growth condition on  $(x, \mu)$ , uniformly on  $t \in [0, T]$ , i.e. there exists some positive constant  $C_{\tilde{\alpha}}$  s.t. for all  $t \in [0, T]$ ,  $x, x' \in \mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $\mu, \mu' \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} |\tilde{\alpha}(t,x,\mu) - \tilde{\alpha}(t,x',\mu')| &\leq C_{\tilde{\alpha}}\big(|x-x'| + \mathcal{W}_2(\mu,\mu')\big), \\ \int_0^T |\tilde{\alpha}(t,0,\delta_0)|^2 dt &< \infty. \end{aligned}$$

Notice that for any  $\tilde{\alpha} \in Lip([0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d); A)$ , and under the Lipschitz condition in **(H1)**, there exists a unique solution to the SDE:

$$dX_t = b(t, X_t, \tilde{\alpha}(t, X_t, \mathbb{P}_{X_t}), \mathbb{P}_{(X_t, \tilde{\alpha}(t, X_t, \mathbb{P}_{X_t}))})dt + \sigma(t, X_t, \tilde{\alpha}(t, X_t, \mathbb{P}_{X_t}), \mathbb{P}_{(X_t, \tilde{\alpha}(t, X_t, \mathbb{P}_{X_t}))})dB_t,$$
(3.3.2)

starting from some square integrable random variable, and this solution satisfies the square integrability condition (3.2.2). The set  $\mathcal{A}$  of so-called admissible controls  $\alpha$  is then defined as the set of control processes  $\alpha$  of feedback form (3.3.1) with  $\tilde{\alpha} \in Lip([0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d); A)$ . We shall often identify  $\alpha \in$  $\mathcal{A}$  with  $\tilde{\alpha}$  in  $Lip([0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d); A)$  via (3.3.1), and we see that any  $\alpha$  in  $\mathcal{A}$  is square-integrable:  $\mathbb{E}[\int_0^T |\alpha_t|^2 dt] < \infty$ , by (3.2.2) and Gronwall's lemma.

Let us now check the flow property of the marginal distribution process  $\mathbb{P}_{x_t} = \mathbb{P}_{x_t^{\alpha}}$  for any admissible control  $\alpha$  in  $\mathcal{A}$ . For any  $\tilde{\alpha} \in L(\mathbb{R}^d; A)$ , the set of Lipschitz functions from  $\mathbb{R}^d$  into A, we denote by  $Id\tilde{\alpha}$ the function

$$Id\tilde{\alpha}: \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d \times A$$
$$x \mapsto (x, \tilde{\alpha}(x)).$$

We observe that the joint distribution  $\mathbb{P}_{(X_t,\alpha_t)}$  associated to a feedback control  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  is equal to the image by  $Id\tilde{\alpha}(t,.,\mathbb{P}_{X_t})$  of the marginal distribution  $\mathbb{P}_{X_t}$  of the controlled state process X, i.e.  $\mathbb{P}_{(X_t,\alpha_t)} = Id\tilde{\alpha}(t,.,\mathbb{P}_{X_t}) \star \mathbb{P}_{X_t}$ , recall that  $\star$  denotes the standard pushforward of measures: for any  $\tilde{\alpha} \in L(\mathbb{R}^d; A)$ , and  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ :

$$(Id\tilde{\alpha}\star\mu)(B) = \mu(Id\tilde{\alpha}^{-1}(B)), \quad \forall B \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^d \times A).$$

We consider the dynamic version of (3.3.2) starting at time  $t \in [0,T]$  from  $\xi \in L^2(\mathcal{F}_t; \mathbb{R}^d)$ , which is then written as:

$$\begin{aligned} X_s^{t,\xi} &= \xi + \int_t^s b(r, X_r^{t,\xi}, \tilde{\alpha}(r, X_r^{t,\xi}, \mathbb{P}_{X_r^{t,\xi}}), Id\tilde{\alpha}(r, ., \mathbb{P}_{X_r^{t,\xi}}) \star \mathbb{P}_{X_r^{t,\xi}}) dr \\ &+ \int_t^s \sigma(r, X_r^{t,\xi}, \tilde{\alpha}(r, X_r^{t,\xi}, Id\tilde{\alpha}(r, ., \mathbb{P}_{X_r^{t,\xi}}) \star \mathbb{P}_{X_r^{t,\xi}}) dB_r, \quad t \le s \le T. \end{aligned}$$
(3.3.3)

Existence and uniqueness of a solution to (3.5.9) implies the flow property:

$$X_s^{t,\xi} = X_s^{\theta, X_{\theta}^{t,\xi}}, \quad \forall \ 0 \le t \le \theta \le s \le T, \ \xi \in L^2(\mathcal{F}_t; \mathbb{R}^d).$$
(3.3.4)

Moreover, as pointed out in Remark 3.1 in [BLPR17] (see also the remark following (2.3) in [CCD15]), the solution to (3.5.9) is also unique in law from which it follows that the law of  $X^{t,\xi}$  depends on  $\xi$  only through its law  $\mathbb{P}_{\varepsilon}$ . Therefore, we can define

$$\mathbb{P}_s^{t,\mu} := \mathbb{P}_{x_s^{t,\xi}}, \quad \text{for} \quad 0 \le t \le s \le T, \ \mu = \mathbb{P}_{\xi} \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d), \tag{3.3.5}$$

#### 3.3. Dynamic programming and Bellman equation

As a consequence of the flow property (3.3.4), and recalling that  $\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) = \{\mathbb{P}_{\xi}, \xi \in L^2(\mathcal{F}_0; \mathbb{R}^d)\}$ , it is clear that we also get the flow property for the marginal distribution process:

$$\mathbb{P}_{s}^{t,\mu} = \mathbb{P}_{s}^{\theta,\mathbb{P}_{\theta}^{t,\mu}}, \quad \forall \ 0 \le t \le \theta \le s \le T, \ \mu \in \mathcal{P}_{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d}).$$
(3.3.6)

Recall that the process  $X^{t,\xi}$ , hence also the law process  $\mathbb{P}^{t,\mu}$  depends on the feedback control  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ , and if needed, we shall stress the dependence on  $\alpha$  by writing  $\mathbb{P}^{t,\mu,\alpha}$ .

We next show that the initial stochastic control problem can be reduced to a deterministic control problem. Indeed, by definition of the marginal distribution  $\mathbb{P}_{x_t}$ , recalling that  $\mathbb{P}_{(X_t,\alpha_t)} = Id\tilde{\alpha}(t,.,\mathbb{P}_{x_t}) \star \mathbb{P}_{x_t}$ , and Fubini's theorem, we see that the cost functional can be written for any admissible control  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  as:

$$J(\alpha) = \int_0^T \hat{f}(t, \mathbb{P}_{X_t}, \tilde{\alpha}(t, ., \mathbb{P}_{X_t})) dt + \hat{g}(\mathbb{P}_{X_T}),$$

where the function  $\hat{f}$  is defined on  $[0,T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \times L(\mathbb{R}^d;A)$  and  $\hat{g}$  is defined on  $\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  by

$$\hat{f}(t,\mu,\tilde{\alpha}) := \langle f(t,.,\tilde{\alpha}(.), Id\tilde{\alpha} \star \mu), \mu \rangle, \qquad \hat{g}(\mu) := \langle g(.,\mu), \mu \rangle.$$
 (3.3.7)

We have thus transformed the initial control problem (3.2.4) into a deterministic control problem involving the infinite dimensional controlled marginal distribution process valued in  $\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . In view of the flow property (3.3.6), it is then natural to define the value function

$$v(t,\mu) := \inf_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \left[ \int_{t}^{T} \hat{f}(s, \mathbb{P}_{s}^{t,\mu}, \tilde{\alpha}(s, ., \mathbb{P}_{s}^{t,\mu})) ds + \hat{g}(\mathbb{P}_{T}^{t,\mu}) \right], \ t \in [0,T], \ \mu \in \mathcal{P}_{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d}),$$
(3.3.8)

so that the initial control problem in (3.2.4) is given by:  $V_0 = v(0, \mathbb{P}_{x_0})$ . It is clear that  $v(t, \mu) < \infty$ , and we shall assume that

$$v(t,\mu) > -\infty, \quad \forall t \in [0,T], \ \mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d).$$

$$(3.3.9)$$

**Remark 3.3.1.** The finiteness condition (3.3.9) can be checked a priori directly from the assumptions on the model. For example, when f, g, hence  $\hat{f}$ ,  $\hat{g}$ , are lower-bounded functions, condition (3.3.9) clearly holds. Another example is the case when  $f(t, x, a, \lambda)$ , and  $g(x, \mu)$  are lower bounded by a quadratic function in x,  $\mu$ , and  $\lambda$  (uniformly in (t, a)) so that

$$\hat{f}(t,\mu,\tilde{\alpha}) + \hat{g}(x,\mu) \geq -C(1+\|\mu\|_2), \quad \forall \mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d), \ \tilde{\alpha} \in L(\mathbb{R}^d;A),$$

and we are able to derive moment estimates on the controlled process X, uniformly in  $\alpha$ :  $\left\|\mathbb{P}_{s}^{t,\mu}\right\|_{2}^{2} = \mathbb{E}[|X_{s}^{t,\xi}|^{2}] \leq C(1 + \|\mu\|_{2}^{2})$ , (for  $\mu = \mathbb{P}_{\xi}$ ) which arises typically from (3.2.2) when A is bounded. Then, it is clear that (3.3.9) holds true. Otherwise, this finiteness condition can be checked a posteriori from a verification theorem, see Theorem 3.3.1.

The DPP for the deterministic control problem (3.3.8) takes the following formulation:

**Theorem 3.3.1.** (Dynamic Programming Principle)

Under (3.3.9), we have for all  $0 \le t \le \theta \le T$ ,  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ :

$$v(t,\mu) = \inf_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \left[ \int_t^{\theta} \hat{f}(s, \mathbb{P}^{t,\mu}_s, \tilde{\alpha}(s, ., \mathbb{P}^{t,\mu}_s)) ds + v(\theta, \mathbb{P}^{t,\mu}_\theta) \right].$$
(3.3.10)

**Proof.** In the context of deterministic control problem, the proof of the DPP is elementary and does not require any measurable selection arguments. For sake of completeness, we provide it. Denote by  $J(t, \mu, \alpha)$  the cost functional:

$$J(t,\mu,\alpha) := \int_t^T \hat{f}(s,\mathbb{P}^{t,\mu,\alpha}_s,\tilde{\alpha}(s,.)) + \hat{g}(\mathbb{P}^{t,\mu,\alpha}_T), \quad 0 \le t \le T, \ \mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d), \alpha \in \mathcal{A},$$

so that  $v(t,\mu) = \inf_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} J(t,\mu,\alpha)$ , and by  $w(t,\mu)$  the r.h.s. of (3.3.10) (here we stress the dependence of the controlled marginal distribution process  $\mathbb{P}^{t,\mu,\alpha}$  on  $\alpha$ ). Then,

$$\begin{split} w(t,\mu) &= \inf_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \left[ \int_{t}^{\theta} \hat{f}(s, \mathbb{P}_{s}^{t,\mu,\alpha}, \tilde{\alpha}(s,.,\mathbb{P}_{s}^{t,\mu,\alpha})) ds + \inf_{\beta \in \mathcal{A}} J(\theta, \mathbb{P}_{\theta}^{t,\mu,\beta}, \beta) \right] \\ &= \inf_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \inf_{\beta \in \mathcal{A}} \left[ \int_{t}^{\theta} \hat{f}(s, \mathbb{P}_{s}^{t,\mu,\alpha}, \tilde{\alpha}(s,.,\mathbb{P}_{s}^{t,\mu,\alpha})) ds + J(\theta, \mathbb{P}_{\theta}^{t,\mu,\beta}, \beta) \right] \\ &= \inf_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \inf_{\beta \in \mathcal{A}} \left[ \int_{t}^{\theta} \hat{f}(s, \mathbb{P}_{s}^{t,\mu,\gamma[\alpha,\beta]}, \tilde{\gamma}[\alpha,\beta](s,.,\mathbb{P}_{s}^{t,\mu,\gamma[\alpha,\beta]})) ds + J(\theta, P_{\theta}^{t,\mu,\gamma[\alpha,\beta]}, \gamma[\alpha,\beta]) \right] \end{split}$$

where we define  $\gamma[\alpha,\beta] \in \mathcal{A}$  by:  $\tilde{\gamma}[\alpha,\beta](s,.) = \tilde{\alpha}(s,.)1_{0 \le s \le \theta} + \tilde{\beta}(s,.)1_{\theta < s \le T}$ . Now, it is clear that when  $\alpha,\beta$  run over  $\mathcal{A}$ , then  $\gamma[\alpha,\beta]$  also runs over  $\mathcal{A}$ , and so:

$$\begin{split} w(t,\mu) &= \inf_{\gamma \in \mathcal{A}} \Big[ \int_{t}^{\theta} \hat{f}(s, \mathbb{P}_{s}^{t,\mu,\gamma}, \tilde{\gamma}(s,.,\mathbb{P}_{s}^{t,\mu,\gamma})) ds + J(\theta, P_{\theta}^{t,\mu,\gamma}, \gamma) \Big] \\ &= \inf_{\gamma \in \mathcal{A}} \Big[ \int_{t}^{\theta} \hat{f}(s, \mathbb{P}_{s}^{t,\mu}, \tilde{\gamma}(s,.,\mathbb{P}_{s}^{t,\mu})) ds + \int_{\theta}^{T} \hat{f}(s, \mathbb{P}_{s}^{\theta,\mathbb{P}_{\theta}^{t,\mu}}, \tilde{\gamma}(s,.,\mathbb{P}_{s}^{\theta,\mathbb{P}_{\theta}^{t,\mu}})) + \hat{g}(\mathbb{P}_{T}^{\theta,\mathbb{P}_{\theta}^{t,\mu}}) \Big] \\ &= \inf_{\gamma \in \mathcal{A}} \Big[ \int_{t}^{\theta} \hat{f}(s, \mathbb{P}_{s}^{t,\mu}, \tilde{\gamma}(s,.,\mathbb{P}_{s}^{t,\mu})) ds + \int_{\theta}^{T} \hat{f}(s, \mathbb{P}_{s}^{t,\mu}, \tilde{\gamma}(s,.,\mathbb{P}_{s}^{t,\mu})) + \hat{g}(\mathbb{P}_{T}^{t,\mu}) \Big], \end{split}$$

by the flow property (3.3.6) (here we have omitted in the second and third line the dependence of  $\mathbb{P}_s$  in  $\gamma$ ). This proves the required equality:  $w(t, \mu) = v(t, \mu)$ .

**Remark 3.3.2.** Problem (3.2.4) includes the case where the cost functional in (3.2.3) is a nonlinear function of the expected value of the state process, i.e. the running cost functions and the terminal gain function are in the form:  $f(t, X_t, \alpha_t, \mathbb{P}_{(X_t, \alpha_t)}) = \overline{f}(t, X_t, \mathbb{E}[X_t], \alpha_t), t \in [0, T], g(X_T, \mathbb{P}_{X_T}) = \overline{g}(X_T, \mathbb{E}[X_T])$ , which arises for example in mean-variance problem (see Section 3.4). It is claimed in [BM14] and [Yon13] that Bellman optimality principle does not hold, and therefore the problem is time-inconsistent. This is correct when one takes into account only the state process X (that is its realization), since it is not Markovian, but as shown in this section, dynamic programming principle holds true whenever we consider the marginal distribution as state variable. This gives more information and the price to paid is the infinite-dimensional feature of the marginal distribution state variable.

## 3.3.2 Bellman equation

The purpose of this paragraph is to derive from the dynamic programming principle (3.3.10), a partial differential equation (PDE) for the value function  $v(t, \mu)$ , called Bellman equation.

Notice that under condition (H1) on the coefficients b and  $\sigma$ , we have

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E}\Big[\int_{t}^{T}\big|b(s,X_{s}^{t,\xi},\tilde{\alpha}(s,X_{s}^{t,\xi},\mathbb{P}_{X_{s}^{t,\xi}}),Id\tilde{\alpha}(s,.,\mathbb{P}_{X_{s}^{t,\xi}})\star\mathbb{P}_{X_{s}^{t,\xi}})\big|^{2} \\ & +\big|\sigma(s,X_{s}^{t,\xi},\tilde{\alpha}(s,X_{s}^{t,\xi},\mathbb{P}_{X_{s}^{t,\xi}}),Id\tilde{\alpha}(s,.,\mathbb{P}_{X_{s}^{t,\xi}})\star\mathbb{P}_{X_{s}^{t,\xi}})\big|^{2}ds\Big] < \infty \end{split}$$

#### 3.3. Dynamic programming and Bellman equation

Therefore, by relying on Itô's formula along a flow of probability measures in Proposition 1.3.7, we derive the Bellman equation associated to the DPP (3.3.10), which turns out to be in the following form:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t v + \inf_{\tilde{\alpha} \in L(\mathbb{R}^d; A)} \left[ \hat{f}(t, \mu, \tilde{\alpha}) + \langle \mathcal{L}_t^{\tilde{\alpha}} v(t, \mu), \mu \rangle \right] = 0, \text{ on } [0, T) \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d), \\ v(T, .) = \hat{g}, \text{ on } \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \end{cases}$$
(3.3.11)

where for  $\tilde{\alpha} \in L(\mathbb{R}^d; A)$ ,  $\varphi \in \mathcal{C}^2_b(\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d))$  and  $(t, \mu) \in [0, T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $\mathcal{L}^{\tilde{\alpha}}_t \varphi(\mu) \in L^2_\mu(\mathbb{R})$  is the function:  $\mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$  defined by

$$\mathcal{L}_{t}^{\tilde{\alpha}}\varphi(\mu)(x) := \partial_{\mu}\varphi(\mu)(x).b(t,x,\tilde{\alpha}(x),Id\tilde{\alpha}\star\mu) \\ + \frac{1}{2}\mathrm{tr}\big(\partial_{x}\partial_{\mu}\varphi(\mu)(x)\sigma\sigma^{\mathsf{T}}(t,x,\tilde{\alpha}(x),Id\tilde{\alpha}\star\mu)\big).$$
(3.3.12)

In the spirit of classical verification theorem for stochastic control of diffusion processes, we prove the following result in our McKean-Vlasov control framework, which is a consequence of the Itô's formula for functions defined on the Wasserstein space.

## **Proposition 3.3.1.** (Verification theorem)

Let  $w: [0,T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \to \mathbb{R}$  be a function in  $\mathcal{C}_b^{1,2}([0,T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d))$ , i.e. w is continuous on  $[0,T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $w(t,.) \in \mathcal{C}_b^2(\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d))$ , for all  $t \in [0,T]$ , and  $w(.,\mu) \in \mathcal{C}^1([0,T])$ . Suppose that w is solution to (3.3.11), and there exists for all  $(t,\mu) \in [0,T) \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  an element  $\tilde{\alpha}^*(t,.,\mu) \in L(\mathbb{R}^d;A)$  attaining the infimum in (3.3.11) s.t. the mapping  $(t,x,\mu) \mapsto \tilde{\alpha}^*(t,x,\mu) \in Lip([0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d);A)$ . Then, w = v, and the feedback control  $\alpha^* \in \mathcal{A}$  defined by

$$\alpha_t^* = \tilde{\alpha}^*(t, X_t, \mathbb{P}_{X_t}), \quad 0 \le t < T,$$

is an optimal control, i.e.  $V_0 = J(\alpha^*)$ .

**Proof.** Fix  $(t, \mu = \mathbb{P}_{\xi}) \in [0, T) \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , and consider some arbitrary feedback control  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  associated to  $X^{t,\xi}$  the solution to the controlled SDE (3.5.9). Under condition **(H1)**, we have the standard estimate

$$\mathbb{E}\Big[\sup_{t\leq s\leq T}|X_s^{t,\xi}|^2\Big] \leq C\big(1+\mathbb{E}|\xi|^2\big) < \infty,$$

which implies that

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E}\Big[\int_{t}^{T}\left|b(s,X_{s}^{t,\xi},\tilde{\alpha}(s,X_{s}^{t,\xi},\mathbb{P}_{x_{s}^{t,\xi}}),Id\tilde{\alpha}(s,.,\mathbb{P}_{x_{s}^{t,\xi}})\star\mathbb{P}_{x_{s}^{t,\xi}})\right|^{2} \\ & +\left|\sigma(s,X_{s}^{t,\xi},\tilde{\alpha}(s,X_{s}^{t,\xi},\mathbb{P}_{x_{s}^{t,\xi}}),Id\tilde{\alpha}(s,.,\mathbb{P}_{x_{s}^{t,\xi}})\star\mathbb{P}_{x_{s}^{t,\xi}})\right|^{2}ds\Big] < \infty \end{split}$$

One can then apply the Itô's formula (1.3.7) to  $w(s, \mathbb{P}_{x_s^{t,\xi}}) = w(s, \mathbb{P}_s^{t,\mu})$  (with the definition (3.3.5)) between s = t and s = T, and obtain

$$\begin{split} w(T, \mathbb{P}_{T}^{t,\mu}) &= w(t,\mu) + \int_{t}^{T} \frac{\partial w}{\partial t}(s, \mathbb{P}_{s}^{t,\mu}) + \\ & \mathbb{E}\Big[\partial_{\mu}w(s, \mathbb{P}_{s}^{t,\mu})(X_{s}^{t,\xi}).b(s, X_{s}^{t,\xi}, \tilde{\alpha}(s, X_{s}^{t,\xi}, \mathbb{P}_{s}^{t,\mu}), Id\tilde{\alpha}(s, ., \mathbb{P}_{s}^{t,\mu}) \star \mathbb{P}_{s}^{t,\mu}) \\ & + \frac{1}{2}\mathrm{tr}\big(\partial_{x}\partial_{\mu}w(s, \mathbb{P}_{s}^{t,\mu})(X_{s}^{t,\xi})\sigma_{s}\sigma_{s}^{\intercal}(s, X_{s}^{t,\xi}, \tilde{\alpha}(s, X_{s}^{t,\xi}, \mathbb{P}_{s}^{t,\mu}), Id\tilde{\alpha}(s, ., \mathbb{P}_{s}^{t,\mu}) \star \mathbb{P}_{s}^{t,\mu})\big)\Big]ds \\ &= w(t,\mu) + \int_{t}^{T} \frac{\partial w}{\partial t}(s, \mathbb{P}_{s}^{t,\mu}) + \langle \mathcal{L}_{s}^{\tilde{\alpha}(s, ., \mathbb{P}_{s}^{t,\mu})}w(s, \mathbb{P}_{s}^{t,\mu}), \mathbb{P}_{s}^{t,\mu} \rangle ds, \end{split}$$
(3.3.13)

where we used in the second equality the fact that  $\mathbb{P}_s^{t,\mu}$  is the distribution of  $X_s^{t,\xi}$  for  $s \in [t,T]$ . Since  $x \mapsto \tilde{\alpha}(s,.,\mathbb{P}_s^{t,\mu}) \in L(\mathbb{R}^d;A)$  for  $s \in [t,T]$ , we deduce from the Bellman equation satisfied by w and (3.3.13) that

$$\hat{g}(\mathbb{P}_T^{t,\mu}) \geq w(t,\mu) - \int_t^T \hat{f}(s,\mathbb{P}_s^{t,\mu},\tilde{\alpha}(s,.,\mathbb{P}_s^{t,\mu})) ds.$$

Since  $\alpha$  is arbitrary in  $\mathcal{A}$ , this shows that  $w(t,\mu) \leq v(t,\mu)$ .

In the final step, let us apply the same Itô's argument (3.3.13) with the feedback control  $\alpha^* \in \mathcal{A}$  associated with the fonction  $\tilde{\alpha}^* \in Lip([0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d); A)$ . Since  $\tilde{\alpha}$  attains the infimum in (3.3.11), we thus get

$$\hat{g}(\mathbb{P}_T^{t,\mu}) \quad = \quad w(t,\mu) - \int_t^T \hat{f}(s,\mathbb{P}_s^{t,\mu},\tilde{\alpha}^*(s,.,\mathbb{P}_s^{t,\mu})) ds,$$

which shows that  $w(t, \mu) = J(t, \mu, \alpha^*) \ (\geq v(t, \mu))$ , and therefore gives the required result:  $v(t, \mu) = w(t, \mu) = J(t, \mu, \alpha^*)$ .

We shall apply the verification theorem in the next section, where we can derive explicit (smooth) solutions to the Bellman equation (3.3.11) in some class of examples, but first discuss below the case when there are no mean-field interaction, and the structure of the optimal control (when it exists).

#### Remark 3.3.3. (No mean-field interaction)

We consider the classical case of stochastic control where there is no mean-field interaction in the dynamics of the state process, i.e. b(x, a) and  $\sigma(x, a)$  do not depend on  $\mu, \lambda$ , as well as in the cost functions f(x, a)and g(x). In this special case, let us show how the verification Theorem 3.3.1 is reduced to the classical verification result for smooth functions on  $[0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^d$ , see e.g. [FS06] or [Pha09].

Suppose that there exists a function u in  $\mathcal{C}^{1,2}([0,T]\times\mathbb{R}^d)$  solution to the standard HJB equation

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u + \inf_{a \in A} \left[ f(t, x, a) + L_t^a u(t, x) \right] = 0, \text{ on } [0, T) \times \mathbb{R}^d, \\ u(T, .) = g \text{ on } \mathbb{R}^d. \end{cases}$$
(3.3.14)

where  $L_t^a$  is the second-order differential operator

$$L^a_t u(t,x) = \partial_x u(t,x) \cdot b(t,x,a) + \frac{1}{2} \mathrm{tr} \big( \partial^2_{xx} u(t,x) \sigma \sigma^{\mathsf{T}}(t,x,a) \big),$$

and that for all  $(t, x) \in [0, T) \times \mathbb{R}^d$ , there exists  $\hat{a}(t, x)$  attaining the argmin in (3.3.14), s.t. the map  $x \mapsto \hat{a}(t, x)$  is Lipschitz on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .

Let us then consider the function defined on  $[0,T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  by

$$w(t,\mu) = \langle u(t,.), \mu \rangle = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} u(t,x)\mu(dx).$$

The lifted function of w is thus equal to  $\mathcal{W}(t, X) = \mathbb{E}[u(t, X)]$  with Fréchet derivative (with respect to  $X \in L^2(\mathcal{F}_0, \mathbb{P})$ ):  $[D\mathcal{W}](t, X)(Y) = \mathbb{E}[\partial_x u(t, X).Y]$ . Assuming that the time derivative of u w.r.t. t satisfies a quadratic growth condition in x, the first derivative of u w.r.t. x satisfies a linear growth condition, and the second derivative of u w.r.t. x is bounded, this shows that w lies in  $\mathcal{C}_b^{1,2}([0,T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d))$  with

$$\partial_t w(t,\mu) = \langle \partial_t u(t,.), \mu \rangle, \qquad \partial_\mu w(t,\mu) = \partial_x u(t,.), \quad \partial_x \partial_\mu v(t,\mu) = \partial_{xx}^2 u(t,.)$$

## 3.3. Dynamic programming and Bellman equation

Recalling the definition (3.3.12) of  $\mathcal{L}_t^{\tilde{\alpha}} w(t,\mu)$ , we then get for any fixed  $(t,\mu) \in [0,T) \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ :

$$\partial_{t}w(t,\mu) + \inf_{\tilde{\alpha}\in L(\mathbb{R}^{d};A)} \left[ \hat{f}(t,\mu,\tilde{\alpha}) + \langle \mathcal{L}_{t}^{\tilde{\alpha}}w(t,\mu),\mu \rangle \right]$$

$$= \inf_{\tilde{\alpha}\in L(\mathbb{R}^{d};A)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left[ \partial_{t}u(t,x) + f(t,x,\tilde{\alpha}(x)) + L_{t}^{\tilde{\alpha}(x)}u(t,x) \right] \mu(dx)$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \inf_{a\in A} \left[ \partial_{t}u(t,x) + f(t,x,a) + L_{t}^{a}u(t,x) \right] \mu(dx).$$
(3.3.15)

Indeed, the inequality  $\geq$  in (3.3.15) is clear since  $\tilde{\alpha}(x)$  lies in A for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ , and  $\tilde{\alpha} \in L(\mathbb{R}^d; A)$ . Conversely, by taking  $\hat{a}(t, x)$  which attains the infimum in (3.3.14), and since the map  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d \mapsto \hat{a}(t, x)$  is Lipschitz, we then have

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \inf_{a \in A} \left[ \partial_t u(t,x) + f(t,x,a) + L_t^a u(t,x) \right] \mu(dx) \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left[ \partial_t u(t,x) + f(t,x,\hat{a}(t,x)) + L_t^{\hat{a}(t,x)} u(t,x) \right] \mu(dx) \\ &\geq \inf_{\tilde{\alpha} \in L(\mathbb{R}^d;A)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left[ \partial_t u(t,x) + f(t,x,\tilde{\alpha}(x)) + L_t^{\tilde{\alpha}(x)} u(t,x) \right] \mu(dx) \end{split}$$

which thus shows the equality (3.3.15). Since u is solution to (3.3.14), this proves that w is solution to the Bellman equation (3.3.11),  $\tilde{\alpha}^*(t,x) = \hat{a}(t,x)$  is an optimal feedback control, and therefore, the value function is equal to  $v(t,\mu) = \langle u(t,.), \mu \rangle$ .

## Remark 3.3.4. (Form of the optimal control)

Consider the case where the coefficients of the McKean-Vlasov SDE and of the running costs do not depend upon the law of the control, hence in the form:  $b(t, X_t, \alpha_t, \mathbb{P}_{X_t})$ ,  $\sigma(t, X_t, \alpha_t, \mathbb{P}_{X_t})$ ,  $f(t, X_t, \alpha_t, \mathbb{P}_{X_t})$ , and denote by

$$\mathbb{H}(t, x, a, \mu, q, M) = f(t, x, a, \mu) + q.b(t, x, a, \mu) + \frac{1}{2} tr(M\sigma\sigma^{\mathsf{T}}(t, x, a, \mu))$$
(3.3.16)

for  $(t, x, a, \mu, q, M) \in [0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^d \times A \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{S}^d$ , the Hamiltonian function related to the Bellman equation (3.3.11) rewritten as:

$$\partial_t w(t,\mu) + \inf_{\tilde{\alpha} \in L(\mathbb{R}^d;A)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathbb{H}\big(t,x,\tilde{\alpha}(x),\mu,\partial_\mu w(t,\mu)(x),\partial_x\partial_\mu w(t,\mu)(x)\big)\mu(dx) = 0, \quad (3.3.17)$$

for  $(t,\mu) \in [0,T) \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Under suitable convexity conditions on the function  $a \in A \mapsto \mathbb{H}(t,x,a,\mu,q,M)$ , there exists a minimizer, say  $\hat{a}(t,x,\mu,q,M)$ , to  $\inf_{a \in A} \mathbb{H}(t,x,a,\mu,q,M)$ . Then, an optimal control  $\tilde{\alpha}^*$ in the statement of the verification theorem 3.3.1, obtained from the minimization of the (infinite dimensional) Hamiltonian in (3.3.17), is written merely as  $\tilde{\alpha}^*(t,x,\mu) = \hat{a}(t,x,\mu,\partial_{\mu}w(\mu)(x),\partial_{x}\partial_{\mu}w(\mu)(x))$ , which extends the form discuss in Remark 3.3.3, and says that it depends locally upon the derivatives of the value function. In the more general case when the coefficients depend upon the law of the control, we shall see how one can derive the form of the optimal control for the linear-quadratic problem.

## 3.4 Application: linear-quadratic McKean-Vlasov control problem

We consider a multivariate linear McKean-Vlasov controlled dynamics with coefficients given by

$$b(t, x, \mu, a, \lambda) = b_0(t) + B(t)x + B(t)\bar{\mu} + C(t)a + C(t)\lambda, \sigma(t, x, \mu, a, \lambda) = \sigma_0(t) + D(t)x + \bar{D}(t)\bar{\mu} + F(t)a + \bar{F}(t)\bar{\lambda},$$
(3.4.1)

for  $(t, x, \mu, a, \lambda) \in [0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbb{R}^m \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^m)$ , where we set

$$\bar{\mu} := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} x \mu(dx), \qquad \bar{\lambda} := \int_{\mathbb{R}^m} a \lambda(da).$$

Here  $B, \bar{B}, D, \bar{D}$  are deterministic continuous functions valued in  $\mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$ , and  $C, \bar{C}, F, \bar{F}$  are deterministic continuous functions valued in  $\mathbb{R}^{d \times m}$ , and  $b_0, \sigma_0$  are deterministic continuous function valued in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . The quadratic cost functions are given by

$$\begin{aligned}
f(t, x, \mu, a, \lambda) &= x^{\mathsf{T}} Q_2(t) x + \bar{\mu}^{\mathsf{T}} Q_2(t) \bar{\mu} + a^{\mathsf{T}} R_2(t) a + \lambda^{\mathsf{T}} R_2(t) \lambda + 2x^{\mathsf{T}} M_2(t) a \\
&+ 2 \bar{\mu}^{\mathsf{T}} \bar{M}_2(t) \bar{\lambda} + q_1(t) . x + \bar{q}_1(t) . \bar{\mu} + r_1(t) . a + \bar{r}_1(t) . \bar{\lambda}, \\
g(x, \mu) &= x^{\mathsf{T}} P_2 x + \bar{\mu}^{\mathsf{T}} \bar{P}_2 \bar{\mu} + p_1 . x + \bar{p}_1 . \bar{\mu},
\end{aligned}$$
(3.4.2)

where  $Q_2$ ,  $\bar{Q}_2$  are deterministic continuous functions,  $P_2$ ,  $\bar{P}_2$  are constants valued in  $\mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$ ,  $R_2$ ,  $\bar{R}_2$  are deterministic continuous functions valued in  $\mathbb{R}^{m \times m}$ ,  $M_2$ ,  $\bar{M}_2$  are deterministic continuous functions valued in  $\mathbb{R}^{d \times m}$ ,  $q_1$ ,  $\bar{q}_1$  are deterministic continuous functions functions,  $p_1$ ,  $\bar{p}_1$  are constants valued in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , and  $r_1$ ,  $\bar{r}_1$  are deterministic continuous functions valued in  $\mathbb{R}^m$ . Since f and g are real-valued, we may assume w.l.o.g. that all the matrices  $Q_2$ ,  $\bar{Q}_2$ ,  $R_2$ ,  $\bar{R}_2$ ,  $P_2$ ,  $\bar{P}_2$  are symmetric. This linear quadratic (LQ) framework is similar to the one in [Yon13], and extends the one considered in [BSYY16] where there is no dependence on the law of the control, and the diffusion coefficient is deterministic.

The functions  $\hat{f}$  and  $\hat{g}$  defined in (3.3.7) are then given by

$$\begin{aligned}
\hat{f}(t,\mu,\tilde{\alpha}) &= \operatorname{Var}(\mu)(Q_{2}(t)) + \bar{\mu}^{\mathsf{T}}(Q_{2}(t) + Q_{2}(t))\bar{\mu} \\
&+ \operatorname{Var}(\tilde{\alpha}\star\mu)(R_{2}(t)) + \overline{\tilde{\alpha}\star\mu}^{\mathsf{T}}(R_{2}(t) + \bar{R}_{2}(t))\overline{\tilde{\alpha}\star\mu} \\
&+ 2\bar{\mu}^{\mathsf{T}}(M_{2}(t) + \bar{M}_{2}(t))\overline{\tilde{\alpha}\star\mu} + 2\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}}(x-\bar{\mu})^{\mathsf{T}}M_{2}(t)\tilde{\alpha}(x)\mu(dx) \\
&+ (q_{1}(t) + \bar{q}_{1}(t)).\bar{\mu} + (r_{1}(t) + \bar{r}_{1}(t)).\overline{\tilde{\alpha}\star\mu} \\
\hat{g}(\mu) &= \operatorname{Var}(\mu)(P_{2}) + \bar{\mu}^{\mathsf{T}}(P_{2} + \bar{P}_{2})\bar{\mu} + (p_{1} + \bar{p}_{1}).\bar{\mu},
\end{aligned}$$
(3.4.3)

for any  $(t,\mu) \in [0,T) \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $\tilde{\alpha} \in L(\mathbb{R}^d; A)$  (here with  $A = \mathbb{R}^m$ ), where we set for any  $\Lambda$  in  $\mathbb{S}^d$  (resp. in  $\mathbb{S}^m$ ), and  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  (resp.  $\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^m)$ ):

$$\bar{\mu}_2(\Lambda) := \int x^{\intercal} \Lambda x \mu(dx), \quad \operatorname{Var}(\mu)(\Lambda) := \bar{\mu}_2(\Lambda) - \bar{\mu}^{\intercal} \Lambda \bar{\mu}$$

We look for a value function solution to the Bellman equation (3.3.11) in the form

$$w(t,\mu) = \operatorname{Var}(\mu)(\Lambda(t)) + \bar{\mu}^{\mathsf{T}}\Gamma(t)\bar{\mu} + \gamma(t).\bar{\mu} + \chi(t), \qquad (3.4.4)$$

for some functions  $\Lambda$ ,  $\Gamma \in \mathcal{C}^1([0,T]; \mathbb{S}^d)$ ,  $\gamma \in \mathcal{C}^1([0,T]; \mathbb{R}^d)$ , and  $\chi \in \mathcal{C}^1([0,T]; \mathbb{R})$ . The lifted function of w in (3.4.4) is given by

$$\mathcal{W}(t,X) = \mathbb{E}[X^{\mathsf{T}}\Lambda(t)X] + \mathbb{E}[X]^{\mathsf{T}}(\Gamma(t) - \Lambda(t))\mathbb{E}[X] + \gamma(t).\mathbb{E}[X] + \chi(t),$$

for  $X \in L^2(\mathcal{F}_0; \mathbb{R}^d)$ . By computing for all  $Y \in L^2(\mathcal{F}_0; \mathbb{R}^d)$  the difference

$$\mathcal{W}(t, X+Y) - \mathcal{W}(t, X) = \mathbb{E}\Big[ \Big( 2X^{\mathsf{T}} \Lambda(t) + 2\mathbb{E}[X]^{\mathsf{T}} (\Gamma(t) - \Lambda(t)) + \gamma(t) \Big) \cdot Y \Big] + o(\left\|Y\right\|_{L^2}),$$

we see that  $\mathcal{W}$  is Fréchet differentiable (w.r.t. X) with  $[D\mathcal{W}](t, X)(Y) = \mathbb{E}[(2X^{\intercal}\Lambda(t) + 2\mathbb{E}[X]^{\intercal}(\Gamma(t) - \Lambda(t)) + \gamma(t)).Y]$ . This shows that w lies in  $\mathcal{C}_b^{1,2}([0,T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d))$  with

$$\partial_t w(t,\mu) = \operatorname{Var}(\mu)(\Lambda'(t)) + \bar{\mu}^{\mathsf{T}} \Gamma'(t) \bar{\mu} + \gamma'(t) \bar{\mu} + \chi'(t),$$
  

$$\partial_\mu w(t,\mu)(x) = 2x^{\mathsf{T}} \Lambda(t) + 2\bar{\mu}^{\mathsf{T}} (\Gamma(t) - \Lambda(t)) + \gamma(t),$$
  

$$\partial_x \partial_\mu w(t,\mu)(x) = 2\Lambda(t).$$

Together with the quadratic expression (3.4.3) of  $\hat{f}$ ,  $\hat{g}$ , we then see that w satisfies the Bellman equation (3.3.11) iff

$$Var(\mu)(\Lambda(T)) + \bar{\mu}^{\mathsf{T}} \Gamma(T) \bar{\mu} + \gamma(T) . \bar{\mu} + \chi(T) = Var(\mu)(P_2) + \bar{\mu}^{\mathsf{T}} (P_2 + \bar{P}_2) \bar{\mu} + (p_1 + \bar{p}_1) . \bar{\mu}, \qquad (3.4.5)$$

holds for all  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , and

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Var}(\mu) \big( \Lambda'(t) + Q_{2}(t) + D(t)^{\intercal} \Lambda(t) D(t) + \Lambda(t) B(t) + B(t)^{\intercal} \Lambda(t) \big) + \inf_{\tilde{\alpha} \in L(\mathbb{R}^{d}, A)} G_{t}^{\mu}(\tilde{\alpha}) \\ &+ \bar{\mu}^{\intercal} \Big( \Gamma'(t) + Q_{2}(t) + \bar{Q}_{2}(t) + (D(t) + \bar{D}(t))^{\intercal} \Lambda(t) (D(t) + \bar{D}(t)) \\ &+ \Gamma(t) (B(t) + \bar{B}(t)) + (B(t) + \bar{B}(t))^{\intercal} \Gamma(t) \Big) \bar{\mu} \\ &+ \big( q_{1}(t) + \bar{q}_{1}(t) + \gamma(t) (B(t) + \bar{B}(t)) + 2\sigma_{0}^{\intercal} \Lambda(t) (D(t) + \bar{D}(t)) + 2b_{0}(t)^{\intercal} \Gamma(t) \big) \bar{\mu} \\ &+ \chi'(t) + \gamma(t) . b_{0}(t) + \sigma_{0}(t)^{\intercal} \Lambda(t) b_{0}(t) \end{aligned}$$
(3.4.6)

holds for all  $t \in [0,T), \mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , where the function  $G_t^{\mu}: L^2_{\mu}(A) \supset L(\mathbb{R}^d; A) \to \mathbb{R}$  is defined by

$$G_t^{\mu}(\tilde{\alpha}) = \operatorname{Var}(\tilde{\alpha} \star \mu)(U_t) + \overline{\tilde{\alpha} \star \mu}^{\mathsf{T}} V_t \overline{\tilde{\alpha} \star \mu} + 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (x - \bar{\mu})^{\mathsf{T}} S_t \tilde{\alpha}(x) \mu(dx) + 2\bar{\mu}^{\mathsf{T}} Z_t \overline{\tilde{\alpha} \star \mu} + Y_t . \overline{\tilde{\alpha} \star \mu},$$
(3.4.7)

and we set  $U_t = U(t, \Lambda(t)), V_t = V(t, \Lambda(t)), S_t = S(t, \Lambda(t)), Z_t = Z(t, \Lambda(t), \Gamma(t)), Y_t = Y(t, \Gamma(t), \gamma(t))$  with

$$\begin{cases} U(t,\Lambda(t)) = F(t)^{\intercal}\Lambda(t)F(t) + R_{2}(t), \\ V(t,\Lambda(t)) = (F(t) + \bar{F}(t))^{\intercal}\Lambda(t)(F(t) + \bar{F}(t)) + R_{2}(t) + \bar{R}_{2}(t), \\ S(t,\Lambda(t)) = D(t)^{\intercal}\Lambda(t)F(t) + \Lambda(t)C(t) + M_{2}(t), \\ Z(t,\Lambda(t),\Gamma(t)) = (D(t) + \bar{D}(t))^{\intercal}\Lambda(t)(F(t) + \bar{F}(t)) + \Gamma(t)(C(t) + \bar{C}(t)) + M_{2}(t) + \bar{M}_{2}(t) \\ Y(t,\Gamma(t),\gamma(t)) = (C(t) + \bar{C}(t))^{\intercal}\gamma(t) + r_{1}(t) + \bar{r}_{1}(t) + 2(F(t) + \bar{F}(t))^{\intercal}\Lambda(t)\sigma_{0}(t). \end{cases}$$

$$(3.4.8)$$

We now search for the infimum of the function  $G_t^{\mu}$ . After some straightforward calculation, we derive the Gateaux derivative of  $G_t^{\mu}$  at  $\tilde{\alpha}$  in the direction  $\beta \in L^2_{\mu}(A)$ , which is given by:

$$DG_t^{\mu}(\tilde{\alpha},\beta) := \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{G_t^{\mu}(\tilde{\alpha}+\varepsilon\beta) - G_t^{\mu}(\tilde{\alpha})}{\varepsilon} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \dot{g}_t^{\mu}(x,\tilde{\alpha}) \cdot \beta(x) \mu(dx)$$

with

$$\dot{g}_t^{\mu}(x,\tilde{\alpha}) = 2U_t\tilde{\alpha} + 2(V_t - U_t)\overline{\tilde{\alpha}\star\mu} + 2S_t^{\intercal}(x-\bar{\mu}) + 2Z_t^{\intercal}\bar{\mu} + Y_t.$$

Suppose that the symmetric matrices  $U_t$  and  $V_t$  in (3.4.8) are positive, hence invertible (this will be discussed later on). Then, the function  $G_t^{\mu}$  is convex and coercive on the Hilbert space  $L^2_{\mu}(A)$ , and attains its infimum at some  $\tilde{\alpha} = \tilde{\alpha}^*(t, ., \mu)$  s.t.  $DG_t^{\mu}(\tilde{\alpha}; .)$  vanishes, i.e.  $\dot{g}_t^{\mu}(x, \tilde{\alpha}^*(t, ., \mu)) = 0$  for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ , which gives:

$$\tilde{\alpha}^{*}(t,x,\mu) = -U_{t}^{-1}S_{t}^{\mathsf{T}}(x-\bar{\mu}) - V_{t}^{-1}Z_{t}^{\mathsf{T}}\bar{\mu} - \frac{1}{2}V_{t}^{-1}Y_{t}.$$
(3.4.9)

It is clear that  $\tilde{\alpha}^*(t,.,\mu)$  lies in  $L(\mathbb{R}^d; A)$ , and so after some straightforward caculation:

$$\inf_{\tilde{\alpha} \in L(R^{d},A)} G_{t}^{\mu}(\tilde{\alpha}) = G_{t}^{\mu}(\tilde{\alpha}^{*}(t,.,\mu)) = -\operatorname{Var}(\mu) \left( S_{t} U_{t}^{-1} S_{t}^{\intercal} \right) - \bar{\mu}^{\intercal} \left( Z_{t} V_{t}^{-1} Z_{t}^{\intercal} \right) \bar{\mu} \\ - Y_{t}^{\intercal} V_{t}^{-1} Z_{t}^{\intercal} \bar{\mu} - \frac{1}{4} Y_{t}^{\intercal} V_{t}^{-1} Y_{t}.$$

Plugging the above expression in (3.4.6), we observe that the relation (3.4.5)-(3.4.6), hence the Bellman equation, is satisfied by identifying the terms in Var( $\mu$ )(.),  $\bar{\mu}^{\dagger}$ (.) $\bar{\mu}$ ,  $\bar{\mu}$ , which leads to the system of ordinary differential equations (ODEs) for ( $\Lambda, \Gamma, \gamma, \chi$ ):

$$\begin{cases} \Lambda'(t) + Q_2(t) + D(t)^{\intercal} \Lambda(t) D(t) + \Lambda(t) B(t) + B(t)^{\intercal} \Lambda(t) \\ -S(t, \Lambda(t)) U(t, \Lambda(t))^{-1} S(t, \Lambda(t))^{\intercal} = 0, \\ \Lambda(T) = P_2, \end{cases}$$
(3.4.10)

$$\begin{cases} \Gamma'(t) + Q_2(t) + \bar{Q}_2(t) + (D(t) + \bar{D}(t))^{\intercal} \Lambda(t)(D(t) + \bar{D}(t)) + \Gamma(t)(B(t) + \bar{B}(t)) \\ + (B(t) + \bar{B}(t))^{\intercal} \Gamma(t) - Z(t, \Lambda(t), \Gamma(t))V(t, \Lambda(t))^{-1} Z(t, \Lambda(t), \Gamma(t))^{\intercal} = 0, \quad (3.4.11) \\ \Gamma(T) = P_2 + \bar{P}_2, \end{cases}$$

$$\begin{cases} \gamma'(t) + (B(t) + \bar{B}(t))^{\intercal} \gamma(t) - Z(t, \Lambda(t), \Gamma(t)) V(t, \Lambda(t))^{-1} Y(t, \Gamma(t), \gamma(t)) \\ + q_1(t) + \bar{q}_1(t) + 2(D(t) + \bar{D}(t))^{\intercal} \Lambda(t) \sigma_0(t) + 2\Gamma(t) b_0(t) = 0, \\ \gamma(T) = p_1 + \bar{p}_1 \end{cases}$$
(3.4.12)

$$\begin{cases} \chi'(t) - \frac{1}{4}Y(t,\Gamma(t),\gamma(t))^{\intercal}V(t,\Lambda(t))^{-1}Y(t,\Gamma(t),\gamma(t)) \\ + \gamma(t).b_0(t) + \sigma_0(t)^{\intercal}\Lambda(t)\sigma_0(t) = 0, \\ \chi(T) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(3.4.13)

Therefore, the resolution of the Bellman equation in the LQ framework is reduced to the resolution of the Riccati equations (3.4.10) and (3.4.11) for  $\Lambda$  and  $\Gamma$ , and then given  $(\Lambda, \Gamma)$ , to the resolution of the linear ODEs (3.4.12) and (3.4.13) for  $\gamma$  and  $\chi$ . Suppose that there exists a solution  $(\Lambda, \Gamma) \in \mathcal{C}^1([0,T];\mathbb{S}^d) \times \mathcal{C}^1([0,T];\mathbb{S}^d)$  to (3.4.10)-(3.4.11) s.t.  $(U_t, V_t)$  in (3.4.8) lies in  $\mathbb{S}_{>+}^m \times \mathbb{S}_{>+}^m$  for all  $t \in [0,T]$ (see Remark 3.4.1). Then, the above calculations are justified a posteriori, and by noting also that the mapping  $(t, x, \mu) \mapsto \tilde{\alpha}^*(t, x, \mu) \in Lip([0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d); A)$ , we deduce by the verification theorem that the value function v is equal to w in (3.4.4) with  $(\Lambda, \Gamma, \gamma, \chi)$  solution to (3.4.10)-(3.4.11)-(3.4.12)-(3.4.13). Moreover, the optimal control is given in feedback form from (3.4.9) by

$$\alpha_t^* = \tilde{\alpha}^*(t, X_t^*, \mathbb{P}_{X_t^*}) = -U_t^{-1} S_t^{\mathsf{T}}(X_t^* - \mathbb{E}[X_t^*]) - V_t^{-1} Z_t^{\mathsf{T}} \mathbb{E}[X_t^*] - \frac{1}{2} V_t^{-1} Y_t, \qquad (3.4.14)$$

where  $X^*$  is the state process controlled by  $\alpha^*$ .

**Remark 3.4.1.** In the case where  $M_2 = \overline{M}_2 = 0$  (i.e. no crossing term between the state and the control in the quadratic cost function f), it is shown in Proposition 3.1 and 3.2 in [Yon13] that under the condition

$$P_{2} \geq 0, P_{2} + P_{2} \geq 0, \qquad Q_{2}(t) \geq 0, Q_{2}(t) + Q_{2}(t) \geq 0, R_{2}(t) \geq \delta I_{m}, R_{2}(t) + \bar{R}_{2}(t) \geq \delta I_{m}$$
(3.4.15)

for some  $\delta > 0$ , the Riccati equations (3.4.10)-(3.4.11) admit unique solutions  $(\Lambda, \Gamma) \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; \mathbb{S}^d_+) \times \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; \mathbb{S}^d_+)$ , and then  $U_t, V_t$  in (3.4.8) are symmetric positive definite matrices, i.e. lie in  $\mathbb{S}^m_{>+}$  for all  $t \in [0, T]$ . In this case, we retrieve the expressions (3.4.14) of the optimal control in feedback form obtained in [Yon13].

We shall see in the next two paragraphs, some other examples arising from finance with explicit solutions where condition (3.4.15) is not satisfied.

## 3.4.1 Mean-variance portfolio selection

The mean-variance problem consists in minimizing a cost functional of the form:

$$J(\alpha) = \frac{\eta}{2} \operatorname{Var}(X_T) - \mathbb{E}[X_T]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}[\frac{\eta}{2} (X_T)^2 - X_T] - \frac{\eta}{2} (\mathbb{E}[X_T])^2$$

for some  $\eta > 0$ , with a dynamics for the wealth process  $X = (X^{\alpha})$  controlled by the amount  $\alpha_t$  valued in  $A = \mathbb{R}^d$  invested in d risky stocks at time t:

$$dX_t = r(t)X_t dt + \alpha_t^{\mathsf{T}}(\rho(t)dt + \vartheta(t)dB_t), \quad X_0 = x_0 \in \mathbb{R},$$

where r is the interest rate,  $\rho$  and  $\vartheta > 0$  are the excess rate of return (w.r.t. the interest rate) valued in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ and volatility of the stock price valued in  $\mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$ , and we denote by  $\Sigma(t) = \vartheta(t)\vartheta(t)^{\intercal}$ , called the covariance matrix of the stock price, and these deterministic functions are assumed to be continuous. This model fits into the LQ framework (3.4.1)-(3.4.2) of the McKean-Vlasov problem, with a linear controlled dynamics that does not have mean-field interaction:

$$b_0 = 0, \ B(t) = r(t), \ B = 0, \ C(t) = \rho(t), \ C = 0,$$
  

$$\sigma_0 = D = \bar{D} = 0, \ F(t) = \vartheta(t), \ \bar{F} = 0,$$
  

$$Q_2 = \bar{Q}_2 = M_2 = \bar{M}_2 = R_2 = \bar{R}_2 = 0,$$
  

$$q_1 = \bar{q}_1 = r_1 = \bar{r}_1 = 0, \ P_2 = \frac{\eta}{2}, \ \bar{P}_2 = -\frac{\eta}{2}, \ p_1 = 0, \ \bar{p}_1 = -1.$$

The Riccati system (3.4.10)-(3.4.11)-(3.4.12)-(3.4.13) for  $(\Lambda(t), \Gamma(t), \gamma(t), \chi(t))$  is written in this case as

$$\begin{cases} \Lambda'(t) - \left(\rho(t)^{\mathsf{T}}\Sigma(t)^{-1}\rho(t) - 2r(t)\right)\Lambda(t) = 0, & \Lambda(T) = \frac{\eta}{2}, \\ \Gamma'(t) - \rho(t)^{\mathsf{T}}\Sigma(t)^{-1}\rho(t)\frac{\Gamma^{2}(t)}{\Lambda(t)} + 2r(t)\Gamma(t) = 0, & \Gamma(T) = 0, \\ \gamma'(t) + r(t)\gamma(t) - \rho(t)^{\mathsf{T}}\Sigma(t)^{-1}\rho(t)\frac{\Gamma(t)}{\Lambda(t)} = 0, & \gamma(T) = -1, \\ \chi'(t) - \rho(t)^{\mathsf{T}}\Sigma(t)^{-1}\rho(t)\frac{\gamma^{2}(t)}{4\Lambda(t)} = 0, & \chi(T) = 0, \end{cases}$$
(3.4.16)

whose explicit solution is given by

$$\begin{cases} \Lambda(t) &= \frac{\eta}{2} \exp\left(\int_{t}^{T} 2r(s) - \rho(s)^{\mathsf{T}} \Sigma(s)^{-1} \rho(s) \, ds\right), \\ \Gamma(t) &= 0, \\ \gamma(t) &= -\exp\left(\int_{t}^{T} r(s) ds\right) \\ \chi(t) &= \frac{1}{4} \exp\left(\int_{t}^{T} \rho(s)^{\mathsf{T}} \Sigma(s)^{-1} \rho(s) ds\right) - \frac{1}{4}. \end{cases}$$
(3.4.17)

Although the condition (3.4.15) is not satisfied, we see that  $(U_t, V_t)$  in (3.4.8), which are here explicitly given by  $U_t = V_t = \Sigma(t)\Lambda(t)$ , are positive definite, and this validates our calculations for the verification theorem. Notice also that the functions  $(Z_t, Y_t)$  in (3.4.8) are explicitly given by  $Z_t = 0$ ,  $Y_t = \rho(t)\gamma(t)$ . Therefore, the optimal control is given in feedback form from (3.4.14) by

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_t^* &= \tilde{\alpha}^*(t, X_t^*, \mathbb{P}_{X_t^*}) \\ &= -\Sigma(t)^{-1}\rho(t)(X_t^* - \mathbb{E}[X_t^*]) + \frac{1}{\eta}\Sigma(t)^{-1}\rho(t)\exp\Big(\int_t^T \rho(s)^{\mathsf{T}}\Sigma(s)^{-1}\rho(s) - r(s) \, ds\Big), (3.4.18) \end{aligned}$$

where  $X^*$  is the optimal wealth process with portfolio strategy  $\alpha^*$ , hence with mean process governed by

$$d\mathbb{E}[X_t^*] = r(t)\mathbb{E}[X_t^*]dt + \frac{1}{\eta}\rho(t)^{\mathsf{T}}\Sigma(t)^{-1}\rho(t)\exp\Big(\int_t^T \rho(s)^{\mathsf{T}}\Sigma(s)^{-1}\rho(s) - r(s)\,ds\Big)dt,$$

and explicitly given by

$$\mathbb{E}[X_t^*] = x_0 e^{\int_0^t r(s)ds} + \frac{1}{\eta} \exp\Big(\int_t^T \rho(s)^{\mathsf{T}} \Sigma(s)^{-1} \rho(s) - r(s) \, ds\Big) \Big(\exp\Big(\int_0^t \rho(s)^{\mathsf{T}} \Sigma(s)^{-1} \rho(s) ds\Big) - 1\Big).$$

Plugging into (3.4.18), we get the optimal control for the mean-variance portfolio problem

$$\alpha_t^* = \Sigma(t)^{-1} \rho(t) \Big[ x_0 e^{\int_0^t r(s) ds} + \frac{1}{\eta} \exp\Big(\int_0^T \rho(s)^{\mathsf{T}} \Sigma(s)^{-1} \rho(s) ds - \int_t^T r(s) ds\Big) - X_t^* \Big],$$

and retrieve the closed-form expression of the optimal control found in [LZ00], [AD10] or [FL16] by different approaches.

## 3.4.2 Interbank systemic risk model

We consider a model of interbank borrowing and lending studied in [CFS15] where the log-monetary reserve of each bank in the asymptotics when the number of banks tend to infinity, is governed by the McKean-Vlasov equation:

$$dX_t = \left[\kappa(\mathbb{E}[X_t] - X_t) + \alpha_t\right]dt + \sigma dB_t, \quad X_0 = x_0 \in \mathbb{R}.$$
(3.4.19)

Here,  $\kappa \geq 0$  is the rate of mean-reversion in the interaction from borrowing and lending between the banks, and  $\sigma > 0$  is the volatility coefficient of the bank reserve, assumed to be constant. Moreover, all banks can control their rate of borrowing/lending to a central bank with the same policy  $\alpha$  in order to minimize a cost functional of the form

$$J(\alpha) = \mathbb{E}\Big[\int_0^T \Big(\frac{1}{2}\alpha_t^2 - q\alpha_t(\mathbb{E}[X_t] - X_t) + \frac{\eta}{2}(\mathbb{E}[X_t] - X_t)^2\Big)dt + \frac{c}{2}(\mathbb{E}[X_T] - X_T)^2\Big],$$

where q > 0 is a positive parameter for the incentive to borrowing  $(\alpha_t > 0)$  or lending  $(\alpha_t < 0)$ , and  $\eta > 0$ , c > 0 are positive parameters for penalizing departure from the average. This model fits into the LQ McKean-Vlasov framework (3.4.1)-(3.4.2) with d = m = 1 and

$$b_0 = 0, \ B = -\kappa, \ \bar{B} = \kappa, \ C = 1, \ \bar{C} = 0,$$
  
$$\sigma_0 = \sigma, \ D = \bar{D} = F = \bar{F} = 0,$$
  
$$Q_2 = \frac{\eta}{2}, \ \bar{Q}_2 = -\frac{\eta}{2}, \ R_2 = \frac{1}{2}, \ \bar{R}_2 = 0, \ M_2 = \frac{q}{2}, \ \bar{M}_2 = -\frac{q}{2},$$
  
$$q_1 = \bar{q}_1 = r_1 = \bar{r}_1 = 0, \quad P_2 = \frac{c}{2}, \ \bar{P}_2 = -\frac{c}{2}, \ p_1 = \bar{p}_1 = 0.$$

#### 3.5. VISCOSITY SOLUTIONS

The Riccati system (3.4.10)-(3.4.11)-(3.4.12)-(3.4.13) for  $(\Lambda(t), \Gamma(t), \gamma(t), \chi(t))$  is written in this case as

$$\begin{cases} \Lambda'(t) - 2(\kappa + q)\Lambda(t) - 2\Lambda^2(t) - \frac{1}{2}(q^2 - \eta) = 0, & \Lambda(T) = \frac{c}{2}, \\ \Gamma'(t) - 2\Gamma^2(t) = 0, & \Gamma(T) = 0, \\ \gamma'(t) - 2\gamma(t)\Gamma(t) = 0, & \gamma(T) = 0, \\ \chi'(t) + \sigma^2\Lambda(t) - \frac{1}{2}\gamma^2(t) = 0, & \chi(T) = 0, \end{cases}$$
(3.4.20)

whose explicit solution is given by  $\Gamma = \gamma = 0$ , and

$$\begin{split} \chi(t) &= \sigma^2 \int_t^T \Lambda(s) ds, \\ \Lambda(t) &= \frac{1}{2} \frac{(q - \eta^2) \left( e^{(\delta^+ - \delta^-)(T-t)} - 1 \right) - c \left( \delta^+ e^{(\delta^+ - \delta^-)(T-t)} - \delta^- \right)}{\delta^- e^{(\delta^+ - \delta^-)(T-t)} - \delta^+ \right) - c e^{(\delta^+ - \delta^-)(T-t)} - 1}, \end{split}$$

where we set

$$\delta^{\pm} = -(\kappa + q) \pm \sqrt{(\kappa + q)^2 + (\eta - q^2)}.$$

Moreover, the functions  $(U_t, V_t, Z_t, Y_t)$  in (3.4.8) are explicitly given by:  $U_t = V_t = \frac{1}{2}$  (hence > 0),  $S_t = \Lambda(t) + \frac{q}{2}$ ,  $Z_t = \Gamma(t) = 0$ ,  $Y_t = \gamma(t) = 0$ . Therefore, the optimal control is given in feedback form from (3.4.14) by

$$\alpha_t^* = \tilde{\alpha}^*(t, X_t^*, \mathbb{P}_{X_t^*}) = -(2\Lambda(t) + q)(X_t^* - \mathbb{E}[X_t^*]), \qquad (3.4.21)$$

where  $X^*$  is the optimal log-monetary reserve controlled by the rate of borrowing/lending  $\alpha^*$ . We then retrieve the expression found in [CFS15] by sending the number of banks N to infinity in their formula for the optimal control. Actually, from (3.4.19), we have  $d\mathbb{E}[X_t^*] = \mathbb{E}[\alpha_t^*]dt$ , while  $\mathbb{E}[\alpha_t^*] = 0$  from (3.4.21). We conclude that the optimal rate of borrowing/lending is equal to

$$\alpha_t^* = -(2\Lambda(t) + q)(X_t^* - x_0), \quad 0 \le t \le T.$$

## 3.5 Viscosity solutions

In general, there are no smooth solutions to the HJB equation, and in the spirit of HJB equation for standard stochastic control, we shall introduce in this section a notion of viscosity solutions for the Bellman equation (3.3.11) in the Wasserstein space of probability measures  $\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . We adopt the approach in [Lio12], and detailed in [Car12], which consists, after the lifting identification between measures and random variables, in working in the Hilbert space  $L^2(\mathcal{F}_0; \mathbb{R}^d)$  instead of working in the Wasserstein space  $\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , in order to use the various tools developed for viscosity solutions in Hilbert spaces, in particular in our context, for second order Hamilton-Jacobi equations.

Let us rewrite the Bellman equation (3.3.11) in the "Hamiltonian" form:

$$\begin{cases} -\frac{\partial v}{\partial t} + H(t,\mu,\partial_{\mu}v(t,\mu),\partial_{x}\partial_{\mu}v(t,\mu)) &= 0 \quad \text{on } [0,T) \times \mathcal{P}_{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d}), \\ v(T,.) &= \hat{g} \quad \text{on } \mathcal{P}_{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d}) \end{cases}$$
(3.5.1)

where H is the function defined by

$$H(t,\mu,p,\Gamma) = -\inf_{\tilde{\alpha}\in L(\mathbb{R}^{d};A)} \Big[ < f(t,.,\tilde{\alpha}(.), Id\tilde{\alpha}\star\mu) + p(.).b(t,.,\tilde{\alpha}(.), Id\tilde{\alpha}\star\mu) \\ + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr}\big(\Gamma(.)\sigma\sigma^{\mathsf{T}}(t,.,\tilde{\alpha}(.), Id\tilde{\alpha}\star\mu)\big), \mu > \Big],$$
(3.5.2)

for  $(t,\mu) \in [0,T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d), (p,\Gamma) \in L^2_\mu(\mathbb{R}^d) \times L^\infty_\mu(\mathbb{S}^d).$ 

We identify v and its lifted version by using the same notation  $v(t, \mathcal{L}(\xi)) = v(t, \xi)$ , and then consider the "lifted" Bellman equation in  $[0, T] \times L^2(\mathcal{F}_0; \mathbb{R}^d)$ :

$$\begin{cases} -\frac{\partial v}{\partial t} + \mathcal{H}(t,\xi,Dv(t,\xi),D^2v(t,\xi)) = 0 \quad \text{on } [0,T) \times L^2(\mathcal{F}_0;\mathbb{R}^d), \\ v(T,\xi) = \hat{G}(\xi) := \mathbb{E}[g(\xi,\mathbb{P}_{\xi})], \quad \xi \in L^2(\mathcal{F}_0;\mathbb{R}^d), \end{cases}$$
(3.5.3)

where  $\mathcal{H}: [0,T] \times L^2(\mathcal{F}_0; \mathbb{R}^d) \times L^2(\mathcal{F}_0; \mathbb{R}^d) \times S(L^2(\mathcal{F}_0; \mathbb{R}^d)) \to \mathbb{R}$  is defined by

$$\mathcal{H}(t,\xi,P,Q) = -\inf_{\tilde{\alpha}\in L(\mathbb{R}^{d};A)} \left\{ \mathbb{E} \Big[ f(t,\xi,\tilde{\alpha}(\xi), Id\tilde{\alpha}\star\mathbb{P}_{\xi}) + P.b(t,\xi,\tilde{\alpha}(\xi), Id\tilde{\alpha}\star\mathbb{P}_{\xi}) + \frac{1}{2}Q\big(\sigma(t,\xi,\tilde{\alpha}(\xi), Id\tilde{\alpha}\star\mathbb{P}_{\xi})N\big).\big(\sigma(t,\xi,\tilde{\alpha}(\xi), Id\tilde{\alpha}\star\mathbb{P}_{\xi})N\big)\Big] \right\},$$

$$(3.5.4)$$

with  $N \in L^2(\mathcal{F}_0; \mathbb{R}^n)$  of zero mean, unit variance, and independent of  $\xi$ . Observe that when  $v(t, \mu)$  and  $v(t,\xi)$  are smooth functions respectively in  $[0,T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and  $[0,T] \times L^2(\mathcal{F}_0; \mathbb{R}^d)$ , linked by the lifting relation  $v(t,\xi) = v(t,\mathbb{P}_{\xi})$ , then from the relations (1.2.1)-(1.2.2),  $v(t,\mu)$  is solution to the "lifted" Bellman equation (3.5.1) iff  $v(t,\xi)$  with  $\mathcal{L}(\xi) = \mu$  is solution to the Bellman equation (3.5.3). Let us mention that the lifted Bellman equation was also derived in [BFY15] in the case where  $\sigma = \sigma(x)$  is not controlled and does not depend on the distribution of the state process, and there is no dependence on the marginal distribution of the control process on the coefficients b and f.

It is then natural to define viscosity solutions for the Bellman equation (3.5.1) (hence (3.3.11)) from viscosity solutions to (3.5.3). As usual, we say that a function u (resp.  $\tilde{u}$ ) is locally bounded in on  $[0,T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  (resp.  $[0,T] \times L^2(\mathcal{F}_0;\mathbb{R}^d)$ ) if it is bounded on bounded subsets of  $[0,T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  (resp.  $[0,T] \times L^2(\mathcal{F}_0;\mathbb{R}^d)$ ), and we denote by  $u^*$  (resp.  $\tilde{u}^*$ ) its upper semicontinuous envelope, and by  $u_*$ (resp.  $\tilde{u}_*$ ) its lower semicontinuous envelope. Similarly as in [GNT08], we define the set  $\mathcal{C}^2_\ell([0,T] \times L^2(\mathcal{F}_0;\mathbb{R}^d))$  of test functions for the lifted Bellman equation, as the set of real-valued continuous functions  $\varphi$  on  $[0,T] \times L^2(\mathcal{F}_0;\mathbb{R}^d)$  which are continuously differentiable in  $t \in [0,T)$ , twice continuously Fréchet differentiable on  $L^2(\mathcal{F}_0;\mathbb{R}^d)$ .

**Definition 3.5.1.** We say that a locally bounded function  $u : [0,T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \to \mathbb{R}$  is a viscosity (sub, super) solution to (3.5.1) if the lifted function  $\tilde{u} : [0,T] \times L^2(\mathcal{F}_0;\mathbb{R}^d) \to \mathbb{R}$  defined by

$$\tilde{u}(t,\xi) = u(t,\mathbb{P}_{\xi}), \quad (t,\xi) \in [0,T] \times L^2(\mathcal{F}_0;\mathbb{R}^d),$$

is a viscosity (sub, super) solution to the lifted Bellman equation (3.5.3), that is:

(i)  $\tilde{u}^*(T,.) \leq \hat{G}$ , and for any test function  $\varphi \in C^2_{\ell}([0,T] \times L^2(\mathcal{F}_0;\mathbb{R}^d))$  such that  $\tilde{u}^* - \varphi$  has a maximum at  $(t_0,\xi_0) \in [0,T) \times L^2(\mathcal{F}_0;\mathbb{R}^d)$ , one has

$$-\partial_t \varphi(t_0,\xi_0) + \mathcal{H}(t_0,\xi_0,D\varphi(t_0,\xi_0),D^2\varphi(t_0,\xi_0)) \leq 0.$$

(ii)  $\tilde{u}_*(T,.) \geq \hat{G}$ , and for any test function  $\varphi \in C^2_{\ell}([0,T] \times L^2(\mathcal{F}_0; \mathbb{R}^d))$  such that  $\tilde{u}_* - \varphi$  has a minimum at  $(t_0, \xi_0) \in [0, T) \times L^2(\mathcal{F}_0; \mathbb{R}^d)$ , one has

$$-\partial_t \varphi(t_0,\xi_0) + \mathcal{H}(t_0,\xi_0,D\varphi(t_0,\xi_0),D^2\varphi(t_0,\xi_0)) \geq 0.$$

The main goal of this section is to prove the viscosity characterization of the value function v in (3.3.8) to the Bellman equation (3.3.11), hence equivalently the viscosity characterization of the lifted value function  $v : [0, T] \times L^2(\mathcal{F}_0; \mathbb{R}^d)$  via the lifted identification

$$v(t,\xi) = v(t,\mathbb{P}_{\varepsilon}), \quad \xi \in L^2(\mathcal{F}_0;\mathbb{R}^d),$$

58
#### 3.5. VISCOSITY SOLUTIONS

to the lifted Bellman equation (3.5.3). We shall strengthen condition (H1) by assuming in addition that  $b, \sigma$  are uniformly continuous in t, and bounded in  $(a, \lambda)$ :

(H1') There exists some constant  $C_{b,\sigma} > 0$  s.t. for all  $t, t' \in [0,T], x, x' \in \mathbb{R}^d, a, a' \in A, \lambda, \lambda' \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d \times A), \lambda' \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{$ 

$$|b(t, x, a, \lambda) - b(t', x', a', \lambda')| + |\sigma(t, x, a, \lambda) - \sigma(t', x', a', \lambda')$$
  

$$\leq C_{b,\sigma} [m_{b,\sigma}(|t - t'|) + |x - x'| + |a - a'| + \mathcal{W}_2(\lambda, \lambda')],$$

for some modulus  $m_{b,\sigma}$  (i.e.  $m_{b,\sigma}(\tau) \to 0$  when  $\tau$  goes to zero) and

$$|b(t, 0, a, \delta_{(0,0)})| + |\sigma(t, 0, a, \delta_{(0,0)})| \leq C_{b,\sigma}$$

We also strenghten condition **(H2)** by making additional (uniform) continuity assumptions on the running and terminal cost functions, and boundedness conditions in  $(a, \lambda)$ :

(H2') (i) g is continuous on  $\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and there exists some constant  $C_g > 0$  s.t. for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,

$$|g(x,\mu)| \leq C_g (1+|x|^2+||\mu||_2^2).$$

(ii) There exists some constant  $C_f > 0$  s.t. for all  $t \in [0,T]$ ,  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $a \in A$ ,  $\lambda \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d \times A)$ ,

$$|f(t, x, a, \lambda)| \leq C_f (1 + |x|^2 + ||\lambda||_2^2),$$

and some modulus  $m_f$  (i.e.  $m_f(\tau) \to 0$  when  $\tau$  goes to zero) s.t. for all  $t, t' \in [0, T], x, x' \in \mathbb{R}^d, a \in A, \lambda, \lambda' \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d \times A),$ 

$$|f(t,x,a,\lambda) - f(t',x',a,\lambda')| \leq m_f \big(|t-t'| + |x-x'| + \mathcal{W}_2(\lambda,\lambda')\big).$$

The boundedness condition in (H1')-(H2') of  $b, \sigma, f$  w.r.t.  $(a, \lambda) \in A \times \mathcal{P}_2(A)$  is typically satisfied when A is bounded. Under (H1'), we get by standard arguments

$$\sup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \mathbb{E} \Big[ \sup_{t \le s \le T} |X_s^{t,\xi}|^2 \Big] < \infty,$$

for any  $t \in [0, T]$ ,  $\xi \in L^2(\mathcal{F}_t; \mathbb{R}^d)$ , which shows under the quadratic growth condition of g and f in **(H2')** (uniformly in a) that v also satisfy a quadratic growth condition: there exists some positive constant C s.t.

$$\begin{cases} |v(t,\mu)| \leq C(1+\|\mu\|_{2}^{2}), & (t,\mu) \in [0,T] \times \mathcal{P}_{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d}), \\ |v(t,\xi)| \leq C(1+\mathbb{E}|\xi|^{2}), & (t,\xi) \in [0,T] \times L^{2}(\mathcal{F}_{0};\mathbb{R}^{d}), \end{cases}$$
(3.5.5)

and are thus in particular locally bounded.

We first state a flow continuity property of the marginal distribution of the controlled state process, and the continuity property of the value function. Indeed, from standard estimates on the state process under **(H1')** one easily checks (see also Lemma 3.1 in [BLPR17]) that there exists some positive constant C (independent of  $t, \mu, \alpha$ ), such that for all  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}, t, t' \in [0, T], t \leq s \leq T, t' \leq s' \leq T, \mu = \mathbb{P}_{\xi}, \mu' = \mathbb{P}_{\xi'} \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ :

$$\mathbb{E} |X_{s}^{t,\xi} - X_{s'}^{t',\xi'}|^{2} \leq C (1 + \mathbb{E} |\xi|^{2} + \mathbb{E} |\xi'|^{2}) (|t - t'| + |s - s'| + \mathbb{E} |\xi - \xi'|^{2}),$$
(3.5.6)

and so from the definition of the 2-Wasserstein distance

$$\|\mathbb{P}_{s}^{t,\mu}\|_{2} \leq C(1+\|\mu\|_{2}) \tag{3.5.7}$$

$$\mathcal{W}_{2}(\mathbb{P}^{t,\mu}_{s},\mathbb{P}^{t',\mu'}_{s'}) \leq C\left(1+\|\mu\|_{2}+\|\mu'\|_{2}\right)\left(|t-t'|^{\frac{1}{2}}+|s-s'|^{\frac{1}{2}}+\mathcal{W}_{2}(\mu,\mu')\right)$$
(3.5.8)

Now from the definition of  $v(t, \mu)$  in (3.3.8), together with (3.5.7), (3.5.8) and the growth condition on f in **(H2')**, we have for all  $0 \le t \le t' \le T$ ,  $\mu, \mu' \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,

$$\begin{split} |v(t,\mu) - v(t',\mu')| &\leq \sup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} |J(t,\mu,\alpha) - J(t',\mu',\alpha)| \\ &\leq \sup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \{ \int_{t}^{t'} |\hat{f}(s,\mathbb{P}^{t,\mu}_{s},\tilde{\alpha}(s,\cdot,\mathbb{P}^{t,\mu}_{s}))| ds \\ &+ \int_{t'}^{T} |\hat{f}(s,\mathbb{P}^{t,\mu}_{s},\tilde{\alpha}(s,\cdot,\mathbb{P}^{t,\mu}_{s}) - \hat{f}(s,\mathbb{P}^{t',\mu'}_{s},\tilde{\alpha}(s,\cdot,\mathbb{P}^{t',\mu'}_{s}))| ds + |\hat{g}(\mathbb{P}^{t,\mu}_{T}) - \hat{g}(\mathbb{P}^{t',\mu'}_{T})| \} \\ &\leq C(t'-t)(1 + \sup_{t \leq s \leq t'} ||\mathbb{P}^{t,\mu}_{s}||_{2}) \\ &+ Cm_{f} (\sup_{t' \leq s \leq T} \mathcal{W}_{2}(\mathbb{P}^{t,\mu}_{s},\mathbb{P}^{t',\mu'}_{s})) + |\hat{g}(\mathbb{P}^{t,\mu}_{T}) - \hat{g}(\mathbb{P}^{t',\mu'}_{T})| \\ &\leq C(t'-t)(1 + ||\mu||_{2}) + Cm_{f} ((1 + ||\mu||_{2} + ||\mu'||_{2})(|t-t'|^{\frac{1}{2}} + \mathcal{W}_{2}(\mu,\mu'))) \\ &+ |\hat{g}(\mathbb{P}^{t,\mu}_{T}) - \hat{g}(\mathbb{P}^{t',\mu'}_{T})|. \end{split}$$

By the continuity assumption on g together with the growth condition on g in (**H2**'), which allows to use the dominated converge theorem, we deduce from (3.5.8) that  $\hat{g}(\mathbb{P}_s^{t,\mu})$  converges to  $\hat{g}(\mathbb{P}_s^{t',\mu'})$  when  $t \nearrow t'$  uniformly in  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ . Then we get the desired continuity property of the value function  $v(t,\mu)$ , i.e.  $v^*(t,\mu) = v_*(t,\mu) = v(t,\mu)$ , and equivalently  $v^*(T,\xi) = v_*(T,\xi) = v(T,\xi)$ .

The next result states the viscosity property of the value function to the Bellman equation as a consequence of the dynamic programming principle (3.3.10).

#### **Proposition 3.5.1.** The value function v is a viscosity solution to the Bellman equation (3.3.11).

**Proof.** Let us first reformulate the dynamic programming principle (DPP) of Theorem 3.3.1 for the value function viewed as a function on  $[0,T] \times L^2(\mathcal{F}_0; \mathbb{R}^d)$ . For this, we take a copy  $\tilde{B}$  of B on the probability space  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_0, \mathbb{P})$ , and given  $(t, \xi) \in [0, T] \times L^2(\mathcal{F}_0; \mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ , we consider the solution  $\tilde{X}_s^{t,\xi,\alpha}$ ,  $t \leq s \leq T$ , to the McKean-Vlasov equation

$$\begin{split} \tilde{X}^{t,\xi}_s &= \xi + \int_t^s b(r, \tilde{X}^{t,\xi}_r, \tilde{\alpha}(r, \tilde{X}^{t,\xi}_r, \mathbb{P}_{\tilde{X}^{t,\xi}_r}), Id\tilde{\alpha}(r,., \mathbb{P}_{\tilde{X}^{t,\xi}_r}) \star \mathbb{P}_{\tilde{X}^{t,\xi}_r}) dr \\ &+ \int_t^s \sigma(r, \tilde{X}^{t,\xi}_r, \tilde{\alpha}(r, \tilde{X}^{t,\xi}_r, \mathbb{P}_{\tilde{X}^{t,\xi}_r}), Id\tilde{\alpha}(r,., \mathbb{P}_{\tilde{X}^{t,\xi}_r}) \star \mathbb{P}_{\tilde{X}^{t,\xi}_r}) d\tilde{B}_r, \quad t \le s \le T. \end{split}$$

Therefore,  $\tilde{X}^{t,\xi}$  is a copy of  $X^{t,\xi}$  on  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_0, \mathbb{P})$ . The lifted value function on  $[0,T] \times L^2(\mathcal{F}_0; \mathbb{R}^d)$ identified with the value function on  $[0,T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  satisfies  $v(s, \tilde{X}_s^{t,\xi}) = v(s, \rho_s^{t,\mu})$ . By noting that  $\hat{f}(s, \mathbb{P}_s^{t,\mu}, \tilde{\alpha}(s, \cdot, \mathbb{P}_s^{t,\mu})) = \mathbb{E}[f(s, \tilde{X}_s^{t,\xi}, \tilde{\alpha}(s, \tilde{X}_s^{t,\xi}, \mathbb{P}_s^{t,\mu}), Id\tilde{\alpha}(s, \tilde{X}_s^{t,\xi}, \mathbb{P}_s^{t,\mu}) \star \mathbb{P}_s^{t,\mu})]$ , we obtain from Theorem 3.3.1 the lifted DPP: for all  $(t,\xi) \in [0,T] \times L^2(\mathcal{F}_0; \mathbb{R}^d)$ ,

$$v(t,\xi) = \inf_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \int_{t}^{\theta} \mathbb{E}[f(s, \tilde{X}_{s}^{t,\xi}, \tilde{\alpha}(s, \tilde{X}_{s}^{t,\xi}, \mathbb{P}_{s}^{t,\mu}), Id\tilde{\alpha}(s, \tilde{X}_{s}^{t,\xi}, \mathbb{P}_{s}^{t,\mu}) \star \mathbb{P}_{s}^{t,\mu})]ds + v(\theta, \tilde{X}_{\theta}^{t,\xi})$$
(3.5.9)

#### 3.5. VISCOSITY SOLUTIONS

. . .

We already know that v is continuous on  $[0,T] \times L^2(\mathcal{F}_0;\mathbb{R}^d)$ , hence in particular at T, so that  $v(T,\xi) = \mathbb{E}[g(\xi,\mathbb{P}_{\xi})]$ , and it remains to derive the viscosity property for the value function in  $[0,T) \times L^2(\mathcal{F}_0;\mathbb{R}^d)$  by following standard arguments that we adapt in our context.

(i) Subsolution property. Let us now prove the viscosity subsolution property of v on  $[0, T) \times L^2(\mathcal{F}_0; \mathbb{R}^d)$ . Fix  $(t_0, \xi_0) \in [0, T) \times L^2(\mathcal{F}_0; \mathbb{R}^d)$ , and consider some test function  $\varphi \in \mathcal{C}^2_{\ell}([0, T] \times L^2(\mathcal{F}_0; \mathbb{R}^d))$  such that  $v - \varphi$  has a maximum at  $(t_0, \xi_0)$ , and w.l.o.g.  $v(t_0, \xi_0) = \varphi(t_0, \xi_0)$ , so that  $v \leq \varphi$ . and let h be a strictly positive s.t.  $h \to 0$ , let  $\tilde{\alpha}$  be an arbitrary element in  $L(\mathbb{R}^d; A)$ , and consider the time-independent feedback control  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  associated with  $\tilde{\alpha}$ . From the DPP (3.5.9) applied to  $v(t_0, \xi_0)$ , we have

$$v(t_{0},\xi_{0}) \leq \int_{t_{0}}^{t_{0}+h} \mathbb{E}[f(s,\tilde{X}_{s}^{t_{0},\xi_{0}},\tilde{\alpha}(\tilde{X}_{s}^{t_{0},\xi_{0}}),Id\tilde{\alpha}\star\mathbb{P}_{s}^{t_{0},\mu_{0}})]ds + v(t_{0}+h,\tilde{X}_{t_{0}+h}^{t_{0},\xi_{0}}).$$

Since  $v(t,\xi) \leq v^*(t,\xi) \leq \varphi(t,\xi)$  for all  $(t,\xi) \in [0,T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , this implies

$$0 \leq \frac{1}{h} \int_{t_0}^{t_0+h} \mathbb{E}[f(s, \tilde{X}_s^{t_0, \xi_0}, \tilde{\alpha}(\tilde{X}_s^{t_0, \xi_0}), Id\tilde{\alpha} \star \mathbb{P}_s^{t_0, \mu_0})] ds + \frac{\varphi(t_0+h, \tilde{X}_{t_0+h}^{t_0, \xi_0}) - \varphi(t_0, \xi_0)}{h}$$

Applying Itô's formula (1.3.4) to  $\varphi(s, \tilde{X}_s^{t,\xi})$  between  $t_0$  and  $t_0 + h$ , we get

$$0 \leq \frac{1}{h} \int_{t_0}^{t_0+h} \left[ \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial t} (s, \tilde{X}_s^{t_0, \xi_0}) + \mathbb{E} \left[ f(s, \tilde{X}_s^{t_0, \xi_0}, \tilde{\alpha}(\tilde{X}_s^{t_0, \xi_0}), Id\tilde{\alpha} \star \mathbb{P}_s^{t_0, \mu_0}) \right. \\ \left. + D\varphi(s, \tilde{X}_s^{t_0, \xi_0}).b(s, \tilde{X}_s^{t_0, \xi_0}, \tilde{\alpha}(\tilde{X}_s^{t_0, \xi_0}), Id\tilde{\alpha} \star \mathbb{P}_s^{t_0, \mu_0}) \right. \\ \left. + \frac{1}{2} D^2 \varphi(s, \tilde{X}_s^{t_0, \xi_0}) (\sigma(s, \tilde{X}_s^{t_0, \xi_0}, \tilde{\alpha}(\tilde{X}_s^{t_0, \xi_0}), Id\tilde{\alpha} \star \mathbb{P}_s^{t_0, \mu_0}) N). (\sigma(s, \tilde{X}_s^{t_0, \xi_0}, \tilde{\alpha}(\tilde{X}_s^{t_0, \xi_0}), Id\tilde{\alpha} \star \mathbb{P}_s^{t_0, \mu_0}) N) \right] ds$$

with  $N \in L^2(\mathcal{F}_0; \mathbb{R}^n)$  of zero mean, and unit variance, independent of  $\xi$ . By the continuity of  $b, \sigma, f, \varphi$  on their respective domains, and the flow continuity property (3.5.6), we then obtain by sending h to zero in the above inequality:

$$\begin{aligned} -\frac{\partial\varphi}{\partial t}(t_{0},\xi_{0}) &- \mathbb{E}\Big[f(t_{0},\xi_{0},\tilde{\alpha}(\xi_{0}),Id\tilde{\alpha}\star\mathbb{P}_{\xi_{0}}) + D\varphi(t_{0},\xi_{0}).b(t_{0},\xi_{0},\tilde{\alpha}(\xi_{0}),Id\tilde{\alpha}\star\mathbb{P}_{\xi_{0}})) \\ &- \frac{1}{2}D^{2}\varphi(t_{0},\xi_{0})(\sigma(t_{0},\xi_{0},\tilde{\alpha}(\xi_{0}),Id\tilde{\alpha}\star\mathbb{P}_{\xi_{0}})N)(\sigma(t_{0},\xi_{0},\tilde{\alpha}(\xi_{0}),Id\tilde{\alpha}\star\mathbb{P}_{\xi_{0}})N)\Big] \leq 0. \end{aligned}$$

Since  $\tilde{\alpha}$  is arbitrary in  $L(\mathbb{R}^d; A)$ , this shows

$$-\frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial t}(t_0,\xi_0) + \mathcal{H}(t_0,\xi_0,D\varphi(t_0,\xi_0),D^2\varphi(t_0,\xi_0)) \leq 0$$

which is the required viscosity subsolution property.

(ii) Supersolution property. We proceed finally with the viscosity supersolution property. Fix  $(t_0, \xi_0) \in [0, T] \times L^2(\mathcal{F}_0; \mathbb{R}^d)$ , and consider some test function  $\varphi \in \mathcal{C}^2_{\ell}([0, T] \times L^2(\mathcal{F}_0; \mathbb{R}^d))$  such that  $v - \varphi$  has a minimum at  $(t_0, \xi_0)$ , and w.l.o.g.  $v(t_0, \xi_0) = \varphi(t_0, \xi_0)$ , so that  $v \ge \varphi$ . From the lifted DPP (3.5.9), for small  $h \in [0, T - t]$ , there exists  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  associated to a feedback control  $\tilde{\alpha} \in Lip([0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d); \mathcal{A})$  s.t.

$$v(t_{0},\xi_{0}) + h^{2} \geq \int_{t_{0}}^{t_{0}+h} \mathbb{E}[f(s,\tilde{X}_{s}^{t_{0},\xi_{0}},\tilde{\alpha}(\tilde{X}_{s}^{t_{0},\xi_{0}}), Id\tilde{\alpha} \star \mathbb{P}_{s}^{t_{0},\mu_{0}})]ds + v(t_{0}+h,\tilde{X}_{t_{0}+h}^{t_{0},\xi_{0}}).$$

Since  $v(t,\xi) \ge v_*(t,\xi) \ge \varphi(t,\xi)$  for all  $(t,\xi) \in [0,T] \times L^2(\mathcal{G};\mathbb{R}^d)$ , this implies

$$h \geq \frac{1}{h} \int_{t_0}^{t_0+h} \mathbb{E}[f(s, \tilde{X}_s^{t_0, \xi_0}, \tilde{\alpha}(\tilde{X}_s^{t_0, \xi_0}), Id\tilde{\alpha} \star \mathbb{P}_s^{t_0, \mu_0})] ds + \frac{\varphi(t_0+h, \tilde{X}_{t_0+h}^{t_0, \xi_0}) - \varphi(t_0, \xi_0)}{h}.$$

Applying again Itô's formula (1.3.7) to  $\varphi(s, \tilde{X}_s^{t,\xi})$ , we then get

$$\begin{split} h &\geq \frac{1}{h} \int_{t_0}^{t_0+h} \left[ \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial t} (s, \tilde{X}_s^{t_0, \xi_0}) + \mathbb{E} \Big[ f(s, \tilde{X}_s^{t_0, \xi_0}, \tilde{\alpha}(\tilde{X}_s^{t_0, \xi_0}), Id\tilde{\alpha} \star \mathbb{P}_s^{t_0, \mu_0}) \right. \\ &+ D\varphi(s, \tilde{X}_s^{t_0, \xi_0}).b(s, \tilde{X}_s^{t_0, \xi_0}, \tilde{\alpha}(\tilde{X}_s^{t_0, \xi_0}), Id\tilde{\alpha} \star \mathbb{P}_s^{t_0, \mu_0}) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} D^2 \varphi(s, \tilde{X}_s^{t_0, \xi_0}) (\sigma(s, \tilde{X}_s^{t_0, \xi_0}, \tilde{\alpha}(\tilde{X}_s^{t_0, \xi_0}), Id\tilde{\alpha} \star \mathbb{P}_s^{t_0, \mu_0}) N).(\sigma(s, \tilde{X}_s^{t_0, \xi_0}, \tilde{\alpha}(\tilde{X}_s^{t_0, \mu_0})N) \Big] \\ &\geq \frac{1}{h} \int_{t_0}^{t_0+h} \Big[ \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial t} (s, \tilde{X}_s^{t_0, \xi_0}) + \mathcal{H}(s, \tilde{X}_s^{t_0, \xi_0}, D\varphi(\tilde{X}_s^{t_0, \xi_0}), D^2 \varphi(\tilde{X}_s^{t_0, \xi_0})) \Big] \end{split}$$

where N is independent of  $(\xi_0, B)$ , with zero mean and unit variance. By sending h to zero together with the continuity assumption in **(H1')-(H2')** of  $b, \sigma, f, \varphi$ , uniformly in  $a \in A$ , and the flow continuity property (3.5.6), we get

$$-rac{\partial arphi}{\partial t}(t_{_0},\xi_{_0})+\mathcal{H}(t_0,\xi_{_0},Darphi(t_{_0},\xi_{_0}),D^2arphi(t_0,\xi_{_0})) \hspace{2mm} \geq \hspace{2mm} 0,$$

which gives the required viscosity supersolution property of v, and ends the proof.

We finally turn to comparison principle (hence uniqueness result) for the Bellman equation (3.3.11) (or (3.5.1)), hence equivalently for the lifted Bellman equation (3.5.3), which shall follow from comparison results for second order Hamilton-Jacobi equations in separable Hilbert space stated in [Lio89b], see also [FGS15]. We shall assume that the  $\sigma$ -algebra  $\mathcal{F}_0$  is countably generated upto null sets, which ensures that the Hilbert space  $L^2(\mathcal{F}_0; \mathbb{R}^d)$  is separable, see [Doo94], p. 92. This is satisfied for example when  $\mathcal{F}_0$  is the Borel  $\sigma$ -algebra of a canonical space  $\Omega_0$  of continuous functions on  $\mathbb{R}_+$ , in which case,  $\mathcal{F}_0 = \bigvee_{s\geq 0} \mathcal{F}_s^{B^0}$ , where  $(\mathcal{F}_s^{B^0})$  is the canonical filtration on  $\Omega_0$ , and it is then known that  $\mathcal{F}_0$  is countably generated, see for instance Exercise 4.21 in Chapter 1 of [RY99].

**Proposition 3.5.2.** Let u and w be two functions defined on  $[0,T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  satisfying a quadratic growth condition such that u (resp. w) is an upper (resp. lower) semicontinuous viscosity subsolution (resp. supersolution) to (3.3.11). Then  $u \leq w$ . Consequently, the value function v is the unique viscosity solution to the Bellman equation (3.3.11) satisfying a quadratic growth condition (3.5.5).

**Proof.** In view of our definition 3.5.1 of viscosity solution, we have to show a comparison principle for viscosity solutions to the lifted Bellman equation (3.5.3). We use the comparison principle proved in Theorem 3.50 in [FGS15] and only need to check that the hypotheses of this theorem are satisfied in our context for the lifted Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H}$  defined in (3.5.4). Notice that the lifted Bellman equation (3.5.3) is a bounded equation in the terminology of [FGS15] (see their section 3.3.1) meaning that there is no linear dissipative operator on  $L^2(\mathcal{F}_0; \mathbb{R}^d)$  in the equation. Therefore, the notion of B-continuity reduces to the standard notion of continuity in  $L^2(\mathcal{F}_0; \mathbb{R}^d)$  since one can take for B the identity operator. Their Hypothesis 3.44 follows from the uniform continuity of b,  $\sigma$ , and f in (H1')-(H2'). Hypothesis 3.45 is immediately satisfied since there is no discount factor in our equation, i.e.  $\mathcal{H}$  does not depend on v but only on its derivatives. The monotonicity condition in  $Q \in S(L^2(\mathcal{F}_0; \mathbb{R}^d))$  of  $\mathcal{H}$  in Hypothesis 3.46 is clearly satisfied. Hypothesis 3.47 holds directly when dealing with bounded equations. Hypothesis 3.48 is obtained from the Lipschitz condition of  $b, \sigma$  in (H1'), and the uniform continuity condition on f in (H2'), while Hypothesis 3.49 follows from the quadratic growth condition of  $\sigma$  in (H1'). One can then apply Theorem 3.50 in [FGS15] and conclude that comparison principle holds for the Bellman equation (3.5.3), hence for the Bellman equation (3.3.11). 

# 3.6 The case of open-loop controls

In this section, we discuss how one can consider more generally open-loop controls instead of (Lipschitz) closed-loop controls as imposed in the previous sections, hence allowing a priori in particular bang-bang controls, which is useful in the applications. We shall restrict our framework to usual controlled McKean-Vlasov SDE with coefficients that not depend on the law of the control but only on the law of the state process, hence in the form

$$dX_s = b(s, X_s, \alpha_s, \mathbb{P}_{X_s})ds + \sigma(s, X_s, \alpha_s, \mathbb{P}_{X_s})dB_s, \qquad (3.6.1)$$

where  $b, \sigma$  are measurable functions from  $[0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^d \times A \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  into  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , respectively  $\mathbb{R}^{d \times n}$ , satisfying a Lipschitz condition: for all  $t \in [0, T], x, x' \in \mathbb{R}^d, a \in A, \mu, \mu' \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,

$$|b(t, x, a, \mu) - b(t, x', a, \mu')| + |\sigma(t, x, a, \mu) - \sigma(t, x', a, \mu')| \le C[|x - x'| + \mathcal{W}_2(\mu, \mu')],$$
(3.6.2)

for some positive constant C. We denote by  $\mathcal{A}_o$  the set of  $\mathbb{F}$ -progressive processes  $\alpha$  valued in A, assumed for simplicity here to be a compact space of  $\mathbb{R}^m$ , and consider the McKean-Vlasov control problem with open-loop controls with running cost not depending on the law of the control:

$$\mathcal{V}_0 := \inf_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}_o} \mathbb{E} \Big[ \int_0^T f(t, X_t, \alpha_t, \mathbb{P}_{X_t}) dt + g(X_T, \mathbb{P}_{X_T}) \Big].$$

Under (3.6.2), and given  $t \in [0,T]$ ,  $\xi \in L^2(\mathcal{F}_t; \mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}_o$ , there exists a unique (pathwise and in law) solution  $X_s^{t,\xi} = X_s^{t,\xi,\alpha}$ ,  $t \leq s \leq T$ , solution to (3.6.1) starting from  $\xi$  at time t, satisfying

$$\mathbb{E}\Big[\sup_{t\leq s\leq T}|X^{t,\xi}_s|^2\Big] \leq C(1+\mathbb{E}|\xi|^2),$$

for some positive constant C independent of  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}_o$ . As in (3.3.5), one can then define the flow  $\mathbb{P}_s^{t,\mu} = \mathbb{P}_s^{t,\mu,\alpha}$ ,  $t \leq s \leq T$ ,  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}_o$ , of the law of  $X_s^{t,\xi}$ , for  $\mu = \mathbb{P}_{\xi}$ , and they satisfy the flow properties (3.3.4) and (3.3.6). We then define the value function in the Wasserstein space

$$v_o(t,\mu) \quad := \quad \inf_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}_o} \mathbb{E}\Big[\int_t^T f(s, X_s^{t,\xi}, \alpha_s, \mathbb{P}_s^{t,\mu}) ds + g(X_T^{t,\xi}, \mathbb{P}_T^{t,\mu})\Big], \quad t \in [0,T], \ \mu = \mathbb{P}_{\xi} \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d),$$

so that  $\mathcal{V}_0 = v_o(0, \mathbb{P}_{x_0})$ . Since the set of open-loop controls is larger than the set of feedback controls, it is clear that  $v_o$  is smaller than v, the value function to the McKean-Vlasov control problem with feedback controls considered in the previous sections.

Notice that when  $f \equiv 0$ , one can reformulate the value function  $v_o$  as a deterministic control problem as in the case of feedback controls:  $v_o(t, \mu) = \inf_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}_o} \hat{g}(\mathbb{P}_T^{t,\mu})$ , but in general this is not possible. Anyway, by similar arguments as in Theorem 3.3.1, but more technical and requiring some measurable selection arguments due to the stochastic control formulation of the value function  $v_o$ , one could show the DPP for the value function with open-loop controls, namely:

$$v_o(t,\mu) = \inf_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}_o} \mathbb{E} \Big[ \int_t^{\theta} f(s, X_s^{t,\xi}, \alpha_s, \mathbb{P}_s^{t,\mu}) ds + v_o(\theta, \mathbb{P}_{\theta}^{t,\mu}) \Big]$$

for all  $0 \le t \le \theta \le T$ ,  $\mu = \mathbb{P}_{\xi} \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . From Itô's formula (1.3.7), the infinitesimal version of the above DPP leads to the dynamic programming Bellman equation:

$$\begin{cases} -\partial_t v_o(t,\mu) + H_o(t,\mu,\partial_\mu v_o(t,\mu),\partial_x \partial_\mu v_o(t,\mu)) &= 0, \quad \text{on } [0,T) \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d), \\ v_o(T,.) &= \hat{g}, \quad \text{on } \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \end{cases}$$
(3.6.3)

where  $H_o$  is the function defined by

$$H_o(t,\mu,p,\Gamma) := -\inf_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}_o} \mathbb{E} \Big[ f(t,\xi,\alpha_t,\mu) + p(\xi) . b(t,\xi,\alpha_t,\mu) + \frac{1}{2} \mathrm{tr} \big( \Gamma(\xi) \sigma \sigma^{\mathsf{T}}(t,\xi,\alpha_t,\mu) \big) \Big],$$

for  $(t,\mu) \in [0,T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $(p,\Gamma) \in L^2_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^d) \times L^{\infty}_{\mu}(\mathbb{S}^d)$ , and with  $\mathbb{P}_{\xi} = \mu$ . Similarly as in Propositions 3.3.1 and 3.5.2, one can show a verification theorem for  $v_o$  and prove that  $v_o$  is the unique viscosity solution to (3.6.3).

For any  $\tilde{\alpha} \in L(\mathbb{R}^d; A)$ , it is clear that the control  $\alpha$  defined by  $\alpha_s = \tilde{\alpha}(\xi)$ ,  $t \leq s \leq T$ , lies in  $\mathcal{A}_o$ , so that

$$\begin{split} H_o(t,\mu,p,\Gamma) &\geq & -\inf_{\tilde{\alpha}\in L(\mathbb{R}^d;A)} \mathbb{E} \big[ f(t,\xi,\tilde{\alpha}(\xi),\mu) \\ &+ p(\xi).b(t,\xi,\tilde{\alpha}(\xi),\mu) + \frac{1}{2} \mathrm{tr} \big( \Gamma(\xi) \sigma \sigma^{\intercal}(t,\xi,\tilde{\alpha}(\xi),\mu) \big) \big] \;=\; H(t,\mu,p,\Gamma), \end{split}$$

with H the Hamiltonian in (3.5.2) for the McKean-Vlasov control problem with feedback control. This inequality  $H_o \geq H$  combined with comparison principle for the Bellman equation (3.6.3) is consistent with the inequality  $v \geq v_o$ . If we could prove that  $H_o$  is equal to H (which is not trivial in general), then this would show that  $v_o$  is equal to v, i.e. the value functions to the McKean-Vlasov control problems with open-loop and feedback controls coincide. Actually, we notice that the minimization over the infinite dimensional space  $\mathcal{A}_o$  in the Hamiltonian  $H_o$  can be reduced into a minimization over the finite dimensional space  $\mathcal{A}$ , namely:

$$H_o(t,\mu,p,\Gamma) = \tilde{H}_o(t,\mu,p,\Gamma) := - < \inf_{a \in A} \mathbb{H}(t,x,a,\mu,p(.),\Gamma(.)), \mu >$$
(3.6.4)

where  $\mathbb{H}(t, x, a, \mu, q, M)$  is defined by (3.3.16) in Remark 3.3.4.

Indeed, it is clear that  $H_o \leq \tilde{H}_o$ . Conversely, by continuity of the coefficients  $b, \sigma, f$  w.r.t. the argument a lying the compact space A, and invoking a measurable selection theorem, one can find for any  $(t, \mu, p, \Gamma) \in [0, T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \times L^2_\mu(\mathbb{R}^d) \times L^\infty_\mu(\mathbb{S}^d)$ , some measurable function  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d \mapsto \hat{a}(t, x, \mu, p(x), \Gamma(x)) = \hat{\alpha}(x)$  s.t. for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ ,

$$\begin{split} &\inf_{a\in A} \left[ f(t,x,a,\mu) + p(x).b(t,x,a,\mu) + \frac{1}{2} \mathrm{tr} \big( \Gamma(x) \sigma \sigma^{\mathsf{T}}(t,x,a,\mu) \big) \right] \\ &= f(t,x,\hat{\alpha}(x),\mu) + p(x).b(t,x,\hat{\alpha}(x),\mu) + \frac{1}{2} \mathrm{tr} \big( \Gamma(x) \sigma \sigma^{\mathsf{T}}(t,x,\hat{\alpha}(x),\mu) \big). \end{split}$$

By integrating w.r.t.  $\mu$ , we then get

$$\begin{split} \tilde{H}_o(t,\mu,p,\Gamma) &= -\mathbb{E} \Big[ f(t,\xi,\hat{\alpha}(\xi),\mu) + p(\xi).b(t,\xi,\hat{\alpha}(\xi),\mu) + \frac{1}{2} \mathrm{tr} \big( \Gamma(\xi) \sigma \sigma^{\mathsf{T}}(t,\xi,\hat{\alpha}(\xi),\mu) \big) \Big] \\ &\leq H_o(t,\mu,p,\Gamma), \end{split}$$

which shows the equality (3.6.4). Suppose now that there exists some smooth solution w on  $[0, T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  to the equation:

$$\begin{cases} -\partial_t w(t,\mu) + \tilde{H}_o(t,\mu,\partial_\mu w(t,\mu),\partial_x \partial_\mu w(t,\mu)) &= 0, \quad \text{on } [0,T) \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d), \\ w(T,.) &= \hat{g}, \quad \text{on } \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d), \end{cases}$$
(3.6.5)

such that for all  $(t,\mu) \in [0,T) \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , the element  $x \mapsto \hat{a}(t,x,\mu,\partial_\mu w(t,\mu)(x),\partial_x\partial_\mu w(t,\mu)(x))$  achieving the infimum in the definition of  $\tilde{H}_o(t,\mu,\partial_\mu w(t,\mu),\partial_x\partial_\mu w(t,\mu))$ , is Lipschitz, i.e. lies in  $L(\mathbb{R}^d;A)$ , then (recall also Remark 3.3.2)

$$\tilde{H}_o(t,\mu,\partial_\mu w(t,\mu),\partial_x\partial_\mu w(t,\mu)) = H(t,\mu,\partial_\mu w(t,\mu),\partial_x\partial_\mu w(t,\mu))$$

#### 3.6. The case of open-loop controls

which shows with (3.6.4) that w solves both the Bellman equations (3.6.3) and (3.5.1). By comparison principle, we conclude that  $w = v = v_o$ , which means in this case that the value functions to the McKean-Vlasov control problems with open-loop and feedback controls coincide. Such condition was satisfied for example in the case of the mean-variance portfolio selection problem studied in paragraph 3.4.1.

Remark 3.6.1. (Existence of smooth solution)

Let us mention that the existence of classical solution to HJB equation (3.6.3) or (3.6.5) was derived in [CCD15] in the case where  $\sigma$  is uncontrolled. Briefly speaking, under coercive conditions on the coefficients,  $\hat{\alpha}(x)$  is the minimizer of  $\mathbb{H}(t, x, \partial_{\mu}v_o(t, \mu), \partial_x \partial_{\mu}v_o(t, \mu))$ , and  $V(t, x, \mu)$  on the enlarged space  $\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  defined by

$$V(t,x,\mu) = \mathbb{E}[\int_{t}^{T} f(s, X_{s}^{t,x,\mu}, \mathbb{P}_{X_{s}^{t,\mu}}, \hat{\alpha}(X_{s}^{t,x,\mu}))ds + g(X_{T}^{t,x,\mu}, \mathbb{P}_{X_{T}^{t,\mu}})],$$

where  $X_s^{t,x,\mu}$  is the solution of the SDE

$$dX_s^{t,x,\mu} = b(s, X_s^{t,x,\mu}, \mathbb{P}_{X_s^{t,\mu}}, \hat{\alpha}(X_s^{t,x,\mu}))ds + \sigma(s, X_s^{t,x,\mu}, \mathbb{P}_{X_s^{t,\mu}})dB_s, \quad t \le s \le T,$$

with the initial condition x at time t. Then  $V(t, x, \mu)$  is the unique classical solution to the following master equation

$$\begin{split} \partial_t V(t,x,\mu) &+ b(t,x,\mu,\hat{\alpha}(x)).\partial_x V(t,x,\mu) + f(t,x,\mu,\hat{\alpha}(x)) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \mathrm{tr}(\partial_{xx}^2 V(t,x,\mu) \sigma \sigma^{\mathsf{T}}(t,x,\mu)) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left[ b(t,x',\mu,\hat{\alpha}(x')).\partial_\mu V(t,x,\mu)(x') \right. \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \mathrm{tr}(\partial_x \partial_\mu V(t,x,\mu)(x') \sigma \sigma^{\mathsf{T}}(t,x,\mu)) \right] \mu(dx') = 0. \end{split}$$

Moreover, the identification of value function  $v_o(t,\mu)$  in terms of  $V(t,x,\mu)$  is given by  $v_o(t,\mu) = v(t,\mu) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} V(t,x,\mu)\mu(dx)$ , or equivalently reads as  $\partial_{\mu}v_o(t,\mu)(x) = \partial_x V(t,x,\mu) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \partial_{\mu} V(t,x',\mu)(x)\mu(dx')$ . Therefore, we conclude that  $v_o(t,\mu)$  is the unique classical solution to HJB equation.

# Chapter 4

# Dynamic programming for continuous time conditional McKean-Vlasov control problem

<u>Abstract</u>: We study the optimal control of general stochastic McKean-Vlasov equation. Such problem is motivated originally from the asymptotic formulation of cooperative equilibrium for a large population of particles (players) in mean-field interaction under common noise. Our first main result is to state a dynamic programming principle for the value function in the Wasserstein space of probability measures, which is proved from a flow property of the conditional law of the controlled state process. Next, by relying on the notion of differentiability with respect to probability measures due to P.L. Lions [Lio12], and Itô's formula along a flow of conditional measures, we derive the dynamic programming Hamilton-Jacobi-Bellman equation, and prove the viscosity property together with a uniqueness result for the value function. Finally, we solve explicitly the linear-quadratic stochastic McKean-Vlasov control problem and give an application to an interbank systemic risk model with common noise.

**Keywords**: Stochastic McKean-Vlasov SDEs, dynamic programming principle, Bellman equation, Wasserstein space, viscosity solutions.

a. This chapter is based on a paper in collaboration with Pham Huyên [PW17]. This paper is published in *SIAM Journal* on Control and Optimization, **55**(2), 2017.

# 4.1 Introduction

Let us consider the controlled McKean-Vlasov dynamics in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  given by

$$dX_t = b(X_t, \mathbb{P}_{X_t}^{W^0}, \alpha_t)dt + \sigma(X_t, \mathbb{P}_{X_t}^{W^0}, \alpha_t)dB_t + \sigma_0(X_t, \mathbb{P}_{X_t}^{W^0}, \alpha_t)dW_t^0,$$
(4.1.1)

where  $B, W^0$  are two independent Brownian motions on some complete probability space  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P}), \mathbb{P}_{X_t}^{W^0}$ denotes the conditional distribution of  $X_t$  given  $W^0$  (or equivalently given  $\mathcal{F}_t^0$  where  $\mathbb{F}^0 = (\mathcal{F}_t^0)_{t\geq 0}$  is the natural filtration generated by  $W^0$ ), valued in  $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  the set of probability measures on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , and the control  $\alpha$  is an  $\mathbb{F}^0$ -progressive process valued in some Polish space **A**. When there is no control, the dynamics (4.1.1) is sometimes called stochastic McKean-Vlasov equation (see [DV95]), where the term "stochastic" refers to the presence of the random noise caused by the Brownian motion  $W^0$  w.r.t. a McKean-Vlasov equation when  $\sigma_0 = 0$ , and for which coefficients depend on the (deterministic) marginal distribution  $\mathbb{P}_{X_t}$ . One also uses the terminology conditional mean-field stochastic differential equation (CMFSDE) to emphasize the dependence of the coefficients on the conditional law with respect to the random noise, and such CMFSDE was studied in [CZ16], and more generally in [BLM17]. In this context, the control problem is to minimize over  $\alpha$  a cost functional of the form:

$$J(\alpha) = \mathbb{E} \Big[ \int_0^T f(X_t, \mathbb{P}_{X_t}^{W^0}, \alpha_t) dt + g(X_T, \mathbb{P}_{X_T}^{W^0}) \Big].$$
(4.1.2)

The motivation and applications for the study of such stochastic control problem, referred to alternatively as control of stochastic McKean-Vlasov dynamics, or stochastic control of conditional McKean-Vlasov equation, comes mainly from the *McKean-Vlasov control problem with common noise*, that we briefly describe now: we consider a system of controlled individuals (referred also to as particles or players) in mutual interaction, where the dynamics of the state process  $X^i$  of player  $i \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$  is governed by

$$dX_t^i = \tilde{b}(X_t^i, \bar{\rho}_t^N, \tilde{\alpha}_t^i)dt + \tilde{\sigma}(X_t^i, \bar{\rho}_t^N, \tilde{\alpha}_t^i)dB_t^i + \tilde{\sigma}_0(X_t^i, \bar{\rho}_t^N, \tilde{\alpha}_t^i)dW_t^0$$

Here, the Wiener process  $W^0$  accounts for the common random environment in which all the individuals evolve, called common noise, and  $B^1, \ldots, B^N$  are independent Brownian motions, independent of  $W^0$ , called idiosyncratic noises. The particles are in interaction of mean-field type in the sense that at any time t, the coefficients  $\tilde{b}$ ,  $\tilde{\sigma}$ ,  $\tilde{\sigma}_0$  of their state process depend on the empirical distribution of all individual states

$$\bar{\rho}_t^N = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \delta_{X_t^i}.$$

The processes  $(\tilde{\alpha}_t^i)_{t\geq 0}$ , i = 1, ..., N, are in general progressively measurable w.r.t. the filtration generated by  $B^1, ..., B^N, W^0$ , valued in some subset A of a Euclidian space, and represent the control processes of the players with cost functionals:

$$J^{i}(\tilde{\alpha}^{1},\ldots,\tilde{\alpha}^{n}) = \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{T}\tilde{f}(X_{t}^{i},\bar{\rho}_{t}^{N},\tilde{\alpha}_{t}^{i})dt + g(X_{T}^{i},\bar{\rho}_{T}^{N})\right].$$

For this N-player stochastic differential game, one looks for equilibriums, and different notions may be considered. Classically, the search for a consensus among the players leads to the concept of Nash equilibrium where each player minimizes its own cost functional, and the goal is to find a N-tuple control

68

#### 4.1. INTRODUCTION

strategy for which there is no interest for any player to leave from this consensus state. The asymptotic formulation of this Nash equilibrium when the number of players N goes to infinity leads to the (now well-known) theory of MFG pioneered in the works by Lasry and Lions [LL07], and Huang, Malhamé and Caines [HMC06]. In this framework, the analysis is reduced to the problem of a single representative player in interaction with the theoretical distribution of the whole population by the propagation of chaos phenomenon, who first solves a control problem by freezing a probability law in the coefficients of her/his state process and cost function, and then has to find a fixed point probability measure that matches the distribution of her/his optimal state process. The case of MFG with common noise has been recently studied in [Ahu16] and [CDL16]. Alternatively, one may take the point of view of a center of decision (or social planner), which decides the strategies for all players, with the goal of minimizing the global cost to the collectivity. This leads to the concept of Pareto or cooperative equilibrium whose asymptotic formulation is reduced to the optimal control of McKean-Vlasov dynamics for a representative player. More precisely, given the symmetry of the set-up, when the social planner chooses the same control policy for all the players in feedback form:  $\tilde{\alpha}_t^i = \tilde{\alpha}(t, X_t^i, \bar{\rho}_t^N), i = 1, \dots, N$ , for some deterministic function  $\tilde{\alpha}$ depending upon time, private state of player, and the empirical distribution of all players, then the theory of propagation of chaos implies that, in the limit  $N \to \infty$ , the particles  $X^i$  become asymptotically independent conditionally on the random environment  $W^0$ , and the empirical measure  $\bar{\rho}_t^N$  converge to the distribution  $\mathbb{P}_{X_t}^{W^0}$  of  $X_t$  given  $W^0$ , and X is governed by the (stochastic) McKean-Vlasov equation:

$$dX_t = \tilde{b}(X_t, \mathbb{P}_{X_t}^{W^0}, \tilde{\alpha}(t, X_t, \mathbb{P}_{X_t}^{W^0}))dt + \tilde{\sigma}(X_t, \mathbb{P}_{X_t}^{W^0}, \tilde{\alpha}(t, X_t, \mathbb{P}_{X_t}^{W^0}))dB_t + \tilde{\sigma}_0(X_t, \mathbb{P}_{X_t}^{W^0}, \tilde{\alpha}(t, X_t, \mathbb{P}_{X_t}^{W^0}))dW_t^0,$$

for some Brownian motion B independent of  $W^0$ . The objective of the representative player for the Pareto equilibrium becomes the minimization of the functional

$$J(\tilde{\alpha}) = \mathbb{E}\left[\int_0^T \tilde{f}(X_t, \mathbb{P}_{X_t}^{W^0}, \tilde{\alpha}(t, X_t, \mathbb{P}_{X_t}^{W^0}))dt + g(X_T, \mathbb{P}_{X_T}^{W^0})\right]$$

over the class of feedback controls  $\tilde{\alpha}$ . We refer to [CDL13] for a detailed discussion of the differences between the nature and solutions to the MFG and optimal control of McKean-Vlasov dynamics related respectively to the notions of Nash and Pareto equilibrium. Notice that in this McKean-Vlasov control formulation, the control  $\tilde{\alpha}$  is of feedback (also called closed-loop) form both w.r.t. the state process  $X_t$ , and its conditional law process  $\mathbb{P}_{X_t}^{W^0}$ , which is  $\mathbb{F}^0$ -adapted. More generally, we can consider semi-feedback control  $\alpha(t, x, \omega^0)$ , in the sense that it is of closed-loop form w.r.t. the state process  $X_t$ , but of open-loop form w.r.t. the common noise  $W^0$ . In other words, one can consider random field control  $\mathbb{F}^0$ -progressive control process  $\alpha = \{\alpha_t(x), x \in \mathbb{R}^d\}$ , which may be viewed equivalently as processes valued in some functional space  $\mathbf{A}$  on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , typically a closed subset of the Polish space  $C(\mathbb{R}^d, A)$ , of continuous functions from  $\mathbb{R}^d$  into some Euclidian space A. In this case, we are in the framework (4.1.1)-(4.1.2) with  $b(x, \mu, a) =$  $\tilde{b}(x, \mu, a(x)), \sigma(x, \mu, a) = \tilde{\sigma}(x, \mu, a(x)), \sigma_0(x, \mu, a) = \tilde{\sigma}_0(x, \mu, a(x)), f(x, \mu, a) = \tilde{f}(x, \mu, a(x))$ , for  $(x, \mu, a)$  $\in \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbf{A}$ .

We also mention that partial observation control problem arises as a particular case of our stochastic control framework (4.1.1)-(4.1.2): Indeed, let us consider a controlled process with dynamics

$$d\bar{X}_t = \bar{b}(\bar{X}_t, \alpha_t)dt + \bar{\sigma}(\bar{X}_t, \alpha_t)dB_t + \bar{\sigma}_0(\bar{X}_t, \alpha_t)dB_t^0$$

where  $B, B^0$  are two independent Brownian motions on some physical probability space  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{Q})$ , and the signal control process can only be observed through  $W^0$  given by

$$dW_t^0 = h(\bar{X}_t)dt + dB_t^0.$$

The control process  $\alpha$  is progressively measurable w.r.t. the observation filtration  $\mathbb{F}^0$  generated by  $W^0$ , valued typically in some Euclidian space A, and the cost functional to minimize over  $\alpha$  is

$$J(\alpha) = \mathbb{E}^{\mathbb{Q}}\left[\int_{0}^{T} \bar{f}(\bar{X}_{t}, \alpha_{t})dt + \bar{g}(\bar{X}_{T})\right]$$

By considering the process Z via

$$Z_t^{-1} = \exp\left(-\int_0^t h(\bar{X}_s) dB_s^0 - \frac{1}{2}\int_0^t |h(\bar{X}_s)|^2 ds\right), \ 0 \le t \le T,$$

the process  $Z^{-1}$  is (under suitable integrability conditions on h) a martingale under  $\mathbb{Q}$ , and by Girsanov's theorem, this defines a probability measure  $\mathbb{P}(d\omega) = Z_T^{-1}(\omega)\mathbb{Q}(d\omega)$ , called reference probability measure, under which the pair  $(B, W^0)$  is a Brownian motion. We then see that the partial observation control problem can be recast into the framework (4.1.1)-(4.1.2) of a particular stochastic McKean-Vlasov control problem with  $X = (\bar{X}, Z)$  governed by

$$d\bar{X}_t = (\bar{b}(\bar{X}_t, \alpha_t) - \bar{\sigma}_0(\bar{X}_t, \alpha_t)h(\bar{X}_t))dt + \bar{\sigma}(\bar{X}_t, \alpha_t)dB_t + \bar{\sigma}_0(\bar{X}_t, \alpha_t)dW_t^0,$$
  

$$dZ_t = Z_th(\bar{X}_t)dW_t^0,$$

and a cost functional rewritten under the reference probability measure from Bayes formula as

$$J(\alpha) = \mathbb{E}\left[\int_0^T Z_t \bar{f}(\bar{X}_t, \alpha_t) dt + Z_T \bar{g}(\bar{X}_T)\right].$$

The optimal control of McKean-Vlasov dynamics is a rather new problem with an increasing interest in the field of stochastic control problem. It has been studied by maximum principle methods in [AD10], [BDL11], [CD15] for state dynamics depending upon marginal distribution, and in [CZ16], [BLM17] for conditional McKean-Vlasov dynamics. This leads to a characterization of the solution in terms of an adjoint BSDE coupled with a forward SDE, and we refer to [CCD15] for a theory of BSDE of McKean-Vlasov type. Alternatively, dynamic programming approach for the control of McKean-Vlasov dynamics has been considered in [BFY15], [BFY17], [LP14] for specific McKean-Vlasov dynamics and under a density assumption on the probability law of the state process, and then analyzed in a general framework in [PW18] (without noise  $W^0$ ), where the problem is reformulated into a deterministic control problem involving the marginal distribution process.

The aim of this paper is to develop the dynamic programming method for stochastic McKean-Vlasov equation in a general setting. For this purpose, a key step is to show the flow property of the conditional distribution  $\mathbb{P}_{X_t}^{W^0}$  of the controlled state process  $X_t$  given the noise  $W^0$ . Then, by reformulating the original control problem into a stochastic control problem where the conditional law  $\mathbb{P}_{X_t}^{W^0}$  is the sole controlled state variable driven by the random noise  $W^0$ , and by showing the continuity of the value function in the Wasserstein space of probability measures, we are able to prove a dynamic programming principle (DPP) for our stochastic McKean-Vlasov control problem. Next, for exploiting the DPP, we use a notion of differentiability with respect to probability measures introduced by P.L. Lions in his lectures at the Collège de France [Lio12], and detailed in the notes [Car12]. This notion of derivative is based on the lifting of functions defined on the Hilbert space of square integrable random variables distributed according to the "lifted" probability measure. By combining with a special Itô's chain rule for flows of conditional distributions, we derive the dynamic programming Bellman equation for stochastic McKean-Vlasov control problem, which is a fully nonlinear second order PDE in the infinite dimensional Wasserstein space of probability measures. By adapting standard arguments to our context, we prove the viscosity property of the value function to the Bellman equation from the dynamic programming principle. To complete our PDE characterization of the value function with a uniqueness result, it is convenient to work in the lifted Hilbert space of square integrable random variables instead of the Wasserstein metric space of probability measures, in order to rely on the general results for viscosity solutions of second order Hamilton-Jacobi-Bellman equations in separable Hilbert spaces, see [Lio88], [Lio89b], [FGS15]. We also state a verification theorem which is useful for getting an analytic feedback form of the optimal control when there is a smooth solution to the Bellman equation. Finally, we apply our results to the class of linear-quadratic (LQ) stochastic McKean-Vlasov control problem for which one can obtain explicit solutions, and we illustrate with an example arising from an interbank systemic risk model.

The outline of the paper is organized as follows. Section 2 formulates the stochastic McKean-Vlasov control problem, and fix the standing assumptions. Section 3 is devoted to the proof and statement of the dynamic programming principle. We prove in Section 4 the viscosity characterization of the value function to the Bellman equation, and the last Section 5 presents the application to the LQ framework with explicit solutions.

# 4.2 Conditional McKean-Vlasov control problem

Let us fix some complete probability space  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$  assumed of the form  $(\Omega^0 \times \Omega^1, \mathcal{F}^0 \otimes \mathcal{F}^1, \mathbb{P}^0 \otimes \mathbb{P}^1)$ , where  $(\Omega^0, \mathcal{F}^0, \mathbb{P}^0)$  supports a *m*-dimensional Brownian motion  $W^0$ , and  $(\Omega^1, \mathcal{F}^1, \mathbb{P}^1)$  supports a *n*-dimensional Brownian motion *B*. So an element  $\omega \in \Omega$  is written as  $\omega = (\omega^0, \omega^1) \in \Omega^0 \times \Omega^1$ , and we extend canonically  $W^0$  and *B* on  $\Omega$  by setting  $W^0(\omega^0, \omega^1) := W^0(\omega^0)$ ,  $B(\omega^0, \omega^1) := B(\omega^1)$ , and extend similarly on  $\Omega$  any random variable on  $\Omega^0$  or  $\Omega^1$ . We assume that  $(\Omega^1, \mathcal{F}^1, \mathbb{P}^1)$  is in the form  $\Omega^1 = \tilde{\Omega}^1 \times \Omega'^1, \mathcal{F}^1 = \mathcal{G} \otimes \mathcal{F}'^1, \mathbb{P}^1 = \tilde{\mathbb{P}}^1 \otimes \mathbb{P}'^1$ , where  $\tilde{\Omega}^1$  is a Polish space,  $\mathcal{G}$  its Borel  $\sigma$ -algebra,  $\tilde{\mathbb{P}}^1$  an atomless probability measure on  $(\tilde{\Omega}^1, \mathcal{G})$ , while  $(\Omega'^1, \mathcal{F}'^1, \mathbb{P}'^1)$  supports *B*. We denote by  $\mathbb{E}^0$  (resp.  $\mathbb{E}^1$  and  $\tilde{\mathbb{E}}^1$ ) the expectation under  $\mathbb{P}^0$  (resp.  $\mathbb{P}^1$  and  $\tilde{\mathbb{P}}^1$ ), by  $\mathbb{P}^0 = (\mathcal{F}^0_t)_{t\geq 0}$  the  $\mathbb{P}^0$ -completion of the natural filtration generated by  $W^0$  (and w.l.o.g. we assume that  $\mathcal{F}^0 = \mathcal{F}^0_\infty$ ), and by  $\mathbb{F} = (\mathcal{F}_t)_{t\geq 0}$  the natural filtration some arguments and write  $L^2(\tilde{\Omega}^1, \mathcal{G}, \tilde{\mathbb{P}}^1; \mathbb{R}^d)$  (resp.  $L^2(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_t, \mathbb{P}; \mathbb{R}^d)$ ) as  $L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$  (resp.  $L^2(\mathcal{F}_t; \mathbb{R}^d)$ ). We know that  $\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) = \{\mathbb{P}_{\xi} = \tilde{\mathbb{P}}^1_{\xi} : \xi \in L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)\}$  since  $(\tilde{\Omega}^1, \mathcal{G}, \tilde{\mathbb{P}}^1)$  is Polish and atomless (we say that  $\mathcal{G}$  is rich enough). We often write  $\mathcal{L}(\xi) = \mathbb{P}_{\xi} = \tilde{\mathbb{P}}^1_{\xi}$  for the law of  $\xi \in L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$ .

• Admissible controls. We are given a Polish set  $\mathbf{A}$  equipped with the distance  $d_A$ , satisfying w.l.o.g.  $d_A < 1$ , representing the control set, and we denote by  $\mathcal{A}$  the set of  $\mathbb{F}^0$ -progressive processes  $\alpha$  valued in  $\mathbf{A}$ . Notice that  $\mathcal{A}$  is a separable metric space endowed with the Krylov distance  $\Delta(\alpha, \beta) = \mathbb{E}^0[\int_0^T d_A(\alpha_t, \beta_t)dt]$ . We denote by  $\mathcal{B}_{\mathcal{A}}$  the Borel  $\sigma$ -algebra of  $\mathcal{A}$ .

• Controlled stochastic McKean-Vlasov dynamics. For  $(t,\xi) \in [0,T] \times L^2(\mathcal{F}_t;\mathbb{R}^d)$ , and given  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ , we consider the stochastic McKean-Vlasov equation:

$$\begin{cases} dX_{s} = b(X_{s}, \mathbb{P}_{X_{s}}^{W^{0}}, \alpha_{s})ds + \sigma(X_{s}, \mathbb{P}_{X_{s}}^{W^{0}}, \alpha_{s})dB_{s} \\ + \sigma_{0}(X_{s}, \mathbb{P}_{X_{s}}^{W^{0}}, \alpha_{s})dW_{s}^{0}, \quad t \leq s \leq T, \\ X_{t} = \xi. \end{cases}$$
(4.2.1)

Here,  $\mathbb{P}_{X_s}^{W^0}$  denotes the regular conditional distribution of  $X_s$  given  $\mathcal{F}^0$ , and its realization at some  $\omega^0 \in \Omega^0$  also reads as the law under  $\mathbb{P}^1$  of the random variable  $X_s(\omega^0, .)$  on  $(\Omega^1, \mathcal{F}^1, \mathbb{P}^1)$ , i.e.  $\mathbb{P}_{X_s}^{W^0}(\omega^0) = \mathbb{P}_{X_s(\omega^0, .)}^1$ . The coefficients  $b, \sigma, \sigma_0$  are measurable functions from  $\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbf{A}$  into  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , respectively

 $\mathbb{R}^{d \times n}$ ,  $\mathbb{R}^{d \times m}$ , and satisfy the condition:

(H1)

(i) There exists some positive constant C s.t. for all  $x, x' \in \mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $\mu, \mu' \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , and  $a \in \mathbf{A}$ ,

$$\begin{split} &|b(x,\mu,a) - b(x',\mu',a)| + |\sigma(x,\mu,a) - \sigma(x',\mu',a)| + |\sigma_0(x,\mu,a) - \sigma_0(x',\mu',a)| \\ &\leq \quad C\Big(|x-x'| + \mathcal{W}_2(\mu,\mu')\Big), \end{split}$$

and

$$|b(0, \delta_0, a)| + |\sigma(0, \delta_0, a)| + |\sigma_0(0, \delta_0, a)| \le C.$$

(ii) For all  $(x,\mu) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , the functions  $a \mapsto b(x,\mu,a)$ ,  $\sigma(x,\mu,a)$ ,  $\sigma_0(x,\mu,a)$  are continuous on **A**.

**Remark 4.2.1.** We have chosen a control formulation where the process  $\alpha$  is required to be progressively measurable w.r.t. the filtration  $\mathbb{F}^0$  of the sole common noise. This form is used for rewriting the cost functional in terms of the conditional law as sole state variable, see (4.3.3), which is then convenient for deriving the dynamic programming principle. In the case where **A** is a functional space on the state space  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , meaning that  $\alpha$  is a semi closed-loop control, and when the coefficients are in the form:  $b(x, \mu, a)$  $= \tilde{b}(x, \mu, a(x)), \sigma(x, \mu, a) = \tilde{\sigma}(x, \mu, a(x)), \sigma_0(x, \mu, a) = \tilde{\sigma}_0(x, \mu, a(x))$  (see discussion in the introduction), the Lipschitz condition in (**H1**)(i) requires that  $a \in \mathbf{A}$  is Lipschitz continuous with a prescribed Lipschitz constant, which is somewhat a restrictive condition. The more general case where the control  $\alpha$  is allowed to be measurable with respect to the filtration  $\mathbb{F}$  of both noises, i.e.,  $\alpha$  of open-loop form, is certainly an important extension, and left for future work. In this case, one should consider as state variables the pair composed of the process  $X_t$  and its conditional law  $\mathbb{P}_{X_t}^{W^0}$ , see the recent paper [BCP18] where a dynamic programming principle is stated when the control is allowed to be of open-loop form in the case without common noise.

Under (H1)(i), there exists a unique solution to (4.2.1) (see e.g. [KX99]), denoted by  $\{X_s^{t,\xi,\alpha}, t \leq s \leq T\}$ , which is  $\mathbb{F}$ -adapted, and satisfies the square-integrability condition:

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{t\leq s\leq T} |X_s^{t,\xi,\alpha}|^2\right] \leq C\left(1+\mathbb{E}|\xi|^2\right) < \infty, \tag{4.2.2}$$

for some positive constant C independent of  $\alpha$ . We shall sometimes omit the dependence of  $X^{t,\xi} = X^{t,\xi,\alpha}$  on  $\alpha$  when there is no ambiguity. Since  $\{X_s^{t,\xi}, t \leq s \leq T\}$  is  $\mathbb{F}$ -adapted, and  $W^0$  is a  $(\mathbb{P}, \mathbb{F})$ -Wiener process, we notice that  $\mathbb{P}_{X_s^{t,\xi}}^{W^0}(dx) = \mathbb{P}[X_s^{t,\xi} \in dx | \mathcal{F}^0] = \mathbb{P}[X_s^{t,\xi} \in dx | \mathcal{F}_s^0]$ . We thus have for any  $\varphi \in \mathscr{C}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ :

$$\mathbb{P}_{X_s^{t,\xi}}^{W^0}(\varphi) = \mathbb{E}\Big[\varphi(X_s^{t,\xi})\big|\mathcal{F}^0\Big] = \mathbb{E}\Big[\varphi(X_s^{t,\xi})\big|\mathcal{F}_s^0\Big], \quad t \le s \le T,$$
(4.2.3)

which shows that  $\mathbb{P}_{X_s^{t,\xi}}^{W^0}(\varphi)$  is  $\mathcal{F}_s^0$ -measurable, and therefore, in view of the measurability property in Property 1.1.1, that  $\{\mathbb{P}_{X_s^{t,\xi}}^{W^0}, t \leq s \leq T\}$  is  $(\mathcal{F}_s^0)_{t \leq s \leq T}$ -adapted. Moreover, since  $\{\mathbb{P}_{X_s^{t,\xi}}^{W^0}, t \leq s \leq T\}$  is valued in  $\mathcal{P}_2(C([t,T];\mathbb{R}^d))$ , the set of square integrable probability measures on the space  $C([t,T];\mathbb{R}^d)$  of continuous functions from [t,T] into  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , it also has continuous trajectories, and is then  $\mathbb{F}^0$ -progressively measurable (actually even  $\mathbb{F}^0$ -predictable).

#### 4.3. Dynamic programming

• Cost functional and value function. We are given a running cost function f defined on  $\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbf{A}$ , and a terminal cost function g defined on  $\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , assumed to satisfy the condition

#### (H2)

(i) There exists some positive constant C s.t. for all  $(x, \mu, a) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbf{A}$ ,

$$|f(x,\mu,a)| + |g(x,\mu)| \leq C(1+|x|^2+||\mu||_2^2).$$

(ii) The functions f, g are continuous on  $\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbf{A}$ , resp. on  $\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , and satisfy the local Lipschitz condition, uniformly w.r.t.  $\mathbf{A}$ : there exists some positive constant C s.t. for all  $x, x' \in \mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $\mu, \mu' \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $a \in \mathbf{A}$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} &|f(x,\mu,a) - f(x',\mu',a)| + |g(x,\mu) - g(x',\mu')| \\ &\leq C(1+|x|+|x'|+\|\mu\|_2 + \|\mu'\|_2) \big(|x-x'| + \mathcal{W}_2(\mu,\mu')\big). \end{aligned}$$

We then consider the cost functional:

$$J(t,\xi,\alpha) := \mathbb{E}\Big[\int_t^T f\big(X_s^{t,\xi}, \mathbb{P}^{W^0}_{X_s^{t,\xi}}, \alpha_s\big)ds + g\big(X_T^{t,\xi}, \mathbb{P}^{W^0}_{X_T^{t,\xi}}\big)\Big],$$

which is well-defined and finite for all  $(t, \xi, \alpha) \in [0, T] \times L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathcal{A}$ , and we define the value function of the conditional McKean-Vlasov control problem as

$$v(t,\xi) := \inf_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} J(t,\xi,\alpha), \quad (t,\xi) \in [0,T] \times L^2(\mathcal{G};\mathbb{R}^d).$$

$$(4.2.4)$$

From the estimate (4.2.2) and the growth condition in (H2)(i), it is clear that v also satisfies a quadratic growth condition:

$$|v(t,\xi)| \leq C(1+\mathbb{E}|\xi|^2), \quad \forall \xi \in L^2(\mathcal{G};\mathbb{R}^d).$$

$$(4.2.5)$$

Our goal is to characterize the value function v as solution of a partial differential equation by means of a dynamic programming approach.

## 4.3 Dynamic programming

The aim of this section is to prove the dynamic programming principle (DPP) for the value function v in (4.2.4) of the conditional McKean-Vlasov control problem.

### 4.3.1 Flow properties

We shall assume that  $(\Omega^0, W^0, \mathbb{P}^0)$  is the canonical space, i.e.  $\Omega^0 = C(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}^m)$ , the set of continuous functions from  $\mathbb{R}_+$  into  $\mathbb{R}^m$ ,  $W^0$  is the canonical process, and  $\mathbb{P}^0$  the Wiener measure. Following [CTT16], we introduce the class of shifted control processes constructed by concatenation of paths: for  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ ,  $(t, \bar{\omega}^0) \in [0, T] \times \Omega^0$ , we set

$$\alpha_s^{t,\bar\omega^0}(\omega^0) \quad := \quad \alpha_s(\bar\omega^0 \otimes_t \omega^0), \quad (s,\omega^0) \in [0,T] \times \Omega^0,$$

where  $\bar{\omega}^0 \otimes_t \omega^0$  is the element in  $\Omega^0$  defined by

$$\bar{\omega}^0 \otimes_t \omega^0(s) := \bar{\omega}^0(s) \mathbf{1}_{s < t} + (\bar{\omega}^0(t) + \omega^0(s) - \omega^0(t)) \mathbf{1}_{s \ge t}$$

We notice that for fixed  $(t, \bar{\omega}^0)$ , the process  $\alpha^{t, \bar{\omega}^0}$  lies in  $\mathcal{A}_t$ , the set of elements in  $\mathcal{A}$  which are independent of  $\mathcal{F}_t^0$  under  $\mathbb{P}^0$ . For any  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ , and  $\mathbb{F}^0$ -stopping time  $\theta$ , we denote by  $\alpha^{\theta}$  the map

$$\begin{array}{rcl} \alpha^{\theta} : (\Omega^{0}, \mathcal{F}_{\theta}^{0}) & \to & (\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B}_{\mathcal{A}}) \\ & \omega^{0} & \mapsto & \alpha^{\theta(\omega^{0}), \omega^{0}}. \end{array}$$

The key step in the proof of the DPP is to obtain a flow property on the controlled conditional distribution  $\mathbb{F}^0$ -progressively measurable process  $\{\mathbb{P}^{W^0}_{X^{t,\xi}_s}, t \leq s \leq T\}$ , for  $(t,\xi) \in [0,T] \times L^2(\mathcal{F}_t; \mathbb{R}^d)$ , and  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ .

**Lemma 4.3.1.** For any  $t \in [0,T]$ ,  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ , the relation given by

$$\rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha} := \mathbb{P}_{X_s^{t,\xi,\alpha}}^{W^0}, \quad t \le s \le T, \quad for \quad \xi \in L^2(\mathcal{F}_t; \mathbb{R}^d) \quad s.t. \quad \mathbb{P}_{\xi}^{W^0} = \mu, \tag{4.3.1}$$

defines a square integrable  $\mathbb{F}^0$ -progressive continuous process in  $\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Moreover, the map  $(s, t, \omega^0, \mu, \alpha) \in [0, T] \times [0, T] \times \Omega^0 \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathcal{A} \to \rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha}(\omega^0) \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  (with the convention that  $\rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha} = \mu$  for  $s \leq t$ ) is measurable, and satisfies the flow property:  $\rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha} = \rho_s^{\theta,\rho_{\theta}^{t,\mu,\alpha},\alpha^{\theta}}$ ,  $\mathbb{P}^0$ -a.s., i.e.

$$\rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha}(\omega^0) = \rho_s^{\theta(\omega^0),\rho_{\theta(\omega^0)}^{t,\mu,\alpha}(\omega^0),\alpha^{\theta(\omega^0),\omega^0}}(\omega^0), \quad s \in [\theta,T], \ \mathbb{P}^0(d\omega^0) - a.s$$
(4.3.2)

for all  $\theta \in \mathcal{T}_{t,T}^0$ , the set of  $\mathbb{F}^0$ -stopping times valued in [t,T].

**Proof. 1.** First observe that for any  $t \in [0,T]$ ,  $\xi \in L^2(\mathcal{F}_t; \mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ , we have:  $\mathbb{E}^0[\|\mathbb{P}^{W^0}_{X^{t,\xi,\alpha}_s}\|_2^2] = \mathbb{E}[|X^{t,\xi,\alpha}_s|^2] < \infty$ , which means that the process  $\{\mathbb{P}^{W^0}_{X^{t,\xi,\alpha}_s}, t \leq s \leq T\}$  is square integrable, and we recall (see the discussion after (4.2.3)) that it is  $\mathbb{F}^0$ -progressively measurable.

- (i) Notice that for  $\mathbb{P}^0$ -a.s  $\omega^0 \in \Omega^0$ , the law of the solution  $\{X_s^{t,\xi,\alpha}(\omega^0,.), t \leq s \leq T\}$  to (4.2.1) on  $(\Omega^1, \mathcal{F}^1, \mathbb{P}^1)$  is unique in law, which implies that  $\mathbb{P}_{X_s^{t,\xi,\alpha}}^{W^0}(\omega^0) = \mathbb{P}_{X_s^{t,\xi,\alpha}(\omega^0,.)}^1$ ,  $t \leq s \leq T$ , depends on  $\xi$  only through  $\mathbb{P}_{\xi}^{W^0}(\omega^0) = \mathbb{P}_{\xi(\omega^0,.)}^1$ . In other words, for any  $\xi_1, \xi_2 \in L^2(\mathcal{F}_t; \mathbb{R}^d)$  s.t.  $\mathbb{P}_{\xi_1}^{W^0} = \mathbb{P}_{\xi_2}^{W^0}$ , the processes  $\{\mathbb{P}_{X_s^{t,\xi_1,\alpha}}^{W^0}, t \leq s \leq T\}$  and  $\{\mathbb{P}_{X_s^{t,\xi_2,\alpha}}^{W^0}, t \leq s \leq T\}$  are indistinguishable.
- (ii) Let us now check that for any  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , one can find  $\xi \in L^2(\mathcal{F}_t; \mathbb{R}^d)$  s.t.  $\mathbb{P}_{\xi}^{W^0} = \mu$ . Indeed, recalling that  $\mathcal{G}$  is rich enough, one can find  $\xi \in L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d) \subset L^2(\mathcal{F}_t; \mathbb{R}^d)$  s.t.  $\mathcal{L}(\xi) = \mu$ . Since  $\mathcal{G}$  is independent of  $W^0$ , this also means that  $\mathbb{P}_{\xi}^{W^0} = \mu$ .

In view of the uniqueness result in (i), and the representation result in (ii), one can define the process  $\{\rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha}, t \leq s \leq T\}$  by the relation (4.3.1), and this process is a square integrable  $\mathbb{F}^0$ -progressively measurable process in  $\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ .

**2.** Let us now prove the joint measurability of  $\rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha}(\omega^0)$  in  $(t,s,\omega^0,\mu,\alpha) \in [0,T] \times [0,T] \times \Omega^0 \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathcal{A}$ . Given  $t \in [0,T]$ ,  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ , let  $\xi \in L^2(\mathcal{G};\mathbb{R}^d)$  s.t.  $\mathcal{L}(\xi) = \mu$ . We construct  $X^{t,\xi,\alpha}$  using Picard's iteration by defining recursively a sequence of processes  $(X^{(m),t,\xi,\alpha})_m$  as follows: we start from  $X^{(0),t,\xi,\alpha} \equiv 0$ , and define  $\rho^{(0),t,\mu,\alpha}$  by formula (4.3.1) with  $X^{(0),t,\xi,\alpha}$  instead of  $X^{t,\xi,\alpha}$ , and see that  $\rho^{(0),t,\mu,\alpha} = \delta_0$ .

#### 4.3. Dynamic programming

- The process  $X^{(1),t,\xi,\alpha}$  is given by

$$X_{s}^{(1),t,\xi,\alpha} = \xi + \int_{t}^{s} b(0,\delta_{0},\alpha_{r})dr + \int_{t}^{s} \sigma(0,\delta_{0},\alpha_{r})dB_{r} + \int_{t}^{s} \sigma_{0}(0,\delta_{0},\alpha_{r})dW_{r}^{0},$$

for  $0 \leq t \leq s \leq T$  (and  $X_s^{(1),t,\xi,\alpha} = \xi$  when s < t), and we notice that the map  $X^{(1),t,\xi,\alpha}$ :  $([t,T] \times \Omega, \mathcal{B}([t,T]) \otimes \mathcal{F}) \to (\mathbb{R}^d, \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^d))$  is measurable, up to indistinguishability. We then define  $\rho^{(1),t,\mu,\alpha}$  by formula (4.3.1) with  $X^{(1),t,\xi,\alpha}$  instead of  $X^{t,\xi,\alpha}$ , so that

$$\rho_s^{(1),t,\mu,\alpha}(\omega^0)(\varphi) = \mathbb{E}^1\Big[\varphi\big(X_s^{(1),t,\xi,\alpha}(\omega^0,.)\big)\Big] = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Phi^{(1)}(x,t,s,\omega^0,\alpha)\mu(dx),$$

for any  $\varphi \in \mathscr{C}_2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , where  $\Phi^{(1)} : \mathbb{R}^d \times [0,T] \times [0,T] \times \Omega^0 \times \mathcal{A} \to \mathbb{R}$  is measurable with quadratic growth condition in x, uniformly in  $(t, s, \omega^0, \alpha)$ , and given by:

$$\Phi^{(1)}(x,t,s,\omega^{0},\alpha) = \mathbb{E}^{1} \Big[ \varphi \Big( x + \int_{t}^{s} b(0,\delta_{0},\alpha_{r}(\omega^{0})) dr + \int_{t}^{s} \sigma(0,\delta_{0},\alpha_{r}(\omega^{0})) dB_{r} + \int_{t}^{s} \sigma_{0}(0,\delta_{0},\alpha_{r}(\omega^{0})) dW_{r}^{0}(\omega^{0}) \Big) \Big], \ t \leq s \leq T,$$

and  $\Phi^{(1)}(x,t,s,\omega^0,\alpha) = \varphi(x)$  when s < t. By a monotone class argument (first considering the case when  $\Phi^{(1)}(x,t,s,\omega^0,\alpha)$  is expressed as a product  $h(x)\ell(t,s,\omega^0,\alpha)$  for some measurable and bounded functions  $h,\ell$ ), we deduce that  $\rho_s^{(1),t,\mu,\alpha}(\omega^0)(\varphi)$  is jointly measurable in  $(t,s,\omega^0,\mu,\alpha)$ . By Proposition 1.1.1, this means that the map  $(t,s,\omega^0,\mu,\alpha) \in [0,T] \times [0,T] \times \Omega^0 \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathcal{A} \mapsto \rho_s^{(1),t,\mu,\alpha}(\omega^0) \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  is measurable.

- We define recursively  $X^{(m+1),t,\xi,\alpha}$  assuming that  $X^{(m),t,\xi,\alpha}$  has been already defined. We assume that the map  $X^{(m),t,\xi,\alpha}$ :  $([t,T] \times \Omega, \mathcal{B}([t,T]) \otimes \mathcal{F}) \to (\mathbb{R}^d, \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^d))$  is measurable (up to indistinguishability), and we define  $\rho_s^{(m),t,\mu,\alpha}(\omega^0)$  given by formula (4.3.1) with  $X^{(m),t,\xi,\alpha}$  instead of  $X^{t,\xi,\alpha}$ . Moreover, we suppose that  $\rho_s^{(m),t,\mu,\alpha}(\omega^0)$  is jointly measurable in  $(t,s,\omega^0,\mu,\alpha)$ . Then, we define the process  $X^{(m+1),t,\xi,\alpha}$  as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} X_s^{(m+1),t,\xi,\alpha} &= \xi + \int_t^s b(X_r^{(m),t,\xi,\alpha},\rho_r^{(m),t,\mu,\alpha},\alpha_r)dr + \int_t^s \sigma(X_r^{(m),t,\xi,\alpha},\rho_r^{(m),t,\mu,\alpha},\alpha_r)dB_r \\ &+ \int_t^s \sigma_0(X_r^{(m),t,\xi,\alpha},\rho_r^{(m),t,\mu,\alpha},\alpha_r)dW_r^0, \end{aligned}$$

for  $0 \leq t \leq s \leq T$  (and  $X_s^{(m+1),t,\xi,\alpha} = \xi$  when s < t), and notice by construction that the map  $X^{(m+1),t,\xi,\alpha} : [t,T] \times \Omega, \mathcal{B}([t,T]) \otimes \mathcal{F}) \to (\mathbb{R}^d, \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^d))$  is measurable, up to indistinguishability. We can then define  $\rho^{(m+1),t,\mu,\alpha}$  by formula (4.3.1) with  $X^{(m+1),t,\xi,\alpha}$  instead of  $X^{t,\xi,\alpha}$ , namely

$$\rho_s^{(m+1),t,\mu,\alpha}(\omega^0)(\varphi) = \mathbb{E}^1 \Big[ \varphi \big( X_s^{(m+1),t,\xi,\alpha}(\omega^0,.) \big) \Big],$$

for any  $\varphi \in \mathscr{C}_2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $\omega^0 \in \Omega^0$ . From the (iterated) dependence of  $X^{(m+1),t,\xi,\alpha}$  on  $\xi$ , and by Fubini's theorem (recalling the product structure of the probability space  $\Omega^1$  on which are defined the random variable  $\xi$  of law  $\mu$  and the Brownian motion B), we then have

$$\rho_s^{(m+1),t,\mu,\alpha}(\omega^0)(\varphi) \quad = \quad \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Phi^{(m+1)}(x,t,s,\omega^0,\mu,\alpha)\mu(dx),$$

where  $\Phi^{(m+1)}$ :  $\mathbb{R}^d \times [0,T] \times [0,T] \times \Omega^0 \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathcal{A} \to \mathbb{R}$  is measurable with quadratic growth condition uniformly in  $(t, s, \omega^0, \alpha)$ , and given by

$$\begin{split} \Phi^{(m+1)}(x,t,s,\omega^{0},\mu,\alpha) &= \mathbb{E}^{1}\Big[\varphi\Big(x+\int_{t}^{s}b(x+\ldots,\rho_{r}^{(m),t,\mu,\alpha},\alpha_{r})dr \\ &+ \int_{t}^{s}\sigma(x+\ldots,\rho_{r}^{(m),t,\mu,\alpha},\alpha_{r})dB_{r} \\ &+ \int_{t}^{s}\sigma_{0}(x+\ldots,\rho_{r}^{(m),t,\mu,\alpha},\alpha_{r})dW_{r}(\omega^{0})\Big)\Big], \ t \leq s \leq T, \end{split}$$

and  $\Phi^{(m+1)}(x,t,s,\omega^0,\alpha) = \varphi(x)$  when s < t. We then see that  $\rho_s^{(m+1),t,\mu,\alpha}(\omega^0)(\varphi)$  is jointly measurable in  $(t,s,\omega^0,\mu,\alpha)$  (using again a monotone class argument), and deduce by Proposition 1.1.1 that the map  $(t,s,\omega^0,\mu,\alpha) \in [0,T] \times [0,T] \times \Omega^0 \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathcal{A} \mapsto \rho_s^{(m+1),t,\mu,\alpha}(\omega^0) \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  is measurable.

Now that we have constructed the sequence  $(X^{(m),t,\xi,\alpha})_m$ , one can show by proceeding along the same lines as in the proof of Theorem IX.2.1 in [RY99] or Theorem V.8 in [Pro05] that

$$\sup_{t \le s \le T} |X_s^{(m),t,\xi,\alpha} - X_s^{t,\xi,\alpha}| \quad \xrightarrow{\mathbb{P}}_{m \to \infty} \quad 0,$$

where the convergence holds in probability. Then, by the same arguments as in the proof of Lemma 3.2 in [BCP18] (see their Appendix B), this implies that the following convergence holds in probability:

$$\mathcal{W}_2\left(\rho_s^{(m),t,\mu,\alpha},\rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha}\right) \xrightarrow[m \to \infty]{\mathbb{P}^0} 0,$$

for all  $s \in [t,T]$ ,  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , and  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ . Since for any  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $\rho_s^{(m),t,\mu,\alpha}(\omega^0)$  is jointly measurable in  $(t,s,\omega^0,\mu,\alpha)$ , we deduce by proceeding for instance as in the first item of Exercise IV.5.17 in [RY99], and recalling that  $\mathcal{F}^0$  is assumed to be a complete  $\sigma$ -field, that the map  $(t,s,\omega^0,\mu,\alpha) \in [0,T] \times [0,T] \times \Omega^0 \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathcal{A} \mapsto \rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha}(\omega^0) \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  is measurable.

**3.** Let us finally check the flow property (4.3.2). From pathwise uniqueness of the solution  $\{X_s(\omega^0, .), t \leq s \leq T\}$  to (4.2.1) on  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}^1, \mathbb{P}^1)$  for  $\mathbb{P}^0$ -a.s.  $\omega^0 \in \Omega^0$ , and recalling the definition of the shifted control process, we have the flow property: for  $t \in [0, T], \xi \in L^2(\mathcal{F}_t; \mathbb{R}^d), \alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ , and  $\mathbb{P}^0$ -a.s.  $\omega^0 \in \Omega^0$ ,

$$X_s^{t,\xi,\alpha}(\omega^0,.) = X_s^{\theta(\omega^0), X_{\theta(\omega^0)}^{t,\xi,\alpha}(\omega^0,.), \alpha^{\theta(\omega^0),\omega^0}}(\omega^0,.), \quad \mathbb{P}^1 - a.s$$

for all  $\mathbb{F}^0$ -stopping time  $\theta$  valued in [t, T]. It follows that for any Borel-measurable bounded function  $\varphi$  on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , and for  $\mathbb{P}^0$ -a.s  $\omega^0 \in \Omega^0$ ,

$$\begin{split} \rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha}(\omega^0)(\varphi) \ &= \ \mathbb{E}^1\Big[\varphi\big(X_s^{t,\xi,\alpha}(\omega^0,.)\big)\Big] &= \ \mathbb{E}^1\Big[\varphi\big(X_s^{\theta(\omega^0),X_{\theta(\omega^0)}^{t,\xi,\alpha}(\omega^0,.),\alpha^{\theta(\omega^0),\omega^0}}(\omega^0,.)\big)\Big] \\ &= \ \rho_s^{\theta(\omega^0),\rho_{\theta(\omega^0)}^{t,\mu,\alpha}(\omega^0),\alpha^{\theta(\omega^0),\omega^0}}(\omega^0)(\varphi), \end{split}$$

where the last equality is obtained by noting that  $\rho_{\theta(\omega^0)}^{t,\mu,\alpha}(\omega^0) = \mathbb{P}^{W^0}_{X^{t,\xi,\alpha}_{\theta(\omega^0)}(\omega^0,.)}$ , and the definition of  $\rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha}$ . This shows the required flow property (4.3.2).

Now, by the law of iterated conditional expectations, from (4.2.3), (4.3.1), and recalling that  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ 

#### 4.3. Dynamic programming

is  $\mathbb{F}^0$ -progressive, we can rewrite the cost functional as

$$J(t,\xi,\alpha) = \mathbb{E}\Big[\int_{t}^{T} \mathbb{E}\Big[f\big(X_{s}^{t,\xi},\mathbb{P}_{X_{s}^{t,\xi}}^{W^{0}},\alpha_{s}\big)\big|\mathcal{F}_{s}^{0}\Big]ds + \mathbb{E}\Big[g\big(X_{T}^{t,\xi},\mathbb{P}_{X_{T}^{t,\xi}}^{W^{0}}\big)\big|\mathcal{F}_{T}^{0}\Big]\Big] \\ = \mathbb{E}\Big[\int_{t}^{T} \rho_{s}^{t,\mu}\big(f(.,\rho_{s}^{t,\mu},\alpha_{s})\big)ds + \rho_{T}^{t,\mu}\big(g(.,\rho_{T}^{t,\mu})\big)\Big] \\ = \mathbb{E}\Big[\int_{t}^{T} \hat{f}(\rho_{s}^{t,\mu},\alpha_{s})ds + \hat{g}(\rho_{T}^{t,\mu})\Big],$$
(4.3.3)

for  $t \in [0,T]$ ,  $\xi \in L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$  with law  $\mu = \mathcal{L}(\xi) = \mathbb{P}_{\xi}^{W^0} \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ , and with the functions  $\hat{f} : \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbf{A} \to \mathbb{R}$ , and  $\hat{g} : \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \to \mathbb{R}$ , defined by

$$\begin{cases} \hat{f}(\mu, a) := \mu(f(., \mu, a)) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(x, \mu, a)\mu(dx) \\ \hat{g}(\mu) := \mu(g(., \mu)) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} g(x, \mu)\mu(dx). \end{cases}$$
(4.3.4)

(To alleviate notations, we have omitted here the dependence of  $\rho_s^{t,\mu} = \rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha}$  on  $\alpha$ ). Relation (4.3.3) means that the cost functional depends on  $\xi$  only through its distribution  $\mu = \mathcal{L}(\xi)$ , and by misuse of notation, we set:

$$J(t,\mu,\alpha) := J(t,\xi,\alpha) = \mathbb{E}^0 \Big[ \int_t^T \hat{f}(\rho_s^{t,\mu},\alpha_s) ds + \hat{g}(\rho_T^{t,\mu}) \Big]$$

for  $(t,\mu) \in [0,T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $\xi \in L^2(\mathcal{G};\mathbb{R}^d)$  with  $\mathcal{L}(\xi) = \mu$ , and the expectation is taken under  $\mathbb{P}^0$  since  $\{\rho_s^{t,\mu}, t \leq s \leq T\}$  is  $\mathbb{P}^0$ -progressive, and the control  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  is an  $\mathbb{P}^0$ -progressive process. Therefore, the value function can be identified with a function defined on  $[0,T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , equal to (we keep the same notation  $v(t,\mu) = v(t,\xi)$ ):

$$v(t,\mu) = \inf_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \mathbb{E}^0 \Big[ \int_t^T \hat{f}(\rho_s^{t,\mu}, \alpha_s) ds + \hat{g}(\rho_T^{t,\mu}) \Big],$$

and satisfying from (4.2.5) the quadratic growth condition

$$|v(t,\mu)| \leq C(1+||\mu||_2^2), \quad \forall \mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d).$$
 (4.3.5)

As a consequence of the flow property in Lemma 4.3.1, we obtain the following conditioning lemma, also called pseudo-Markov property in the terminology of [CTT16], for the controlled conditional distribution  $\mathbb{F}^0$ -progressive process  $\{\rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha}, t \leq s \leq T\}$ .

**Lemma 4.3.2.** For any  $(t, \mu, \alpha) \in [0, T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathcal{A}$ , and  $\theta \in \mathcal{T}_{t,T}^0$ , we have

$$J(\theta, \rho_{\theta}^{t,\mu,\alpha}, \alpha^{\theta}) = \mathbb{E}^{0} \Big[ \int_{\theta}^{T} \hat{f}(\rho_{s}^{t,\mu,\alpha}, \alpha_{s}) ds + \hat{g}(\rho_{T}^{t,\mu,\alpha}) \Big| \mathcal{F}_{\theta}^{0} \Big], \quad \mathbb{P}^{0} - a.s$$
(4.3.6)

**Proof.** By the joint measurability property of  $\rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha}$  in  $(t, s, \omega^0, \mu, \alpha)$  in Lemma 4.3.1, the flow property (4.3.2), and since  $\rho_{\theta}^{t,\mu,\alpha}$  is  $\mathcal{F}_{\theta}^0$ -measurable for  $\theta \mathbb{F}^0$ -stopping time, we have for  $\mathbb{P}^0$ -a.s  $\omega^0 \in \Omega^0$ ,

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E}^{0} \Big[ \int_{\theta}^{T} \hat{f}(\rho_{s}^{t,\mu,\alpha},\alpha_{s}) ds + \hat{g}(\rho_{T}^{t,\mu,\alpha}) \big| \mathcal{F}_{\theta}^{0} \Big](\omega^{0}) \\ &= \left. \mathbb{E}^{0} \Big[ \int_{r}^{T} \hat{f}(\rho_{s}^{r,\pi,\beta},\beta_{s}) + \hat{g}(\rho_{T}^{r,\pi,\beta}) \big| \mathcal{F}_{r}^{0} \Big](\omega^{0}) \right|_{r=\theta(\omega^{0}),\pi=\rho_{\theta(\omega^{0})}^{t,\mu,\alpha}(\omega^{0}),\beta=\alpha^{r,\omega^{0}}} \\ &= \left. \mathbb{E}^{0} \Big[ \int_{r}^{T} \hat{f}(\rho_{s}^{r,\pi,\beta},\beta_{s}) + \hat{g}(\rho_{T}^{r,\pi,\beta}) \Big] \right|_{r=\theta(\omega^{0}),\pi=\rho_{\theta(\omega^{0})}^{t,\mu,\alpha}(\omega^{0}),\beta=\alpha^{r,\omega^{0}}}, \end{split}$$

where we used in the second equality the fact that for fixed  $\omega^0$ ,  $r \in [t, T]$ ,  $\pi \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  represented by  $\eta \in L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$  s.t.  $\mathcal{L}(\xi) = \pi$ , the process  $\alpha^{r,\omega^0}$  lies in  $\mathcal{A}_r$ , hence is independent of  $\mathcal{F}_r^0$ , which implies that  $X_s^{r,\eta,\alpha^{r,\omega^0}}$  is independent of  $\mathcal{F}_r$ , and thus  $\rho_s^{r,\pi,\alpha^{r,\omega^0}}$  is also independent of  $\mathcal{F}_r^0$  for  $r \leq s$ . This shows the conditioning relation (4.3.6).

### 4.3.2 Continuity of the value function and dynamic programming principle

In this paragraph, we show the continuity of the value function, which is helpful for proving next the dynamic programming principle. We mainly follow arguments from [Kry08] for the continuity result that we extend to our McKean-Vlasov framework.

**Lemma 4.3.3.** The function  $(t, \mu) \mapsto J(t, \mu, \alpha)$  is continuous on  $[0, T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , uniformly with respect to  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ , and the function  $\alpha \mapsto J(t, x, \alpha)$  is continuous on  $\mathcal{A}$  for any  $(t, \mu) \in [0, T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Consequently, the cost functional J is continuous on  $[0, T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathcal{A}$ , and the value function v is continuous on  $[0, T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ .

**Proof.** (1) For any  $0 \le t \le s \le T$ ,  $\mu, \pi \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ , recall that  $\mathbb{P}^0$ -a.s.  $\omega^0 \in \Omega^0$ , we have  $\mathbb{P}^1_{X^{t,\xi,\alpha}_r(\omega^0,.)} = \rho^{t,\mu,\alpha}_r(\omega^0)$ ,  $\mathbb{P}^1_{X^{s,\zeta,\alpha}_r(\omega^0,.)} = \rho^{s,\pi,\alpha}_r(\omega^0)$  for  $r \in [s,T]$ , and any  $\xi, \zeta \in L^2(\mathcal{G};\mathbb{R}^d)$  s.t.  $\mathcal{L}(\xi) = \mu$ ,  $\mathcal{L}(\zeta) = \pi$ . By definition of  $\|.\|_2$  and the Wasserstein distance in  $\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , we then have:  $\|\rho^{t,\mu,\alpha}_r(\omega^0)\|_2 = \mathbb{E}^1 |X^{t,\xi,\alpha}_r(\omega^0,.)|^2$ , and  $\mathcal{W}^2_2(\rho^{t,\mu,\alpha}_r(\omega^0),\rho^{s,\pi,\alpha}_r(\omega^0)) \le \mathbb{E}^1 |X^{t,\xi,\alpha}_r(\omega^0,.) - X^{s,\zeta,\alpha}_r(\omega^0,.)|^2$ , so that

$$\mathbb{E}^{0} \left[ \sup_{s \le r \le T} \|\rho_{r}^{t,\mu,\alpha}\|_{_{2}}^{2} \right] \le \mathbb{E} \left[ \sup_{s \le r \le T} |X_{r}^{t,\xi,\alpha}|^{2} \right],$$

$$(4.3.7)$$

$$\mathbb{E}^{0}\left[\sup_{s\leq r\leq T}\mathcal{W}_{2}^{2}(\rho_{r}^{t,\mu,\alpha},\rho_{r}^{s,\pi,\alpha})\right] \leq \mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{s\leq r\leq T}|X_{r}^{t,\xi,\alpha}-X_{r}^{s,\zeta,\alpha}|^{2}\right].$$
(4.3.8)

From the state equation (4.2.1), and using standard arguments involving Burkholder-Davis-Gundy inequalities, (4.3.7), (4.3.8), and Gronwall lemma, under the Lipschitz condition in **(H1)**(i), we obtain the following estimates similar to the ones for controlled diffusion processes (see [Kry08], Chap.2, Thm.5.9, Cor.5.10): there exists some positive constant C s.t. for all  $t \in [0, T]$ ,  $\xi, \zeta \in L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ ,  $h \in [0, T-t]$ ,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{\substack{t \le s \le t+h \\ t \le s \le T}} |X_s^{t,\xi,\alpha} - \xi|^2\right] \le C(1 + \mathbb{E}|\xi|^2)h,$$

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{\substack{t \le s \le T \\ t \le s \le T}} |X_s^{t,\xi,\alpha} - X_s^{t,\zeta,\alpha}|^2\right] \le C\mathbb{E}[|\xi - \zeta|^2],$$

from which we easily deduce that for all  $0 \le t \le s \le T$ ,  $\xi, \zeta \in L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d), \alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ 

$$\mathbb{E}\Big[\sup_{s\leq r\leq T}|X_r^{t,\xi,\alpha}-X_r^{s,\zeta,\alpha}|^2\Big] \leq C\big(\mathbb{E}|\xi-\zeta|^2+(1+\mathbb{E}|\xi|^2+\mathbb{E}|\zeta|^2)|s-t|\big).$$
(4.3.9)

Together with the estimates (4.2.2), and by definition of  $W_2(\mu, \pi)$ ,  $\|\mu\|_2$ ,  $\|\pi\|_2$ , we then get from (4.3.7), (4.3.8):

$$\mathbb{E}^{0} \left[ \sup_{s \le r \le T} \|\rho_{r}^{t,\mu,\alpha}\|_{2}^{2} \right] \le C(1 + \|\mu\|_{2}^{2}), \tag{4.3.10}$$

$$\mathbb{E}^{0} \Big[ \sup_{s \le r \le T} \mathcal{W}_{2}^{2}(\rho_{r}^{t,\mu,\alpha},\rho_{r}^{s,\pi,\alpha}) \Big] \le C \big( \mathcal{W}_{2}^{2}(\mu,\pi) + (1 + \|\mu\|_{2}^{2} + \|\pi\|_{2}^{2})|s-t| \big).$$
(4.3.11)

(2) Let us now show the continuity of the cost functional J in  $(t, \mu)$ , uniformly w.r.t.  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ . First, we notice from the growth condition in **(H2)**(i) and the local Lipschitz condition in **(H2)**(ii) that there

#### 4.3. Dynamic programming

exists some positive constant C s.t. for all  $\mu, \pi \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d), \alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} |\hat{f}(\mu,\alpha)| &\leq C \left(1 + \|\mu\|_2^2\right), \\ |\hat{f}(\mu,\alpha) - \hat{f}(\pi,\alpha)| + |\hat{g}(\mu) - \hat{g}(\pi)| &\leq C (1 + \|\mu\|_2 + \|\pi\|_2) \mathcal{W}_2(\mu,\pi). \end{aligned}$$

Then, we have for all  $0 \leq t \leq s \leq T$ ,  $\mu, \pi \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ 

$$\begin{split} \left| J(t,\mu,\alpha) - J(s,\pi,\alpha) \right| &\leq \mathbb{E}^{0} \Big[ \int_{t}^{s} |\hat{f}(\rho_{r}^{t,\mu,\alpha})| dr \Big] \\ &+ \mathbb{E}^{0} \Big[ \int_{s}^{T} |\hat{f}(\rho_{r}^{t,\mu,\alpha},\alpha_{r}) - \hat{f}(\rho_{r}^{s,\pi,\alpha},\alpha_{r})| dr + \left| \hat{g}(\rho_{T}^{t,\mu,\alpha}) - \hat{g}(\rho_{T}^{s,\pi,\alpha}) \right| \Big] \\ &\leq C \mathbb{E}^{0} \Big[ (1 + \sup_{t \leq r \leq s} (\|\rho_{r}^{t,\mu,\alpha}\|_{2})|s - t| \Big] \\ &+ C \mathbb{E}^{0} \Big[ (1 + \sup_{s \leq r \leq T} (\|\rho_{r}^{t,\mu,\alpha}\|_{2} + \|\rho_{r}^{s,\pi,\alpha}\|_{2}) \Big) \sup_{s \leq r \leq T} \mathcal{W}_{2}(\rho_{r}^{t,\mu,\alpha},\rho_{r}^{s,\pi,\alpha}) \Big] \\ &\leq C (1 + \|\mu\|_{2})|s - t| \\ &+ C (1 + \|\mu\|_{2} + \|\pi\|_{2}) \big( \mathcal{W}_{2}(\mu,\pi) + (1 + \|\mu\|_{2} + \|\pi\|_{2})|s - t|^{\frac{1}{2}} \big), \end{split}$$

by Cauchy Schwarz inequality and (4.3.10)-(4.3.11), which shows the desired continuity result.

(3) Let us show the continuity of the cost functional with respect to the control. Fix  $(t, \mu) \in [0, T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , and consider  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ , a sequence  $(\alpha^n)_n$  in  $\mathcal{A}$  s.t.  $\Delta(\alpha^n, \alpha) \to 0$ , i.e.  $d_A(\alpha^n_t, \alpha_t) \to 0$  in  $dt \otimes d\mathbb{P}^0$ -measure, as n goes to infinity. Denote by  $\rho^n = \rho^{t,\mu,\alpha^n}$ ,  $\rho = \rho^{t,\mu,\alpha}$ ,  $X^n = X^{t,\xi,\alpha^n}$ ,  $X = X^{t,\xi,\alpha}$  for  $\xi \in L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$ s.t.  $\mathcal{L}(\xi) = \mu$ . By the same arguments as in (4.3.8), we have

$$\mathbb{E}^{0}\left[\sup_{t\leq s\leq T}\mathcal{W}_{2}^{2}(\rho_{s}^{n},\rho_{s})\right] \leq \mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{t\leq s\leq T}|X_{s}^{n}-X_{s}|^{2}\right].$$
(4.3.12)

Next, starting from the state equation (4.2.1), using standard arguments involving Burkholder-Davis-Gundy inequalities, (4.3.12), and Gronwall lemma, under the Lipschitz condition in (H1)(i), we arrive at:

$$\mathbb{E}\Big[\sup_{t\leq s\leq T}|X_s^n-X_s|^2\Big] \leq C\Big\{\mathbb{E}\Big[\int_t^T|b(X_s,\rho_s,\alpha_s)-b(X_s,\rho_s,\alpha_s^n)|^2ds \\ +\int_t^T|\sigma(X_s,\rho_s,\alpha_s)-\sigma(X_s,\rho_s,\alpha_s^n)|^2ds \\ +\int_t^T|\sigma_0(X_s,\rho_s,\alpha_s)-\sigma_0(X_s,\rho_s,\alpha_s^n)|^2ds\Big]\Big\},$$

for some positive constant C independent of n. Recalling the bound (4.2.2), and (4.3.7), we deduce by the dominated convergence theorem under the linear growth condition in **(H1)**(i), and the continuity assumption in **(H1)**(ii) that  $\mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{t\leq s\leq T} |X_s^n - X_s|^2\right] \to 0$ , and thus by (4.3.12)

$$\mathbb{E}^{0}\left[\sup_{t\leq s\leq T}\mathcal{W}_{2}^{2}(\rho_{s}^{n},\rho_{s})\right] \to 0, \quad \text{as} \ n\to\infty.$$

$$(4.3.13)$$

Now, by writing

$$\left| J(t,\mu,\alpha^{n}) - J(t,\mu,\alpha) \right|$$

$$\leq \mathbb{E}^{0} \left[ \int_{t}^{T} \left| \hat{f}(\rho_{s}^{n},\alpha_{s}^{n}) - \hat{f}(\rho_{s},\alpha_{s}) \right| ds + \left| \hat{g}(\rho_{T}^{n}) - \hat{g}(\rho_{T}) \right| \right], \qquad (4.3.14)$$

and noting that  $\hat{f}$  and  $\hat{g}$  are continuous on  $\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathbf{A}$ , resp. on  $\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , under the continuity assumption in **(H2)**(ii), we conclude by the same arguments as in [Kry08] using (4.3.13) (see Chapter 3, Sec. 2, or also Lemma 4.1 in [FP15]) that the r.h.s. of (4.3.14) tends to zero as n goes to infinity, which proves the continuity of  $J(t, \mu, .)$  on  $\mathcal{A}$ .

(4) Finally, the global continuity of the cost functional J on  $[0,T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathcal{A}$  is a direct consequence of the continuity of  $J(.,.,\alpha)$  on  $[0,T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  uniformly w.r.t.  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ , and the continuity of  $J(t,\mu,.)$  on  $\mathcal{A}$ , while the continuity of the value function v on  $[0,T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  follows immediately from the fact that

$$|v(t,\mu) - v(s,\pi)| \leq \sup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} |J(t,\mu,\alpha) - J(s,\pi,\alpha)|, \quad t,s \in [0,T], \ \mu,\pi \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d),$$

and again from the continuity of  $J(.,.,\alpha)$  on  $[0,T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  uniformly w.r.t.  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ .

**Remark 4.3.1.** Notice that the supremum defining the value function  $v(t, \mu)$  can be taken over the subset  $\mathcal{A}_t$  of elements in  $\mathcal{A}$  which are independent of  $\mathcal{F}_t^0$  under  $\mathbb{P}^0$ , i.e.

$$v(t,\mu) = \inf_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}_t} \mathbb{E}^0 \left[ \int_t^T \hat{f}(\rho_s^{t,\mu}, \alpha_s) ds + \hat{g}(\rho_T^{t,\mu}) \right].$$
(4.3.15)

Indeed, denoting by  $\tilde{v}(t,\mu)$  the r.h.s. of (4.3.15), and since  $\mathcal{A}_t \subset \mathcal{A}$ , it is clear that  $v(t,\mu) \leq \tilde{v}(t,\mu)$ . To prove the reverse inequality, we apply the conditioning relation (4.3.6) for  $\theta = t$ , and get in particular for all  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ :

$$\int_{\Omega^0} J(t,\mu,\alpha^{t,\omega^0}) \mathbb{P}^0(d\omega^0) = J(t,\mu,\alpha).$$
(4.3.16)

Now, recalling that for any fixed  $\omega^0 \in \Omega^0$ ,  $\alpha^{t,\omega^0}$  lies in  $\mathcal{A}_t$ , we have  $J(t,\mu,\alpha^{t,\omega^0}) \geq \tilde{v}(t,\mu)$ , which proves the required result since  $\alpha$  is arbitrary in (4.3.16).

We can now state the dynamic programming principle (DPP) for the value function to the stochastic McKean-Vlasov control problem.

**Proposition 4.3.1.** (Dynamic Programming Principle)

We have for all  $(t, \mu) \in [0, T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,

$$\begin{split} v(t,\mu) &= \inf_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \inf_{\theta \in \mathcal{T}_{t,T}^{0}} \mathbb{E}^{0} \Big[ \int_{t}^{\theta} \hat{f}(\rho_{s}^{t,\mu,\alpha},\alpha_{s}) ds \ + \ v(\theta,\rho_{\theta}^{t,\mu,\alpha}) \Big] \\ &= \inf_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \sup_{\theta \in \mathcal{T}_{t,T}^{0}} \mathbb{E}^{0} \Big[ \int_{t}^{\theta} \hat{f}(\rho_{s}^{t,\mu,\alpha},\alpha_{s}) ds \ + \ v(\theta,\rho_{\theta}^{t,\mu,\alpha}) \Big], \end{split}$$

which means equivalently that

(i) for all  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}, \ \theta \in \mathcal{T}^0_{t,T}$ ,

$$v(t,\mu) \leq \mathbb{E}^{0} \Big[ \int_{t}^{\theta} \hat{f}(\rho_{s}^{t,\mu,\alpha},\alpha_{s}) ds + v(\theta,\rho_{\theta}^{t,\mu,\alpha}) \Big], \qquad (4.3.17)$$

(ii) for all  $\varepsilon > 0$ , there exists  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ , such that for all  $\theta \in \mathcal{T}^0_{t,T}$ ,

$$v(t,\mu) + \varepsilon \geq \mathbb{E}^{0} \Big[ \int_{t}^{\theta} \hat{f}(\rho_{s}^{t,\mu,\alpha},\alpha_{s}) ds + v(\theta,\rho_{\theta}^{t,\mu,\alpha}) \Big].$$

$$(4.3.18)$$

#### 4.3. Dynamic programming

**Remark 4.3.2.** The above formulation of the DPP implies in particular that for all  $\theta \in \mathcal{T}_{t,T}^0$ ,

$$v(t,\mu) = \inf_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \mathbb{E}^{0} \Big[ \int_{t}^{\theta} \hat{f}(\rho_{s}^{t,\mu,\alpha},\alpha_{s}) ds + v(\theta,\rho_{\theta}^{t,\mu,\alpha}) \Big],$$

which is the usual formulation of the DPP. The formulation in Proposition 4.3.1 is stronger, and the difference relies on the fact that in the inequality (4.3.18), the  $\varepsilon$ -optimal control  $\alpha = \alpha^{\varepsilon}$  does not depend on  $\theta$ . This condition will be useful to show later the viscosity supersolution property of the value function.

**Proof. 1.** Fix  $(t, \mu) \in [0, T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . From the conditioning relation (4.3.6), we have for all  $\theta \in \mathcal{T}_{t,T}^0$ ,  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ ,

$$J(t,\mu,\alpha) = \mathbb{E}^{0} \left[ \int_{t}^{\theta} \hat{f}(\rho_{s}^{t,\mu,\alpha},\alpha_{s}) ds + J(\theta,\rho_{\theta}^{t,\mu,\alpha},\alpha^{\theta}) \right].$$
(4.3.19)

Since  $J(.,.,\alpha^{\theta}) \geq v(.,.)$ , and  $\theta$  is arbitrary in  $\mathcal{T}_{t,T}^{0}$ , we have

$$J(t,\mu,\alpha) \geq \sup_{\theta \in \mathcal{T}_{t,T}^{0}} \mathbb{E}^{0} \Big[ \int_{t}^{\theta} \hat{f}(\rho_{s}^{t,\mu,\alpha},\alpha_{s}) ds + v(\theta,\rho_{\theta}^{t,\mu,\alpha}) \Big].$$

and since  $\alpha$  is arbitrary in  $\mathcal{A}$ , it follows that

$$v(t,\mu) \geq \inf_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \sup_{\theta \in \mathcal{T}_{t,T}^{0}} \mathbb{E}^{0} \Big[ \int_{t}^{\theta} \hat{f}(\rho_{s}^{t,\mu,\alpha},\alpha_{s}) ds + v(\theta,\rho_{\theta}^{t,\mu,\alpha}) \Big]$$
(4.3.20)

**2.** Fix  $(t,\mu) \in [0,T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  and  $\theta \in \mathcal{T}^0_{t,T}$ . For any  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\omega^0 \in \Omega^0$ , one can find from (4.3.15) some  $\alpha^{(\varepsilon,\omega^0)} \in \mathcal{A}_{\theta(\omega^0)}$  s.t.

$$v(\theta(\omega^{0}), \rho_{\theta(\omega^{0})}^{t,\mu,\alpha}(\omega^{0})) + \varepsilon \geq J(\theta(\omega^{0}), \rho_{\theta(\omega^{0})}^{t,\mu,\alpha}(\omega^{0}), \alpha^{(\varepsilon,\omega^{0})}).$$

$$(4.3.21)$$

Since J and v are continuous (by Lemma 4.3.3), one can invoke measurable selection arguments (see e.g. [Wag80]), to claim that the map  $\omega^0 \in (\Omega^0, \mathcal{F}^0) \mapsto \alpha^{(\varepsilon, \omega^0)} \in (\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B}_{\mathcal{A}})$  can be chosen measurable. Let us now define the process  $\bar{\alpha}$  on  $(\Omega^0, \mathcal{F}^0, \mathbb{P}^0)$  obtained by concatenation at  $\theta$  of the processes  $\alpha$  and  $\alpha^{(\varepsilon, \omega^0)}$  in  $\mathcal{A}$ , namely:

$$\bar{\alpha}_s(\omega^0) \quad := \quad \alpha_s(\omega^0) \mathbf{1}_{s < \theta(\omega^0)} + \alpha^{(\varepsilon, \omega^0)}(\omega^0) \mathbf{1}_{s \ge \theta(\omega^0)}, \quad 0 \le s \le T.$$

By Lemma 2.1 in [ST02], and since  $\mathcal{A}$  is a separable metric space, the process  $\bar{\alpha}$  is  $\mathbb{F}^0$ -progressively measurable, and thus  $\bar{\alpha} \in \mathcal{A}$ . Notice with our notations of shifted control process that  $\bar{\alpha}^{\theta(\omega^0),\omega^0} = \alpha^{(\varepsilon,\omega^0)}$  for all  $\omega^0$  in  $\Omega^0$ , and then (4.3.21) reads as

$$v(\theta,\rho_{\theta}^{t,\mu,\alpha})+\varepsilon \ \geq \ J(\theta,\rho_{\theta}^{t,\mu,\alpha},\bar{\alpha}^{\theta}), \ \mathbb{P}^0-\text{a.s.}$$

Therefore, by using again (4.3.19) to  $\bar{\alpha}$ , and since  $\rho_s^{t,\mu,\bar{\alpha}} = \rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha}$  for  $s \leq \theta$  (recall that  $\bar{\alpha}_s = \alpha_s$  for  $s < \theta$ , and  $\rho^{t,\mu,\alpha}$  has continuous trajectories), we get

$$\begin{aligned} v(t,\mu) &\leq J(t,\mu,\bar{\alpha}) &= \mathbb{E}^{0} \Big[ \int_{t}^{\theta} \hat{f}(\rho_{s}^{t,\mu,\alpha},\alpha_{s}) ds + J(\theta,\rho_{\theta}^{t,\mu,\alpha},\bar{\alpha}^{\theta}) \Big] \\ &\leq \mathbb{E}^{0} \Big[ \int_{t}^{\theta} \hat{f}(\rho_{s}^{t,\mu,\alpha},\alpha_{s}) ds + v(\theta,\rho_{\theta}^{t,\mu,\alpha}) \Big] + \varepsilon \end{aligned}$$

Since  $\alpha$ ,  $\theta$  and  $\varepsilon$  are arbitrary, this gives the inequality

$$v(t,\mu) \leq \inf_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \inf_{\theta \in \mathcal{T}_{t,T}^{0}} \mathbb{E}^{0} \Big[ \int_{t}^{\theta} \hat{f}(\rho_{s}^{t,\mu,\alpha},\alpha_{s}) ds + v(\theta,\rho_{\theta}^{t,\mu,\alpha}) \Big],$$

which, combined with the first inequality (4.3.20), proves the DPP result.

# 4.4 Bellman equation and viscosity solutions

## 4.4.1 Dynamic programming equation

Based on the DPP in Proposition 4.3.1 and Itô's formula for functions of measure-valued processes in Proposition 1.3.2, the dynamic programming Bellman equation associated to the value function of the stochastic McKean-Vlasov control problem takes the following form:

$$\begin{cases} -\partial_t v - \inf_{a \in \mathbf{A}} \left[ \hat{f}(\mu, a) + \mu \left( \mathbb{L}^a v(t, \mu) \right) + \mu \otimes \mu \left( \mathbb{M}^a v(t, \mu) \right) \right] &= 0, \quad (t, \mu) \in [0, T) \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d), \\ v(T, \mu) &= \hat{g}(\mu), \quad \mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d), \end{cases}$$
(4.4.1)

where for  $\phi \in \mathcal{C}^2_c(\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d))$ ,  $a \in \mathbf{A}$ , and  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $\mathbb{L}^a \phi(\mu) \in L^2_\mu(\mathbb{R})$  is the function  $\mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$  defined by

$$\mathbb{L}^{a}\phi(\mu)(x) := \partial_{\mu}\phi(\mu)(x).b(x,\mu,a) + \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{tr}\left(\partial_{x}\partial_{\mu}\phi(\mu)(x)(\sigma\sigma^{\mathsf{T}} + \sigma_{0}\sigma^{\mathsf{T}}_{0})(x,\mu,a)\right),$$
(4.4.2)

and  $\mathbb{M}^a \phi(\mu) \in L^2_{\mu \otimes \mu}(\mathbb{R})$  is the function  $\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$  defined by

$$\mathbb{M}^{a}\phi(\mu)(x,x') := \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} \left( \partial^{2}_{\mu}\phi(\mu)(x,x')\sigma_{0}(x,\mu,a)\sigma_{0}^{\mathsf{T}}(x',\mu,a) \right).$$
(4.4.3)

Alternatively, by viewing the value function as a function on  $[0, T] \times L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$  via the lifting identification, and keeping the same notation  $v(t, \xi) = v(t, \mathcal{L}(\xi))$  (recall that v depends on  $\xi$  only via its distribution), we see from the connection (1.2.1)-(1.3.8) between derivatives in the Wasserstein space  $\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and in the Hilbert space  $L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$  that the Bellman equation (4.4.1) is written also in  $[0, T] \times L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$ as

$$\begin{cases} -\partial_t v - H\left(\xi, Dv(t,\xi), D^2 v(t,\xi)\right) = 0, \quad (t,\xi) \in [0,T) \times L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d), \\ v(T,\xi) = \tilde{\mathbb{E}}^1 \left[g(\xi, \mathcal{L}(\xi))\right], \quad \xi \in L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d), \end{cases}$$
(4.4.4)

where  $H: L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d) \times L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d) \times S(L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)) \to \mathbb{R}$  is defined by

$$H(\xi, P, Q) = \inf_{a \in \mathbf{A}} \tilde{\mathbb{E}}^{1} \Big[ f(\xi, \mathcal{L}(\xi), a) + P.b(\xi, \mathcal{L}(\xi), a) + \frac{1}{2} Q(\sigma_{0}(\xi, \mathcal{L}(\xi), a)) . \sigma_{0}(\xi, \mathcal{L}(\xi), a) + \frac{1}{2} Q(\sigma(\xi, \mathcal{L}(\xi), a)N) . \sigma(\xi, \mathcal{L}(\xi), a)N \Big],$$
(4.4.5)

with  $N \in L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^n)$  of zero mean, and unit variance, and independent of  $\xi$ .

The purpose of this section is to prove an analytic characterization of the value function in terms of the dynamic programming Bellman equation. We shall adopt a notion of viscosity solutions following the approach in [Lio12], which consists via the lifting identification in working in the Hilbert space  $L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$ instead of working in the Wasserstein space  $\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Indeed, comparison principles for viscosity solutions in the Wasserstein space, or more generally in metric spaces, are difficult to obtain as we have to deal with

locally non compact spaces (see e.g. [AGS08], [GNT08], [FK09]), and instead by working in separable Hilbert spaces, one can essentially reduce to the case of Euclidian spaces by projection, and then take advantage of the results developed for viscosity solutions, in particular here, for second order Hamilton-Jacobi-Bellman equations, see [Lio89b], [FGS15]. We shall assume that the  $\sigma$ -algebra  $\mathcal{G}$  is countably generated upto null sets, which ensures that the Hilbert space  $L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$  is separable, see [Doo94], p. 92. This is satisfied for example when  $\mathcal{G}$  is the Borel  $\sigma$ -algebra of a canonical space  $\tilde{\Omega}^1$  of continuous functions on  $\mathbb{R}_+$  (see Exercise 4.21 in Chapter 1 of [RY99]).

**Definition 4.4.1.** We say that a continuous function  $u : [0,T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \to \mathbb{R}$  is a viscosity (sub, super) solution to (4.4.1) if its lifted version  $\tilde{u}$  on  $[0,T] \times L^2(\mathcal{G};\mathbb{R}^d)$  is a viscosity (sub, super) solution to (4.4.4), that is:

(i)  $\tilde{u}(T,\xi) \leq \tilde{\mathbb{E}}^1[g(\xi,\mathcal{L}(\xi))]$ , and for any test function  $\varphi \in \mathcal{C}^2([0,T] \times L^2(\mathcal{G};\mathbb{R}^d))$  (the set of real-valued continuous functions on  $[0,T] \times L^2(\mathcal{G};\mathbb{R}^d)$  which are continuously differentiable in  $t \in [0,T)$ , and twice continuously Fréchet differentiable on  $L^2(\mathcal{G};\mathbb{R}^d)$ ) s.t.  $\tilde{u} - \varphi$  has a maximum at  $(t,\xi) \in [0,T) \times L^2(\mathcal{G};\mathbb{R}^d)$ , one has

$$-\partial_t \varphi(t,\xi) - H(\xi, D\varphi(t,\xi), D^2 \varphi(t,\xi)) \leq 0$$

(ii)  $\tilde{u}(T,\xi) \geq \tilde{\mathbb{E}}^1 [g(\xi, \mathcal{L}(\xi))]$ , and for any test function  $\varphi \in \mathcal{C}^2([0,T] \times L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d) \text{ s.t. } \tilde{u} - \varphi \text{ has a minimum } at (t,\xi) \in [0,T) \times L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$ , one has

$$-\partial_t \varphi(t,\xi) - H(\xi, D\varphi(t,\xi), D^2 \varphi(t,\xi)) \geq 0.$$

**Remark 4.4.1.** Since the lifted function  $\tilde{u}$  of a smooth solution  $u \in C^2([0,T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d))$  to (4.4.1), may not be smooth in  $[0,T] \times L^2(\mathcal{G};\mathbb{R}^d)$ , it says that u cannot be viewed in general as a viscosity solution to (4.4.1) in the sense of Definition 4.4.1 unless we add the extra-assumption that its lifted function is indeed twice continuously Fréchet differentiable on  $L^2(\mathcal{G};\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Hence, a more natural and intrinsic definition of viscosity solutions would use test functions on  $[0,T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ : in this case, it would be possible to get the viscosity property from the dynamic programming principle and Itô's formula (1.3.7), but as pointed out above, the uniqueness result (and so the characterization) in the Wasserstein space is a challenging issue, beyond the scope of this paper. We have then chosen here to work with test functions on  $[0,T] \times L^2(\mathcal{G};\mathbb{R}^d)$ , not necessarily of the lifted form.

The main result of this section is the viscosity characterization of the value function for the stochastic McKean-Vlasov control problem (4.2.4) to the dynamic programming Bellman equation (4.4.1) (or (4.4.4)).

**Theorem 4.4.1.** The value function v is the unique continuous viscosity solution to (4.4.1) satisfying a quadratic growth condition (4.3.5).

**Proof.** (1) Viscosity property. Let us first reformulate the dynamic programming principle (DPP) of Proposition 4.3.1 for the value function viewed now as a function on  $[0,T] \times L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$ . For this, we take a copy  $\tilde{B}$  of B on the probability space  $(\tilde{\Omega}^1, \mathcal{G}, \tilde{\mathbb{P}}^1)$ , and given  $(t, \xi) \in [0, T] \times L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ , we consider on  $(\tilde{\Omega} = \Omega^0 \times \tilde{\Omega}^1, \tilde{\mathcal{F}} = \mathcal{F}^0 \otimes \mathcal{G}, \tilde{\mathbb{P}} = \mathbb{P}^0 \otimes \tilde{\mathbb{P}}^1)$  the solution  $\tilde{X}^{t,\xi,\alpha}, t \leq s \leq T$ , to the McKean-Vlasov equation

$$\begin{split} \tilde{X}_{s}^{t,\xi,\alpha} &= \xi + \int_{t}^{s} b(\tilde{X}_{r}^{t,\xi,\alpha},\tilde{\mathbb{P}}_{\tilde{X}_{r}^{t,\xi,\alpha}}^{W^{0}},\alpha_{r})dr + \int_{t}^{s} \sigma(\tilde{X}_{r}^{t,\xi,\alpha},\tilde{\mathbb{P}}_{\tilde{X}_{r}^{t,\xi,\alpha}}^{W^{0}},\alpha_{r})d\tilde{B}_{r} \\ &+ \int_{t}^{s} \sigma_{0}(\tilde{X}_{r}^{t,\xi,\alpha},\tilde{\mathbb{P}}_{\tilde{X}_{r}^{t,\xi,\alpha}}^{W^{0}},\alpha_{r})dW_{r}^{0}, \quad t \leq s \leq T, \end{split}$$

where  $\tilde{\mathbb{P}}_{\tilde{X}_{s}^{t,\xi,\alpha}}^{W^{0}}$  denotes the regular conditional distribution of  $\tilde{X}_{s}^{t,\xi,\alpha}$  given  $\mathcal{F}^{0}$ . In other words,  $\tilde{X}^{t,\xi,\alpha}$  is a copy of  $X^{t,\xi,\alpha}$  on  $(\tilde{\Omega},\tilde{\mathcal{F}},\tilde{\mathbb{P}})$ , and denoting by  $\check{X}_{s}^{t,\xi,\alpha}(\omega^{0}) = \tilde{X}_{s}^{t,\xi,\alpha}(\omega^{0},.), t \leq s \leq T$ , we see that the process  $\{\check{X}_{s}^{t,\xi,\alpha}, t \leq s \leq T\}$  is  $\mathbb{F}^{0}$ -progressive, valued in  $L^{2}(\mathcal{G};\mathbb{R}^{d})$ , and  $\tilde{\mathbb{P}}_{\check{X}_{s}^{t,\xi,\alpha}}^{1} = \rho_{s}^{t,\mu,\alpha}$  for  $\mu = \mathcal{L}(\xi)$ . Therefore, the lifted value function on  $[0,T] \times L^{2}(\mathcal{G};\mathbb{R}^{d})$  identified with the value function on  $[0,T] \times \mathcal{P}_{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$  satisfies  $v(s,\check{X}_{s}^{t,\xi,\alpha}) = v(s,\rho_{s}^{t,\mu,\alpha}), t \leq s \leq T$ . By noting that  $\hat{f}(\rho_{s}^{t,\mu,\alpha},\alpha_{s}) = \tilde{\mathbb{E}}^{1}[f(\tilde{X}_{s}^{t,\xi,\alpha},\tilde{\mathbb{P}}_{\check{X}_{s}^{t,\xi,\alpha}}^{1},\alpha_{s})]$ , we obtain from Proposition 4.3.1 the lifted DPP: for all  $(t,\xi) \in [0,T] \times L^{2}(\mathcal{G};\mathbb{R}^{d})$ ,

$$v(t,\xi) = \inf_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \inf_{\theta \in \mathcal{T}_{t,T}^{0}} \mathbb{E}^{0} \Big[ \int_{t}^{\theta} \tilde{\mathbb{E}}^{1} \Big[ f(\tilde{X}_{s}^{t,\xi,\alpha}, \tilde{\mathbb{P}}_{\check{X}_{s}^{t,\xi,\alpha}}^{1}, \alpha_{s}) \Big] ds + v(\theta, \check{X}_{\theta}^{t,\xi,\alpha}) \Big]$$
(4.4.6)

$$= \inf_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \sup_{\theta \in \mathcal{T}^{0}_{t,T}} \mathbb{E}^{0} \Big[ \int_{t}^{\theta} \tilde{\mathbb{E}}^{1} \Big[ f(\tilde{X}^{t,\xi,\alpha}_{s}, \tilde{\mathbb{P}}^{1}_{\check{X}^{t,\xi,\alpha}_{s}}, \alpha_{s}) \Big] ds + v(\theta, \check{X}^{t,\xi,\alpha}_{\theta}) \Big].$$
(4.4.7)

We already know that v is continuous on  $[0,T] \times L^2(\mathcal{G};\mathbb{R}^d)$ , hence in particular at T, so that  $v(T,\xi) = \tilde{\mathbb{E}}^1[g(\xi,\mathcal{L}(\xi))]$ , and it remains to derive the viscosity property for the value function in  $[0,T) \times L^2(\mathcal{G};\mathbb{R}^d)$  by following standard arguments that we adapt in our context.

(i) Subsolution property. Fix  $(t,\xi) \in [0,T) \times L^2(\mathcal{G};\mathbb{R}^d)$ , and consider some test function  $\varphi \in \mathcal{C}^2([0,T] \times L^2(\mathcal{G};\mathbb{R}^d))$  s.t.  $v - \varphi$  has a maximum at  $(t,\xi)$ , and w.l.o.g.  $v(t,\xi) = \varphi(t,\xi)$ , so that  $v \leq \varphi$ . Let a be an arbitrary element in  $\mathbf{A}$ ,  $\alpha \equiv a$  the constant control in  $\mathcal{A}$  equal to a, and consider the stopping time in  $\mathcal{T}_{t,T}^0$ :  $\theta_h = \inf\{s \geq t : \mathbb{E}^1[|\check{X}_s^{t,\xi,a} - \xi|^2] \geq \delta^2\} \wedge (t+h)$ , with  $h \in (0, T-t)$ , and  $\delta$  some positive constant small enough (depending on  $\xi$ ), so that  $\varphi$  and its continuous derivatives  $\partial_t \varphi$ ,  $D\varphi$ ,  $D^2\varphi$  are bounded on the ball in  $L^2(\mathcal{G};\mathbb{R}^d)$  of center  $\xi$  and radius  $\delta$ . From the first part (4.4.6) of the DPP, we get

$$\varphi(t,\xi) \leq \mathbb{E}^0 \Big[ \int_t^{\theta_h} \tilde{\mathbb{E}}^1 \Big[ f(\tilde{X}^{t,\xi,a}_s, \tilde{\mathbb{P}}^1_{\check{X}^{t,\xi,a}_s}, a) \Big] ds + \varphi(\theta_h, \check{X}^{t,\xi,a}_{\theta_h}) \Big].$$

Applying Itô's formula (1.3.9) to  $\varphi(s, \check{X}_s^{t,\xi,a})$ , and noting that the stochastic integral w.r.t.  $W^0$  vanishes under expectation  $\mathbb{E}^0$  by the localization with the stopping time  $\theta_h$ , we then have

$$0 \leq \mathbb{E}^{0} \left[ \frac{1}{h} \int_{t}^{\theta_{h}} \partial_{t} \varphi(s, \check{X}_{s}^{t,\xi,a}) + \tilde{\mathbb{E}}^{1} \left[ f(\tilde{X}_{s}^{t,\xi,a}, \tilde{\mathbb{P}}_{\check{X}_{s}^{t,\xi,a}}^{1}, a) + D\varphi(s, \check{X}_{s}^{t,\xi,a}) . b(\check{X}_{s}^{t,\xi,a}, \tilde{\mathbb{P}}_{\check{X}_{s}^{t,\xi,a}}^{1}, a) \right. \\ \left. + \frac{1}{2} D^{2} \varphi(s, \check{X}_{s}^{t,\xi,a}) (\sigma(\check{X}_{s}^{t,\xi,a}, \tilde{\mathbb{P}}_{\check{X}_{s}^{t,\xi,a}}^{1}, a) N) . \sigma(\check{X}_{s}^{t,\xi,a}, \tilde{\mathbb{P}}_{\check{X}_{s}^{t,\xi,a}}^{1}, a) N \\ \left. + \frac{1}{2} D^{2} \varphi(s, \check{X}_{s}^{t,\xi,a}) (\sigma_{0}(\check{X}_{s}^{t,\xi,a}, \tilde{\mathbb{P}}_{\check{X}_{s}^{t,\xi,a}}^{1}, a)) . \sigma_{0}(\check{X}_{s}^{t,\xi,a}, \tilde{\mathbb{P}}_{\check{X}_{s}^{t,\xi,a}}^{1}, a) \right] ds \right] \\ =: \mathbb{E}^{0} \left[ \frac{1}{h} \int_{t}^{\theta_{h}} F_{s}(t,\xi,a) ds \right], \tag{4.4.8}$$

with  $N \in L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^n)$  of zero mean, and unit variance, and independent of  $(\tilde{B}, \xi)$ . Since the map  $s \in [t, T] \mapsto \tilde{\mathbb{E}}^1[\psi(\tilde{X}^{t,\xi,a}_s)] = \mathbb{E}[\psi(X^{t,\xi,a}_s)|\mathcal{F}^0] = \rho_s^{t,\mu,a}(\psi)$  (for  $\mu = \mathcal{L}(\xi)$ ) is continuous  $\mathbb{P}^0$ -a.s. (recall that  $\rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha}$  is continuous in s), for any bounded continuous function  $\psi$  on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , we see that the process  $\{F_s(t,\xi,a), t \leq s \leq \theta_h\}$  has continuous paths  $\mathbb{P}^0$  almost surely. Moreover, by (standard) Itô's formula, we have for all  $t \leq s \leq T$ ,

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\mathbb{E}}^1 \big[ |\check{X}_s^{t,\xi,a} - \xi|^2 \big] &= \mathbb{E} \big[ |X_s^{t,\xi,a} - \xi|^2 |\mathcal{F}^0 \big] &= \int_t^s \mathbb{E} \big[ 2(X_r^{t,\xi,a} - \xi) \cdot b_r + \sigma_r \sigma_r^{\intercal} + \sigma_r^0 (\sigma_r^0)^{\intercal} |\mathcal{F}^0 \big] dr \\ &+ \int_t^s \mathbb{E} \big[ 2(X_r^{t,\xi,a} - \xi)^{\intercal} \sigma_r^0 |\mathcal{F}^0 \big] dW_r^0, \end{split}$$

#### 4.4. Bellman equation and viscosity solutions

where we set  $b_s = b(X_s^{t,\xi,a}, \mathbb{P}_{X_s^{t,\xi,a}}^{W^0}, a), \sigma_s = \sigma(X_s^{t,\xi,a}, \mathbb{P}_{X_s^{t,\xi,a}}^{W^0}, a), \sigma_s^0 = \sigma_0(X_s^{t,\xi,a}, \mathbb{P}_{X_s^{t,\xi,a}}^{W^0}, a).$  This shows that the map  $s \in [t,T] \mapsto \tilde{\mathbb{E}}^1[|\check{X}_s^{t,\xi,a} - \xi|^2]$  is continuous  $\mathbb{P}^0$ -a.s., and thus  $\theta_h(\omega^0) = t + h$  for h small enough  $(\leq \bar{h}(\omega^0)), \mathbb{P}^0(d\omega^0)$ -a.s. By the mean-value theorem, we then get  $\mathbb{P}^0$  almost surely,  $\frac{1}{h} \int_t^{\theta_h} F_s(t,\xi,a) ds \to F_t(t,\xi,a)$ , as h goes to zero, and so from the dominated convergence theorem in (4.4.8):

$$0 \leq F_t(t,\xi,a) = \partial_t \varphi(t,\xi) + \tilde{\mathbb{E}}^1 \Big[ f(\xi,\mathcal{L}(\xi),a) + D\varphi(t,\xi).b(\xi,\mathcal{L}(\xi),a) \\ + \frac{1}{2} D^2 \varphi(t,\xi) (\sigma(\xi,\mathcal{L}(\xi),a)N).\sigma(\xi,\mathcal{L}(\xi),a)N \\ + \frac{1}{2} D^2 \varphi(t,\xi) (\sigma_0(\xi,\mathcal{L}(\xi),a)).\sigma_0(\xi,\mathcal{L}(\xi),a) \Big].$$

Since a is arbitrary in  $\mathbf{A}$ , this shows the required viscosity subsolution property.

(ii) Supersolution property. Fix  $(t,\xi) \in [0,T) \times L^2(\mathcal{G};\mathbb{R}^d)$ , and consider some test function  $\varphi \in \mathcal{C}^2([0,T] \times L^2(\mathcal{G};\mathbb{R}^d))$  s.t.  $v - \varphi$  has a minimum at  $(t,\xi)$ , and w.l.o.g.  $v(t,\xi) = \varphi(t,\xi)$ , so that  $v \geq \varphi$ . From the continuity assumptions in **(H1)-(H2)**, we observe that the function  $\mathcal{H}$  defined on  $[0,T] \times L^2(\mathcal{G};\mathbb{R}^d)$  by

$$\mathcal{H}(s,\zeta) := H(\zeta, D\varphi(s,\zeta), D^2\varphi(s,\zeta)),$$

is continuous. Then, given an arbitrary  $\varepsilon > 0$ , there exists  $\bar{h} \in (0, T - t)$ ,  $\delta > 0$  s.t. for all  $s \in [t, t + \bar{h}]$ , and  $\zeta \in L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$  with  $\tilde{\mathbb{E}}^1[|\zeta - \xi|^2] \leq \delta$ ,

$$\left| \left( \partial_t \varphi + \mathcal{H} \right)(s, \zeta) - \left( \partial_t \varphi + \mathcal{H} \right)(t, \xi) \right| \leq \varepsilon$$

From the second part (4.4.7) of the DPP, for any  $h \in (0, \bar{h})$ , there exists  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  s.t.

$$\varphi(t,\xi) + \varepsilon h \geq \mathbb{E}^{0} \Big[ \int_{t}^{\theta_{h}} \tilde{\mathbb{E}}^{1} \Big[ f(\tilde{X}^{t,\xi,\alpha}_{s},\tilde{\mathbb{P}}^{1}_{\tilde{X}^{t,\xi,\alpha}_{s}},\alpha_{s}) \Big] ds + \varphi(\theta_{h},\check{X}^{t,\xi,\alpha}_{\theta_{h}}) \Big],$$

where we take  $\theta_h = \inf\{s \ge t : \tilde{\mathbb{E}}^1[|\check{X}_s^{t,\xi,\alpha} - \xi|^2] \ge \delta^2\} \land (t+h)$  (assuming w.l.o.g. that  $\delta$  is small enough (depending on  $\xi$ ), so that  $\varphi$  and its continuous derivatives  $\partial_t \varphi$ ,  $D\varphi$ ,  $D^2\varphi$  are bounded on the ball in  $L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$  of center  $\xi$  and radius  $\delta$ ). Applying again Itô's formula (1.3.9) to  $\varphi(s, \check{X}_s^{t,\xi,\alpha})$ , and by definition of  $\mathcal{H}$ , we get

$$\varepsilon \geq \mathbb{E}^{0} \left[ \frac{1}{h} \int_{t}^{\theta_{h}} \left( \partial_{t} \varphi + \mathcal{H} \right) (s, \check{X}_{s}^{t,\xi,\alpha}) ds \right]$$
  
$$\geq \left[ \left( \partial_{t} \varphi + \mathcal{H} \right) (t,\xi) - \varepsilon \right] \frac{\mathbb{E}^{0} [\theta_{h}] - t}{h}, \qquad (4.4.9)$$

by the choice of h,  $\delta$ , and  $\theta_h$ . Now, by noting from Chebyshev's inequality that

$$\mathbb{P}^{0}[\theta_{h} < t+h] \leq \mathbb{P}^{0}\left[\sup_{\substack{t \le s \le t+h}} \tilde{\mathbb{E}}^{1}[|\check{X}_{s}^{t,\xi,\alpha} - \xi|^{2}] \ge \delta\right]$$

$$\leq \frac{\mathbb{E}^{0}\left[\sup_{\substack{t \le s \le t+h}} \tilde{\mathbb{E}}^{1}[|\check{X}_{s}^{t,\xi,\alpha} - \xi|^{2}]\right]}{\delta} \leq \frac{C(1 + \tilde{\mathbb{E}}^{1}[|\xi|^{2}])h}{\delta}$$

and using the obvious inequality:  $1 - \mathbb{P}^0[\theta_h < t+h] = \mathbb{P}[\theta_h = t+h] \leq \frac{\mathbb{E}^0[\theta_h] - t}{h} \leq 1$ , we see that  $\frac{\mathbb{E}^0[\theta_h] - t}{h}$  converges to 1 when h goes to zero, and deduce from (4.4.9) that

$$2\varepsilon \geq (\partial_t \varphi + \mathcal{H})(t,\xi).$$

We obtain the required viscosity supersolution property by sending  $\varepsilon$  to zero.

(2) Uniqueness property. In view of our definition of viscosity solution, we have to show a comparison principle for viscosity solutions to the lifted Bellman equation (4.4.4). We use the comparison principle proved in Theorem 3.50 in [FGS15] and only need to check that the hypotheses of this theorem are satisfied in our context for the lifted Hamiltonian H defined in (4.4.5). Notice that the Bellman equation (4.4.4) is a bounded equation in the terminology of [FGS15] (see their section 3.3.1) meaning that there is no linear dissipative operator on  $L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$  in the equation. Therefore, the notion of B-continuity reduces to the standard notion of continuity in  $L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d)$  since one can take for B the identity operator. Their Hypothesis 3.44 follows from the uniform continuity of b,  $\sigma$ ,  $\sigma_0$  and f in (H1)-(H2). Hypothesis 3.45 is immediately satisfied since there is no discount factor in our equation, i.e. H does not depend on v but only on its derivatives. The monotonicity condition in  $Q \in S(L^2(\mathcal{G}; \mathbb{R}^d))$  of H in Hypothesis 3.46 is clearly satisfied. Hypothesis 3.47 holds directly when dealing with bounded equations. Hypothesis 3.48 is obtained from the Lipschitz condition of  $b, \sigma, \sigma_0$  in (H1), and the uniform continuity condition on f in (H2), while Hypothesis 3.49 follows from the growth condition of  $\sigma$ ,  $\sigma_0$  in (H1). One can then apply Theorem 3.50 in [FGS15] and conclude that comparison principle holds for the Bellman equation (4.4.4).

We conclude this section with a verification theorem, which gives an analytic feedback form of the optimal control when there is a smooth solution to the Bellman equation (4.4.1) in the Wasserstein space. We refer to the recent paper [GS15a] for existence result of smooth solution to the Bellman equation on small time horizon.

#### **Theorem 4.4.2.** (Verification theorem)

Let  $w : [0,T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \to \mathbb{R}$  be a function in  $\mathcal{C}_b^{1,2}([0,T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d))$ , i.e. w is continuous on  $[0,T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $w(t,.) \in \mathcal{C}_c^2(\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d))$ , and  $w(.,\mu) \in C^1([0,T))$ , and satisfying a quadratic growth condition as in (4.3.5), together with a linear growth condition for its derivative:

$$|\partial_{\mu}w(t,\mu)(x)| \leq C(1+|x|+\|\mu\|_{2}), \quad \forall (t,x,\mu) \in [0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^{d} \times \mathcal{P}_{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d}), \quad (4.4.10)$$

for some positive constant C. Suppose that w is solution to the Bellman equation (4.4.1), and there exists for all  $(t,\mu) \in [0,T) \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  an element  $\hat{a}(t,\mu) \in \mathbf{A}$  attaining the infimum in (4.4.1) s.t. the map  $(t,\mu)$  $\mapsto \hat{a}(t,\mu)$  is measurable, and the stochastic McKean-Vlasov equation

$$\begin{aligned} d\hat{X}_{s} &= b(\hat{X}_{s}, \mathbb{P}^{W^{0}}_{\hat{X}_{s}}, \hat{a}(s, \mathbb{P}^{W^{0}}_{\hat{X}_{s}}))ds + \sigma(\hat{X}_{s}, \mathbb{P}^{W^{0}}_{\hat{X}_{s}}, \hat{a}(s, \mathbb{P}^{W^{0}}_{\hat{X}_{s}}))dB_{s} \\ &+ \sigma_{0}(\hat{X}_{s}, \mathbb{P}^{W^{0}}_{\hat{X}_{s}}, \hat{a}(s, \mathbb{P}^{W^{0}}_{\hat{X}_{s}}))dW_{s}^{0}, \quad t \leq s \leq T, \ \hat{X}_{t} = \xi, \end{aligned}$$

admits a unique solution denoted  $(\hat{X}_s^{t,\xi})_{t\leq s\leq T}$ , for any  $(t,\xi) \in [0,T] \times L^2(\mathcal{G};\mathbb{R}^d)$  (This is satisfied e.g. when  $\mu \mapsto \hat{a}(t,\mu)$  is Lipschitz on  $\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ). Then, w = v, and the feedback control  $\alpha^* \in \mathcal{A}$  defined by

$$\alpha_s^* = \hat{a}(s, \mathbb{P}^{W^0}_{\hat{X}_s^{t,\xi}}), \quad t \le s < T,$$
(4.4.11)

is an optimal control for  $v(t,\mu)$ , i.e.  $v(t,\mu) = J(t,\mu,\alpha^*)$ , with  $\mu = \mathcal{L}(\xi)$ .

**Proof.** Fix  $(t, \mu = \mathcal{L}(\xi)) \in [0, T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , and consider some arbitrary control  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  associated to  $\rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha} = \mathbb{P}_{X_s^{t,\xi,\alpha}}^{W^0}$ ,  $t \leq s \leq T$ . Denote by  $X_s^{'t,\xi,\alpha}$  a copy of  $X_s^{t,\xi,\alpha}$  on another probability space  $(\Omega' = \Omega^0 \times \Omega'^1 \mathcal{F}^0 \otimes \mathcal{F}'^1, \mathbb{P}^0 \times \mathbb{P}'^1)$ , with  $(\Omega'^1, \mathcal{F}'^1, \mathbb{P}'^1)$  supporting B' a copy of B. Applying Itô's formula

86

(1.3.7) to  $w(s, \rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha})$  between t and the  $\mathbb{F}^0$ -stopping time  $\theta_T^n = \inf\{s \ge t : \|\rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha}\|_2 \ge n\} \wedge T$ , we obtain

$$\begin{split} & w(\theta_T^n, \rho_{\theta_T^n}^{t,\mu,\alpha}) \\ = & w(t,\mu) + \int_t^{\theta_T^n} \left\{ \frac{\partial w}{\partial t}(s, \rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha}) + \mathbb{E}_{w^0} \left[ \partial_\mu w(s, \rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha})(X_s^{t,\xi,\alpha}) . b(X_s^{t,\xi,\alpha}, \rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha}, \alpha_s) \right. \\ & \left. + \frac{1}{2} \mathrm{tr} \left[ \partial_x \partial_\mu w(s, \rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha})(X_s^{t,\xi,\alpha})(\sigma \sigma^{\intercal}(X_s^{t,\xi,\alpha}, \rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha}, \alpha_s) + \sigma_0 \sigma_0^{\intercal}(X_s^{t,\xi,\alpha}, \rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha}, \alpha_s)) \right] \right] \\ & \left. + \mathbb{E}_{w^0} \left[ \mathbb{E}'_{w^0} \left[ \frac{1}{2} \mathrm{tr} \left( \partial_\mu^2 w(s, \rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha})(X_s^{t,\xi,\alpha}, X_s^{\prime t,\xi,\alpha}) \sigma_0(X_s^{t,\xi,\alpha}, \rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha}, \alpha_s) \sigma_0^{\intercal}(X_s^{\prime t,\xi,\alpha}, \rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha}, \alpha_s)) \right] \right] \right\} ds \\ & \left. + \int_t^{\theta_T^n} \mathbb{E}_{w^0} \left[ \partial_\mu w(s, \rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha})(X_s^{t,\xi,\alpha})^{\intercal} \sigma_0(X_s^{t,\xi,\alpha}, \rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha})) + \rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha} \otimes \rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha} \left( \mathbb{M}^{\alpha_s} w(s, \rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha}) \right) \right] \right] ds \\ & \left. + \int_t^{\theta_T^n} \mathbb{E}_{w^0} \left[ \partial_\mu w(s, \rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha}) + \rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha} \left( \mathbb{L}^{\alpha_s} w(s, \rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha}) \right) + \rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha} \otimes \rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha} \left( \mathbb{M}^{\alpha_s} w(s, \rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha}) \right) \right] ds \\ & \left. + \int_t^{\theta_T^n} \mathbb{E}_{w^0} \left[ \partial_\mu w(s, \rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha}) (X_s^{t,\xi,\alpha})^{\intercal} \sigma_0(X_s^{t,\xi,\alpha}, \rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha}, \alpha_s) \right] dW_s^0, \end{split}$$

$$(4.4.12)$$

by definition of  $\mathbb{L}^a$  and  $\mathbb{M}^a$  in (4.4.2)-(4.4.3), and recalling again that  $\rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha} = \mathbb{P}_{X_s^{t,\xi,\alpha}}^{W^0}$ . Now, the integrand of the stochastic integral w.r.t.  $W^0$  in (4.4.12) satisfies:

$$\begin{aligned} & \left| \mathbb{E}_{W^0} \left[ \partial_{\mu} w(s, \rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha}) (X_s^{t,\xi,\alpha})^{\mathsf{T}} \sigma_0 (X_s^{t,\xi,\alpha}, \rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha}, \alpha_s) \right] \right|^2 \\ & \leq \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left| \partial_{\mu} w(s, \rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha}) (x)^{\mathsf{T}} \sigma_0 (x, \rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha}, \alpha_s) \right| \rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha} (dx) \right)^2 \\ & \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left| \partial_{\mu} w(s, \rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha}) (x) \right|^2 \rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha} (dx) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left| \sigma_0 (x, \rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha}, \alpha_s) \right|^2 \rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha} (dx) \\ & \leq C(1+n^2)^2 < \infty, \quad t \leq s \leq \theta_T^n, \end{aligned}$$

from Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, the linear growth condition of  $\sigma_0$  in **(H1)**, the choice of  $\theta_T^n$ , and condition (4.4.10). Therefore, the stochastic integral in (4.4.12) vanishes in  $\mathbb{E}^0$ -expectation, and we get

$$\mathbb{E}^{0}\left[w(\theta_{T}^{n},\rho_{\theta_{T}^{n}}^{t,\mu,\alpha})\right] = w(t,\mu) + \mathbb{E}^{0}\left[\int_{t}^{\theta_{T}^{n}} \frac{\partial w}{\partial t}(s,\rho_{s}^{t,\mu,\alpha}) + \rho_{s}^{t,\mu,\alpha}\left(\mathbb{H}^{\alpha_{s}}w(s,\rho_{s}^{t,\mu,\alpha})\right)\right) \\ + \rho_{s}^{t,\mu,\alpha} \otimes \rho_{s}^{t,\mu,\alpha}\left(\mathbb{M}^{\alpha_{s}}w(s,\rho_{s}^{t,\mu,\alpha})\right)ds\right] \\ \geq w(t,\mu) - \mathbb{E}^{0}\left[\int_{t}^{\theta_{T}^{n}} \hat{f}(\rho_{s}^{t,\mu,\alpha},\alpha_{s})ds\right], \qquad (4.4.13)$$

since w satisfies the Bellman equation (4.4.1). By sending n to infinity into (4.4.13), and from the dominated convergence theorem (under the condition that w, f satisfy a quadratic growth condition and recalling the estimation (4.3.10)), we obtain:

$$w(t,\mu) \leq J(t,\mu,\alpha) = \mathbb{E}^0 \Big[ \int_t^T \hat{f}(\rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha},\alpha_s) ds + \hat{g}(\rho_T^{t,\mu,\alpha}) \Big].$$

Since  $\alpha$  is arbitrary in  $\mathcal{A}$ , this shows that  $w \leq v$ .

Finally, by applying the same Itô's argument with the feedback control  $\alpha^* \in \mathcal{A}$  in (4.4.11), and noting that  $\hat{X}_s^{t,\xi} = X_s^{t,\xi,\alpha^*}$ ,  $\mathbb{P}_{\hat{X}_s^{t,\xi}}^{W^0} = \rho_s^{t,\mu,\alpha^*}$ , we have now equality in (4.4.13), hence  $w(t,\mu) = J(t,\mu,\alpha^*)$  ( $\geq v(t,\mu)$ ), and thus finally the required equality:  $w(t,\mu) = v(t,\mu) = J(t,\mu,\alpha^*)$ .

# 4.5 Linear quadratic stochastic McKean-Vlasov control

We consider the linear-quadratic (LQ) stochastic McKean-Vlasov control problem where the control set  $\mathbf{A}$  is a functional space, which corresponds to the McKean-Vlasov problem with common noise as presented in the introduction.

The control set **A** is the set  $L(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{R}^m)$  of Lipschitz functions from  $\mathbb{R}^d$  into  $A = \mathbb{R}^m$ , and we consider a multivariate linear McKean-Vlasov controlled dynamics with coefficients given by

$$\begin{aligned}
b(x, \mu, a) &= b_0 + Bx + B\bar{\mu} + Ca(x), \\
\sigma(x, \mu, a) &= \vartheta + Dx + \bar{D}\bar{\mu} + Fa(x), \\
\sigma_0(x, \mu, a) &= \vartheta_0 + D_0 x + \bar{D}_0\bar{\mu} + F_0a(x),
\end{aligned} \tag{4.5.1}$$

for  $(x, \mu, a) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d) \times L(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{R}^m)$ , where we set

$$\bar{\mu} := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} x \mu(dx).$$

Here B,  $\overline{B}$ , D,  $\overline{D}$ ,  $D_0$ ,  $\overline{D}_0$ , are constant matrices in  $\mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$ , C, F,  $F_0$  are constant matrices in  $\mathbb{R}^{d \times m}$ , and  $b_0$ ,  $\vartheta$ ,  $\vartheta_0$  are constant vectors in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . The quadratic cost functions are given by

$$\begin{aligned}
f(x,\mu,a) &= x^{\mathsf{T}}Q_{2}x + \bar{\mu}^{\mathsf{T}}Q_{2}\bar{\mu} + a(x)^{\mathsf{T}}R_{2}a(x) \\
g(x,\mu) &= x^{\mathsf{T}}P_{2}x + \bar{\mu}^{\mathsf{T}}\bar{P}_{2}\bar{\mu},
\end{aligned} \tag{4.5.2}$$

where  $Q_2$ ,  $\bar{Q}_2$ ,  $P_2$ ,  $\bar{P}_2$  are constant matrices in  $\mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$ ,  $R_2$  is a constant matrix in  $\mathbb{R}^{m \times m}$ . Since f and g are real-valued, we may assume w.l.o.g. that all the matrices  $Q_2$ ,  $\bar{Q}_2$ ,  $R_2$ ,  $P_2$ ,  $\bar{P}_2$  are symmetric. We denote by  $\mathbb{S}^d$  the set of symmetric matrices in  $\mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$ , by  $\mathbb{S}^d_+$  the subset of nonnegative symmetric matrices, by  $\mathbb{S}^d_{>+}$  the subset of symmetric positive definite matrices, and similarly for  $\mathbb{S}^m$ ,  $\mathbb{S}^m_+$ ,  $\mathbb{S}^m_{>+}$ .

The functions  $\hat{f}$  and  $\hat{g}$  defined in (4.3.4) are then given by

$$\begin{cases} \hat{f}(t,\mu,a) = \operatorname{Var}(\mu)(Q_2) + \bar{\mu}^{\mathsf{T}}(Q_2 + \bar{Q}_2)\bar{\mu} + \overline{a \star \mu_2}(R_2) \\ \hat{g}(\mu) = \operatorname{Var}(\mu)(P_2) + \bar{\mu}^{\mathsf{T}}(P_2 + \bar{P}_2)\bar{\mu} \end{cases}$$
(4.5.3)

for any  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $a \in \mathbf{A} = L(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{R}^m)$ , where we set for any  $\Lambda$  in  $\mathbb{S}^d$  (resp. in  $\mathbb{S}^m$ ), and  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  (resp.  $\mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^m)$ ):

$$\bar{\mu}_2(\Lambda) := \int x^{\intercal} \Lambda x \mu(dx), \quad \operatorname{Var}(\mu)(\Lambda) := \bar{\mu}_2(\Lambda) - \bar{\mu}^{\intercal} \Lambda \bar{\mu}_2$$

and  $a \star \mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^m)$  is the image by  $a \in L(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{R}^m)$  of the measure  $\mu \in \mathbb{R}^m$ , so that

$$\overline{a \star \mu} \; = \; \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} a(x) \mu(dx), \qquad \overline{a \star \mu}_{_2}(\Lambda) \; := \; \int a(x)^{\intercal} \Lambda a(x) \mu(dx).$$

We look for a value function solution to the Bellman equation (4.4.1) in the form

$$w(t,\mu) = \operatorname{Var}(\mu)(\Lambda(t)) + \bar{\mu}^{\mathsf{T}}\Gamma(t)\bar{\mu} + \bar{\mu}^{\mathsf{T}}\gamma(t) + \chi(t), \qquad (4.5.4)$$

for some functions  $\Lambda$ ,  $\Gamma \in C^1([0,T]; \mathbb{S}^d)$ ,  $\gamma \in C^1([0,T]; \mathbb{R}^d)$ , and  $\chi \in C^1([0,T]; \mathbb{R})$ . One easily checks that w lies in  $\mathcal{C}_b^{1,2}([0,T] \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d))$  with

$$\partial_t w(t,\mu) = \operatorname{Var}(\mu)(\Lambda'(t)) + \bar{\mu}^{\mathsf{T}} \Gamma'(t)\bar{\mu} + \gamma'(t)\bar{\mu} + \chi'(t),$$
  

$$\partial_\mu w(t,\mu)(x) = 2\Lambda(t)(x-\bar{\mu}) + 2\Gamma(t)\bar{\mu} + \gamma(t),$$
  

$$\partial_x \partial_\mu w(t,\mu)(x) = 2\Lambda(t),$$
  

$$\partial_\mu^2 w(t,\mu)(x,x') = 2(\Gamma(t) - \Lambda(t)).$$

Together with the quadratic expression (4.5.3) of  $\hat{f}$ ,  $\hat{g}$ , we then see after some tedious but direct calculations that w satisfies the Bellman equation (4.4.1) iff

$$\operatorname{Var}(\mu)(\Lambda(T)) + \bar{\mu}^{\mathsf{T}} \Gamma(T) \bar{\mu} + \bar{\mu}^{\mathsf{T}} \gamma(T) + \chi(T)$$
  
= 
$$\operatorname{Var}(\mu)(P_2) + \bar{\mu}^{\mathsf{T}} (P_2 + \bar{P}_2) \bar{\mu}, \qquad (4.5.5)$$

holds for all  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , and

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Var}(\mu) \left( \Lambda'(t) + Q_2 + D^{\intercal} \Lambda(t) D + D_0^{\intercal} \Lambda(t) D_0 + \Lambda(t) B + B^{\intercal} \Lambda(t) \right) + \inf_{a \in L(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{R}^m)} G_t^{\mu}(a) \\ &+ \bar{\mu}^{\intercal} \left( \Gamma'(t) + Q_2 + \bar{Q}_2 + (D + \bar{D})^{\intercal} \Lambda(t) (D + \bar{D}) \right) \\ &+ (D_0 + \bar{D}_0)^{\intercal} \Gamma(t) (D_0 + \bar{D}_0) + \Gamma(t) (B + \bar{B}) + (B + \bar{B})^{\intercal} \Gamma(t) \right) \bar{\mu} \\ &+ \bar{\mu}^{\intercal} \left( \gamma'(t) + (B + \bar{B})^{\intercal} \gamma(t) + 2(D + \bar{D})^{\intercal} \Lambda(t) \vartheta + 2(D_0 + \bar{D}_0)^{\intercal} \Gamma(t) \vartheta_0 + 2\Gamma(t) b_0 \right) \\ &+ \chi'(t) + \gamma(t)^{\intercal} b_0 + \vartheta^{\intercal} \Lambda(t) \vartheta + \vartheta_0^{\intercal} \Gamma(t) \vartheta_0 \end{aligned}$$

$$= 0, \qquad (4.5.6)$$

holds for all  $t \in [0,T), \mu \in \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , where the function  $G_t^{\mu} : L(\mathbb{R}^d;\mathbb{R}^m) \to \mathbb{R}$  is defined by

$$G_t^{\mu}(a) = \operatorname{Var}(a \star \mu)(U_t) + \overline{a \star \mu}^{\mathsf{T}} V_t \overline{a \star \mu} + 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (x - \overline{\mu})^{\mathsf{T}} S_t a(x) \mu(dx) + 2\overline{\mu}^{\mathsf{T}} Z_t \overline{a \star \mu} + Y_t . \overline{a \star \mu},$$

and we set  $U_t = U(t, \Lambda(t)), V_t = V(t, \Lambda(t), \Gamma(t)), S_t = S(t, \Lambda(t)), Z_t = Z(t, \Lambda(t), \Gamma(t)), Y_t = Y(t, \Gamma(t), \gamma(t))$ with  $\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} U(t, \Lambda(t)) = -E_{T,\Lambda(t)}E_{T$ 

$$\begin{cases} U(t, \Lambda(t)) = F^{\mathsf{T}}\Lambda(t)F + F_0^{\mathsf{T}}\Lambda(t)F_0 + R_2, \\ V(t, \Lambda(t), \Gamma(t)) = F^{\mathsf{T}}\Lambda(t)F + F_0^{\mathsf{T}}\Gamma(t)F_0 + R_2 \\ S(t, \Lambda(t)) = D^{\mathsf{T}}\Lambda(t)F + D_0^{\mathsf{T}}\Lambda(t)F_0 + \Lambda(t)C + M_2, \\ Z(t, \Lambda(t), \Gamma(t)) = (D + \bar{D})^{\mathsf{T}}\Lambda(t)F + (D_0 + \bar{D}_0)^{\mathsf{T}}\Gamma(t)F + \Gamma(t)C + M_2 \\ Y(t, \Gamma(t), \gamma(t)) = C^{\mathsf{T}}\gamma(t) + 2F^{\mathsf{T}}\Lambda(t)\vartheta + 2F_0^{\mathsf{T}}\Gamma(t)\vartheta_0. \end{cases}$$
(4.5.7)

Then, under the condition that the symmetric matrices  $U_t$  and  $V_t$  in (4.5.7) are positive, hence invertible (this will be discussed later on), we get after square completion:

$$\begin{aligned} G_t^{\mu}(a) &= \operatorname{Var}((a - a^*(t, ., \mu)) \star \mu)(U_t) + \overline{(a - a^*(t, ., \mu)) \star \mu}^{\mathsf{T}} V_t \overline{(a - a^*(t, ., \mu)) \star \mu} \\ &- \operatorname{Var}(\mu) \left( S_t U_t^{-1} S_t^{\mathsf{T}} \right) - \bar{\mu}^{\mathsf{T}} \left( Z_t V_t^{-1} Z_t^{\mathsf{T}} \right) \bar{\mu} - Y_t^{\mathsf{T}} V_t^{-1} Z_t^{\mathsf{T}} \bar{\mu} - \frac{1}{4} Y_t^{\mathsf{T}} V_t^{-1} Y_t. \end{aligned}$$

where  $a(t, ., \mu) \in L^{(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{R}^m)}$  is given by

$$a^{*}(t,x,\mu) = -U_{t}^{-1}S_{t}^{\dagger}(x-\bar{\mu}) - V_{t}^{-1}Z_{t}^{\dagger}\bar{\mu} - \frac{1}{2}V_{t}^{-1}Y_{t}.$$
(4.5.8)

This means that  $G_t^{\mu}$  attains its infimum at  $a^*(t, ., \mu)$ , and plugging the above expression of  $G_t^{\mu}(a^*(t, ., \mu))$  in (4.5.6), we observe that the relation (4.5.5)-(4.5.6), hence the Bellman equation, is satisfied by identifying the terms in Var(.),  $\bar{\mu}^{\intercal}(.)\bar{\mu}$ ,  $\bar{\mu}$ , which leads to the system of ordinary differential equations (ODEs) for  $(\Lambda, \Gamma, \gamma, \chi)$ :

$$\begin{cases} \Lambda'(t) + Q_2 + D^{\intercal} \Lambda(t) D + D_0^{\intercal} \Lambda(t) D_0 + \Lambda(t) B + B^{\intercal} \Lambda(t) \\ -S(t, \Lambda(t)) U(t, \Lambda(t))^{-1} S(t, \Lambda(t))^{\intercal} = 0, \\ \Lambda(T) = P_2, \end{cases}$$
(4.5.9)

$$\Gamma'(t) + Q_2 + Q_2 + (D+D)^{\intercal}\Lambda(t)(D+D) + (D_0 + \bar{D}_0)^{\intercal}\Gamma(t)(D_0 + \bar{D}_0) + \Gamma(t)^{\intercal}(B+\bar{B}) + (B+\bar{B})^{\intercal}\Gamma(t) - Z(t,\Lambda(t),\Gamma(t))V(t,\Lambda(t),\Gamma(t))^{-1}Z(t,\Lambda(t),\Gamma(t))^{\intercal} = 0, \Gamma(T) = P_2 + \bar{P}_2,$$

$$(4.5.10)$$

$$\begin{cases} \gamma'(t) + \left(B + \bar{B}\right)^{\intercal} \gamma(t) - Z(t, \Lambda(t), \Gamma(t)) V(t, \Lambda(t), \Gamma(t))^{-1} Y(t, \Gamma(t), \gamma(t)) \\ + 2 \left(D + \bar{D}\right)^{\intercal} \Lambda(t) \vartheta + 2 \left(D_0 + \bar{D}_0\right)^{\intercal} \Gamma(t) \vartheta_0 + 2 \Gamma(t) b_0 = 0, \\ \gamma(T) = 0 \end{cases}$$
(4.5.11)

$$\begin{cases} \chi'(t) - \frac{1}{4}Y(t,\Gamma(t),\gamma(t))^{\intercal}V(t,\Lambda(t),\Gamma(t))^{-1}Y(t,\Gamma(t),\gamma(t)) \\ + \gamma(t)^{\intercal}b_0 + \vartheta^{\intercal}\Lambda(t)\vartheta + \vartheta^{\intercal}_0\Gamma(t)\vartheta_0 = 0, \\ \chi(T) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(4.5.12)

Therefore, the resolution of the Bellman equation in the LQ framework is reduced to the resolution of the Riccati equations (4.5.9) and (4.5.10) for  $\Lambda$  and  $\Gamma$ , and then given  $(\Lambda, \Gamma)$ , to the resolution of the linear ODEs (4.5.11) and (4.5.12) for  $\gamma$  and  $\chi$ . Suppose that there exists a solution  $(\Lambda, \Gamma) \in C^1([0,T]; \mathbb{S}^d) \times C^1([0,T]; \mathbb{S}^d)$  to (4.5.9)-(4.5.10) s.t.  $(U_t, V_t)$  in (4.5.7) lies in  $\mathbb{S}_{>+}^m \times \mathbb{S}_{>+}^m$  for all  $t \in [0,T]$  (see Remark 4.5.1). Then, the above calculations are justified a posteriori, and by noting also that the mapping  $(x, \mu) \mapsto a^*(t, x, \mu)$  is Lipschitz on  $\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{P}_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , we deduce by the verification theorem that the value function v is equal to w in (4.5.4) with  $(\Lambda, \Gamma, \gamma, \chi)$  solution to (4.5.9)-(4.5.10)-(4.5.11)-(4.5.12). Moreover, the optimal control is given in feedback form from (4.5.8) by

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_t^*(X_t^*) &= a^*(t, X_t^*, \mathbb{P}_{X_t^*}^{W^0}) \\ &= -U_t^{-1} S_t^{\mathsf{T}} \left( X_t^* - \mathbb{E}[X_t^* | \mathcal{F}_t^0] \right) - V_t^{-1} Z_t^{\mathsf{T}} \mathbb{E}[X_t^* | \mathcal{F}_t^0] - \frac{1}{2} V_t^{-1} Y_t, \end{aligned}$$
(4.5.13)

where  $X^*$  is the state process controlled by  $\alpha^*$ .

Remark 4.5.1. It is known from [Won68] that under the condition

$$P_2 \ge 0, P_2 + \bar{P}_2 \ge 0, \qquad Q_2 \ge 0, Q_2 + \bar{Q}_2 \ge 0, \quad R_2 \ge \delta I_m,$$
 (4.5.14)

for some  $\delta > 0$ , the matrix Riccati equations (4.5.9)-(4.5.10) admit unique solutions  $(\Lambda, \Gamma) \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; \mathbb{S}^d_+)$  $\times \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; \mathbb{S}^d_+)$ , and then  $U_t, V_t$  in (4.5.7) are symmetric positive definite matrices, i.e. lie in  $\mathbb{S}^m_{>+}$  for all  $t \in [0, T]$ . The expression in (4.5.13) of the optimal control extends then to the case of stochastic LQ McKean-Vlasov control problem the feedback form obtained in [Yon13] for LQ McKean-Vlasov without common noise, i.e.  $\sigma_0 = 0$ .

#### Example: Interbank systemic risk model

We consider a model of interbank borrowing and lending studied in [CFS15] where the log-monetary reserve of each bank in the asymptotics when the number of banks tend to infinity, is governed by the McKean-Vlasov equation:

$$dX_t = \left[\kappa(\mathbb{E}[X_t|W^0] - X_t) + \alpha_t(X_t)\right] dt + (\sigma_0 + \sigma_1 X_t) (\sqrt{1 - \rho^2} dB_t + \rho dW_t^0), X_0 = x_0 \in \mathbb{R}.$$
(4.5.15)

Here,  $\kappa \geq 0$  is the rate of mean-reversion in the interaction from borrowing and lending between the banks,  $\sigma_0 > 0$ ,  $\sigma_1 \in \mathbb{R}$  are the affine coefficients of the volatility of the bank reserve, and there is a common noise  $W^0$  for all the banks. This is a slight extension of the model considered in [CFS15] where

 $\sigma_1 = 0$ . Moreover, all banks can control their rate of borrowing/lending to a central bank with the same feedback policy  $\alpha$  in order to minimize a cost functional of the form

$$J(\alpha) = \mathbb{E} \bigg[ \int_0^T \bigg( \frac{1}{2} \alpha_t (X_t)^2 - q \alpha_t (X_t) (\mathbb{E}[X_t | W^0] - X_t) + \frac{\eta}{2} (\mathbb{E}[X_t | W^0] - X_t)^2 \bigg) dt \\ + \frac{c}{2} (\mathbb{E}[X_T | W^0] - X_T)^2 \bigg],$$

where q > 0 is a positive parameter for the incentive to borrowing  $(\alpha_t > 0)$  or lending  $(\alpha_t < 0)$ , and  $\eta > 0$ , c > 0 are positive parameters for penalizing departure from the average. After square completion, we can rewrite the cost functional as

$$J(\alpha) = \mathbb{E}\Big[\int_0^T \Big(\frac{1}{2}\tilde{\alpha}_t(X_t)^2 + \frac{\eta - q^2}{2}(\mathbb{E}[X_t|W^0] - X_t)^2\Big)dt + \frac{c}{2}(\mathbb{E}[X_T|W^0] - X_T)^2\Big],$$

with  $\tilde{\alpha}_t(X_t) = \alpha_t(X_t) - q(\mathbb{E}[X_t|W^0] - X_t)$ . This model fits into the framework of (4.5.1)-(4.5.2) of the LQ stochastic McKean-Vlasov problem with

$$b_0 = 0, \ B = -(\kappa + q), \ \bar{B} = \kappa + q, \ C = 1,$$
$$D = \sigma_1 \sqrt{1 - \rho^2}, \ D_0 = \sigma_1 \rho, \ \bar{D} = F = \bar{D}^0 = F^0 = 0, \ \vartheta = \sigma_0 \sqrt{1 - \rho^2}, \ \vartheta_0 = \sigma_0 \rho,$$
$$Q_2 = \frac{\eta - q^2}{2}, \ \bar{Q}_2 = -\frac{\eta - q^2}{2}, \ R_2 = \frac{1}{2}, \ P_2 = \frac{c}{2}, \ \bar{P}_2 = -\frac{c}{2}.$$

The Riccati system (4.5.9)-(4.5.10)-(4.5.11)-(4.5.12) for  $(\Lambda(t), \Gamma(t), \gamma(t), \chi(t))$  is written in this case as

$$\begin{cases} \Lambda'(t) - 2(\kappa + q - \frac{\sigma_1^2}{2})\Lambda(t) - 2\Lambda^2(t) + \frac{1}{2}(\eta - q^2) = 0, & \Lambda(T) = \frac{c}{2}, \\ \Gamma'(t) - 2\Gamma^2(t) + \sigma_1^2\rho^2\Gamma(t) + \sigma_1^2(1 - \rho^2)\Lambda(t) = 0, & \Gamma(T) = 0, \\ \gamma'(t) - 2\Gamma(t)\gamma(t) + 2\sigma_0\sigma_1\rho^2\Gamma(t) + 2\sigma_0\sigma_1(1 - \rho^2)\Lambda(t) = 0, & \gamma(T) = 0, \\ \chi'(t) - \frac{1}{2}\gamma^2(t) + \sigma_0^2\rho^2\Gamma(t) + \sigma_0^2(1 - \rho^2)\Lambda(t) = 0, & \chi(T) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(4.5.16)

Assuming that  $q^2 \leq \eta$ , the explicit solution to the Riccati equation for  $\Lambda$  is given by

$$\Lambda(t) = \frac{1}{2} \frac{(\eta - q^2) \left( e^{(\delta^+ - \delta^-)(T-t)} - 1 \right) + c \left( \delta^+ e^{(\delta^+ - \delta^-)(T-t)} - \delta^- \right)}{c \left( e^{(\delta^+ - \delta^-)(T-t)} - 1 \right) + \delta^+ - \delta^- e^{(\delta^+ - \delta^-)(T-t)}} > 0.$$

where we set

$$\delta^{\pm} = -(\kappa + q - \frac{\sigma_1^2}{2}) \pm \sqrt{(\kappa + q - \frac{\sigma_1^2}{2})^2 + \eta - q^2}.$$

Since  $\Lambda \geq 0$ , there exists a unique solution to the Riccati equation for  $\Gamma$ , and then  $\gamma$ , and finally  $\chi$  are determined the linear ordinary differential equations in (4.5.16). Moreover, the functions  $(U_t, V_t, Z_t, Y_t)$  in (4.5.7) are explicitly given by:  $U_t = V_t = \frac{1}{2}$  (hence > 0),  $S_t = \Lambda(t) + \frac{q}{2}$ ,  $Z_t = \Gamma(t)$ ,  $Y_t = \gamma(t)$ . Therefore, the optimal control is given in feedback form from (4.5.13) by

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_t^*(X_t^*) &= a^*(t, X_t^*, \mathbb{P}_{X_t^*}) \\ &= -(2\Lambda(t) + q)(X_t^* - \mathbb{E}[X_t^*|W^0]) - 2\Gamma(t)\mathbb{E}[X_t^*|W^0] - \gamma(t), \end{aligned}$$
(4.5.17)

where  $X^*$  is the optimal log-monetary reserve controlled by the rate of borrowing/lending  $\alpha^*$ . Moreover, denoting by  $\bar{X}_t^* = \mathbb{E}[X_t^*|W^0]$  the conditional mean of the optimal log monetary reserve, we see that  $\mathbb{E}[\alpha_t^*(X_t^*)|W^0] = -2\Gamma(t)\bar{X}_t^* - \gamma(t)$ , and thus  $\bar{X}^*$  is given from (4.5.15) by

$$d\bar{X}_{t}^{*} = -(2\Gamma(t)\bar{X}_{t}^{*} + \gamma(t))dt + (\sigma_{1}\bar{X}_{t}^{*} + \sigma_{0})\rho dW_{t}^{0}, \quad \bar{X}_{0}^{*} = x_{0}.$$

When  $\sigma_1 = 0$ , we have  $\Gamma(t) = \gamma(t) = 0$ , hence  $\bar{X}_t^* = x_0 + \sigma_0 \rho W_t^0$ , and we retrieve the expression found in [CFS15] by sending the number of banks N to infinity in their formula for the optimal control of the borrowing/lending rate:

$$\alpha_t^*(X_t^*) = -(2\Lambda(t) + q)(X_t^* - x_0 - \sigma\rho W_t^0), \quad 0 \le t \le T.$$

# Part II

# Robust mean-variance problem under model uncertainty
# Chapter 5

# Portfolio diversification and model uncertainty: a robust dynamic mean-variance approach<sup>\*</sup>

<u>Abstract</u>: This paper is concerned with a multi-asset mean-variance portfolio selection problem under model uncertainty. We develop a continuous time framework for taking into account ambiguity aversion about both expected rate of return and correlation matrix of stocks, and for studying the effects on portfolio diversification. We prove a separation principle for the associated robust control problem, which allows to reduce the determination of the optimal dynamic strategy to the parametric computation of the minimal risk premium function. Our results provide a justification for under-diversification, as documented in empirical studies, and that we explicitly quantify in terms of correlation and Sharpe ratio ambiguity parameters. In particular, we show that an investor with a poor confidence in the expected return estimation does not hold any risky asset, and on the other hand, trades only one risky asset when the level of ambiguity on correlation matrix is large. This extends to the continuous-time setting the results obtained by Garlappi, Uppal and Wang [GUW06], and Liu and Zeng [LZ17] in a one-period model.

**Key words:** Continuous-time Markowitz problem, model uncertainty, ambiguous drift and correlation, separation principle, portfolio diversification.

a. This chapter is based on joint work with Pham Huyên and Zhou Chao [PWZ18]. The preprint is submitted and available at arXiv: arXiv1809.01464, 2018.

# 5.1 Introduction

In the Finance and Economics literature, there are many studies on under-diversification, i.e. when investors hold only a small part of risky assets among a large number of available risky assets. In the extreme case the anti-diversification means that investor holds only a single asset( or even do not hold any risky asset and exclude many others). Empirical studies reported in numerous papers, [FP91], [CK94], [MV07], [CCS07], [GL16], have shown the evidence of the under-diversification in practice. For example, in [FP91], [CK94], it's observed that there exists concentration on(bias towards) the domestic assets compared to foreign assets in investors' international equity portfolios. These results are in contrast to the portfolio well-diversification suggested by the classical mean-variance portfolio theory initialed in single period [Mar52], later in a continuous time model [LZ00].

A possible explanation to under-diversification is provided in the Finance and Economics literature by model uncertainty, often also called ambiguity or Knightian uncertainty. In the classical portfolio theory, the model and the parameters are assumed to be perfectly known. However, in reality, due to statistical estimation errors. there is always ambiguity about the model or the parameters, see e.g. [Tal09], It's well known that robust approach is very notable to address the model uncertainty, where the investor takes portfolio decisions under the worst-case scenario that corresponds to the least favorable distribution implied by the set of ambiguous parameters.

Abundant research has been conducted to tackle different model uncertainty. Related works include [GUW06], [Sch07], [BGUW12], [JZ15] among others for uncertainty about solely drift with a family of dominated probability measure, [MPZ15] for ambiguity about volatility or equivalent covariance matrix with a family of nondominated probability measures in a probabilistic setup, and [TTU13], [LR14], [BK17], [NN18] for combined uncertainty about both drift and volatility, and also [GX13] for uncertainty about probability law generating market data. It's usually assumed that the covariance matrix falls into the region  $[\Sigma, \Sigma]$  in the matrix sense. The worst-case scenario for ambiguity on the covariance matrix is upper bound of covariance matrix  $\overline{\Sigma}$ . Alternatively, the ambiguity on covariance matrix can be characterized in terms of correlation with marginal volatility known. It is known that the estimation of correlation between assets may be extremely inaccurate, due to the asynchronous data and lead-lag effect, especially when the number of assets is large, see [JM03], [LW04]. We are aware of only a few results on correlation ambiguity [FPW16], [LZ17], [IP17], in which they have shown that the worst-case scenario for ambiguity on the correlation depends upon the correlation parameter. In the above cited papers, only a few work connects the model uncertainty with portfolio diversification. We mention the work [BGUW12], [UW03], [LZ17]. The authors in [BGUW12], [UW03] considered the ambiguity about the assets' rates of return. Their framework allows both for uncertainty about the joint distribution of returns for all assets and for different levels of uncertainty for the marginal distribution of returns for any subsets of these assets. They showed that the different levels of uncertainty on different asset subclass could result in significant under-diversification. They also applied their theoretical results to real data and found consistent results with the empirical studies by [CK94] and [FP91] among others, showing that international equity portfolios are strongly biased toward domestic stocks, and in [Hub01] and [Sch96], where a similar lack of diversification is revealed on domestic portfolios. The model in [BGUW12], [UW03] offer a partial explanation for the observed under-diversification and bias toward familiar securities. More recently, in [LZ17], the authors considered the ambiguity about the correlation of the assets. With a static mean-variance investment, they found that the robust optimal portfolio is of under-diversification depends on the level of correlation ambiguity. They also provided results with market data and showed that using their ambiguous correlation model, the investor only holds less than

#### 5.1. INTRODUCTION

20 (17 stocks in average) among 100 stocks randomly selected from about 100 stocks in S&P500.

A further possible explanation for under-diversification is that investors can reduce the uncertainty on the model or the parameters through learning. In [VNV10], the authors built a framework to solve jointly for investment and information choices, with general preferences and information cost functions. They showed that, for some special preferences and information acquisition technologies, investors tend to learn more about the assets they are familiar among many available assets (typically, the domestic assets rather than foreign ones) and become even more familiar with those assets after learning. As a result of this learning procedure, the investors select those assets they have learnt at the expense of others for which they have less information. Their results are consistent with the empirical studies on the portfolios of international investors.

In the existing literature on model uncertainty, investor seeks to maximize the expected utility criterion. However, mean-variance criterion has received little attention, especially in the continuous-time framework, see [IP17]. Inspired by [IP17], we develop a robust model that take into account uncertainty about both drift and correlation of multi risky assets for  $d \ge 2$ , in a dynamic mean-variance portfolio setting. In view of drift uncertainty, our framework allows for both polyhedral set in [TTU13], [LR14] and ellipsoidal set in [BP17]. The ellipsoidal representation for the drift uncertainty allows to take into account drift structure of the assets in the correlation ambiguity modelling. Our purpose is to explore the joint effects of ambiguity about drift and correlation on portfolio selection and diversification with dynamic mean-variance criterion.

The paper's first contribution is to derive a separation principle for solving the associated robust control problem formulated as a McKean-Vlasov differential game, which allows us to reduce the original min-max problem to the parametric computation of minimal risk premium. The main methodology for the separation principle is based on a weak version of the martingale optimality principle. While the robust dynamics mean-variance problem under covariance matrix uncertainty, in particular, correlation ambiguity, has been analyzed in [IP17], the methods and techniques applied therein cannot tackle the drift uncertainty. One key assumption in [IP17] is that one can aggregate a family of processes, however in the case of drift uncertainty, this condition does not hold anymore. As a byproduct, to the best of our knowledge, ours is the first paper to tackle the robust dynamic mean-variance portfolio selection under drift uncertainty.

Our second contribution is to provide a possible explanation for under-diversification. The existing literature mainly concentrate on two asset case see [FPW16], [IP17], [LZ17]. We distinguish the case of ellipsoidal set and rectangular set in terms of drift uncertainty and quantify explicitly the diversification effects on the optimal robust portfolio in terms of the ambiguity level. We provide notably a complete picture of the diversification for the optimal robust portfolio strategy in the three risky assets case, which is new to the best of our knowledge. In particular, our findings consist in no trading in assets with large expected return ambiguity, and trading only one risky asset with high level of ambiguity about correlation. A similar finding on phenomenon of trading only one risky asset with high level of ambiguity about correlation is derived in [LZ17] with static mean-variance investment. By incorporating drift uncertainty into our framework, the anti-diversification in our paper is in a more general sense that the investor does not hold risky asset or holds one single risky asset. For our future studies, we may incorporate the different uncertainty levels for return as in [UW03] or introduce the information acquisition procedure as in [VNV10] in our framework.

The rest of paper is organized as follows. Section 2 presents the formulation of the model uncertainty setting and the robust multi-asset mean-variance problem in continuous time. In section 3, we derive

the separation principle for the associated robust control problem. Section 4 provides several examples arising from the separation principle, and the implications for the optimal robust portfolio strategy and the portfolio diversification.

# 5.2 Problem formulation

#### 5.2.1 Model uncertainty setting

We consider a financial market with one risk-free asset, assumed to be constant equal to one, and d risky assets on a finite investment horizon [0, T]. Model uncertainty is formulated by using a probabilistic setup as in [NN18]. We define the canonical state space by  $\Omega = \{\omega = (\omega(t))_{t \in [0,T]} \in C([0,T], \mathbb{R}^d) : \omega(0) = 0\}$  representing the continuous paths driving the risky assets. We equip  $\Omega$  with the uniform norm and the corresponding Borel  $\sigma$ -field  $\mathcal{F}$ . We denote by  $B = (B_t)_{t \in [0,T]}$  the canonical process, i.e.,  $B_t(\omega) = \omega(t)$ , and by  $\mathbb{F} = (\mathcal{F}_t)_{0 \leq t \leq T}$  the canonical filtration, i.e. the natural (raw) filtration generated by B.

We assume that the investor knows the marginal volatilities  $\sigma_i > 0$  of each asset  $i = 1, \ldots, d$ , typically through a quadratic variation estimation of the assets, and we denote by  $\mathfrak{S}$  the known constant diagonal matrix with *i*-th diagonal term equal to  $\sigma_i$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, d$ . However, there is uncertainty about the drift (expected rate of return) and the correlation between the multi-assets, which are parameters notoriously difficult to estimate in practice.

The ambiguity about drift and correlation matrix is parametrized by a nonempty convex set

$$\Theta \subset \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{C}^d_{>+},$$

where  $\mathbb{C}_{>+}^d$  is the subset of all elements  $\rho = (\rho_{ij})_{1 \leq i < j \leq d} \in [-1, 1]^{d(d-1)/2}$  s.t. the symmetric matrix  $C(\rho)$  with diagonal terms 1 and anti-diagonal terms  $\rho_{ij}$ :

$$C(\rho) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \rho_{12} & \dots & \rho_{1d} \\ \rho_{12} & 1 & \dots & \ddots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \rho_{1d} & \ddots & \dots & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

lies in  $\mathbb{S}_{>+}^d$ , the set of positive definite symmetric matrices in  $\mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$ . Notice that  $\mathbb{C}_{>+}^d$  is an open convex set of  $[-1,1]^{d(d-1)/2}$ . The first component set of  $\Theta$  represent the prior values taken by the (possibly random) drift of the assets, while the matrices  $C(\rho)$ , when  $\rho$  runs in the second component set of  $\Theta$ , represent the prior correlation matrices of the multi-assets. The prior covariance matrices of the assets are given by

$$\Sigma(\rho) = \mathfrak{S}C(\rho)\mathfrak{S} = \begin{pmatrix} \sigma_1^2 & \sigma_1\sigma_2\rho_{12} & \dots & \sigma_1\sigma_d\rho_{1d} \\ \sigma_1\sigma_2\rho_{12} & \sigma_2^2 & \dots & \ddots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \sigma_1\sigma_d\rho_{1d} & \vdots & \dots & \sigma_d^2 \end{pmatrix}.$$

and we denote by  $\sigma(\rho) = \Sigma^{\frac{1}{2}}(\rho)$  the square-root matrix, called volatility matrix. Let us also introduce the prior (square) risk premium

$$R(\theta) = b^{\mathsf{T}} \Sigma^{-1}(\rho) b = \|\sigma(\rho)^{-1}b\|_2^2 \quad \text{for } \theta = (b,\rho) \in \Theta.$$
 (5.2.1)

#### 5.2. PROBLEM FORMULATION

Hereafter, <sup> $\tau$ </sup> denotes the transpose of matrix and  $\|\cdot\|_2$  denotes the  $L_2$ -norm in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .

**Remark 5.2.1.** There exists different conditions for characterizing the positive definiteness of the correlation matrix  $C(\rho)$ . For example, Sylvester's criterion states that  $C(\rho)$  is positive definite if and only if all the leading principal minors are positive, e.g., in dimension d = 2,  $\rho \in (-1, 1)$ ; in dimension d = 3,  $\rho_{ij} \in (-1, 1)$   $1 \le i < j \le 3$  and  $\rho_{12}^2 + \rho_{13}^2 + \rho_{23}^2 - 1 - 2\rho_{12}\rho_{13}\rho_{23} < 0$ . Alternatively, one can characterize the positive definiteness of  $C(\rho)$  using angular coordinates as in [RBM07].

In the sequel, we shall focus on the two following cases for the parametrization of the ambiguity set  $\Theta$ , which are relevant for practical applications:

#### $(H\Theta)$

- (i) Product set:  $\Theta = \Delta \times \Gamma$ , where  $\Delta$  is a compact convex set of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , e.g., in rectangular form  $\Delta = \prod_{i=1}^{d} [\underline{b}_i, \overline{b}_i]$ , for some constants  $\underline{b}_i \leq \overline{b}_i$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, d$ , and  $\Gamma$  is a convex set of  $\mathbb{C}^d_{>+}$ . In this product formulation, one considers that the uncertainty on drift is independent of the uncertainty on the correlation.
- (ii) Ellipsoidal set:  $\Theta = \{(b, \rho) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times \Gamma : \|\sigma(\rho)^{-1}(b-\hat{b})\|_2 \leq \delta\}$ , for some convex set  $\Gamma$  of  $\mathbb{C}_{>+}^d$ , where  $\hat{b}$  is a known vector, representing a priori expected rates of return, and  $\delta > 0$  represents a level of ambiguity around  $\hat{b}$  due to estimation error. It is known from Lemma 2.2 in [CDH18] that  $\Theta$  is a convex set. This ellipsoidal set in which varies the uncertain drift, for fixed correlation, is used in [BTMN00], and allows to take into account the correlation structure of the assets in the drift uncertainty modelling.

We denote by  $\mathcal{V}_{\Theta}$  the set of  $\mathbb{F}$ -progressively measurable processes  $\theta = (\theta_t) = (b_t, \rho_t)_t = (b, \rho)$  valued in  $\Theta$ , and introduce the set of prior probability measures  $\mathcal{P}^{\Theta}$ :

$$\mathcal{P}^{\Theta} = \{ \mathbb{P}^{\theta} : \theta \in \mathcal{V}_{\Theta} \},\$$

where  $\mathbb{P}^{\theta}$  is the probability measure on  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F})$  s.t. *B* is a semimartingale on  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P}^{\theta})$  with absolutely continuous characteristics (w.r.t. the Lebesgue measure dt)  $(b, \Sigma(\rho))$ . The *prior* probabilities  $\mathbb{P}^{\theta}$  are in general non-equivalent, and actually mutually singular, and we say that a property holds  $\mathcal{P}^{\Theta}$ -quasi surely  $(\mathcal{P}^{\Theta}$ -q.s. in short) if it holds  $\mathbb{P}^{\theta}$ -a.s. for all  $\theta \in \mathcal{V}_{\Theta}$ .

The (positive) price process of the d risky assets is given by the dynamics

$$dS_t = \operatorname{diag}(S_t)dB_t, \quad 0 \le t \le T, \ \mathcal{P}^{\Theta} - q.s.$$
  
= 
$$\operatorname{diag}(S_t)(b_t dt + \sigma(\rho_t)dW_t^{\theta}), \quad \mathbb{P}^{\theta} - a.s., \quad \text{for } \theta = (b,\rho) \in \mathcal{V}_{\Theta},$$

where  $W^{\theta}$  is a *d*-dimensional Brownian motion under  $\mathbb{P}^{\theta}$ . Notice that in this uncertainty modeling, we allow the unknown drift and correlation to be a *priori* random processes, valued in  $\Theta$ .

#### 5.2.2 Robust mean-variance problem

An admissible portfolio strategy  $\alpha = (\alpha_t)_{0 \le t \le T}$  representing the amount invested in the *d* risky assets, is an  $\mathbb{R}^d$ -valued  $\mathbb{F}$ -progressively measurable process, satisfying the integrability condition

$$\sup_{\mathbb{P}^{\theta}\in\mathcal{P}^{\Theta}} \mathbb{E}_{\theta} \Big[ \int_{0}^{T} |\alpha_{t}^{\mathsf{T}} b_{t}| dt + \int_{0}^{T} \alpha_{t}^{\mathsf{T}} \Sigma(\rho_{t}) \alpha_{t} dt \Big] < \infty,$$
(5.2.2)

and denoted by  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ . Hereafter,  $\mathbb{E}_{\theta}$  denotes the expectation under  $\mathbb{P}^{\theta}$ . This integrability condition (5.2.2) ensures that diag $(S)^{-1}\alpha$  is S-integrable under any  $\mathbb{P} \in \mathcal{P}^{\Theta}$ . For a portfolio strategy  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ , and an initial capital  $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ , the dynamics of the self-financed wealth process are driven by

$$dX_t^{\alpha} = \alpha_t^{\mathsf{T}} \operatorname{diag}(S_t)^{-1} dS_t = \alpha_t^{\mathsf{T}} dB_t, \quad 0 \le t \le T, \ X_0^{\alpha} = x_0, \ \mathcal{P}^{\Theta} - q.s.$$
$$= \alpha_t^{\mathsf{T}} \left( b_t dt + \sigma(\rho_t) dW_t^{\theta} \right), \quad 0 \le t \le T, \ X_0^{\alpha} = x_0 \in \mathbb{R}, \ \mathbb{P}^{\theta} - a.s.$$
(5.2.3)

for all  $\theta = (b, \rho) \in \mathcal{V}_{\Theta}$ .

Given a risk aversion parameter  $\lambda > 0$ , the worst-case mean-variance functional under ambiguous drift and correlation is

$$J_{wc}(\alpha) = \inf_{\mathbb{P}^{\theta} \in \mathcal{P}^{\Theta}} \left( \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[X_T^{\alpha}] - \lambda \operatorname{Var}_{\theta}(X_T^{\alpha}) \right) < \infty, \ \alpha \in \mathcal{A},$$

where  $\operatorname{Var}_{\theta}(.)$  denotes the variance under  $\mathbb{P}^{\theta}$ , and the robust mean-variance portfolio selection is formulated as

$$\begin{cases} V_0 := \sup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} J_{wc}(\alpha) = \sup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \inf_{\theta \in \mathcal{V}_{\Theta}} J(\alpha, \theta) \\ J(\alpha, \theta) := \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[X_T^{\alpha}] - \lambda \operatorname{Var}_{\theta}(X_T^{\alpha}), \quad \alpha \in \mathcal{A}, \theta \in \mathcal{V}_{\Theta}. \end{cases}$$
(5.2.4)

Notice that problem (5.2.4) is a non standard stochastic differential game due to the presence of the variance term in the criterion, which prevents the use of classical control method by dynamic programming or maximum principle. We end this section by recalling the solution to the mean-variance problem when there is no ambiguity on the model parameters, and which will serve later as benchmark for comparison when studying the uncertainty case.

**Remark 5.2.2** (Case of no uncertainty model). When  $\Theta = \{\theta^o = (b^o, \rho^o)\}$  is a singleton, we are reduced to the Black-Scholes model with drift  $b^o$ , covariance matrix  $\Sigma^o = \Sigma(\rho^o)$ , volatility  $\sigma = \sigma(\rho^o)$ , and risk premium  $R^o = R(\theta^o)$ . In this case, it is known, see e.g. [LZ00], that the optimal mean-variance strategy is given by

$$\alpha_t^* = \left[ x_0 + \frac{e^{R^o T}}{2\lambda} - X_t^* \right] (\Sigma^o)^{-1} b^o =: \Lambda^o (X_t^*) (\Sigma^o)^{-1} b^o, \quad 0 \le t \le T,$$

where  $X^*$  is wealth process associated to  $\alpha^*$ , while the optimal performance value is

$$V_0 = x_0 + \frac{1}{4\lambda} \left[ e^{R^o T} - 1 \right].$$

The vector  $(\Sigma^o)^{-1}b^o$ , which depends only on the model parameters of the stock price, determines the allocation in the multi-assets. The above expression of  $\alpha^*$  shows that, once we know the exact values of the rate of return and covariance matrix, one diversifies her portfolio among all the assets according to the components of the vector  $(\Sigma^o)^{-1}b^o$ , and this is weighted by the scalar term  $\Lambda^o(X_t^*)$ , which depends on the risk aversion of the investor via the parameter  $\lambda$ , on the current wealth but also on the initial capital  $x_0$  (which is sometimes referred to as the pre-committeent of the mean-variance criterion). Notice that  $\Lambda^o(X_t^*)$  is positive. Indeed, observe that

$$d\Lambda^{o}(X_{t}^{*}) = -dX_{t}^{*} = -(\alpha_{t}^{*})^{\mathsf{T}}(b^{o}dt + \sigma^{o}dW_{t}^{o}) \\ = -\Lambda^{o}(X_{t}^{*})(R^{o}dt + (\sigma^{o})^{-1}b^{o}.dW_{t}^{o}), \quad 0 \le t \le T,$$

#### 5.3. Separation principle and robust solution

with  $\Lambda^o(X_0^*) = \frac{1}{2\lambda}e^{R^oT} > 0$ , which shows clearly that  $\Lambda^o(X_t^*) > 0$ ,  $0 \le t \le T$ , and decreases with  $\lambda$ .

Let us discuss in particular the allocation in the two-asset case. Notice that the vector  $(\Sigma^o)^{-1}b^o$  of allocation is then given by

$$(\Sigma^{o})^{-1}b^{o} = \frac{1}{1-|\rho^{o}|^{2}} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\beta_{1}^{o}-\rho^{o}\beta_{2}^{o}}{\sigma_{1}^{o}}\\ \frac{\beta_{2}^{o}-\rho^{o}\beta_{1}^{o}}{\sigma_{2}^{o}} \end{pmatrix} =: \begin{pmatrix} \kappa_{1}^{o}\\ \kappa_{2}^{o} \end{pmatrix},$$

where  $\beta_i^o = b_i^o / \sigma_i^o$  is the sharpe ratio of the *i*-th asset, i = 1, 2. To fix the idea, assume that  $\beta_1^o > \beta_2^o > 0$ . 0. We then see that  $\kappa_1^o > 0$ , while  $\kappa_2^o \ge 0$  if and only if  $\frac{\beta_2^o}{\beta_1^o} \ge \rho^o$ . The interpretation is the following: the ratio  $\frac{\beta_2^o}{\beta_1^o} \in (0, 1)$  measures the "proximity" in terms of Sharpe ratio between the two assets, and has to be compared with the correlation  $\rho^o$  between these assets in order to determine whether it is optimal to invest according to a directional trading, i.e.,  $\kappa_1^o \kappa_2^o > 0$  (thus here long in both assets) or according to a spread trading, i.e.,  $\kappa_1^o \kappa_2^o < 0$  (long in the first asset and short in the second one) or according to under-diversification, i.e.  $\kappa_1^o \kappa_2^o = 0$ (only long in the first asset). For example, when both assets have close Sharpe ratio, and their correlation is not too high, then one optimally invests in both assets with a directional trading. In contrast, when one asset has a much larger Sharpe ratio than the other one, or when the correlation between the assets is high, then one optimally invests in both assets with a spread trading.  $\diamond$ 

In the sequel, we study the quantitative impact of the uncertainty model and ambiguity on the drift and correlation, on the optimal robust mean-variance strategy, in particular regarding the portfolio diversification.

# 5.3 Separation principle and robust solution

The main result of this section is to state a separation principle for solving the robust dynamic mean-variance problem.

**Theorem 5.3.1** (Separation Principle). Let us consider a parametric set  $\Theta$  for model uncertainty as in (H $\Theta$ ). Suppose that there exists a (constant) pair  $\theta^* = (b^*, \rho^*) \in \Theta$  solution to  $\arg\min_{\theta \in \Theta} R(\theta)$ . Then the robust mean-variance problem (5.2.4) admits an optimal portfolio strategy given by

$$\alpha_t^* = \Lambda_{\theta^*}(X_t^*) \Sigma(\rho^*)^{-1} b^*, \quad 0 \le t \le T, \ \mathcal{P}^{\Theta} - q.s.,$$
(5.3.1)

where  $X^*$  is the state process associated to  $\alpha_t^*$ , and  $\Lambda_{\theta^*}(X_t^*) > 0$  with

$$\Lambda_{\theta^*}(x) := x_0 + \frac{e^{R(\theta^*)T}}{2\lambda} - x, \ x \in \mathbb{R}$$
(5.3.2)

Moreover, the corresponding initial value function is

$$V_0 = x_0 + \frac{1}{4\lambda} \left[ e^{R(\theta^*)T} - 1 \right].$$

**Interpretation.** Theorem 5.3.1 means that the robust mean-variance problem (5.2.4) can be solved in two steps according to a separation principle: (i) First, we search for the infimum of the risk premium function  $\theta \in \Theta \mapsto R(\theta)$  as defined in (5.2.1), which depends only on the inputs of the uncertainty

model. Existence and explicit determination of an element  $\theta^* = (b^*, \rho^*) \in \Theta$  attaining this infimum will be discussed and illustrated all along the paper through several examples. (ii) The solution to (5.2.4) is then given by the solution to the mean-variance problem in the Black-Scholes model with drift  $b^*$ and correlation  $\rho^*$ , see Remark 5.2.2, and the worst-case scenario of the robust dynamic mean-variance problem is simply given by the constant parameter  $\theta^* = (b^*, \rho^*)$ . Some interesting features show up, especially regarding portfolio diversification, as detailed in the next section.  $\Diamond$ 

The rest of this section is devoted to the proof of Theorem 5.3.1, and the methodology is based on the following weak version of the martingale optimality principle.

**Lemma 5.3.1** (Weak optimality principle). Let  $\{V_t^{\alpha,\theta}, t \in [0,T], \alpha \in \mathcal{A}, \theta \in \mathcal{V}_{\Theta}\}$  be a family of real-valued processes in the form

$$V_t^{\alpha,\theta} := v_t(X_t^\alpha, \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[X_t^\alpha])$$

for some measurable functions  $v_t$  on  $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}$ ,  $t \in [0,T]$ , such that :

- (i)  $v_T(x, \bar{x}) = x \lambda (x \bar{x})^2$ , for all  $x, \bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}$ ,
- (ii) the function  $t \in [0,T] \mapsto \mathbb{E}_{\theta^*}[V_t^{\alpha,\theta^*}]$  is nonincreasing for all  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  and some  $\theta^* \in \mathcal{V}_{\Theta}$ ,
- (iii)  $\mathbb{E}_{\theta}[V_T^{\alpha^*,\theta} V_0^{\alpha^*,\theta}] \ge 0$ , for some  $\alpha^* \in \mathcal{A}$  and all  $\theta \in \mathcal{V}_{\Theta}$ .

Then,  $\alpha^*$  is an optimal portfolio strategy for the robust mean-variance problem (5.2.4) with a worst-case scenario  $\theta^*$ , and

$$V_0 = J_{wc}(\alpha^*) = \sup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \inf_{\theta \in \mathcal{V}_{\Theta}} J(\alpha, \theta) = \inf_{\theta \in \mathcal{V}_{\Theta}} \sup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} J(\alpha, \theta) = v_0(x_0, x_0)$$
(5.3.3)  
=  $J(\alpha^*, \theta^*).$ 

**Proof.** First, observe that  $V_0^{\alpha,\theta} = v_0(x_0, x_0)$  is a constant that does not depend on  $\alpha$ ,  $\theta$  and from condition (i) that  $\mathbb{E}_{\theta}[V_T^{\alpha,\theta}] = J(\alpha,\theta)$  for all  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}, \ \theta \in \mathcal{V}_{\Theta}$ . Then, from condition (ii), we see that

$$v_0(x_0, x_0) = \mathbb{E}_{\theta^*}[V_0^{\alpha, \theta^*}] \geq \mathbb{E}_{\theta^*}[V_T^{\alpha, \theta^*}] = J(\alpha, \theta^*),$$

for all  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ , and thus:  $v_0(x_0, x_0) \geq \sup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} J(\alpha, \theta^*) \geq \inf_{\theta \in \mathcal{V}_{\Theta}} \sup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} J(\alpha, \theta)$ . Similarly, from condition (iii), we have:  $v_0(x_0, x_0) \leq J(\alpha^*, \theta)$  for all  $\theta \in \mathcal{V}_{\Theta}$ , and thus:  $v_0(x_0, x_0) \leq \inf_{\theta \in \mathcal{V}_{\Theta}} J(\alpha^*, \theta) = J_{wc}(\alpha^*) \leq \sup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \inf_{\theta \in \mathcal{V}_{\Theta}} J(\alpha, \theta)$ . Recalling that we always have  $\sup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \inf_{\theta \in \mathcal{V}_{\Theta}} J(\alpha, \theta) \leq \inf_{\theta \in \mathcal{V}_{\Theta}} \sup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} J(\alpha, \theta)$ , we obtained the required equality in (5.3.3). Then, finally, from (ii) with  $\alpha^*$  and (iii) with  $\theta^*$ , we obtain that  $v_0(x_0, x_0) = J(\alpha^*, \theta^*)$ .

**Remark 5.3.1.** The usual martingale optimality principle for stochastic differential games as in robust portfolio selection problem, and with classical expected utility criterion for some nondecreasing and concave utility function U on  $\mathbb{R}$ , e.g.  $U(x) = -e^{-\eta x}$ ,  $\eta > 0$ :

$$\sup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \inf_{\theta \in \mathcal{V}_{\Theta}} \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[U(X_T^{\alpha})]$$

would consist in finding a family of processes  $V_t^{\alpha,\theta}$  in the form  $v_t(X_t^{\alpha})$  for some measurable functions  $v_t$ on  $\mathbb{R}$  s.t. (i)  $v_T(x) = U(x)$ , (ii') the process  $(V_t^{\alpha,\theta^*})_t$  is a supermartingale under  $\mathbb{P}_{\theta^*}$  for all  $\alpha$ , and some  $\theta^*$ , and (iii') the process  $(V_t^{\alpha^*,\theta})_t$  is a submartingale under  $\mathbb{P}_{\theta}$  for some  $\alpha^*$  and all  $\theta$ . Due to the nonlinear dependence on the law of the state wealth process via the variance term in the mean-variance criterion, making the problem a *priori* time inconsistent, we have to adopt a weaker version of the optimality principle: first, the functions  $v_t$  depend not only on the state process  $X_t^{\alpha}$  but also on its mean  $\mathbb{E}_{\theta}[X_t^{\alpha}]$ . Second, we replace condition (ii) by the weaker condition (ii) on the mean in Lemma 5.3.1, and third, condition (iii') is substituted by the even weaker condition (iii) than (iii')  $t \mapsto \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[V_t^{\alpha^*,\theta}]$  is nondecreasing for some  $\alpha^*$  and all  $\theta$ . This asymmetry of condition between (ii) and (iii) is explained in more detail in Remark 5.3.3.

We shall also use the following saddle-point property on the infimum of the *prior* risk premium function.

**Lemma 5.3.2** (Saddle point property). Given  $\Theta$  as in (H $\Theta$ ), and assuming that there exists  $\theta^* = (b^*, \rho^*) \in \arg\min_{\theta \in \Theta} R(\theta)$ , let us define the function H on  $\Theta$  by

$$H(\theta) := b^{\mathsf{T}} \Sigma(\rho^*)^{-1} \Sigma(\rho) \Sigma(\rho^*)^{-1} b^*, \quad for \ \theta = (b, \rho) \in \Theta.$$
(5.3.4)

Then, we have for all  $\theta = (b, \rho) \in \Theta$ :

$$H(b^*, \rho) \leq H(\theta^*) = R(\theta^*) \leq H(b, \rho^*).$$
 (5.3.5)

**Proof.** See Section 5.5.2 in Appendix.

**Proof of Theorem 5.3.1.** We aim to construct a family of processes  $\{V_t^{\alpha,\theta}, t \in [0,T], \alpha \in \mathcal{A}, \theta \in \mathcal{V}_{\Theta}\}$  as in Lemma 5.3.1, and given the linear-quadratic structure of our optimization problem, we look for measurable functions  $v_t$  in the form:

$$v_t(x,\bar{x}) = K_t(x-\bar{x})^2 + Y_t x + \chi_t, \quad t \in [0,T], (x,\bar{x}) \in \mathbb{R}^2,$$
(5.3.6)

for some deterministic processes  $(K_t, Y_t, \chi_t)_t$  to be determined. Condition (i) in Lemma 5.3.1 fixes the terminal condition

$$K_T = -\lambda, \ Y_T = 1, \ \chi_T = 0.$$
 (5.3.7)

We now consider  $\theta^* \in \Theta$  as in Theorem 5.3.1, hence defining in particular a (constant) process  $\theta^* \in \mathcal{V}_{\Theta}$ , and  $\alpha^*$  given by (5.3.1). Let us first check that  $\alpha^* \in \mathcal{A}$ . The corresponding wealth process  $X^*$  satisfies under any  $\mathbb{P}^{\theta}$ ,  $\theta = (b, \rho) \in \mathcal{V}_{\Theta}$ , a linear stochastic differential equation with bounded random coefficients (notice that b and  $\sigma(\rho)$  are bounded process), and thus by standard estimates:  $\mathbb{E}_{\theta}[\sup_{0 \leq t \leq T} |X_t^*|^2] \leq C(1 + |x_0|^2)$  for some constant C independent of  $\theta \in \mathcal{V}_{\Theta}$ . It follows immediately that  $\alpha^*$  satisfies the integrability condition in (5.2.2), i.e.,  $\alpha^* \in \mathcal{A}$ .

The main issue is now to show that such a pair  $(\alpha^*, \theta^*)$  satisfies conditions (ii)-(iii) of Lemma 5.3.1.

#### • Step 1: condition (ii) of Lemma 5.3.1.

For any  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ , with associated wealth process  $X = X^{\alpha}$ , let us compute the derivative of the deterministic function  $t \mapsto \mathbb{E}_{\theta^*}[V_t^{\alpha,\theta^*}] = \mathbb{E}_{\theta^*}[v_t(X_t, \mathbb{E}_{\theta^*}[X_t])]$  with  $v_t$  as in (5.3.6). From the dynamics of  $X = X_t^{\alpha}$  in (5.2.3) under  $\mathbb{P}^{\theta^*}$  and by applying Itô's formula, we obtain

$$\frac{d\mathbb{E}_{\theta^*}[X_t]}{dt} = \mathbb{E}_{\theta^*}[\alpha_t^{\mathsf{T}}b^*]$$
$$\frac{d\mathrm{Var}_{\theta^*}(X_t)}{dt} = 2\mathrm{Cov}_{\theta^*}(X_t, \alpha_t^{\mathsf{T}}b^*) + \mathbb{E}_{\theta^*}[\alpha_t^{\mathsf{T}}\Sigma(\rho^*)\alpha_t].$$

From the quadratic form of  $v_t$  in (5.3.6), with  $(K, Y, \chi)$  differentiable in time, we then have

$$\frac{d\mathbb{E}_{\theta^*}[V_t^{\alpha,\theta^*}]}{dt} = \frac{d\mathbb{E}_{\theta^*}[v_t(X_t, \mathbb{E}_{\theta^*}[X_t])]}{dt} \\
= \dot{K}_t \operatorname{Var}_{\theta^*}(X_t) + K_t \frac{d\operatorname{Var}_{\theta^*}(X_t)}{dt} + \dot{Y}_t \mathbb{E}_{\theta^*}[X_t] + Y_t \frac{d\mathbb{E}_{\theta^*}[X_t]}{dt} + \dot{\chi}_t \\
= \dot{K}_t \operatorname{Var}_{\theta^*}(X_t) + \dot{Y}_t \mathbb{E}_{\theta^*}[X_t] + \dot{\chi}_t + \mathbb{E}_{\theta^*}[G_t(\alpha)]$$
(5.3.8)

where

$$G_t(\alpha) = \alpha_t^{\mathsf{T}} Q_t \alpha_t + \alpha_t^{\mathsf{T}} \left[ 2U_t (X_t - \mathbb{E}_{\theta^*} [X_t]) + O_t \right],$$

with the deterministic coefficients

$$Q_t = K_t \Sigma(\rho^*), \quad U_t = K_t b^*, \quad O_t = Y_t b^*$$

By square completion, we rewrite  $G_t(\alpha)$  as

$$G_t(\alpha) = \left(\alpha_t - \hat{a}_t(X_t, \mathbb{E}_{\theta^*}[X_t])\right)^{\mathsf{T}} Q_t\left(\alpha_t - \hat{a}_t(X_t, \mathbb{E}_{\theta^*}[X_t])\right) - \zeta_t$$

where for  $t \in [0, T], x, \bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^2$ ,

$$\hat{a}_t(x,\bar{x}) := -Q_t^{-1}U_t(x-\bar{x}) - \frac{1}{2}Q_t^{-1}O_t$$

and

$$\zeta_t = U_t^{\mathsf{T}} Q_t^{-1} U_t \operatorname{Var}_{\theta^*}(X_t) + \frac{1}{4} O_t^{\mathsf{T}} Q_t^{-1} O_t = K_t R(\theta^*) \operatorname{Var}_{\theta^*}(X_t) + \frac{Y_t^2}{4K_t} R(\theta^*).$$

The expression in (5.3.8) is then rewritten as

$$\frac{d\mathbb{E}_{\theta^*}[V_t^{\alpha,\theta^*}]}{dt} = (\dot{K}_t - K_t R(\theta^*)) \operatorname{Var}_{\theta^*}(X_t) + \dot{Y}_t \mathbb{E}_{\theta^*}[X_t] + \dot{\chi}_t - \frac{Y_t^2}{4K_t} R(\theta^*) 
+ K_t \mathbb{E}_{\theta^*} \left[ \left( \alpha_t - \hat{a}_t (X_t, \mathbb{E}_{\theta^*}[X_t]) \right)^{\mathsf{T}} \Sigma(\rho^*) \left( \alpha_t - \hat{a}_t (X_t, \mathbb{E}_{\theta^*}[X_t]) \right) \right].$$
(5.3.9)

Therefore, whenever

$$\begin{cases} \dot{K}_t - K_t R(\theta^*) &= 0, \\ \dot{Y}_t &= 0, \\ \dot{\chi}_t - \frac{Y_t^2}{4K_t} R(\theta^*) &= 0, \end{cases}$$
(5.3.10)

holds for all  $t \in [0, T]$ , which yields, together with the terminal condition (5.3.7), the explicit forms:

$$K_t = -\lambda e^{R(\theta^*)(t-T)} < 0, \quad Y_t = 1, \quad \chi_t = \frac{1}{4\lambda} \left[ e^{R(\theta^*)(T-t)} - 1 \right], \quad (5.3.11)$$

we have

$$\frac{d\mathbb{E}_{\theta^*}[V_t^{\alpha,\theta^*}]}{dt} = K_t \mathbb{E}_{\theta^*} \left[ \left( \alpha_t - \hat{a}_t(X_t, \mathbb{E}_{\theta^*}[X_t]) \right)^{\mathsf{T}} \Sigma(\rho^*) \left( \alpha_t - \hat{a}_t(X_t, \mathbb{E}_{\theta^*}[X_t]) \right) \right],$$

which is nonpositive for all  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ , i.e., the process  $V_t^{\alpha,\theta^*}$  satisfies the condition (ii) of Lemma 5.3.1. Moreover, notice that in this case,

$$V_0^{\alpha,\theta^*} = v_0(x_0, x_0) = x_0 + \frac{1}{4\lambda} \left[ e^{R(\theta^*)T} - 1 \right],$$
 (5.3.12)

#### 5.3. Separation principle and robust solution

and

$$\hat{a}_t(x,\bar{x}) = -\Sigma(\rho^*)^{-1} b^* \left( x - \bar{x} - \frac{1}{2\lambda} e^{R(\theta^*)(T-t)} \right).$$
(5.3.13)

Notice that in this step, we have not yet used the property that  $\theta^*$  attains the infimum of the *prior* risk premium function. This will be used in the next step.

#### • Step 2: Condition (iii) of Lemma 5.3.1.

Let us now prove that  $V_0^{\alpha^*,\theta} \leq \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[V_T^{\alpha^*,\theta}]$ , for all  $\theta \in \mathcal{V}_{\Theta}$ . A sufficient condition is the nondecreasing monotonicity of the function  $t \mapsto \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[V_t^{\alpha^*,\theta}]$ , by proving that  $\frac{d\mathbb{E}_{\theta}[V_t^{\alpha^*,\theta}]}{dt}$  is nonnegative, for all  $\theta \in \mathcal{V}_{\Theta}$ . However, while this nondecreasing property is valid when there is no uncertainty on the drift, this does not hold true in the general uncertainty case as shown in Remark 5.3.3. We then proceed by computing directly the difference:  $\mathbb{E}_{\theta}[V_T^{\alpha^*,\theta}] - V_0^{\alpha^*,\theta}$ . Notice from (5.3.1), (5.2.3), that the dynamics of  $\Lambda_{\theta^*}(X^*)$ , with  $\Lambda_{\theta^*}(x)$  defined in (5.3.2), under  $\mathbb{P}^{\theta}$ ,  $\theta \in \mathcal{V}_{\Theta}$ , are given by

$$d\Lambda_{\theta^*}(X_t^*) = -\Lambda_{\theta^*}(X_t^*)(b^*)^{\mathsf{T}}\Sigma(\rho^*)^{-1} \big[ b_t dt + \sigma(\rho_t) dW_t^\theta \big],$$

with  $\Lambda_{\theta^*}(x_0) = \frac{e^{R(\theta^*)T}}{2\lambda}$ . By setting  $N_t^* := \frac{2\lambda}{e^{R(\theta^*)T}} \Lambda_{\theta^*}(X_t^*)$ , we deduce that

$$\begin{split} N_t^* &= & \exp\left(-\int_0^t \left(b_s^{\mathsf{T}} \Sigma(\rho^*)^{-1} b^* + \frac{1}{2} (b^*)^{\mathsf{T}} \Sigma(\rho^*)^{-1} \Sigma(\rho) \Sigma(\rho^*)^{-1} b^*\right) ds \\ &- \int_0^t (b^*)^{\mathsf{T}} \Sigma(\rho^*)^{-1} \sigma(\rho_s) dW_s^\theta\right), \quad 0 \le t \le T, \ \mathbb{P}^\theta - a.s. \\ X_t^* &= & x_0 + \frac{e^{R(\theta^*)T}}{2\lambda} (1 - N_t^*), \quad 0 \le t \le T, \ \mathcal{P}^\Theta - q.s. \end{split}$$

and thus

$$\mathbb{E}_{\theta}[X_{t}^{*}] = x_{0} + \frac{e^{R(\theta^{*})T}}{2\lambda} (1 - \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[N_{t}^{*}]), \qquad \operatorname{Var}_{\theta}(X_{t}^{*}) = \frac{e^{2R(\theta^{*})T}}{4\lambda^{2}} \operatorname{Var}_{\theta}(N_{t}^{*}).$$
(5.3.14)

By using the quadratic form (5.3.6) of  $v_t$ , together with the terminal condition (5.3.7), (5.3.12), and (5.3.14), we then obtain for all  $\theta \in \mathcal{V}_{\Theta}$ :

$$\mathbb{E}_{\theta}[V_{T}^{\alpha^{*},\theta}] - V_{0}^{\alpha^{*},\theta} = \mathbb{E}_{\theta}\left[v_{T}(X_{T}^{*},\mathbb{E}_{\theta}[X_{T}^{*}])\right] - v_{0}(x_{0},x_{0}) \\
= -\lambda \operatorname{Var}_{\theta}(X_{T}^{*}) + \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[X_{T}^{*}] - x_{0} - \frac{1}{4\lambda}(e^{R(\theta^{*})T} - 1) \\
= -\frac{e^{2R(\theta^{*})T}}{4\lambda} \operatorname{Var}_{\theta}(N_{T}^{*}) + \frac{e^{R(\theta^{*})T}}{2\lambda}(1 - \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[N_{T}^{*}]) - \frac{1}{4\lambda}(e^{R(\theta^{*})T} - 1) \\
= \frac{e^{R(\theta^{*})T}}{4\lambda}\left(1 - e^{R(\theta^{*})T}\mathbb{E}_{\theta}[|N_{T}^{*}|^{2}]\right) + \frac{1}{4\lambda}\left(e^{R(\theta^{*})T}\mathbb{E}_{\theta}[N_{T}^{*}] - 1\right)^{2} \\
\geq \frac{e^{R(\theta^{*})T}}{4\lambda}\left(1 - e^{R(\theta^{*})T}\mathbb{E}_{\theta}[|N_{T}^{*}|^{2}]\right) =: \frac{e^{R(\theta^{*})T}}{4\lambda}\Delta_{T}^{*}(\theta). \quad (5.3.15)$$

Noting that  $N^*$  is rewritten in terms of H introduced in Lemma 5.3.2 as

$$N_{t}^{*} = \exp\left(-\int_{0}^{t} \left(H(b_{s},\rho^{*}) + \frac{1}{2}H(b^{*},\rho_{s})\right)ds - \int_{0}^{t} (b^{*})^{\mathsf{T}}\Sigma(\rho^{*})^{-1}\sigma(\rho_{s})dW_{s}^{\theta}\right), 0 \le t \le T, \quad \mathbb{P}^{\theta} - a.s.$$

and observing that  $|(b^*)^{\intercal}\Sigma(\rho^*)^{-1}\sigma(\rho_s)|^2 = H(b^*,\rho_s)$ , we see that

$$|N_t^*|^2 = \exp\left(-\int_0^t \left(2H(b_s,\rho^*) - H(b^*,\rho_s)\right)ds\right)M_t^*,$$

where

$$M_t^* = \exp\left(-2\int_0^t |(b^*)^{\mathsf{T}}\Sigma(\rho^*)^{-1}\sigma(\rho_s)|^2 ds - 2\int_0^t (b^*)^{\mathsf{T}}\Sigma(\rho^*)^{-1}\sigma(\rho_s) dW_s^\theta\right), \ 0 \le t \le T, \ \mathbb{P}^\theta - a.s.$$

is an exponential Doléans-Dade local martingale under any  $\mathbb{P}^{\theta}$ ,  $\theta \in \mathcal{V}_{\Theta}$ . Actually, the Novikov criterion

$$\mathbb{E}_{\theta} \left[ \exp\left(\frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{T} |2(b^{*})^{\mathsf{T}} \Sigma(\rho^{*})^{-1} \sigma(\rho_{t})|^{2} dt \right) \right] = \mathbb{E}_{\theta} \left[ \exp\left(2 \int_{0}^{T} H(b^{*}, \rho_{t}) dt \right) \right]$$
  
 
$$\leq \exp\left(2R(\theta^{*})T\right) < \infty,$$

is satisfied by (5.3.5), and then  $(M_t^*)_{0 \le t \le T}$  is a martingale under any  $\mathbb{P}^{\theta}, \theta \in \mathcal{V}_{\Theta}$ . Consequently, we have

$$\Delta_T^*(\theta) = 1 - \mathbb{E}_{\theta} \Big[ \exp \Big( \int_0^t \big( R(\theta^*) - 2H(b_s, \rho^*) + H(b^*, \rho_s) \big) ds \Big) M_T^* \Big]$$
  
 
$$\geq 1 - \mathbb{E}_{\theta} [M_T^*] = 1 - M_0^* = 0,$$

where we used (5.3.5) in the above inequality. From (5.3.15), this proves condition (iii) of Lemma (5.3.1), and finally concludes the proof of Theorem 5.3.1.

**Remark 5.3.2.** The optimal strategy  $\alpha^*$  given in (5.3.1) can be expressed in feedback form as

$$\alpha_t^* = \hat{a}_t(X_t^*, \mathbb{E}_{\theta^*}[X_t^*]), \quad 0 \le t \le T, \ \mathcal{P}^{\Theta} - q.s.$$
(5.3.16)

where  $\hat{a}_t$  is defined in (5.3.13). Indeed, denoting by  $\hat{\alpha} \in \mathcal{A}$  the process defined by  $\hat{\alpha}_t = \hat{a}_t(\hat{X}_t, \mathbb{E}_{\theta^*}[\hat{X}_t]), 0 \leq t \leq T, \ \mathcal{P}^{\Theta} - q.s$ , where  $\hat{X}$  is the wealth process associated to  $\hat{\alpha}$ , we see from (5.2.3) that  $\hat{X}$  satisfies the dynamics under  $\mathbb{P}^{\theta^*}$ :

$$d\hat{X}_t = -\left[\hat{X}_t - \mathbb{E}_{\theta^*}[\hat{X}_t] - \frac{1}{2\lambda}e^{R(\theta^*)(T-t)}\right](b^*)^{\mathsf{T}}\Sigma(\rho^*)^{-1}\left[b^*dt + \sigma(\rho^*)dW_t^{\theta^*}\right].$$

By taking expectation under  $\mathbb{P}^{\theta^*}$ , we get:  $d\mathbb{E}_{\theta^*}[\hat{X}_t] = \frac{1}{2\lambda} e^{R(\theta^*)(T-t)} R(\theta^*) dt$ , and thus

$$\mathbb{E}_{\theta^*}[\hat{X}_t] = x_0 + \frac{e^{R(\theta^*)T}}{2\lambda} \left[1 - e^{-R(\theta^*)t}\right],$$
  
$$\hat{\alpha}_t = \Lambda_{\theta^*}(\hat{X}_t)\Sigma(\rho^*)^{-1}b^*, \quad 0 \le t \le T, \ \mathcal{P}^{\Theta} - q.s.$$

This implies that  $\hat{X}$  and  $X^*$  satisfy the same linear SDE under  $\mathbb{P}^{\theta}$ , for any  $\theta \in \mathcal{V}_{\Theta}$ , and so  $\hat{X}_t = X_t^*$ ,  $0 \leq t \leq T$ ,  $\mathcal{P}^{\Theta}$ -q.s. This proves that  $\alpha^* = \hat{\alpha}$ , equal to (5.3.16).

**Remark 5.3.3.** By similar derivation as in (5.3.9), and using (5.3.10), (5.3.16), we have that for all  $\theta = (\theta_t)_t = (b_t, \rho_t)_t \in \mathcal{V}_{\Theta}, t \in [0, T],$ 

$$\frac{d\mathbb{E}_{\theta}[V_{t}^{\alpha^{*},\theta}]}{dt} = K_{t}\left(R(\theta^{*}) - R(\theta_{t})\right) \operatorname{Var}_{\theta}(X_{t}^{*}) + \frac{1}{4K_{t}}\left(R(\theta^{*}) - R(\theta_{t})\right) \quad (5.3.17) \\
+ K_{t}\mathbb{E}_{\theta}\left[\left(\hat{a}_{t}(X_{t}^{*}, \mathbb{E}_{\theta^{*}}[X_{t}^{*}]) - \hat{a}_{t}(X_{t}^{*}, \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[X_{t}^{*}])\right)^{\mathsf{T}}\Sigma(\rho_{t}) \\
\left(\hat{a}_{t}(X_{t}^{*}, \mathbb{E}_{\theta^{*}}[X_{t}^{*}]) - \hat{a}_{t}(X_{t}^{*}, \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[X_{t}^{*}])\right)\right] \\
\geq K_{t}\mathbb{E}_{\theta}\left[\left(\hat{a}_{t}(X_{t}^{*}, \mathbb{E}_{\theta^{*}}[X_{t}^{*}]) - \hat{a}_{t}(X_{t}^{*}, \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[X_{t}^{*}])\right)^{\mathsf{T}}\Sigma(\rho_{t}) \\
\left(\hat{a}_{t}(X_{t}^{*}, \mathbb{E}_{\theta^{*}}[X_{t}^{*}]) - \hat{a}_{t}(X_{t}^{*}, \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[X_{t}^{*}])\right)\right] \quad (5.3.18)$$

#### 5.4. Applications and examples

by definition of  $\theta^* \in \arg \min_{\theta \in \Theta} R(\theta)$ , and as  $K_t < 0$ . In the case when there is no uncertainty on the drift, i.e., for any  $\theta = (b, \rho) \in \mathcal{V}_{\Theta}$ , b is a constant equal to  $b^o$ , the dynamics of  $X^*$  under any  $\mathbb{P}^{\theta}$ ,  $\theta \in \mathcal{V}_{\Theta}$ , is given by

$$dX_t^* = \left[ x_0 + \frac{e^{R(\theta^*)T}}{2\lambda} - X_t^* \right] (b^o)^{\mathsf{T}} \Sigma(\rho^*)^{-1} \left[ b^o dt + \sigma(\rho_t) dW_t^\theta \right],$$

from which, we deduce by taking expectation under  $\mathbb{P}^{\theta}$ :

$$\mathbb{E}_{\theta}[X_t^*] = x_0 + \frac{e^{R(\theta^*)T}}{2\lambda} \left[1 - e^{-R(\theta^*)t}\right].$$

This means that the expectation under  $\mathbb{P}^{\theta}$  of the optimal wealth process  $X^*$  does not depend on  $\theta \in \mathcal{V}_{\Theta}$ , and the r.h.s. of (5.3.18) is then equal to zero. Therefore, the function  $t \mapsto \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[V_t^{\alpha^*,\theta}]$  is nondecreasing for all  $\theta \in \mathcal{V}_{\Theta}$ , which implies in particular condition (iii) of Lemma 5.3.1.

However, in the case of drift uncertainty, we cannot conclude as above, and actually this nondecreasing property does not always hold true. Indeed, consider for example the case where there is only drift uncertainty in a single asset model d = 1, with  $\Theta = \{\theta \in [\underline{b}, \overline{b}]\}, 0 \leq \underline{b} < \overline{b}$ , and known variance  $\Sigma^{o}$ normalized to one. Notice that  $R(\theta) = \theta^2$ , and  $\theta^* = \arg \min_{\theta \in \Theta} R(\theta) = \underline{b}$ . For any  $\theta \in \Theta$ , we can compute explicitly from (5.3.14) the expectation and variance of  $X^*$  under  $\mathbb{P}^{\theta}$ :

$$\mathbb{E}_{\theta}[X_t^*] = \frac{1}{2\lambda} e^{R(\theta^*)T} \left[ 1 - e^{-\theta\theta^*t} \right],$$
  

$$\operatorname{Var}_{\theta}(X_t^*) = \frac{1}{4\lambda^2} e^{2R(\theta^*)T} \left[ e^{(R(\theta^*) - 2\theta\theta^*)t} - e^{-2\theta\theta^*t} \right]$$

Plugging into (5.3.17), and using also the expression of K,  $\hat{a}$  in (5.3.11), (5.3.13), we have for all  $\theta \in \Theta$ ,  $t \in [0, T]$ , after some straightforward rearrangement:

$$\frac{d\mathbb{E}_{\theta}[V_t^{\alpha^*,\theta}]}{dt} = \frac{1}{2\lambda} e^{R(\theta^*)T} \Big[ ce^{-2ct} - e^{-R(\theta^*)t} (1 - e^{-ct}) \Big( \frac{R(\theta^*)}{2} - \Big( \frac{R(\theta^*)}{2} + c \Big) e^{-ct} \Big) \Big]$$
  
=:  $f(t,c),$ 

where we set  $c = (\theta - \theta^*)\theta^* \ge 0$ . Now, we easily see that for all  $t \in [0, T]$ , f(t, c) converges to  $-\frac{R(\theta^*)}{4\lambda}e^{R(\theta^*)(T-t)} < 0$ , as c goes to infinity. Then, by continuity of f with respect to c, we deduce that for  $\theta$  large enough (hence for c large enough),  $\frac{d\mathbb{E}_{\theta}[V_t^{\alpha^*,\theta}]}{dt}$  is negative, which means that the function  $t \mapsto \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[V_t^{\alpha^*,\theta}]$  is not nondecreasing for all  $\theta \in \Theta$ . Actually, we have proved in Theorem 5.3.1 the weaker condition (iii) of Lemma 5.3.1 that  $V_0^{\alpha^*,\theta} \le \mathbb{E}_{\theta}[V_T^{\alpha^*,\theta}]$ , for all  $\theta \in \mathcal{V}_{\Theta}$ .

### 5.4 Applications and examples

We provide in this section several examples for the determination of the minimal risk premium arising from the separation principle in Theorem 5.3.1, and the implications for the optimal robust portfolio strategy and the portfolio diversification.

#### 5.4.1 Minimal risk premium and worst-case scenario

We compute the infimum of the prior risk premium function  $\theta \in \Theta \mapsto R(\theta)$  as defined in (5.2.1), and (when it exists) the element  $\theta^* \in \Theta$  which achieves this minimum, i.e., the worst-case scenario for uncertain parameters. According to condition  $(H\Theta)$ , we distinguish the case of ellipsoidal set and rectangular sets for the ambiguity parameter  $\Theta$ .

#### 5.4.1.1 Case of ellipsoidal ambiguity parameter set

In this paragraph, we consider  $\Theta$  in the form:

$$\Theta = \{ (b,\rho) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times \Gamma : \|\sigma(\rho)^{-1}(b-\hat{b})\|_2 \le \delta \},$$
(5.4.1)

as in (**H**  $\Theta$ ), and denote by  $\hat{\beta}_i := \frac{\hat{b}_i}{\sigma_i}$  the Sharpe ratio of the *i*-th asset associated with a *priori* expected rate of return  $\hat{b}_i$ , and marginal volatility  $\sigma_i > 0$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, d$ . We assume w.l.o.g that  $|\hat{\beta}_i|$  is in descending order:  $|\hat{\beta}_1| \ge |\hat{\beta}_2| \ge \ldots |\hat{\beta}_d|$ , and define the Sharpe ratio "proximity" between asset *i* and asset *j* by

$$\hat{\varrho}_{ij} = \frac{\hat{\beta}_j}{\hat{\beta}_i} \in [-1, 1], \quad 1 \le i < j \le d.$$
(5.4.2)

with the convention that  $\hat{\varrho}_{ij} = 0$  when  $\hat{\beta}_i = 0$ .

**Lemma 5.4.1.** Let  $\Theta$  be an ellipsoidal set, and assume that there exists  $\rho^* \in \arg\min_{\rho\in\Gamma} R(\hat{b},\rho)$ =  $\arg\min_{\rho\in\Gamma} \|\sigma(\rho)^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2$ . Then  $\theta^* = (b^*, \rho^*)$  with

$$b^* = \left(1 - \frac{\delta}{\|\sigma(\rho^*)^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2}\right) \mathbf{1}_{\{\|\sigma(\rho^*)^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2 > \delta\}} \hat{b}$$
  
and  $R(\theta^*) = \left(\|\sigma(\rho^*)^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2 - \delta\right)^2 \mathbf{1}_{\{\|\sigma(\rho^*)^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2 > \delta\}}.$ 

**Proof.** See proof of Lemma 5.5.2 in Appendix.

**Remark 5.4.1.** The existence of  $\rho^*$  is guaranteed when  $\Gamma$  is a compact set of  $\mathbb{C}_{>+}^d$  by continuity of the function  $\rho \mapsto \|\sigma(\rho)^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2$ . We also show in Proposition 5.4.1 its existence when  $\Gamma = \mathbb{C}_{>+}^d$ , and under the condition that there exists a highest *priori* Sharpe ratio.

In the particular case when there is full ambiguity about the correlation, i.e.  $\Gamma = \mathbb{C}_{>+}^d$ , and there is an asset with a *priori* highest (absolute value) Sharpe ratio, one can compute explicitly the worst-case scenario  $\rho^* \in \Theta$  for correlation.

**Proposition 5.4.1** (Full ambiguity correlation). Let  $\Theta$  as in (5.4.1), with  $\Gamma = \mathbb{C}_{>+}^d$ , and assume that  $|\hat{\beta}_1| > \max_{\substack{j \neq 1 \\ j \neq 1}} |\hat{\beta}_j|$ . Then, we have  $\arg\min_{\Theta} R(b, \rho) \neq \emptyset$  and  $b^*$ ,  $\rho^* = (\rho_{ij}^*)_{1 \leq i < j \leq d} \in \mathbb{C}_{>+}^d$  with

$$\rho_{1j}^* = \hat{\varrho}_{1j}, \qquad b^* = (1 - \frac{\delta}{|\hat{\beta}_1|}) \mathbf{1}_{\{|\hat{\beta}_1| > \delta\}} \hat{b}, \quad 1 < j \le d,$$
(5.4.3)

and

$$R(\theta^*) = (|\hat{\beta}_1| - \delta)^2 \mathbf{1}_{\{|\hat{\beta}_1| > \delta\}}.$$

In particular, when  $|\hat{\beta}_1| > |\hat{\beta}_2| > \ldots > |\hat{\beta}_d|$ , then  $\rho_{ij}^* = \hat{\varrho}_{ij}$ ,  $1 \le i < j \le d$ , and the associated correlation matrix  $C(\rho^*)$  is positive definite.

108

#### 5.4. Applications and examples

**Proof.** See 5.5.3 in Appendix.

**Remark 5.4.2.** Proof of proposition 5.4.1 states that  $R(\hat{b}, \rho)$  has minimum value over  $\mathbb{C}_{>+}^d$  iff  $|\hat{\beta}_1| > \max_{j \neq 1} |\hat{\beta}_j|$ . If there are more than one greatest (absolute) Sharpe ratio,  $R(\hat{b}, \rho)$  doesn't have minimum value. For example, if d = 2,  $\hat{\beta}_1 = \hat{\beta}_2$ , then  $\mathbb{C}_{>+}^2 = (-1, 1)$ ,  $R(\hat{b}, \rho) = \frac{2|\hat{\beta}_1|^2}{1+\rho}$ . We obtain  $\inf_{\mathbb{C}_{>+}^2} R(\hat{b}, \rho) = |\hat{\beta}_1|^2$  but it can't be attained. Therefore, the case with more than one greatest(absolute) Sharpe ratio under full ambiguity correlation can not be tackled with our approach.

We now consider a model for two-risky assets, i.e. with d = 2, mixing partial ambiguity about correlation and drift uncertainty. In this case, the following result provides the explicit expression of the worst-case scenario achieving the minimal risk premium.

**Proposition 5.4.2** (Ambiguous drift and correlation in the two-assets case). Let  $\Theta = \{(b, \rho) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \times [\underline{\rho}, \overline{\rho}] : \|\sigma(\rho)^{-1}(b-\hat{b})\|_2 \leq \delta\}$ , with  $-1 < \underline{\rho} \leq \overline{\rho} < 1$ , and assume w.l.o.g that  $|\hat{\beta}_1| \geq |\hat{\beta}_2|$ ,  $(\hat{\beta}_1, \hat{\beta}_2) \neq (0, 0)$ . Recall that  $\hat{\rho}_{12} := \frac{\hat{\beta}_2}{\hat{\beta}_1}$ . Then,

**1.** If  $\hat{\varrho}_{12} \in [\underline{\rho}, \overline{\rho}]$ , then  $\rho^* = \hat{\varrho}_{12}$ , and  $b^* = \hat{b}(1 - \frac{\delta}{|\hat{\beta}_1|}) \mathbf{1}_{\{|\hat{\beta}_1| > \delta\}}$ .

**2.** If 
$$\bar{\rho} < \hat{\varrho}_{12}$$
, then  $\rho^* = \bar{\rho}$ , and  $b^* = \hat{b}(1 - \frac{\delta}{\|\sigma(\bar{\rho})^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2}) \mathbb{1}_{\{\|\sigma(\bar{\rho})^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2 > \delta\}}$ .

**3.** If 
$$\underline{\rho} > \hat{\varrho}_{12}$$
, then  $\rho^* = \underline{\rho}$ , and  $b^* = \hat{b}(1 - \frac{\delta}{\|\sigma(\rho)^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2}) \mathbb{1}_{\{\|\sigma(\rho)^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2 > \delta\}}$ .

**Proof.** See 5.5.4 in Appendix.

**Remark 5.4.3.** The computation of the worst-case correlation  $\rho^*$  is determined according to three cases depending on the relation between the Sharpe ratio proximity  $\hat{\rho}_{12}$  and the two correlation bounds  $\underline{\rho}$  and  $\overline{\rho}$ .

In the first case when the range of correlation ambiguity is large enough so that  $\hat{\rho}_{12} \in [\underline{\rho}, \overline{\rho}]$ , or in other words, no stock is clearly dominating the other one in terms of Sharpe ratio, then the worst-case correlation is attained at the point  $\hat{\rho}_{12}$  inside the interval  $[\rho, \overline{\rho}]$ .

In the second case, when  $\bar{\rho} < \hat{\varrho}_{12}$ , meaning that both assets have close Sharpe ratios with a correlation upper bound not too large, then the worst-case correlation is attained at the prior highest correlation  $\bar{\rho}$ .

In the third case, when  $\underline{\rho} > \hat{\varrho}_{12}$ , meaning that Sharpe ratios of the two assets are rather distinctive with respect to the correlation lower bound, then the worst-case correlation is given by the prior lowest correlation  $\underline{\rho}$ .

We finally consider a model for three-risky assets (d = 3) mixing partial ambiguity about correlation and drift uncertainty, hence with  $\Theta$  in the form  $\Theta = \{(b, \rho) \in \mathbb{R}^3 \times \Gamma : \|\sigma(\rho)^{-1}(b - \hat{b})\|_2 \leq \delta\}$  with  $\Gamma = [\underline{\rho}_{12}, \overline{\rho}_{12}] \times [\underline{\rho}_{13}, \overline{\rho}_{13}] \times [\underline{\rho}_{23}, \overline{\rho}_{23}]$ , a subset of  $\mathbb{C}^3_{>+}$ .

Recall that

$$\hat{\varrho}_{12} := \frac{\hat{\beta}_2}{\hat{\beta}_1} \in [-1,1], \quad \hat{\varrho}_{13} := \frac{\hat{\beta}_3}{\hat{\beta}_1} \in [-1,1], \quad \hat{\varrho}_{23} := \frac{\hat{\beta}_3}{\hat{\beta}_2} \in [-1,1].$$
(5.4.4)

We introduce the so-called variance risk ratio  $\hat{\kappa}(\rho)$ ,

$$\Sigma(\rho)^{-1}\hat{b} =: \hat{\kappa}(\rho) = (\hat{\kappa}^{1}(\rho), \hat{\kappa}^{2}(\rho), \hat{\kappa}^{3}(\rho))^{\mathsf{T}},$$
(5.4.5)

which represents (up to a scalar term) the vector of allocation in the assets when the drift is  $\hat{b}$  and the correlation is  $\rho$ .

We denote by  $\hat{b}_{-i}$  the prior expected rate of return  $\hat{b}$  with the *i*-th component  $\hat{b}_i$  removed, and by  $\Sigma_{-i}(\rho)$  the covariance matrix  $\Sigma(\rho)$  with *i*-th row and *i*-th column removed, and  $\sigma_{-i}(\rho) = \Sigma_{-i}(\rho)^{\frac{1}{2}}$ . Notice that  $\Sigma_{-1}(\rho)$  depends only on  $\rho_{23}$ . We will write  $\Sigma_{-1}(\rho)$  as  $\Sigma_{-1}(\rho_{23})$ , similarly,  $\Sigma_{-2}(\rho_{13})$ ,  $\Sigma_{-3}(\rho_{12})$ .

In this case, the following result provides the explicit expression of the worst-case scenario achieving the minimal risk premium.

**Proposition 5.4.3** (Ambiguous drift and correlation in the three-asset case). Let  $\Theta = \{(b, \rho) \in \mathbb{R}^3 \times \Gamma : \|\sigma(\rho)^{-1}(b-\hat{b})\|_2 \leq \delta\}$  with  $\Gamma = [\underline{\rho}_{12}, \overline{\rho}_{12}] \times [\underline{\rho}_{13}, \overline{\rho}_{13}] \times [\underline{\rho}_{23}, \overline{\rho}_{23}] \subset \mathbb{C}^3_{>+}$ . Then, we have the following possible exclusive cases:

1. (High-level correlation ambiguity for the second and third assets)

 $If \ \hat{\varrho}_{12} \ \in \ [\underline{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{12}], \ \hat{\varrho}_{13} \ \in \ [\underline{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{13}], \ then \ \rho^* = \ (\hat{\varrho}_{12}, \hat{\varrho}_{13}, \rho^*_{23}) \ for \ any \ \rho^*_{23} \ \in \ [\underline{\rho}_{23}, \bar{\rho}_{23}], \ and \ b^* = \\ \hat{b}(1 - \frac{\delta}{|\hat{\beta}_1|}) \mathbf{1}_{\{|\hat{\beta}_1| > \delta\}}.$ 

- **2.** (High-level correlation ambiguity for the third asset)
  - (i) If  $\bar{\rho}_{12} < \hat{\varrho}_{12}$ ,  $\hat{\kappa}^3(\bar{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23})\hat{\kappa}^3(\bar{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}) \le 0$ , then  $\rho^* = (\bar{\rho}_{12}, \rho^*_{13}, \rho^*_{23})$  satisfying  $\hat{\kappa}^3(\bar{\rho}_{12}, \rho^*_{13}, \rho^*_{23}) = 0$ , and  $b^* = \hat{b}(1 \frac{\delta}{\|\sigma_{-3}(\bar{\rho}_{12})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-3}\|_2})\mathbf{1}_{\{\|\sigma_{-3}(\bar{\rho}_{12})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-3}\|_2 > \delta\}}$ .
  - $\begin{array}{l} (ii) \ If \underline{\rho}_{12} > \hat{\varrho}_{12}, \hat{\kappa}^3(\underline{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23}) \hat{\kappa}^3(\underline{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}) \leq 0, \ then \ \rho^* = (\underline{\rho}_{12}, \rho^*_{13}, \rho^*_{23}) \ satisfying \ \hat{\kappa}^3(\underline{\rho}_{12}, \rho^*_{13}, \rho^*_{23}) \\ = 0, \ and \ b^* = \hat{b}(1 \frac{\delta}{\|\sigma_{-3}(\underline{\rho}_{12})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-3}\|_2}) \mathbf{1}_{\{\|\sigma_{-3}(\underline{\rho}_{12})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-3}\|_2 > \delta\}}. \end{array}$
- **3.** (High-level correlation ambiguity for the second asset)
  - (i) If  $\bar{\rho}_{13} < \hat{\varrho}_{13}$ ,  $\hat{\kappa}^2(\bar{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23})\hat{\kappa}^2(\underline{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}) \le 0$ , then  $\rho^* = (\rho_{12}^*, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \rho_{23}^*)$  satisfying  $\hat{\kappa}^2(\rho_{12}^*, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \rho_{23}^*) = 0$ , and  $b^* = \hat{b}(1 \frac{\delta}{\|\sigma_{-2}(\bar{\rho}_{13})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-2}\|_2})\mathbf{1}_{\{\|\sigma_{-2}(\bar{\rho}_{13})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-2}\|_2 > \delta\}}$ .
  - $\begin{array}{l} (ii) \ If \underline{\rho}_{13} > \hat{\varrho}_{13}, \hat{\kappa}^2(\underline{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23}) \hat{\kappa}^2(\bar{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}) \leq 0, \ then \ \rho^* = (\rho^*_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \rho^*_{23}) \ satisfying \ \hat{\kappa}^2(\rho^*_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \rho^*_{23}) \\ = 0, \ and \ b^* = \hat{b}(1 \frac{\delta}{\|\sigma_{-2}(\underline{\rho}_{13})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-2}\|_2}) \mathbf{1}_{\{\|\sigma_{-2}(\underline{\rho}_{13})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-2}\|_2 > \delta\}}. \end{array}$
- 4. (High-level correlation ambiguity for the first asset)
  - (i) If  $\bar{\rho}_{23} < \hat{\varrho}_{23}$ ,  $\hat{\kappa}^1(\bar{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23})\hat{\kappa}^1(\underline{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23}) \le 0$ , then  $\rho^* = (\rho_{12}^*, \rho_{13}^*, \bar{\rho}_{23})$  satisfying  $\hat{\kappa}^1(\rho_{12}^*, \rho_{13}^*, \bar{\rho}_{23}) = 0$ , and  $b^* = \hat{b}(1 \frac{\delta}{\|\sigma_{-1}(\bar{\rho}_{23})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-1}\|_2})\mathbf{1}_{\{\|\sigma_{-1}(\bar{\rho}_{23})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-1}\|_2 > \delta\}}$ .
  - $\begin{array}{ll} (ii) & If \underline{\rho}_{23} > \hat{\varrho}_{23}, \, \hat{\kappa}^1(\underline{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}) \hat{\kappa}^1(\bar{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}) \leq 0, \, then \, \rho^* = (\rho_{12}^*, \rho_{13}^*, \underline{\rho}_{23}) \, satisfying \, \hat{\kappa}^1(\rho_{12}^*, \rho_{13}^*, \underline{\rho}_{23}) \\ &= 0, \, and \, b^* = \hat{b}(1 \frac{\delta}{\|\sigma_{-1}(\underline{\rho}_{23})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-1}\|_2}) \mathbf{1}_{\{\|\sigma_{-1}(\underline{\rho}_{23})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-1}\|_2 > \delta\}}. \end{array}$
- **5.** (Small ambiguity about correlation)
  - (i) If  $\hat{\kappa}^1 \hat{\kappa}^2(\bar{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23}) > 0$ ,  $\hat{\kappa}^1 \hat{\kappa}^3(\bar{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23}) > 0$ , then  $\rho^* = (\bar{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23})$ , and  $b^* = \hat{b}(1 \frac{\delta}{\|\sigma(\bar{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23})^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2}) 1_{\{\|\sigma(\bar{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23})^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2 > \delta\}}$ .
  - $\begin{array}{ll} (ii) & I\!\!f \,\hat{\kappa}^1 \hat{\kappa}^2(\!\underline{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23}) < 0, \; \hat{\kappa}^1 \hat{\kappa}^3(\underline{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23}) < 0, \; then \; \rho^* = (\underline{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23}), \; and \; b^* = \hat{b}(1 \frac{\delta}{\|\sigma(\underline{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23})^{-1} \hat{b}\|_2}) \mathbbm{1}_{\{\|\sigma(\underline{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23})^{-1} \hat{b}\|_2 > \delta\}}. \end{array}$
  - $\begin{array}{ll} (iii) & If \ \hat{\kappa}^1 \hat{\kappa}^2 (\bar{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}) > 0, \ \hat{\kappa}^1 \hat{\kappa}^3 (\bar{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}) < 0, \ then \ \rho^* = (\bar{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}), \ and \ b^* = \hat{b}(1 \frac{\delta}{\|\sigma(\bar{\rho}_{12}, \rho_{12}, \rho_{12}, \rho_{23})^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2}) 1_{\{\|\sigma(\bar{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23})^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2 > \delta\}}. \end{array}$
  - $(iv) If \hat{\kappa}^{1} \hat{\kappa}^{2}(\underline{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}) < 0, \ \hat{\kappa}^{1} \hat{\kappa}^{3}(\underline{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}) > 0, \ then \ \rho^{*} = (\underline{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}), \ and \ b^{*} = \hat{b}(1 \frac{\delta}{\|\sigma(\rho_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \rho_{23})^{-1}\hat{b}\|_{2}}) 1_{\{\|\sigma(\underline{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23})^{-1}\hat{b}\|_{2} > \delta\}}.$

#### 5.4. Applications and examples

**Proof.** See 5.5.5 in Appendix.

**Remark 5.4.4.** The different cases in the above proposition depend on the relation between the Sharpe ratio proximities and the correlation intervals bounds, and can be roughly divided into 5 cases with subcases with the following interpretation:

In case 1. where the range of correlation ambiguity for the second and third asset is large enough, in the sense that the intervals  $[\rho_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{12}]$  and  $[\rho_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{13}]$  contain respectively  $\hat{\rho}_{12}$  and  $\hat{\rho}_{13}$ , then the worst-case correlation is attained at the Sharpe ratio proximity value  $\rho^* = (\hat{\rho}_{12}, \hat{\rho}_{13}, \rho_{23}^*)$ .

Let us now discuss case 2., and more specifically (i). This corresponds to the situation where the assets 1 and 2 have close Sharpe ratios with a correlation upper bound between these assets not too large, while the correlation ambiguity for the third asset is high, which is quantified by the fact that the function  $(\rho_{13}, \rho_{23}) \mapsto \hat{\kappa}(\bar{\rho}_{12}, \rho_{13}, \rho_{23})$  evaluated at the prior lower bounds  $(\rho_{13}, \rho_{23})$  and the prior upper bounds  $(\bar{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23})$  have opposite signs. In this case, the worst-case correlation is achieved at the prior highest correlation  $\bar{\rho}_{12}$  for  $\rho_{12}$ , and at the point  $(\rho_{13}^*, \rho_{23}^*)$  cancelling the term  $\hat{\kappa}(\bar{\rho}_{12}, \rho_{13}^*, \rho_{23}^*)$ . Similar interpretations hold for cases 3. and 4.

Let us finally discuss case **5**., which involves explicitly the signs of  $\hat{\kappa}^1 \hat{\kappa}^2$  and  $\hat{\kappa}^1 \hat{\kappa}^3$  at the prior correlation bounds. Assuming that these functions  $\hat{\kappa}^1 \hat{\kappa}^2$  and  $\hat{\kappa}^1 \hat{\kappa}^3$  do not vanish at some point  $\rho \in [\underline{\rho}_{12}, \overline{\rho}_{12}] \times [\underline{\rho}_{13}, \overline{\rho}_{13}] \times [\underline{\rho}_{23}, \overline{\rho}_{23}]$ , then by continuity, and provided that the range of these correlation bounds are small enough, we see that one should fall into one of the 4 subcases **5**.(i), (ii), (iii), (iv), and for which the worst-case correlation is obtained on the prior upper or lower correlation bounds.

#### 5.4.1.2 Case of rectangular ambiguity parameter set

In this paragraph, we consider  $\Theta$  in the form

$$\Theta = \Delta \times \Gamma := \prod_{i=1}^{d} [\underline{b}_i, \overline{b}_i] \times \Gamma, \qquad (5.4.6)$$

for some constants  $0 \leq \underline{b}_i \leq \overline{b}_i$ , i = 1, ..., d, and  $\Gamma$  is a convex set of  $\mathbb{C}^d_{>+}$ , as in  $(\mathbf{H}\Theta)(\mathbf{i})$ . For any  $b = (b_i)_{i=1,...,d} \in \Delta$ , we denote by  $\beta = (\beta_i)_{i=1,...,d}$  with  $\beta_i = \frac{b_i}{\sigma_i}$ , and also set  $\underline{\beta}_i = \frac{\underline{b}_i}{\sigma_i}$ , minimum Sharpe ratio of asset i,  $\overline{\beta}_i = \frac{\overline{b}_i}{\sigma_i}$ , maximum Sharpe ratio of asset i, for  $1 \leq i \leq d$ .

We focus first on the particular case of full ambiguity correlation, i.e.,  $\Gamma = \mathbb{C}_{>+}^d$ , and compute explicitly the worst-case scenario.

**Proposition 5.4.4** (Full ambiguity correlation). Let  $\Theta$  be a rectangular set  $\Theta = \prod_{i=1}^{d} [\underline{b}_i, \overline{b}_i] \times \mathbb{C}^d_{>+}$ , with  $0 \leq \underline{b}_i \leq \overline{b}_i$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, d$ , and assume that there exists  $\underline{\beta}_{i_1} > \max_{j \neq i_1} \underline{\beta}_j$  for some  $i_1 \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$ , hence w.l.o.g.,  $i_1 = 1$ . Then

$$b_1^* = \underline{b}_1, \ b_j^* = \frac{\underline{b}_1 \sigma_j}{\sigma_1} \rho_{1j}^*, \ \text{for any} \ \rho_{1j}^* \in \left[\frac{\underline{\beta}_j}{\underline{\beta}_1}, \min(1, \frac{\overline{\beta}_j}{\underline{\beta}_1})\right), \ j \neq 1,$$
(5.4.7)

and

$$R(\theta^*) = \underline{\beta}_1^2. \tag{5.4.8}$$

**Proof.** See 5.5.6 in Appendix.

**Remark 5.4.5.** When  $\Gamma = \mathbb{C}_{>+}^d$ , this means the investor has no confidence on the correlation estimates. In this case, the worst-case scenario refers to the lower bound of the rate of return of the asset with the highest instantaneous minimum Sharpe ratio.

We next consider a model for two-risky assets mixing ambiguous correlation and drift uncertainty, hence with d = 2. The following result provides the explicit expression of  $\theta^*$  achieving the minimal risk premium.

**Proposition 5.4.5** (Ambiguous drift and correlation in the two-assets case). Let  $\Theta = \prod_{i=1}^{2} [\underline{b}_{i}, \overline{b}_{i}] \times [\underline{\rho}, \overline{\rho}]$ , and assume that  $\underline{\beta}_{1} \geq \underline{\beta}_{2} > 0$ . Then,

1. If 
$$\underline{\rho} \leq \min\left(\frac{\overline{\beta}_2}{\underline{\beta}_1}, 1\right)$$
 and  $\overline{\rho} \geq \frac{\underline{\beta}_2}{\underline{\beta}_1}$ , then  $b^* = (\underline{b}_1, \frac{\underline{b}_1 \sigma_2}{\sigma_1} \rho^*)$ , for any  $\rho^* \in [\underline{\rho}, \overline{\rho}] \cap [\frac{\underline{\beta}_2}{\underline{\beta}_1}, \min(\frac{\overline{\beta}_2}{\underline{\beta}_1}, 1)]$ .  
2. If  $\overline{\rho} < \frac{\underline{\beta}_2}{\underline{\beta}_1}$ , then  $b^* = (\underline{b}_1, \underline{b}_2)$ ,  $\rho^* = \overline{\rho}$ .  
3. If  $\underline{\rho} > \min(1, \frac{\overline{\beta}_2}{\underline{\beta}_1})$ , then  $b^* = (\underline{b}_1, \overline{b}_2)$ ,  $\rho^* = \underline{\rho}$ .

**Proof.** See 5.5.7 in Appendix.

**Remark 5.4.6.** As in Remark 5.4.3, the separation of the three cases depends on the relation between the Sharpe ratio proximities and the correlation interval bounds. Under the assumption  $\underline{\beta}_1 \geq \underline{\beta}_2 > 0$ , since the investor is looking for the worst case, she only takes the minimum Sharpe ratio for the first asset.

In the first case, the Sharpe ratios of the two assets don't have a proximate relation or a dominating relation, the investor is not sure of making directional trading or spread trading. In Section 4.2.2, we will see that in this case, the investor will only form a portfolio with the first asset, which has a larger positive Sharpe ratio. So the second asset is irrelevant, the optimal correlation can takes any value in an interval and the optimal drift  $b^*$  only depends on the minimum Sharpe ratio of the first asset.

In the second case, when  $\bar{\rho} < \frac{\beta_2}{\underline{\beta}_1}$ , the minimum Sharpe ratio of the two asset  $\underline{\beta}_1$  and  $\underline{\beta}_2$  are similar compared to the correlation upper bound  $\bar{\rho}$ . The investor will hold similar long positions in these assets (known as directional trading), thus the optimal drift  $b^* = (\underline{b}_1, \underline{b}_2)$  and the optimal correlation is the upper bound.

In the third case, we have  $\underline{\rho} > \frac{\overline{\beta}_2}{\underline{\beta}_1}$ , which means that the maximum Sharpe ratio of the second asset is smaller than the minimum Sharpe ratio of the first asset compared to the correlation lower bound  $\underline{\rho}$ . The first asset dominates the second asset in term of Sharpe ratio. The investor will hold opposite positions in these assets (known as spread trading), i.e. long in the first asset and short in the second asset, thus the optimal drift  $b^* = (\underline{b}_1, \overline{b}_2)$  and the optimal correlation is the lower bound.  $\Diamond$ 

We finally consider a model for three-risky assets mixing ambiguous correlation and drift uncertainty, hence with d = 3, and  $\Theta$  in the form  $\Theta = \prod_{i=1}^{3} [\underline{b}_{i}, \overline{b}_{i}] \times [\underline{\rho}_{12}, \overline{\rho}_{12}] \times [\underline{\rho}_{13}, \overline{\rho}_{13}] \times [\underline{\rho}_{23}, \overline{\rho}_{23}]$  with  $[\underline{\rho}_{12}, \overline{\rho}_{12}] \times [\underline{\rho}_{13}, \overline{\rho}_{13}] \times [\underline{\rho}_{23}, \overline{\rho}_{23}] \subset \mathbb{C}^{3}_{>+}$ .

We define  $\kappa(b, \rho)$  as

$$\Sigma(\rho)^{-1}b =: \kappa(b,\rho) = (\kappa^{1}(b,\rho), \kappa^{2}(b,\rho), \kappa^{3}(b,\rho))^{\mathsf{T}}.$$
(5.4.9)

#### 5.4. Applications and examples

The following result provides the explicit expression of  $\theta^*$  achieving the minimal risk premium.

**Proposition 5.4.6** (Ambiguous drift and correlation in the 3-assets case). Let  $\Theta = \prod_{1 \leq i \leq 3} [\underline{b}_i, \overline{b}_i] \times \prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq 3} [\underline{\rho}_{ij}, \overline{\rho}_{ij}]$  and assume that  $\underline{\beta}_1 \geq \underline{\beta}_2 \geq \underline{\beta}_3 > 0$ . Then,

1. (High-level ambiguity about drift and correlation for the second and third assets) If  $\underline{\rho}_{12} \leq \min(1, \frac{\beta_2}{\beta})$ ,

$$\bar{\rho}_{12} \geq \frac{\underline{\beta}_2}{\underline{\beta}_1}, \ \underline{\rho}_{13} \leq \min(\frac{\bar{\beta}_3}{\underline{\beta}_1}, 1) \ and \ \bar{\rho}_{13} \geq \frac{\underline{\beta}_3}{\underline{\beta}_1}, \ then \ b_1^* = \underline{b}_1, \ b_2^* = \frac{\underline{b}_1 \sigma_2}{\sigma_1} \rho_{12}^*, \ b_3^* = \frac{\underline{b}_1 \sigma_3}{\sigma_1} \rho_{13}^* \ for \ any \ \rho_{12}^* \in [\underline{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{12}] \cap [\frac{\underline{\beta}_2}{\underline{\beta}_1}, \min(1, \frac{\bar{\beta}_2}{\underline{\beta}_1})], \ \rho_{13}^* \in [\underline{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{13}] \cap [\frac{\underline{\beta}_2}{\underline{\beta}_1}, \min(1, \frac{\bar{\beta}_2}{\underline{\beta}_1})] \ and \ \rho_{23}^* \in [\underline{\rho}_{23}, \bar{\rho}_{23}].$$

- 2. (High-level ambiguity about drift and correlation for the third asset)
  - $\begin{array}{ll} (i) \ \ If \ \bar{\rho}_{12} \ < \ \frac{\beta_2}{\beta_1}, \ \kappa^3(\underline{b}_1, \underline{b}_2, \bar{b}_3, \bar{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}) \ge 0 \ge \kappa^3(\underline{b}_1, \underline{b}_2, \underline{b}_3, \bar{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23}), \ then \ b^* \ = \ (\underline{b}_1, \underline{b}_2, b_3^*), \\ \rho^* \ = \ (\bar{\rho}_{12}, \rho_{13}^*, \rho_{23}^*) \ with \ b_3^*, \ \rho_{13}^*, \ \rho_{23}^* \ satisfying \ \kappa^3(\underline{b}_1, \underline{b}_2, b_3^*, \bar{\rho}_{12}, \rho_{13}^*, \rho_{23}^*) = 0. \end{array}$
  - $\begin{array}{ll} (ii) \ If \ \underline{\rho}_{12} \ > \ \min(\frac{\beta_2}{\underline{\beta}_1}, 1), \ \kappa^3(\underline{b}_1, \bar{b}_2, \bar{b}_3, \underline{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23}) \ \ge \ 0 \ \ge \ \kappa^3(\underline{b}_1, \bar{b}_2, \underline{b}_3, \underline{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}), \ then \ b^* \ = \\ (\underline{b}_1, \bar{b}_2, b_3^*), \ \rho^* = (\underline{\rho}_{12}, \rho_{13}^*, \rho_{23}^*) \ with \ b_3^*, \ \rho_{13}^*, \ \rho_{23}^* \ satisfying \\ \kappa^3(\underline{b}_1, \bar{b}_2, b_3^*, \underline{\rho}_{12}, \rho_{13}^*, \rho_{23}^*) = 0. \end{array}$
- **3.** (High-level ambiguity about drift and correlation for the second asset)
  - $\begin{array}{ll} (i) \ \ If \ \bar{\rho}_{13} \ < \ \frac{\beta_3}{\beta_1}, \ \kappa^2(\underline{b}_1, \overline{b}_2, \underline{b}_3, \underline{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}) \ \ge \ 0 \ \ge \ \kappa^2(\underline{b}_1, \underline{b}_2, \underline{b}_3, \bar{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23}), \ then \ b^* \ = \ (\underline{b}_1, b_2^*, \underline{b}_3), \\ \rho^* \ = \ (\rho_{12}^*, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \rho_{23}^*) \ with \ b_2^*, \ \rho_{12}^*, \ \rho_{23}^* \ satisfying \ \kappa^2(\underline{b}_1, b_2^*, \underline{b}_3, \rho_{12}^*, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \rho_{23}^*) \ = \ 0. \end{array}$
  - $\begin{array}{ll} (ii) \ If \ \underline{\rho}_{13} \ > \ \min(\frac{\beta_3}{\underline{\beta}_1}, 1), \ \kappa^2(\underline{b}_1, \overline{b}_2, \underline{b}_3, \underline{\rho}_{12}, \overline{\rho}_{13}, \overline{\rho}_{23}) \ \ge \ 0 \ \ge \ \kappa^2(\underline{b}_1, \underline{b}_2, \underline{b}_3, \overline{\rho}_{12}, \overline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}), \ then \ b^* \ = \\ (\underline{b}_1, b_2^*, \overline{b}_3), \ \rho^* \ = \ (\rho_{12}^*, \overline{\rho}_{13}, \rho_{23}^*) \ with \ b_2^*, \ \rho_{12}^*, \ \rho_{23}^* \ satisfying \\ \kappa^2(\underline{b}_1, b_2^*, \overline{b}_3, \rho_{12}^*, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \rho_{23}^*) \ = \ 0. \end{array}$
- 4. (High-level ambiguity about drift and correlation for the first asset)
  - (i) If  $\bar{\rho}_{23} < \frac{\bar{\beta}_3}{\bar{\beta}_2}$ ,  $\kappa^1(\bar{b}_1, \underline{b}_2, \underline{b}_3, \underline{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23}) \ge 0 \ge \kappa^1(\underline{b}_1, \underline{b}_2, \underline{b}_3, \bar{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23})$ , then  $b^* = (b_1^*, \underline{b}_2, \underline{b}_3)$ ,  $\rho^* = (\rho_{12}^*, \rho_{13}^*, \bar{\rho}_{23})$  with  $b_1^*, \rho_{12}^*, \rho_{13}^*$  with  $b_1^*, \rho_{12}^*, \rho_{13}^*$  satisfying  $\kappa^1(b_1^*, \underline{b}_2, \underline{b}_3, \rho_{12}^*, \rho_{13}^*, \bar{\rho}_{23}) = 0$ .
  - $\begin{array}{ll} (ii) \ \ If \ \underline{\rho}_{23} \ > \ \min(1, \frac{\beta_3}{\underline{\beta}_2}) \ \ \kappa^1(\bar{b}_1, \underline{b}_2, \bar{b}_3, \underline{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}) \ \ge \ 0 \ \ge \ \kappa^1(\underline{b}_1, \underline{b}_2, \bar{b}_3, \bar{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}), \ then \ b^* \ = \\ (b_1^*, \underline{b}_2, \bar{b}_3), \ \rho^* = \ (\rho_{12}^*, \rho_{13}^*, \underline{\rho}_{23}) \ with \ b_1^*, \ \rho_{12}^*, \ \rho_{13}^* \ satisfying \\ \kappa^1(b_1^*, \underline{b}_2, \bar{b}_3, \rho_{12}^*, \rho_{13}^*, \underline{\rho}_{23}) = 0. \end{array}$
- **5.** (Small ambiguity about drift and correlation)
  - (i) If  $\kappa^1(\underline{b}_1, \underline{b}_2, \underline{b}_3, \bar{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23}) > 0$ ,  $\kappa^2(\underline{b}_1, \underline{b}_2, \underline{b}_3, \bar{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23}) > 0$ ,  $\kappa^3(\underline{b}_1, \underline{b}_2, \underline{b}_3, \bar{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23}) > 0$ , then  $b^* = (\underline{b}_1, \underline{b}_2, \underline{b}_3)$  and  $\rho^* = (\bar{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23})$ .
  - $\begin{array}{ll} (ii) \ \ If \ \kappa^1(\underline{b}_1, \bar{b}_2, \underline{b}_3, \underline{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}) > 0, \ \kappa^2(\underline{b}_1, \bar{b}_2, \underline{b}_3, \underline{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}) < 0, \ \kappa^3(\underline{b}_1, \bar{b}_2, \underline{b}_3, \underline{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}) > 0, \\ then \ b^* = (\underline{b}_1, \bar{b}_2, \underline{b}_3) \ and \ \rho^* = (\underline{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}). \end{array}$
  - $\begin{array}{ll} (iii) & \text{If } \kappa^1(\bar{b}_1,\underline{b}_2,\bar{b}_3,\underline{\rho}_{12},\bar{\rho}_{13},\underline{\rho}_{23}) < 0, \ \kappa^2(\bar{b}_1,\underline{b}_2,\bar{\bar{b}}_3,\underline{\rho}_{12},\bar{\rho}_{13},\underline{\rho}_{23}) > 0, \ \kappa^3(\bar{b}_1,\underline{b}_2,\bar{b}_3,\underline{\rho}_{12},\bar{\rho}_{13},\underline{\rho}_{23}) < 0, \\ & \text{then } b^* = (\bar{b}_1,\underline{b}_2,\bar{b}_3) \ \text{and} \ \rho^* = (\underline{\rho}_{12},\bar{\rho}_{13},\underline{\rho}_{23}). \end{array}$
  - $\begin{array}{ll} (iv) \ \ If \ \kappa^1(\underline{b}_1, \bar{b}_2, \bar{b}_3, \underline{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23}) > 0, \ \kappa^2(\underline{b}_1, \bar{b}_2, \bar{b}_3, \underline{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23}) < 0, \ \kappa^3(\underline{b}_1, \bar{b}_2, \bar{b}_3, \underline{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23}) < 0, \\ then \ b^* = (\underline{b}_1, \bar{b}_2, \bar{b}_3) \ and \ \rho^* = (\underline{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23}). \end{array}$

- $\begin{array}{ll} (v) \ \ If \ \kappa^1(\bar{b}_1,\underline{b}_2,\underline{b}_3,\underline{\rho}_{12},\underline{\rho}_{13},\bar{\rho}_{23}) < 0, \ \kappa^2(\bar{b}_1,\underline{b}_2,\underline{b}_3,\underline{\rho}_{12},\underline{\rho}_{13},\bar{\rho}_{23}) > 0, \ \kappa^3(\bar{b}_1,\underline{b}_2,\underline{b}_3,\underline{\rho}_{12},\underline{\rho}_{13},\bar{\rho}_{23}) > 0, \\ then \ b^* = (\bar{b}_1,\underline{b}_2,\underline{b}_3) \ and \ \rho^* = (\underline{\rho}_{12},\underline{\rho}_{13},\bar{\rho}_{23}). \end{array}$
- $\begin{array}{ll} (\textit{vi}) & \textit{If } \kappa^1(\underline{b}_1, \underline{b}_2, \bar{b}_3, \bar{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}) > 0, \ \kappa^2(\underline{b}_1, \underline{b}_2, \bar{b}_3, \bar{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}) > 0, \ \kappa^3(\underline{b}_1, \underline{b}_2, \bar{b}_3, \bar{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}) < 0, \\ & \textit{then } b^* = (\underline{b}_1, \underline{b}_2, \bar{b}_3) \ \textit{and} \ \rho^* = (\bar{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}). \end{array}$
- $\begin{array}{ll} (vii) \ \ If \ \kappa^1(\bar{b}_1,\bar{b}_2,\underline{b}_3,\bar{\rho}_{12},\underline{\rho}_{13},\underline{\rho}_{23}) < 0, \ \kappa^2(\bar{b}_1,\bar{b}_2,\underline{b}_3,\bar{\rho}_{12},\underline{\rho}_{13},\underline{\rho}_{23}) < 0, \ \kappa^3(\bar{b}_1,\bar{b}_2,\underline{b}_3,\bar{\rho}_{12},\underline{\rho}_{13},\underline{\rho}_{23}) > 0, \\ then \ b^* = (\bar{b}_1,\bar{b}_2,\underline{b}_3) \ and \ \rho^* = (\bar{\rho}_{12},\underline{\rho}_{13},\underline{\rho}_{23}). \end{array}$

**Remark 5.4.7.** For the ellipsoidal set in Remark 5.4.4, the level of drift uncertainty of each asset is the same characterized by the radius  $\delta$ . If  $\delta$  is not very large, the portfolio diversification is caused by the level of correlation ambiguity, see Remark 5.4.4, however, for the rectangular set, the level of drift uncertainty of each asset is different for each asset. For simplicity and clarity, we consider the only impact of drift uncertainty, or equivalently Sharpe ratio uncertainty, on the portfolio diversification, i.e. there is no ambiguity on correlation with  $\rho_{ij}^o := \rho_{ij} = \bar{\rho}_{ij}$ ,  $1 \le i < j \le 3$ . As in Remark 5.4.4, the different cases in the above proposition depend on the relation between Sharpe ratio proximities and correlation, and can be roughly divided into 5 cases with the following interpretation:

In case 1. where the range of Sharpe ratio uncertainty for the second and third asset is large enough, in the sense that the intervals  $\left[\frac{\beta_2}{\underline{\beta}_1}, \frac{\overline{\beta}_2}{\underline{\beta}_1}\right]$  and  $\left[\frac{\beta_3}{\underline{\beta}_1}, \frac{\overline{\beta}_3}{\underline{\beta}_1}\right]$  contain respectively correlation  $\rho_{12}^o$  and  $\rho_{13}^o$ , then the worst-case Sharpe ratio (drift) is attained at the prior lower bound  $\underline{\beta}_1$  for  $\beta_1$ , and at the point  $(\beta_2^*, \beta_3^*) = (\underline{\beta}_1 \rho_{12}^o, \underline{\beta}_1 \rho_{13}^o)$ .

Let us now discuss case **2.**, and more specifically (i). This corresponds to the situation where the assets 1 and 2 have close minimum Sharpe ratios with correlation between these assets not too large, while the Sharpe ratio uncertainty for the third asset is high, which is quantified by the fact that the function  $b_3 \mapsto \kappa^3(\underline{b}_1, \underline{b}_2, b_3)$  (we omit  $\rho^o$  arguments in the function  $\kappa^3(\underline{b}_1, \underline{b}_2, b_3, \rho_{12}^o, \rho_{13}^o, \rho_{23}^o)$  for simplicity) evaluated at the prior lower bounds  $\underline{b}_3$  and the prior upper bounds  $\overline{b}_3$  have opposite signs. In this case, the worst-case drift or Sharpe ratio is achieved at the prior lower bound  $\underline{b}_1$  for  $b_1$ , prior lower bound  $\underline{b}_2$  for  $b_2$ , and at the point  $b_3^*$  cancelling the term  $\kappa(\underline{b}_1, \underline{b}_2, b_3^*)$ . Similar interpretations hold for cases **3.** and **4.** 

Let us finally discuss case **5.**, which involves explicitly the signs of  $\kappa^1$ ,  $\kappa^2$  and  $\kappa^3$  at the prior drift or Sharpe ratio bounds. Assuming that these functions  $\kappa^1$ ,  $\kappa^2$  and  $\kappa^3$  do not vanish at some point  $b \in$  $[\underline{b}_1, \overline{b}_1] \times [\underline{b}_2, \overline{b}_2] \times [\underline{b}_3, \overline{b}_3]$ , then by continuity, and provided that the range of these correlation bounds are small enough, we see that one should fall into one of the 7 subcases **5.**(i), (ii), (iii), (iv), and for which the worst-case drift is obtained on the prior upper or lower drift (Sharpe ratio) bounds.

#### 5.4.2 Optimal robust strategy and portfolio diversification

We first provide the general explicit expression of the robust optimal strategy in the case of ellipsoidal ambiguity set. This follows directly from Theorem 5.3.1 and Lemma 5.4.1.

**Proposition 5.4.7.** Let  $\Theta$  be an ellipsoidal set as in (5.4.1), and assume that there exists  $\rho^* \in \arg\min_{\rho \in \Gamma} \|\sigma(\rho)^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2$ . Then, an optimal portfolio strategy for (5.2.4) is given by

$$\alpha_t^* = \left[ x_0 + \frac{1}{2\lambda} e^{(\|\sigma(\rho^*)^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2 - \delta)^2 T} - X_t^* \right] \left( 1 - \frac{\delta}{\|\sigma(\rho^*)^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2} \right) \\ 1_{\{\|\sigma(\rho^*)^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2 > \delta\}} \Sigma(\rho^*)^{-1} \hat{b}.$$
(5.4.10)

**Remark 5.4.8.** We have seen in the previous section that  $\rho^*$  exists when  $\Gamma$  is compact (in particular when it is a singleton, i.e., there is no ambiguity on correlation) or when  $\Gamma = \mathbb{C}_{>+}^d$ , i.e., there is full ambiguity on correlation. From (5.4.10), we observe notably that whenever  $\delta \geq \|\sigma(\rho^*)^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2$ , then  $\alpha^* \equiv 0$ . In other words, when the level of ambiguity about the expected rate of return is high (or when the investor is poorly confident about her estimation  $\hat{b}$  on the expected rate of return), then she does not make risky investment at all.

#### 5.4.2.1 Full ambiguity correlation and anti-diversification

In this paragraph, we consider the case of full ambiguity on correlation, i.e.,  $\Gamma = \mathbb{C}^d_{>+}$ , and investigate the impact on optimal robust portfolio strategy.

**Theorem 5.4.1** (Full ambiguity correlation). I. Let  $\Theta$  be an ellipsoidal set as in (5.4.1), with  $\Gamma = \mathbb{C}^d_{>+}$ , and assume that  $|\hat{\beta}_1| > \max_{j \neq 1} |\hat{\beta}_j|$ . Then an optimal portfolio strategy for the robust mean-variance problem (5.2.4) is explicitly given by

$$\alpha_t^* = \left[ x_0 + \frac{1}{2\lambda} e^{(|\hat{\beta}_1| - \delta)^2 T} - X_t^* \right] \left( 1 - \frac{\delta}{|\hat{\beta}_1|} \right) \mathbf{1}_{|\hat{\beta}_1| > \delta} \left( \frac{\hat{b}_1}{\sigma_1^2}, 0, \dots, 0 \right)^{\mathsf{T}}, \quad 0 \le t \le T, \ \mathcal{P}^{\Theta} - q.s.$$

**II.** Let  $\Theta$  be a rectangular set as in (5.4.6), with  $\Gamma = \mathbb{C}_{>+}^d$ , and assume that  $\underline{\beta}_1 > \max_{j \neq 1} \underline{\beta}_j$ . Then, an optimal portfolio strategy for the robust mean-variance problem (5.2.4) is explicitly given by

$$\alpha_t^* = \left[ x_0 + \frac{1}{2\lambda} e^{\frac{\beta^2 T}{1}} - X_t^* \right] \left( \frac{\underline{b}_1}{\sigma_1^2}, 0, \dots, 0 \right)^{\mathsf{r}}, \quad 0 \le t \le T, \ \mathcal{P}^{\Theta} - q.s.$$

**Proof.** I. From the formula (5.4.10) of the optimal portfolio strategy in Proposition 5.4.7, we only have to compute the vector  $\hat{\kappa}(\rho^*) = \Sigma(\rho^*)^{-1}\hat{b}$ , and  $R(\hat{b}, \rho^*)$ , which have been already given in (5.5.28), (5.5.29) in Section 5.5.3.

II. In view of the formula (5.3.1) of the optimal portfolio strategy in Theorem 5.3.1, we only have to compute the vector  $\kappa(b^*, \rho^*) = \Sigma(\rho^*)^{-1}b^*$ , and  $R(b^*, \rho^*)$ , which have been already given in (5.5.49), (5.5.48) in Section 5.5.6.

**Remark 5.4.9** (Financial interpretation: anti-diversification). If the investor is poorly confident on the drift estimate, i.e., whenever  $\delta$  is large enough, then she does not make risky investments at all, i.e.  $\alpha_t^* \equiv 0$ . When the investor has good knowledge of drift estimates but is poorly confident of correlation estimates, she only invests in one asset, namely the one with the highest estimated Sharpe ratio. This anti-diversification result under full ambiguity about correlation has been also observed in [LZ17] for a single-period mean-variance problem without drift uncertainty, and is extended here in a continuous time framework.

#### 5.4.2.2 Partial diversification

#### • Two-asset model: d = 2

We provide a complete picture of the optimal robust portfolio strategy in a two-asset model with ambiguous drift and correlation.

**Theorem 5.4.2** (Ambiguous drift and correlation in the two-assets case). **I.** Let  $\Theta = \{(b, \rho) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \times [\underline{\rho}, \overline{\rho}] : \|\sigma(\rho)^{-1}(b-\hat{b})\|_2 \leq \delta\}$ , with  $-1 < \underline{\rho} \leq \overline{\rho} < 1$ , and assume w.l.o.g that  $|\hat{\beta}_1| \geq |\hat{\beta}_2|$ ,  $(\hat{\beta}_1, \hat{\beta}_2) \neq (0, 0)$ . We have the following possible cases:

**1.** If  $\hat{\varrho}_{12} \in [\rho, \bar{\rho}]$ , then an optimal portfolio strategy is explicitly given by

$$\alpha_t^* = \left[ x_0 + \frac{1}{2\lambda} e^{(|\hat{\beta}_1| - \delta)^2 T} - X_t^* \right] \left( 1 - \frac{\delta}{|\hat{\beta}_1|} \right) \mathbf{1}_{\{|\hat{\beta}_1| > \delta\}} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{b}_1 \\ \sigma_1^2 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad 0 \le t \le T, \ \mathcal{P}^{\Theta} - q.s.$$

**2.** If  $\bar{\rho} < \hat{\varrho}_{12}$ , then an optimal portfolio strategy is explicitly given by

$$\alpha_t^* = \left[ x_0 + \frac{1}{2\lambda} e^{(\|\sigma(\bar{\rho})^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2 - \delta)^2 T} - X_t^* \right] \left( 1 - \frac{\delta}{\|\sigma(\bar{\rho})^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2} \right) \mathbf{1}_{\{\|\sigma(\bar{\rho})^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2 > \delta\}} \Sigma(\bar{\rho})^{-1} \hat{b},$$

and if  $\|\sigma(\bar{\rho})^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2 > \delta$ , then  $\alpha_t^{1,*}\alpha_t^{2,*} > 0$ .

**3.** If  $\underline{\rho} > \hat{\varrho}_{12}$ , then an optimal portfolio strategy is explicitly given by

$$\alpha_t^* = \left[ x_0 + \frac{1}{2\lambda} e^{(\|\sigma(\underline{\rho})^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2 - \delta)^2 T} - X_t^* \right] \left( 1 - \frac{\delta}{\|\sigma(\underline{\rho})^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2} \right) \mathbf{1}_{\{\|\sigma(\underline{\rho})^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2 > \delta\}} \Sigma(\underline{\rho})^{-1} \hat{b},$$

and if  $\|\sigma(\underline{\rho})^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2 > \delta$ , then  $\alpha_t^{1,*}\alpha_t^{2,*} < 0$ .

**II.** Let  $\Theta = \prod_{i=1}^{2} [\underline{b}_{i}, \overline{b}_{i}] \times [\underline{\rho}, \overline{\rho}]$ , and assume that  $\underline{\beta}_{1} \geq \underline{\beta}_{2} > 0$ . We have the following possible cases:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{1.} \ & If \, \underline{\rho} \leq \min(\frac{\beta_2}{\underline{\beta}_1}, 1) \ and \ \bar{\rho} \geq \frac{\underline{\beta}_2}{\underline{\beta}_1}, \ then \ an \ optimal \ portfolio \ strategy \ is \ explicitly \ given \ by \\ & \alpha_t^* \quad = \quad \left[ x_0 + \frac{1}{2\lambda} e^{\frac{\beta^2 T}{1}} - X_t^* \right] \begin{pmatrix} \underline{b}_1 \\ \overline{\sigma_1}^2 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad 0 \leq t \leq T, \ \mathcal{P}^{\Theta} - q.s., \end{aligned}$$

**2.** If  $\bar{\rho} < \frac{\beta_2}{\overline{\beta_1}}$ , then an optimal portfolio strategy is explicitly given by

$$\alpha_t^* = \left[ x_0 + \frac{1}{2\lambda} e^{\|\sigma(\bar{\rho})^{-1}(\underline{b}_1, \underline{b}_2)^{\mathsf{T}}\|_2^2 T} - X_t^* \right] \Sigma(\bar{\rho})^{-1} \left( \frac{\underline{b}_1}{\underline{b}_2} \right), \quad 0 \le t \le T, \ \mathcal{P}^{\Theta} - q.s.$$

and  $\alpha_t^{1,*} > 0$ ,  $\alpha_t^{2,*} > 0$ . **3.** If  $\underline{\rho} > \min(1, \frac{\overline{\beta}_2}{\underline{\beta}_1})$ , then an optimal portfolio strategy is explicitly given by

$$\alpha_t^* = \left[ x_0 + \frac{1}{2\lambda} e^{\|\sigma(\underline{\rho})^{-1}(\underline{b}_1, \overline{b}_2)^{\intercal}\|_2^2 T} - X_t^* \right] \Sigma(\underline{\rho})^{-1} \left( \frac{\underline{b}_1}{\overline{b}_2} \right), \quad 0 \le t \le T, \ \mathcal{P}^{\Theta} - q.s.$$

and 
$$\alpha_t^{1,*} > 0, \, \alpha_t^{2,*} < 0.$$

**Proof.** I. In light of formula (5.4.10) of the optimal portfolio strategy in Proposition 5.4.7, we only need to compute  $\|\sigma(\rho^*)^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2$ , i.e.,  $R(\hat{b}, \rho^*)$ , vector  $\hat{\kappa}(\rho^*) = \Sigma(\rho^*)^{-1}\hat{b}$ , explicitly given in the proof of Proposition 5.4.2 (see 5.5.4 in Appendix) when computing  $\rho^*$ , which leads to the three cases of Theorem 5.4.2 I..

**II.** In light of formula (5.3.1) of the optimal portfolio strategy in Theorem 5.3.1, we only need to compute  $\Sigma(\rho^*)^{-1}b^*$ ,  $R(b^*, \rho^*)$ , explicitly given in the proof of Proposition 5.4.5 (see 5.5.7 in Appendix) when computing  $(b^*, \rho^*)$ , which lead to the three possible cases of Theorem 5.4.2 **II.**.

**Remark 5.4.10.** When there is no ambiguity on the drift, which corresponds to  $\delta = 0$  or  $\underline{b}_i = \overline{b}_i$ , i = 1, 2, we retrieve the results obtained in [IP17] for the correlation ambiguity between two assets (see their Theorem 4.2). Our Theorem includes in addition the case when there is uncertainty on the expected rate of return.

**Remark 5.4.11** (Financial interpretation). We first look at the ellipsoidal set: In the first case when the range of correlation ambiguity is large enough so that  $\hat{\rho}_{12} \in (\underline{\rho}, \overline{\rho})$ , and thus no stock is clearly dominating the other one in terms of Sharpe ratio, it is optimal to invest only in one asset, namely the one with the highest estimated Sharpe ratio.

In the second case when  $\bar{\rho} < \hat{\rho}_{12}$ , this means that no stock is "dominating" the other one in terms of Sharpe ratio, and it is optimal to invest in both assets with a directional trading, that is buying or selling simultaneously, and the worst-case correlation refers to the highest prior correlation  $\bar{\rho}$  (recall Remark 5.4.3) where the diversification effect is minimal.

Finally, when  $\underline{\rho} > \hat{\rho}_{12}$ , this means that one asset is clearly dominating the other one, and it is optimal to invest in both assets with a spread trading, that is buying one and selling another, and the worst-case correlation corresponds to the lowest prior correlation  $\underline{\rho}$  where the profit from the spread trading is minimal.

For the rectangular set, the interpretation is similar, and the worst-case drift refers to lower bound of the drift if the asset is in long position and upper bound of the drift if the asset is in short position, see 5.4.6.

#### • Three-asset model: d = 3

We finally provide an explicit description of the optimal robust strategy in a three-asset model under drift uncertainty and ambiguous correlation.

**Theorem 5.4.3.** I. Let  $\Theta = \{(b,\rho) \in \mathbb{R}^3 \times \Gamma : \|\sigma(\rho)^{-1}(b-\hat{b})\|_2 \leq \delta\}$  with  $\Gamma = [\underline{\rho}_{12}, \overline{\rho}_{12}] \times [\underline{\rho}_{13}, \overline{\rho}_{13}] \times [\underline{\rho}_{23}, \overline{\rho}_{23}] \subset \mathbb{C}^3_{>+}$ , and assume w.l.o.g that  $|\hat{\beta}_1| \geq |\hat{\beta}_2| \geq |\hat{\beta}_3|$ ,  $(\hat{\beta}_1, \hat{\beta}_2, \hat{\beta}_3) \neq (0, 0, 0)$ , Then, we have the following possible exclusive cases:

**1.** (Anti-diversification) If  $\hat{\varrho}_{12} \in [\underline{\rho}_{12}, \overline{\rho}_{12}]$ , and  $\hat{\varrho}_{13} \in [\underline{\rho}_{13}, \overline{\rho}_{13}]$ , then an optimal portfolio strategy is explicitly given by

$$\alpha_t^* = \left[ x_0 + \frac{1}{2\lambda} e^{(|\hat{\beta}_1| - \delta)^2 T} - X_t^* \right] \left( 1 - \frac{\delta}{|\hat{\beta}_1|} \right) \mathbf{1}_{\{|\hat{\beta}_1| > \delta\}} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\hat{b}_1}{\sigma_1^2} \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad 0 \le t \le T, \ \mathcal{P}^{\Theta} - q.s.$$

**2.** (Under-diversification: no investment in the third asset)

(i) If  $\bar{\rho}_{12} < \hat{\varrho}_{12}$ , and  $\hat{\kappa}^3(\bar{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23})\hat{\kappa}^3(\bar{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}) \leq 0$ , then an optimal portfolio strategy is

$$\begin{pmatrix} \alpha_t^{1,*} \\ \alpha_t^{2,*} \end{pmatrix} = \left[ x_0 + \frac{1}{2\lambda} e^{(\|\sigma_{-3}(\bar{\rho}_{12})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-3}\|_2 - \delta)^2 T} - X_t^* \right] \left( 1 - \frac{\delta}{\|\sigma_{-3}(\bar{\rho}_{12})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-3}\|_2} \right) \\ & 1_{\{\|\sigma_{-3}(\bar{\rho}_{12})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-3}\|_2 > \delta\}} \Sigma_{-3}(\bar{\rho}_{12})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-3}, \\ \alpha_t^{3,*} \equiv 0,$$

and if  $\|\sigma_{-3}(\bar{\rho}_{12})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-3}\|_2 > \delta$ , then  $\alpha_t^{1,*}\alpha_t^{2,*} > 0$ .

(ii) If  $\underline{\rho}_{12} > \hat{\varrho}_{12}$ , and  $\hat{\kappa}^3(\underline{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23})\hat{\kappa}^3(\underline{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}) \leq 0$ , then an optimal portfolio strategy is

$$\begin{pmatrix} \alpha_t^{1,*} \\ \alpha_t^{2,*} \end{pmatrix} = \left[ x_0 + \frac{1}{2\lambda} e^{(\|\sigma_{-3}(\underline{\rho}_{12})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-3}\|_2) - \delta)^2 T} - X_t^* \right] \left( 1 - \frac{\delta}{\|\sigma_{-3}(\underline{\rho}_{12})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-3}\|_2} \right)$$

$$1_{\{\|\sigma_{-3}(\underline{\rho}_{12})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-3}\|_2 > \delta\}} \Sigma_{-3}(\bar{\rho}_{12})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-3}$$

$$\alpha_t^{3,*} \equiv 0,$$

and if  $\|\sigma_{-3}(\underline{\rho}_{12})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-3}\|_2 > \delta$ , then  $\alpha_t^{1,*}\alpha_t^{2,*} < 0$ .

- **3.** (Under-diversification: no investment in the second asset)
  - (i) If  $\bar{\rho}_{13} < \hat{\varrho}_{13}$ , and  $\hat{\kappa}^2(\bar{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23})\hat{\kappa}^2(\underline{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}) \leq 0$ , then an optimal portfolio strategy is

$$\begin{pmatrix} \alpha_t^{1,*} \\ \alpha_t^{3,*} \end{pmatrix} = \left[ x_0 + \frac{1}{2\lambda} e^{(\|\sigma_{-2}(\bar{\rho}_{13})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-2}\|_2 - \delta)^2 T} - X_t^* \right] \left( 1 - \frac{\delta}{\|\sigma_{-2}(\bar{\rho}_{13})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-2}\|_2} \right) \\ 1_{\{\|\sigma_{-2}(\bar{\rho}_{13})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-2}\|_2 > \delta\}} \Sigma_{-2}(\bar{\rho}_{13})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-2} \\ \alpha_t^{2,*} \equiv 0,$$

and if  $\|\sigma_{-2}(\bar{\rho}_{13})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-2}\|_2 > \delta$ , then  $\alpha_t^{1,*}\alpha_t^{3,*} > 0$ .

(ii) If  $\underline{\rho}_{13} > \hat{\varrho}_{13}$ , and  $\hat{\kappa}^2(\underline{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \overline{\rho}_{23})\hat{\kappa}^2(\overline{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}) \leq 0$ , then an optimal portfolio strategy is given by

$$\begin{pmatrix} \alpha_t^{1,*} \\ \alpha_t^{3,*} \\ \alpha_t^{3,*} \end{pmatrix} = \left[ x_0 + \frac{1}{2\lambda} e^{(\|\sigma_{-2}(\underline{\rho}_{13})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-2}\|_2 - \delta)^2 T} - X_t^* \right] \left( 1 - \frac{\delta}{\|\sigma_{-2}(\underline{\rho}_{13})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-2}\|_2} \right) \\ & 1_{\{\|\sigma_{-2}(\underline{\rho}_{13})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-2}\|_2 > \delta\}} \Sigma_{-2}(\underline{\rho}_{13})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-2},$$

$$\alpha_t^{2,*} \equiv 0,$$

and if  $\|\sigma_{-2}(\underline{\rho}_{13})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-2}\|_2 > \delta$ , then  $\alpha_t^{1,*}\alpha_t^{3,*} < 0$ .

4. (Under-diversification: no investment in the second asset)

(i) If  $\bar{\rho}_{23} < \hat{\varrho}_{23}$ , and  $\hat{\kappa}^1(\underline{\rho}_{12},\underline{\rho}_{13},\bar{\rho}_{23})\hat{\kappa}^1(\bar{\rho}_{12},\bar{\rho}_{13},\bar{\rho}_{23}) \leq 0$ , then an optimal portfolio strategy is

$$\begin{pmatrix} \alpha_t^{2,*} \\ \alpha_t^{3,*} \end{pmatrix} = \left[ x_0 + \frac{1}{2\lambda} e^{(\|\sigma_{-1}(\bar{\rho}_{23})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-1}\|_2 - \delta)^2 T} - X_t^* \right] \left( 1 - \frac{\delta}{\|\sigma_{-1}(\bar{\rho}_{23})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-1}\|_2} \right) \\ 1_{\{\|\sigma_{-1}(\bar{\rho}_{23})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-1}\|_2 > \delta\}} \Sigma_{-1}(\bar{\rho}_{23})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-1},$$

$$\alpha_t^{1,*} \equiv 0,$$

and if  $\|\sigma_{-1}(\bar{\rho}_{23})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-1}\|_2 > \delta$ , then  $\alpha_t^{2,*}\alpha_t^{3,*} > 0$ . (ii) If  $\underline{\rho}_{23} > \hat{\varrho}_{23}$ , and  $\hat{\kappa}^1(\underline{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23})\hat{\kappa}^1(\bar{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}) \leq 0$ , then an optimal portfolio strategy is

$$\begin{pmatrix} \alpha_t^{2,*} \\ \alpha_t^{3,*} \end{pmatrix} = \left[ x_0 + \frac{1}{2\lambda} e^{(\|\sigma_{-1}(\underline{\rho}_{23})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-1}\|_2 - \delta)^2 T} - X_t^* \right] \left( 1 - \frac{\delta}{\|\sigma_{-1}(\underline{\rho}_{23})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-1}\|_2} \right)$$

$$1_{\{\|\sigma_{-1}(\underline{\rho}_{23})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-1}\|_2 > \delta\}} \Sigma_{-1}(\underline{\rho}_{23})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-1}$$

$$\alpha_t^{1,*} \equiv 0,$$

and if  $\|\sigma_{-1}(\underline{\rho}_{23})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-1}\|_2 > \delta$ , then  $\alpha_t^{2,*} \alpha_t^{3,*} < 0$ .

#### 5.4. Applications and examples

- **5.** (Well-diversification)
  - (i) If  $\hat{\kappa}^1 \hat{\kappa}^2(\bar{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23}) > 0$ , and  $\hat{\kappa}^1 \hat{\kappa}^3(\bar{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23}) > 0$ , then an optimal portfolio strategy is given by

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_t^* &= \Big[ x_0 + \frac{1}{2\lambda} e^{(\|\sigma(\bar{\rho}_{12},\bar{\rho}_{13},\bar{\rho}_{23})^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2 - \delta)^2 T} - X_t^* \Big] \Big( 1 - \frac{\delta}{\|\sigma(\bar{\rho}_{12},\bar{\rho}_{13},\bar{\rho}_{23})^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2} \Big) \\ & 1_{\{\|\sigma(\bar{\rho}_{12},\bar{\rho}_{13},\bar{\rho}_{23})^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2 > \delta\}} \Sigma(\bar{\rho}_{12},\bar{\rho}_{13},\bar{\rho}_{23})^{-1}\hat{b}. \end{aligned}$$

(ii) If  $\hat{\kappa}^1 \hat{\kappa}^2(\underline{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \overline{\rho}_{23}) < 0$ , and  $\hat{\kappa}^1 \hat{\kappa}^3(\underline{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \overline{\rho}_{23}) < 0$ , then an optimal portfolio strategy is given by

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_t^* &= \left[ x_0 + \frac{1}{2\lambda} e^{(\|\sigma(\underline{\rho}_{12},\underline{\rho}_{13},\bar{\rho}_{23})^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2 - \delta)^2 T} - X_t^* \right] \left( 1 - \frac{\delta}{\|\sigma(\underline{\rho}_{12},\underline{\rho}_{13},\bar{\rho}_{23})^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2} \right) \\ & 1_{\{\|\sigma(\underline{\rho}_{12},\underline{\rho}_{13},\bar{\rho}_{23})^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2 > \delta\}} \Sigma(\underline{\rho}_{12},\underline{\rho}_{13},\bar{\rho}_{23})^{-1}\hat{b}. \end{aligned}$$

(iii) If  $\hat{\kappa}^1 \hat{\kappa}^2(\bar{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}) > 0$ , and  $\hat{\kappa}^1 \hat{\kappa}^3(\bar{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}) < 0$ , then an optimal portfolio strategy is given by

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_t^* &= \left[ x_0 + \frac{1}{2\lambda} e^{(\|\sigma(\bar{\rho}_{12},\underline{\rho}_{13},\underline{\rho}_{23})^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2 - \delta)^2 T} - X_t^* \right] \left( 1 - \frac{\delta}{\|\sigma(\bar{\rho}_{12},\underline{\rho}_{13},\underline{\rho}_{23})^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2} \right) \\ & 1_{\{\|\sigma(\bar{\rho}_{12},\underline{\rho}_{13},\underline{\rho}_{23})^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2 > \delta\}} \Sigma(\bar{\rho}_{12},\underline{\rho}_{13},\underline{\rho}_{23})^{-1}\hat{b}. \end{aligned}$$

(iv) If  $\hat{\kappa}^1 \hat{\kappa}^2(\underline{\rho}_{12}, \overline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}) < 0$ , and  $\hat{\kappa}^1 \hat{\kappa}^3(\underline{\rho}_{12}, \overline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}) > 0$ , then an optimal portfolio strategy is given by

$$\begin{split} \alpha_t^* &= & \left[ x_0 + \frac{1}{2\lambda} e^{\|(\sigma(\underline{\rho}_{12}, \overline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23})^{-1} \hat{b}\|_2 - \delta)^2 T} - X_t^* \right] \Big( 1 - \frac{\delta}{\|\sigma(\underline{\rho}_{12}, \overline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23})^{-1} \hat{b}\|_2} \Big) \\ & 1_{\{\|\sigma(\underline{\rho}_{12}, \overline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23})^{-1} \hat{b}\|_2 > \delta\}} \Sigma(\underline{\rho}_{12}, \overline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23})^{-1} \hat{b}. \end{split}$$

**II.** Let  $\Theta = \prod_{i=1}^{3} [\underline{b}_i, \overline{b}_i] \times \prod_{1 \le i < j \le 3} [\underline{\rho}_{ij}, \overline{\rho}_{ij}]$  and assume that  $\underline{\beta}_1 \ge \underline{\beta}_2 \ge \underline{\beta}_3 > 0$ . Then, we have the following possible cases:

**1.** (Anti-diversification) If  $\underline{\rho}_{12} \leq \min(1, \frac{\overline{\beta}_2}{\underline{\beta}_1})$ ,  $\overline{\rho}_{12} \geq \frac{\underline{\beta}_2}{\underline{\beta}_1}$  and  $\underline{\rho}_{13} \leq \min(1, \frac{\overline{\beta}_3}{\underline{\beta}_1})$ ,  $\overline{\rho}_{13} \geq \frac{\underline{\beta}_3}{\underline{\beta}_1}$ , then an optimal portfolio strategy is explicitly given by

$$\alpha_t^* = \left[ x_0 + \frac{1}{2\lambda} e^{\beta_1^{2T}} - X_t^* \right] \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\theta_1}{\sigma_1^2} \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad 0 \le t \le T, \ \mathcal{P}^{\Theta} - q.s.,$$

- **2.** (Under-diversification: no investment in the third asset)
  - (i) If  $\bar{\rho}_{12} < \frac{\underline{\beta}_2}{\underline{\beta}_1}$ ,  $\kappa^3(\underline{b}_1, \underline{b}_2, \overline{b}_3, \overline{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}) \ge 0 \ge \kappa^3(\underline{b}_1, \underline{b}_2, \underline{b}_3, \overline{\rho}_{12}, \overline{\rho}_{13}, \overline{\rho}_{23})$ , then an optimal portfolio strategy is explicitly given by

$$\begin{pmatrix} \alpha_t^{1,*} \\ \alpha_t^{2,*} \end{pmatrix} = [x_0 + \frac{1}{2\lambda} e^{\|\sigma_{-3}(\bar{\rho}_{12})^{-1}(\underline{b}_1,\underline{b}_2)^\top}\|_2^2 T - X_t^*] \Sigma_{-3}(\bar{\rho}_{12})^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \underline{b}_1 \\ \underline{b}_2 \end{pmatrix}$$
  
$$\alpha_t^{3,*} \equiv 0,$$
  
$$> 0, \alpha_t^{2,*} > 0.$$

and  $\alpha_t^{1,*} > 0, \ \alpha_t^{2,*} > 0.$ 

(ii) If  $\underline{\rho}_{12} > \min(\frac{\bar{\beta}_2}{\underline{\beta}_1}, 1)$ ,  $\kappa^3(\underline{b}_1, \overline{b}_2, \overline{b}_3, \underline{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \overline{\rho}_{23}) \ge 0 \ge \kappa^3(\underline{b}_1, \overline{b}_2, \underline{b}_3, \underline{\rho}_{12}, \overline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23})$ , then an optimal portfolio strategy is explicitly given by

$$\begin{pmatrix} \alpha_t^{1,*} \\ \alpha_t^{2,*} \end{pmatrix} = \left[ x_0 + \frac{1}{2\lambda} e^{\|\sigma_{-3}(\underline{\rho}_{12})^{-1}(\underline{b}_1, \overline{b}_2)^\top} \|_2^2 T - X_t^* \right] \Sigma_{-3}(\underline{\rho}_{12})^{-1} \left( \frac{\underline{b}_1}{\overline{b}_2} \right)$$
  
$$\alpha_t^{3,*} \equiv 0,$$

and  $\alpha_t^{1,*} > 0, \, \alpha_t^{2,*} < 0.$ 

- **3.** (Under-diversification: no investment in the second asset)
  - (i) If  $\bar{\rho}_{13} < \frac{\beta_3}{\bar{\beta}_1}$ ,  $\kappa^2(\underline{b}_1, \overline{b}_2, \underline{b}_3, \underline{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}) \ge 0$   $\kappa^2(\underline{b}_1, \underline{b}_2, \underline{b}_3, \bar{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23})$ , then an optimal portfolio strategy is explicitly given by

$$\begin{pmatrix} \alpha_t^{1,*} \\ \alpha_t^{3,*} \end{pmatrix} = \left[ x_0 + \frac{1}{2\lambda} e^{(\|\sigma_{-2}(\bar{\rho}_{13})^{-1}(\underline{b}_1,\underline{b}_3)^\top\|_2^2 T} - X_t^* \right] \Sigma_{-2}(\bar{\rho}_{13})^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \underline{b}_1 \\ \underline{b}_3 \end{pmatrix}, \alpha_t^{2,*} \equiv 0,$$

and  $\alpha_t^{1,*} > 0, \alpha_t^{3,*} > 0.$ 

(ii) If  $\underline{\rho}_{13} > \min(\frac{\beta_3}{\underline{\beta}_1}, 1)$ ,  $\kappa^2(\underline{b}_1, \overline{b}_2, \underline{b}_3, \underline{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \overline{\rho}_{23}) \ge 0 \ge \kappa^2(\underline{b}_1, \underline{b}_2, \underline{b}_3, \overline{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23})$ , then an optimal portfolio strategy is explicitly given by

$$\begin{pmatrix} \alpha_t^{1,*} \\ \alpha_t^{3,*} \end{pmatrix} = \left[ x_0 + \frac{1}{2\lambda} e^{(\|\sigma_{-2}(\underline{\rho}_{13})^{-1}(\underline{b}_1, \overline{b}_3)^\top\|_2^2 T} - X_t^* \right] \Sigma_{-2}(\underline{\rho}_{13})^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \underline{b}_1 \\ \overline{b}_3 \end{pmatrix}, \alpha_t^{2,*} \equiv 0,$$

and  $\alpha_t^{1,*} > 0, \ \alpha_t^{3,*} < 0.$ 

- 4. (Under-diversification: no investment in the third asset)
  - (i) If  $\bar{\rho}_{23} < \frac{\underline{\beta}_3}{\underline{\beta}_2}$ ,  $\kappa^1(\bar{b}_1, \underline{b}_2, \underline{b}_3, \underline{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23}) \ge 0 \ge \kappa^1(\underline{b}_1, \underline{b}_2, \underline{b}_3, \bar{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23})$ , then an optimal portfolio strategy is explicitly given by

$$\begin{pmatrix} \alpha_t^{2,*} \\ \alpha_t^{3,*} \end{pmatrix} = \left[ x_0 + \frac{1}{2\lambda} e^{\|\sigma_{-1}(\bar{\rho}_{23})^{-1}(\underline{b}_2,\underline{b}_3)^\top} \|_2^2 T - X_t^* \right] \Sigma_{-1}(\bar{\rho}_{23})^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \underline{b}_2 \\ \underline{b}_3 \end{pmatrix}$$
  
$$\alpha_t^{1,*} \equiv 0,$$

and  $\alpha_t^{2,*} > 0$ ,  $\alpha_t^{3,*} > 0$ .  $\bar{\beta}_2$ 

(ii) If  $\underline{\rho}_{23} > \min(1, \frac{\overline{\beta}_3}{\underline{\beta}_2}) \kappa^1(\overline{b}_1, \underline{b}_2, \overline{b}_3, \underline{\rho}_{12}, \overline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}) \ge 0 \ge \kappa^1(\underline{b}_1, \underline{b}_2, \overline{b}_3, \overline{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23})$ , then an optimal portfolio strategy is explicitly given by

$$\begin{pmatrix} \alpha_t^{2,*} \\ \alpha_t^{3,*} \end{pmatrix} = \left[ x_0 + \frac{1}{2\lambda} e^{\|\sigma_{-1}(\underline{\rho}_{23})^{-1}(\underline{b}_2,\overline{b}_3)^{\top}\|_2^2 T} - X_t^* \right] \Sigma_{-1}(\underline{\rho}_{23})^{-1} \left( \frac{\underline{b}_2}{\overline{b}_3} \right)$$
  
$$\alpha_t^{1,*} \equiv 0,$$

and  $\alpha_t^{2,*} > 0, \, \alpha_t^{3,*} < 0.$ 

**5.** (Well diversification)

#### 5.4. Applications and examples

(i) If  $\kappa^{1}(\underline{b}_{1}, \underline{b}_{2}, \underline{b}_{3}, \bar{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23}) > 0$ ,  $\kappa^{2}(\underline{b}_{1}, \underline{b}_{2}, \underline{b}_{3}, \bar{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23}) > 0$ ,  $\kappa^{3}(\underline{b}_{1}, \underline{b}_{2}, \underline{b}_{3}, \bar{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23}) > 0$ , then an optimal portfolio strategy is explicitly given by

$$\alpha_t^* = \left[ x_0 + \frac{1}{2\lambda} e^{\|\sigma(\bar{\rho}_{12},\bar{\rho}_{13},\bar{\rho}_{23})^{-1}(\underline{b}_1,\underline{b}_2,\underline{b}_3)^\top} \|_2^2 T} - X_t^* \right] \Sigma(\bar{\rho}_{12},\bar{\rho}_{13},\bar{\rho}_{23})^{-1}(\underline{b}_1,\underline{b}_2,\underline{b}_3)^\top.$$

(ii) If  $\kappa^1(\underline{b}_1, \overline{b}_2, \underline{b}_3, \underline{\rho}_{12}, \overline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}) > 0$ ,  $\kappa^2(\underline{b}_1, \overline{b}_2, \underline{b}_3, \underline{\rho}_{12}, \overline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}) < 0$ ,  $\kappa^3(\underline{b}_1, \overline{b}_2, \underline{b}_3, \underline{\rho}_{12}, \overline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}) > 0$ , then an optimal portfolio strategy is explicitly given by

$$\alpha_t^* = \left[ x_0 + \frac{1}{2\lambda} e^{\|\sigma(\underline{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23})^{-1}(\underline{b}_1, \bar{b}_2, \underline{b}_3)^\top \|_2^2 T} - X_t^* \right] \Sigma(\underline{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23})^{-1}(\underline{b}_1, \bar{b}_2, \underline{b}_3)^\top.$$

 $\begin{array}{ll} (iii) \ If \ \kappa^1(\bar{b}_1,\underline{b}_2,\bar{b}_3,\underline{\rho}_{12},\bar{\rho}_{13},\underline{\rho}_{23}) < 0, \ \kappa^2(\bar{b}_1,\underline{b}_2,\bar{b}_3,\underline{\rho}_{12},\bar{\rho}_{13},\underline{\rho}_{23}) > 0, \ \kappa^3(\bar{b}_1,\underline{b}_2,\bar{b}_3,\underline{\rho}_{12},\bar{\rho}_{13},\underline{\rho}_{23}) < 0, \\ then \ an \ optimal \ portfolio \ strategy \ is \ explicitly \ given \ by \end{array}$ 

$$\alpha_t^* = \left[ x_0 + \frac{1}{2\lambda} e^{\|\sigma(\underline{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23})^{-1}(\bar{b}_1, \underline{b}_2, \bar{b}_3)^\top \|_2^2 T} - X_t^* \right] \Sigma(\underline{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23})^{-1}(\bar{b}_1, \underline{b}_2, \bar{b}_3)^\top.$$

(iv) If  $\kappa^{1}(\underline{b}_{1}, \overline{b}_{2}, \overline{b}_{3}, \underline{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \overline{\rho}_{23}) > 0$ ,  $\kappa^{2}(\underline{b}_{1}, \overline{b}_{2}, \overline{b}_{3}, \underline{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \overline{\rho}_{23}) < 0$ ,  $\kappa^{3}(\underline{b}_{1}, \overline{b}_{2}, \overline{b}_{3}, \underline{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \overline{\rho}_{23}) < 0$ , then an optimal portfolio strategy is explicitly given by

$$\alpha_t^* = \left[ x_0 + \frac{1}{2\lambda} e^{\|\sigma(\underline{\rho}_{12},\underline{\rho}_{13},\bar{\rho}_{23})^{-1}(\underline{b}_1,\bar{b}_2,\bar{b}_3)^{\top}\|_2^2 T} - X_t^* \right] \Sigma(\underline{\rho}_{12},\underline{\rho}_{13},\bar{\rho}_{23})^{-1}(\underline{b}_1,\bar{b}_2,\bar{b}_3)^{\top}.$$

 $\begin{array}{ll} (v) \ \ If \ \kappa^1(\bar{b}_1,\underline{b}_2,\underline{b}_3,\underline{\rho}_{12},\underline{\rho}_{13},\bar{\rho}_{23}) < 0, \ \kappa^2(\bar{b}_1,\underline{b}_2,\underline{b}_3,\underline{\rho}_{12},\underline{\rho}_{13},\bar{\rho}_{23}) > 0, \ \kappa^3(\bar{b}_1,\underline{b}_2,\underline{b}_3,\underline{\rho}_{12},\underline{\rho}_{13},\bar{\rho}_{23}) > 0, \\ then \ an \ optimal \ portfolio \ strategy \ is \ explicitly \ given \ by \end{array}$ 

$$\alpha_t^* = \left[ x_0 + \frac{1}{2\lambda} e^{\|\sigma(\underline{\rho}_{12},\underline{\rho}_{13},\bar{\rho}_{23})^{-1}(\bar{b}_1,\underline{b}_2,\underline{b}_3)^\top} \|_2^{2T} - X_t^* \right] \Sigma(\underline{\rho}_{12},\underline{\rho}_{13},\bar{\rho}_{23})^{-1}(\bar{b}_1,\underline{b}_2,\underline{b}_3)^\top.$$

 $\begin{array}{ll} (vi) & I\!\!f\,\kappa^1(\underline{b}_1,\underline{b}_2,\bar{b}_3,\bar{\rho}_{12},\underline{\rho}_{13},\underline{\rho}_{23}) > 0, \ \kappa^2(\underline{b}_1,\underline{b}_2,\bar{b}_3,\bar{\rho}_{12},\underline{\rho}_{13},\underline{\rho}_{23}) > 0, \ \kappa^3(\underline{b}_1,\underline{b}_2,\bar{b}_3,\bar{\rho}_{12},\underline{\rho}_{13},\underline{\rho}_{23}) < 0, \\ & then \ an \ optimal \ portfolio \ strategy \ is \ explicitly \ given \ by \end{array}$ 

$$\alpha_t^* = \left[ x_0 + \frac{1}{2\lambda} e^{\|\sigma(\bar{\rho}_{12},\underline{\rho}_{13},\underline{\rho}_{23})^{-1}(\underline{b}_1,\underline{b}_2,\overline{b}_3)^{\top}\|_2^2 T} - X_t^* \right] \Sigma(\bar{\rho}_{12},\underline{\rho}_{13},\underline{\rho}_{23})^{-1}(\underline{b}_1,\underline{b}_2,\overline{b}_3)^{\top}.$$

 $\begin{array}{l} (\textit{vii}) \;\; \textit{If}\; \kappa^1(\bar{b}_1, \bar{b}_2, \underline{b}_3, \bar{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}) < 0, \; \kappa^2(\bar{b}_1, \bar{b}_2, \underline{b}_3, \bar{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}) < 0, \; \kappa^3(\bar{b}_1, \bar{b}_2, \underline{b}_3, \bar{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}) > 0, \\ \textit{then an optimal portfolio strategy is explicitly given by} \end{array}$ 

$$\alpha_t^* = \left[ x_0 + \frac{1}{2\lambda} e^{\|\sigma(\bar{\rho}_{12},\underline{\rho}_{13},\underline{\rho}_{23})^{-1}(\bar{b}_1,\bar{b}_2,\underline{b}_3)^\top} \|_2^{2T} - X_t^* \right] \Sigma(\bar{\rho}_{12},\underline{\rho}_{13},\underline{\rho}_{23})^{-1}(\bar{b}_1,\bar{b}_2,\underline{b}_3)^\top.$$

**Proof. I.** In view of formula (5.4.10) of the optimal portfolio strategy in Proposition 5.4.7, we only need to compute  $\hat{\kappa}(\rho^*) = \Sigma(\rho^*)^{-1}\hat{b}$ , and  $\|\sigma(\rho^*)^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2$ , i.e.,  $R(\hat{b}, \rho^*)$ , which have been given explicitly in the proof of Proposition 5.4.3 (see 5.5.5 in Appendix) when computing  $\rho^*$ . In the case **1.**, we obtained (see (5.5.33) in Appendix)  $\hat{\kappa}(\rho^*) = (\frac{\hat{b}_1}{\sigma_1^2}, 0, 0)^{\intercal}$ , and  $R(\hat{b}, \rho^*) = \hat{b}^{\intercal}\hat{\kappa}(\rho^*) = \hat{\beta}_1^2$ . In the case **2.**, let us focus on subcase (i) as the other subcase (ii) is dealt with similarly: we have  $\rho_{12}^* = \bar{\rho}_{12}$ ,  $(\hat{\kappa}^1(\bar{\rho}_{12}), \hat{\kappa}^2(\bar{\rho}_{12}))^{\intercal} = \Sigma_{-3}(\bar{\rho}_{12})\hat{b}_{-3}$ ,  $\hat{\kappa}^3(\bar{\rho}_{12}, \rho_{13}^*, \rho_{23}^*) = 0$ , and  $R(\hat{b}, \rho^*) = \hat{b}_{-3}^{\intercal}\Sigma_{-3}(\bar{\rho}_{12})\hat{b}_{-3}$ , by (5.5.40), (5.5.41). The other cases are computed in the same way and are omitted here.

**II.** From (5.3.1) of the optimal portfolio strategy in Theorem 5.3.1, we only need to compute  $\kappa(b^*, \rho^*) = \Sigma(\rho^*)^{-1}b^*$ , and  $\|\sigma(\rho^*)^{-1}b^*\|_2$ , i.e.  $R(b^*, \rho^*)$ , which have been given explicitly in the proof of Proposition 5.4.6 (see 5.5.8 in Appendix) when computing  $(b^*, \rho^*)$ .

**Remark 5.4.12** (Financial interpretation). We will see that in the above proposition, both **I**. for ellipsoidal set and **II**. for rectangular set lead to possible positions formed with a single asset, two assets and all three assets.

In case 1. corresponding to large correlation ambiguity for the second and third asset (recall Remark 5.4.4), it is optimal to invest only in the first asset, namely the one with the highest estimated Sharpe ratio, which is consistent with the anti-diversification result obtained in Theorem 5.4.1 (see also Remark 5.4.9).

In case 2., corresponding to a large correlation ambiguity for the third asset (see Remark 5.4.4), the investor does not invest in the third asset, but only in the first and second assets. Moreover, depending whether the assets 1 and 2 have close Sharpe ratios with a correlation upper bound between these assets not too large (subcase (i)), or the asset 1 dominates the asset 2 in terms of Sharpe ratio (subcase (ii)), the investment in assets 1 or 2 follows a directional trading or a spread trading. This underdiversification result has been also observed in [LZ17] for a single-period mean-variance problem without drift uncertainty, and is extended here in a continuous time framework.

We have similar under-diversification effect in cases **3.** and **4.**, and notice that it may happen that one does not invest in the first asset even though it has the highest estimated Sharpe ratio.

Finally, in the case 5., corresponding to a small correlation ambiguity (see Remark 5.4.4), the investor has interest to well-diversify her portfolio among the three assets.  $\diamond$ 

# 5.5 Appendix

#### 5.5.1 Differentiation and characterization of convex function

Let us introduce some notations and state some results which will be used frequently in the proof of Lemma 5.3.2 and also for the next propositions.

1. We introduce the so-called variance risk ratio

$$\hat{\kappa}(\rho) := \Sigma(\rho)^{-1}\hat{b} = (\hat{\kappa}^1(\rho), \dots, \hat{\kappa}^d(\rho))^{\mathsf{T}}, \tag{5.5.1}$$

$$\kappa(b,\rho) := \Sigma(\rho)^{-1}b = (\kappa^{1}(b,\rho), \dots, \kappa^{d}(b,\rho))^{\mathsf{T}}.$$
(5.5.2)

2. From some matrix calculations (see e.g. corollary 95 and corollary 105 in [Dhr78]), we obtain the explicit expressions of the first partial derivatives of  $R(b,\rho)$  with respect to  $b_i$ ,  $\rho_{ij}$  denoted by  $\frac{\partial R(b,\rho)}{\partial b_i}$  and  $\frac{\partial R(b,\rho)}{\partial \rho_{ij}}$ ,  $1 \le i < j \le d$ ,

$$\frac{\partial R(b,\rho)}{\partial b_i} = 2\kappa^i(b,\rho), \qquad \frac{\partial R(b,\rho)}{\partial \rho_{ij}} = -\sigma_i \sigma_j \kappa^i(b,\rho) \kappa^j(b,\rho). \tag{5.5.3}$$

We also denote by  $\nabla_b R(b,\rho)$  and  $\nabla_\rho R(b,\rho)$  gradient of  $R(b,\rho)$  with respect to b and  $\rho$  respectively,

$$\begin{cases} \nabla_b R(b,\rho) &= \left(\frac{\partial R(b,\rho)}{\partial b_1}, \dots, \frac{\partial R(b,\rho)}{\partial b_d}\right)^{\mathsf{T}} \\ \nabla_\rho R(b,\rho) &= \left(\frac{\partial R(b,\rho)}{\partial \rho_{12}}, \dots, \frac{\partial R(b,\rho)}{\partial \rho_{1d}}, \dots, \frac{\partial R(b,\rho)}{\partial \rho_{1d-1}}\right)^{\mathsf{T}} \end{cases}$$
(5.5.4)

**3.** (Sufficient and necessary optimality condition). It is known (see e.g. Lemma 2.2 in [CDH18]) that  $R(b,\rho)$  is jointly convex in b and  $\rho$ . Similarly,  $R(\hat{b},\rho)$  is convex in  $\rho$ . Then

#### 5.5. Appendix

(1)  $\rho^*$  is a global minimum of  $R(\hat{b}, \rho)$  over  $\Gamma$  if and only if, for any  $\rho \in \Gamma$  (see e.g. section 4.2.3 in [BV04]),

$$(\rho - \rho^*)^{\mathsf{T}} \nabla_{\rho} R(\hat{b}, \rho^*) = \sum_{j=1}^d \sum_{i=1}^{j-1} \frac{\partial R(\hat{b}, \rho^*)}{\partial \rho_{ij}} (\rho_{ij} - \rho^*_{ij}) \ge 0,$$

which is written from (5.5.3) as,

$$\sum_{j=1}^{d} \sum_{i=1}^{j-1} \sigma_i \sigma_j \hat{\kappa}^i \hat{\kappa}^j (\rho^*) (\rho_{ij} - \rho^*_{ij}) \leq 0.$$
 (5.5.5)

(2)  $(b^*, \rho^*)$  is a global minimum of  $R(b, \rho)$  over  $\Delta \times \Gamma$  if and only if for any  $(b, \rho) \in \Delta \times \Gamma$ ,

$$\sum_{i=1}^{d} \frac{\partial R(b^*, \rho^*)}{\partial b_i} (b_i - b_i^*) + \sum_{j=1}^{d} \sum_{i=1}^{j-1} \frac{\partial R(b^*, \rho^*)}{\partial \rho_{ij}} (\rho_{ij} - \rho_{ij}^*) \ge 0,$$
(5.5.6)

which is written together with (5.5.3) as,

$$\sum_{1 \le i \le d} 2\kappa^{i}(b^{*}, \rho^{*})(b_{i} - b_{i}^{*}) - \sum_{1 \le i < j \le d} \sigma_{i}\sigma_{j}\kappa^{i}\kappa^{j}(b^{*}, \rho^{*})(\rho_{ij} - \rho_{ij}^{*}) \ge 0.$$
(5.5.7)

#### 5.5.2 **Proof of Lemma 5.3.2**

The statement of Lemma 5.3.2 is minimax type theorem, as it implies obviously in the case where  $\Theta = \Delta \times \Gamma$  is a rectangular set that the function H in (5.3.4) satisfies

$$\min_{b \in \Delta} \max_{\rho \in \Gamma} H(b, \rho) = \max_{\rho \in \Gamma} \min_{b \in \Delta} H(b, \rho).$$

However, its proof cannot be deduced directly from standard minimax theorem (see e.g. Theorem 45.8 in [Str85]), as it does not fulfill totally their conditions: the function H is linear (hence convex) in b, linear (hence concave) in  $\rho$ , but we do not assume that  $\Gamma$  is a compact set, and we also consider the case where  $\Theta$  is an ellipsoidal set.

We distinguish the two cases in  $(H\Theta)$  whether  $\Theta$  is a rectangular or ellipsoidal set.

**Lemma 5.5.1.** Suppose that  $\Theta = \Delta \times \Gamma$  is in product set as in (H $\Theta$ )(*i*), and assume that there exists  $\theta^* \in \arg\min_{\Theta} R(\theta)$ . Then, we have for all  $\theta = (b, \rho) \in \Theta$ :

$$H(b^*,\rho) \leq H(\theta^*) = R(\theta^*) \leq H(b,\rho^*).$$

Moreover,  $(b^*, \rho^*)$  is a saddle point, namely,

$$\inf_{b \in \Delta} \sup_{\rho \in \Gamma} H(b, \rho) = \sup_{\rho \in \Gamma} \inf_{b \in \Delta} H(b, \rho) = H(b^*, \rho^*).$$

**Proof.** Note that if there exists  $(b^*, \rho^*) \in \arg\min_{\Theta} R(\theta)$ , the first-order condition implies that for any  $(b, \rho) \in \Theta$ ,

$$(b - b^{*})^{\mathsf{T}} \nabla_{b} R(\theta^{*}) + (\rho - \rho^{*})^{\mathsf{T}} \nabla_{\rho} R(\theta^{*}) \ge 0, \qquad (5.5.8)$$

where  $\nabla_b R(\theta^*)$  and  $\nabla_{\rho} R(\theta^*)$  are given in (5.5.4).

Recalling  $H(b, \rho)$  in (5.3.4) and explicit expressions (5.5.4) of  $\nabla_b R(\theta^*)$  and  $\nabla_\rho R(\theta^*)$ , and taking  $b = b^*$  or  $\rho = \rho^*$  in (5.5.8) respectively, we get

$$\begin{aligned} H(b^*,\rho) - H(b^*,\rho^*) &= \sum_{j=1}^d \sum_{i=1}^{j-1} \kappa^i (b^*,\rho^*) \kappa^j (b^*,\rho^*) \sigma_i \sigma_j (\rho_{ij} - \rho^*_{ij}) \\ &= (\rho^* - \rho)^{\mathsf{T}} \nabla_\rho R(\theta^*) \leq 0, \quad \forall \rho \in \Gamma, \\ H(b,\rho^*) - H(b^*,\rho^*) &= \sum_{i=1}^d (b_i - b^*_i) \kappa^i (b^*,\rho^*) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} (b - b^*)^{\mathsf{T}} \nabla_b R(\theta^*) \geq 0, \quad \forall b \in \Delta. \end{aligned}$$

It follows that

$$\inf_{b\in\Delta}\sup_{\rho\in\Gamma}H(b,\rho) \leq \sup_{\rho\in\Gamma}H(b^*,\rho) = H(b^*,\rho^*) = \inf_{b\in\Delta}H(b,\rho^*) \leq \sup_{\rho\in\Gamma}\inf_{b\in\Delta}H(b,\rho).$$
(5.5.9)

Since we always have  $\inf_{b \in \Delta} \sup_{\rho \in \Gamma} H(b, \rho) \ge \sup_{\rho \in \Gamma} \inf_{b \in \Delta} H(b, \rho)$ , the above inequality is indeed an equality, and this proves the required result.

**Lemma 5.5.2.** Suppose that  $\Theta = \{(b, \rho) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times \Gamma : \|\sigma(\rho)^{-1}(b-\hat{b})\|_2 \leq \delta\}$  is an ellipsoidal set as in  $(\mathbf{H}\Theta)(ii)$ , and assume that  $\rho^* = \arg\min_{\Gamma} \|\sigma(\rho)^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2$  exists. Then there exists  $\theta^* \in \arg\min_{\Theta} R(\theta)$  with

$$\rho^* \in \arg\min \|\sigma(\rho)^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2, \qquad b^* = \hat{b}(1 - \frac{\delta}{\|\sigma(\rho^*)^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2}) \mathbf{1}_{\{\|\sigma(\rho^*)^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2 > \delta\}}, \tag{5.5.10}$$

and

$$R(\theta^*) = (\|\sigma(\rho^*)^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2 - \delta)^2 \mathbf{1}_{\{\|\sigma(\rho^*)^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2 > \delta\}}.$$
(5.5.11)

Moreover, we have for all  $\theta = (b, \rho) \in \Theta$ :

$$H(b^*, \rho) \leq H(\theta^*) = R(\theta^*) \leq H(b, \rho^*).$$
 (5.5.12)

**Proof.** Due to the dependence of b on  $\rho$  in the ellipsoidal set  $\Theta$  written as  $\Theta = \{(b, \rho) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times \Gamma : b \in \Delta_\rho\}$  where

$$\Delta_{\rho} := \{ b \in \mathbb{R}^d : \|\sigma(\rho)^{-1}(b - \hat{b})\|_2 \le \delta \},$$
(5.5.13)

We use a Lagrangian approach.

Step 1. For fixed  $\rho \in \Gamma$ , let us first focus on the inner minimization

$$\min_{b \in \Delta_{\rho}} R(b, \rho). \tag{5.5.14}$$

The Lagrangian with nonnegative multiplier  $\mu$  associated to this constrained minimization problem is

$$L_1(b,\mu) = R(b,\rho) - \mu \Big(\delta^2 - (b-\hat{b})^{\mathsf{T}} \Sigma(\rho)^{-1} (b-\hat{b})\Big), \qquad (5.5.15)$$

#### 5.5. Appendix

and the first-order condition gives

$$\frac{\partial L_1(b,\mu)}{\partial b} = 2\Sigma(\rho)^{-1}b + 2\mu\Sigma(\rho)^{-1}(b-\hat{b}) = 0$$
$$\frac{\partial L_1(b,\mu)}{\partial \mu} = \delta^2 - (b-\hat{b})^{\mathsf{T}}\Sigma(\rho)^{-1}(b-\hat{b}) = 0.$$

Solving these two equations for fixed  $\rho$ , and recalling that the Lagrange multiplier is nonnegative, yield

$$\begin{cases} \mu^*(\rho) = \left(\frac{\|\sigma(\rho)^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2}{\delta} - 1\right) \mathbf{1}_{\{\|\sigma(\rho)^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2 > \delta\}}, \\ b^*(\rho) = \hat{b}\left(1 - \frac{\delta}{\|\sigma(\rho)^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2}\right) \mathbf{1}_{\{\|\sigma(\rho)^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2 > \delta\}}. \end{cases}$$
(5.5.16)

Substituting these expressions into the Lagrangian (5.5.15), we get

$$L_1(b^*(\rho),\rho) = R(b^*(\rho),\rho) = \left( \|\sigma(\rho)^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2 - \delta \right)^2 \mathbf{1}_{\{\|\sigma(\rho)^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2 > \delta\}}.$$

and thus, the original problem  $\inf_{\Theta} R(\theta)$  is reduced to

$$\inf_{\theta=(b,\rho)\in\Theta} R(\theta) = \inf_{\rho\in\Gamma} \inf_{b\in\Delta_{\rho}} R(b,\rho) = \inf_{\rho\in\Gamma} R(b^{*}(\rho),\rho) 
= \inf_{\rho\in\Gamma} \left\{ \left( \|\sigma(\rho)^{-1}\hat{b}\|_{2} - \delta \right)^{2} \mathbf{1}_{\{\|\sigma(\rho)^{-1}\hat{b}\|_{2} > \delta\}} \right\} 
= \left( \inf_{\rho\in\Gamma} \|\sigma(\rho)^{-1}\hat{b}\|_{2} - \delta \right)^{2} \mathbf{1}_{\{\inf_{\rho\in\Gamma}} \|\sigma(\rho)^{-1}\hat{b}\|_{2} > \delta\}.$$
(5.5.17)

Therefore, whenever  $\rho^* \in \arg \min_{\Gamma} \|\sigma(\rho)^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2$  exists, we see from (5.5.17) that R attains its infimum at  $\theta^* = (b^*, \rho^*)$  with  $b^* = b^*(\rho^*)$  as in (5.5.16) with  $\rho = \rho^*$ , which leads to the expressions as described in (5.5.10) and (5.5.11) of Lemma 5.5.2.

Step 2. Suppose that there exists  $\rho^* \in \arg\min_{\Gamma} \|\sigma(\rho)^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2$ . From Step 1, there exists  $\theta^* = (b^*, \rho^*) \in \arg\min_{\Theta} R(\theta)$ . Let us now prove that  $H(b^*, \rho) \leq R(\theta^*)$  for any  $\rho \in \Gamma$ . Substituting the expression (5.5.10) of  $b^*$  in  $H(b^*, \rho)$ , we rewrite  $H(b^*, \rho)$  as

$$H(b^*,\rho) = \left(1 - \frac{\delta}{\|\sigma(\rho^*)\hat{b}\|_2}\right)^2 \hat{b}^{\mathsf{T}} \Sigma(\rho^*)^{-1} \Sigma(\rho) \Sigma(\rho^*)^{-1} \hat{b} \mathbb{1}_{\{\|\sigma(\rho^*)^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2 > \delta\}}$$

As  $\rho^* \in \arg\min_{\Gamma} \hat{b}^{\dagger} \Sigma(\rho)^{-1} \hat{b}$ , we use Lemma 5.5.1 by setting  $\Delta = \{\hat{b}\}$ , and immediately obtain

$$\sup_{\rho \in \Gamma} \hat{b}^{\mathsf{T}} \Sigma(\rho^*)^{-1} \Sigma(\rho) \Sigma(\rho^*)^{-1} \hat{b} = \hat{b}^{\mathsf{T}} \Sigma(\rho^*)^{-1} \hat{b}.$$
(5.5.18)

By multiplying both sides of the above equality with the constant  $\left(1 - \frac{\delta}{\|\sigma(\rho^*)\hat{b}\|_2}\right)^2 \mathbf{1}_{\{\|\sigma(\rho^*)^{-1}\hat{b}\|_2 > \delta\}}$ , we get

$$\sup_{\rho \in \Gamma} H(b^*, \rho) = H(b^*, \rho^*) = R(\theta^*), \qquad (5.5.19)$$

which shows that

$$H(b^*, \rho) \leq R(\theta^*), \text{ for all } \rho \in \Gamma.$$

Step 3. Let us finally prove that  $H(b, \rho^*) \ge R(\theta^*)$  for any  $b \in \Theta_b$ . Again, we use a Lagrangian approach. For fixed  $\rho \in \Gamma$ , we focus on the inner minimization

$$\inf_{b\in\Delta_{\rho}}H(b,\rho^*),$$

and consider the associated Lagrangian function with nonnegative multiplier  $\mu$ 

$$L_2(b,\mu) = H(b,\rho^*) - \mu \left(\delta^2 - (b-\hat{b})^{\mathsf{T}} \Sigma(\rho)^{-1} (b-\hat{b})\right).$$
(5.5.20)

The first-order condition gives

$$\frac{\partial L_2(b,\mu)}{\partial b} = \Sigma(\rho^*)^{-1}b^* + 2\mu\Sigma(\rho)^{-1}(b-\hat{b}) = 0, \frac{\partial L_2(b,\mu)}{\partial \mu} = \delta^2 - (b-\hat{b})^{\mathsf{T}}\Sigma(\rho)^{-1}(b-\hat{b}) = 0,$$

and by solving these two equations for fixed  $\rho$  (recalling also that the Lagrangian multiplier is nonnegative), we get

$$\begin{cases} \mu^{**}(\rho) &= \frac{\sqrt{H(b^*,\rho)}}{2\delta} \ge 0\\ b^{**}(\rho) &= \hat{b} - \frac{\delta}{\sqrt{H(b^*,\rho)}} \Sigma(\rho) \Sigma(\rho^*)^{-1} b^*. \end{cases}$$
(5.5.21)

Substituting these expressions into the Lagrangian (5.5.20), we get

$$L_2(b^{**}(\rho),\rho) = H(b^{**}(\rho),\rho^*) = \hat{b}^{\mathsf{T}} \Sigma(\rho^*)^{-1} b^* - \delta \sqrt{H(b^*,\rho)}.$$

The outer minimization over  $\Gamma$  then yields

$$\begin{split} \inf_{b\in\Theta_b} H(b,\rho^*) &= \inf_{\rho\in\Gamma} \inf_{b\in\Delta_\rho} H(b,\rho^*) = \inf_{\rho\in\Gamma} H(b^{**}(\rho),\rho^*) \\ &= \inf_{\rho\in\Gamma} \left\{ \hat{b}^{\mathsf{T}} \Sigma(\rho^*)^{-1} b^* - \delta \sqrt{H(b^*,\rho)} \right\} \\ &= \hat{b}^{\mathsf{T}} \Sigma(\rho^*)^{-1} b^* - \delta \sup_{\rho\in\Gamma} \sqrt{H(b^*,\rho)} \\ &= \hat{b}^{\mathsf{T}} \Sigma(\rho^*)^{-1} b^* - \delta \sqrt{R(\theta^*)} \\ &= R(\theta^*), \end{split}$$

where we used (5.5.19) in the last second equality, and last equality comes from (5.5.10). This shows that the infimum of  $H(b, \rho^*)$  over  $b \in \Theta_b$  is attained at  $b^{**}(\rho^*) = b^*$  as in (5.5.21) with  $\rho = \rho^*$ . We conclude that for any  $b \in \Theta_b$ ,

$$H(b,\rho^*) \geq R(\theta^*), \tag{5.5.22}$$

which completes the proof.

#### 5.5.3 Proof of Proposition 5.4.1

Let us prove that under the condition  $|\hat{\beta}_1| > |\hat{\beta}_2| = \max_{i \neq 1} |\hat{\beta}_i|$ , the function  $\rho \mapsto R(\hat{b}, \rho)$  attains its infimum over  $\mathbb{C}^d_{>+} \subset (-1, 1)^{d(d-1)/2}$ , and this infimum  $\rho^*$  can be computed explicitly. By convexity and

126

#### 5.5. Appendix

differentiability of  $\rho \mapsto R(\hat{b}, \rho)$  over the convex open set  $\Gamma = \mathbb{C}^d_{>+}$ , the existence of such minimum is equivalent to the existence of critical points to  $R(\hat{b}, .)$ , i.e.,

$$\frac{\partial R(\dot{b}, \rho^*)}{\partial \rho_{ij}} = 0, \ 1 \le i < j \le d.$$
(5.5.23)

Recalling that  $\sigma_i > 0$  i = 1, ..., d, this is written from (5.5.3) as the system of d(d-1)/2 equations:

$$\hat{\kappa}^{i}(\rho^{*})\hat{\kappa}^{j}(\rho^{*}) = 0, \quad 1 \le i < j \le d,$$
(5.5.24)

which indicates that at most one component of  $\hat{\kappa}(\rho^*)$  is not zero. Notice that due to the assumption that  $\hat{b} \neq 0$ ,  $\hat{\kappa}(\rho^*) = \Sigma(\rho^*)^{-1}\hat{b}$  is never zero, i.e. at least one component of  $\hat{\kappa}(\rho^*)$  is not zero. Therefore, exactly one component of  $\hat{\kappa}(\rho^*)$  is not zero. Then (5.5.24) is equivalent to  $\hat{\kappa}^{i_1}(\rho^*) \neq 0$ ,  $\hat{\kappa}^{j}(\rho^*) = 0$ ,  $j \neq i_1$ , for some  $i_1 = 1, \ldots, d$ . In other words, we have

$$(0, \dots, 0, \hat{\kappa}^{i_1}(\rho^*), 0, \dots, 0)^{\intercal} = \Sigma(\rho^*)^{-1}\hat{b}, \text{ for some } i_1 = 1, \dots, d.$$
 (5.5.25)

Pre-multiplying  $\Sigma(\rho^*)$  on both sides of (5.5.25) and then writing out l.h.s, we obtain

$$\begin{cases} \sigma_{i_1}^2 \hat{\kappa}^{i_1}(\rho^*) &= \hat{b}_{i_1} \\ \sigma_{i_1} \sigma_i \rho_{i_1 i}^* \hat{\kappa}^{i_1}(\rho^*) &= \hat{b}_i \quad 1 \le i \le d, \ i \ne i_1, \end{cases}$$
(5.5.26)

which yields the explicit form:

$$\begin{cases} \hat{\kappa}^{i_1}(\rho^*) &= \frac{\hat{b}_{i_1}}{\sigma_{i_1}^2} \\ \rho^*_{i_1i} &= \frac{\hat{\beta}_i}{\hat{\beta}_{i_1}} \quad i \neq i_1, \ 1 \le i \le d. \end{cases}$$
(5.5.27)

As  $|\rho_{i_1i_1}^*| < 1$  in (5.5.27), together with condition  $|\hat{\beta}_1| > \max_{i \neq 1} |\hat{\beta}_i|$ , we thus have  $i_1 = 1$  and

$$\Sigma(\rho^*)^{-1}\hat{b} = \hat{\kappa}(\rho^*) = (\frac{\hat{b}_1}{\sigma_1^2}, 0, \dots, 0)^{\mathsf{T}}, \quad \rho_{1i}^* = \hat{\varrho}_{1i}, \quad 2 \le i \le d.$$
(5.5.28)

Once  $\{\rho_{1i}^*\}_{2 \leq i \leq d}$  is given as in (5.5.28), we can complete the other values of  $\rho_{ij}^* \in (-1, 1)$  such that  $\rho^*$  belongs to  $\mathbb{C}_{>+}^d$ . For instance, by choosing as in Corollary 2 in [LZ17],  $\rho_{ij}^* = \rho_{1i}^* \rho_{1j}^* = \hat{\varrho}_{1i} \hat{\varrho}_{1j}, 2 \leq i < j \leq d$ , we check that  $C(\rho^*) \in \mathbb{S}_{>+}^d$ . Indeed, in this case we have

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ -\hat{\varrho}_{12} & 1 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ -\hat{\varrho}_{1d} & 0 & \dots & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \hat{\varrho}_{12} & \hat{\varrho}_{13} & \dots & \hat{\varrho}_{1d} \\ \hat{\varrho}_{13} & \hat{\varrho}_{12}\hat{\varrho}_{13} & 1 & \dots & \hat{\varrho}_{13}\hat{\varrho}_{1d} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \hat{\varrho}_{1d} & \hat{\varrho}_{12}\hat{\varrho}_{1d} & \hat{\varrho}_{13}\hat{\varrho}_{1d} & \dots & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ -\hat{\varrho}_{12} & 1 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ -\hat{\varrho}_{1d} & 0 & \dots & 1 \end{pmatrix}^{\mathsf{T}}$$
$$= \operatorname{diag}\{1, 1 - |\hat{\varrho}_{12}|^2, 1 - |\hat{\varrho}_{13}|^2, \dots, 1 - |\hat{\varrho}_{1d}|^2\},$$

which is positive definite since  $1 - |\hat{\varrho}_{1i}|^2 > 0, i = 2, ..., d$ .

In particular when  $|\hat{\beta}_i|$  is in strictly descending order, i.e.  $|\hat{\beta}_1| > |\hat{\beta}_2| > \ldots > |\hat{\beta}_d|$ ,  $\rho^* = (\rho^*_{ij})_{1 \le i < j \le d} = (\hat{\varrho}_{ij})_{1 \le i \le j \le d} = :\hat{\varrho}$  also belongs to  $\mathbb{C}^d_{>+}$ . Indeed, in this case, observe that

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ -\hat{\varrho}_{12} & 1 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ -\hat{\varrho}_{1d} & 0 & \dots & 1 \end{pmatrix} C(\hat{\varrho}) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ -\hat{\varrho}_{12} & 1 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ -\hat{\varrho}_{1d} & 0 & \dots & 1 \end{pmatrix}^{\mathsf{T}} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & 1 - \hat{\varrho}_{12}^2 & \hat{\varrho}_{23} - \hat{\varrho}_{12}\hat{\varrho}_{13} & \dots & \hat{\varrho}_{2d} - \hat{\varrho}_{12}\hat{\varrho}_{1d} \\ 0 & \hat{\varrho}_{23} - \hat{\varrho}_{12}\hat{\varrho}_{13} & 1 - \hat{\varrho}_{13}^2 & \dots & \hat{\varrho}_{3d} - \hat{\varrho}_{13}\hat{\varrho}_{1d} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & \hat{\varrho}_{2d} - \hat{\varrho}_{12}\hat{\varrho}_{1d} & \hat{\varrho}_{3d} - \hat{\varrho}_{13}\hat{\varrho}_{1d} & \dots & 1 - \hat{\varrho}_{1d}^2 \end{pmatrix}$$

Denote by  $C_1(\hat{\varrho})$  the matrix in the r.h.s of the above equality and note that  $\hat{\varrho}_{1i} = \hat{\varrho}_{12}\hat{\varrho}_{2i}, i = 3, ..., d$ . Then we have

$$= \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & -\hat{\varrho}_{23} & 1 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & -\hat{\varrho}_{2d} & 0 & \dots & 1 \end{pmatrix} C_1(\hat{\varrho}) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & -\hat{\varrho}_{23} & 1 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & -\hat{\varrho}_{2d} & 0 & \dots & 1 \end{pmatrix}^{\mathsf{r}}$$

$$= \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & 1 - \hat{\varrho}_{12}^2 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 - \hat{\varrho}_{23}^2 & \hat{\rho}_{34} - \hat{\rho}_{23}\hat{\rho}_{24} & \dots & \hat{\rho}_{3d} - \hat{\varrho}_{23}\hat{\varrho}_{2d} \\ 0 & 0 & \hat{\varrho}_{34} - \hat{\varrho}_{23}\hat{\varrho}_{24} & 1 - \hat{\varrho}_{24}^2 & \dots & \hat{\varrho}_{4d} - \hat{\varrho}_{24}\hat{\varrho}_{2d} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \hat{\varrho}_{3d} - \hat{\varrho}_{23}\hat{\varrho}_{2d} & \hat{\varrho}_{4d} - \hat{\varrho}_{24}\hat{\varrho}_{2d} & \dots & 1 - \hat{\varrho}_{2d}^2 \end{pmatrix}$$

Denote by  $C_2(\hat{\varrho})$  the matrix in the r.h.s of the above equality and again note that  $\hat{\varrho}_{2i} = \hat{\varrho}_{23} \hat{\varrho}_{3i}$ , i = 4, ..., d. Then we can do the similar matrix congruence with  $C_2(\hat{\varrho})$  as with  $C_1(\hat{\varrho})$ . And so on. After d-1 steps of matrix congruence, we arrive at the diagonalization of the matrix  $C(\hat{\varrho})$ 

$$TC(\hat{\varrho})T^{\mathsf{T}} = \operatorname{diag}\{1, 1 - |\hat{\varrho}_{12}|^2, 1 - |\hat{\varrho}_{23}|^2, \dots, 1 - |\hat{\varrho}_{d-1d}|^2\},\$$

where  $T = T_d \cdots T_1$  with  $T_i$  being invertible matrix with diagonal terms 1, (j, i)-th term  $-\hat{\varrho}_{ij}, j > i$ , and other terms 0.

We deduce that the system of equations (5.5.24) has solutions in  $\mathbb{C}_{>+}^d$  given by (5.5.28). Moreover, we have from (5.5.28)

$$\min_{\rho \in \mathbb{C}^d_{>+}} R(\hat{b}, \rho) = R(\hat{b}, \rho^*) = \hat{b}^{\dagger} \hat{\kappa}(\rho^*) = \hat{b}_1 \hat{\kappa}^1(\rho^*) = \hat{\beta}_1^2.$$
(5.5.29)

Combining this with Lemma 5.5.2, we obtain  $b^*$  described in 5.4.1.

#### 5.5.4 Proof of Proposition 5.4.2

As  $\Gamma = [\rho, \bar{\rho}]$  is compact, we already know that  $\rho^* = \arg \min_{\rho \in \Gamma} R(\hat{b}, \rho)$  exists, and from Lemma 5.5.2, we only need to compute the minimum of the function  $\rho \mapsto R(\hat{b}, \rho)$  over  $\Gamma$ . From (5.5.5) with d = 2, we obtain the sufficient and necessary condition of  $\rho^*$  for being global minima of  $R(\hat{b}, \rho)$  over  $\Gamma$ :

$$\hat{\kappa}^{1}(\rho^{*})\hat{\kappa}^{2}(\rho^{*})(\rho-\rho^{*}) \le 0, \quad \forall \rho \in [\underline{\rho}, \overline{\rho}],$$
(5.5.30)

where  $\hat{\kappa}(\rho)$  is explicitly written as

$$\hat{\kappa}(\rho) = \frac{1}{1-\rho^2} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\hat{b}_1}{\sigma_1^2} - \frac{\hat{b}_2}{\sigma_1\sigma_2}\rho\\ \frac{\hat{b}_2}{\sigma_2^2} - \frac{\hat{b}_1}{\sigma_1\sigma_2}\rho \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{1-\rho^2} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\hat{\beta}_1 - \hat{\beta}_2\rho}{\sigma_1}\\ \frac{\hat{\beta}_2 - \hat{\beta}_1\rho}{\sigma_2} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(5.5.31)

From (5.5.30), we have three possible cases:

1.  $\hat{\kappa}^1(\rho^*)\hat{\kappa}^2(\rho^*) = 0$ . From the explicit expression (5.5.31) of  $\hat{\kappa}(\rho^*)$ , and as  $\rho^*$  has to belong to  $[\underline{\rho}, \overline{\rho}] \subset (-1, 1)$ , we obtain  $\hat{\kappa}^2(\rho^*) = 0$ , i.e.,  $\rho^* = \hat{\varrho}_{12}$ , and so  $R(\hat{b}, \rho^*) = \hat{\beta}_1^2$ .

#### 5.5. Appendix

- **2.**  $\hat{\kappa}^1(\rho^*)\hat{\kappa}^2(\rho^*) > 0$ . Then (5.5.30) is satisfied iff  $\rho^* = \bar{\rho}$ . Moreover, from the above explicit expression of  $\hat{\kappa}(\rho^*)$ , we obtain  $\bar{\rho} < \hat{\varrho}_{12}$ .
- **3.**  $\hat{\kappa}^1(\rho^*)\hat{\kappa}^2(\rho^*) < 0$ . Then (5.5.30) is satisfied iff  $\rho^* = \underline{\rho}$ . Moreover, from the explicit expression of  $\hat{\kappa}(\rho^*)$ , we obtain  $\rho > \hat{\varrho}_{12}$ .

By combining this with Lemma 5.5.2, we obtain  $b^*$  described as in Proposition 5.4.2.

# 5.5.5 Proof of Proposition 5.4.3

As  $\Gamma = \prod_{j=1}^{3} \prod_{i=1}^{j-1} [\underline{\rho}_{ij}, \bar{\rho}_{ij}]$  is compact, we already know that  $\rho^* = \arg\min_{\rho \in \Gamma} R(\hat{b}, \rho)$  exists. From Lemma 5.5.2, we only need to compute the minimum of the function  $\rho \mapsto R(\hat{b}, \rho)$  over  $\Gamma$  by applying the optimality principle (5.5.5) when d = 3,

$$\sum_{j=1}^{3} \sum_{i=1}^{j-1} \sigma_i \sigma_j \hat{\kappa}^i(\rho^*) \hat{\kappa}^j(\rho^*) (\rho_{ij} - \rho_{ij}^*) \le 0 \quad \text{for any } \rho \in \Gamma.$$
(5.5.32)

We observe from (5.5.32) that similar as Proposition 5.4.2, each  $\rho_{ij}^*$ ,  $1 \le i < j \le 3$  may be lower bound  $\underline{\rho}_{ij}$ , upper bound  $\overline{\rho}_{ij}$ , or an interior point in  $(\underline{\rho}_{ij}, \overline{\rho}_{ij})$ , which corresponds to  $\kappa^i \kappa^j (\rho^*) > 0$ ,  $\kappa^i \kappa^j (\rho^*) < 0$ , or  $\kappa^i \kappa^j (\rho^*) = 0$  respectively. Therefore, we consider the following possible exclusive cases depending on the number of zero components in  $\hat{\kappa}(\rho^*)$ :

**1.**  $\hat{\kappa}^1 \hat{\kappa}^2(\rho^*) = 0, \ \hat{\kappa}^1 \hat{\kappa}^3(\rho^*) = 0, \ \hat{\kappa}^2 \hat{\kappa}^3(\rho^*) = 0.$ 

In this case, (5.5.32) is immediately satisfied. As we assume that  $\hat{b} \neq 0$ ,  $\hat{\kappa}(\rho^*)$  is not zero, i.e. at least one component of  $\hat{\kappa}(\rho^*)$  is nonzero. Then, two components of  $\hat{\kappa}(\rho^*)$  are zero. Under the assumption that  $|\hat{\beta}_1| \geq |\hat{\beta}_2| \geq |\hat{\beta}_3|$ , (5.5.28) and (5.5.29) in Section 5.5.3 yield the explicit expressions of  $\rho^*$ ,  $\hat{\kappa}(\rho^*)$  and  $R(\hat{b}, \rho^*)$ 

$$\rho_{12}^* = \hat{\varrho}_{12} \in [\underline{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{12}], \ \rho_{13}^* = \hat{\varrho}_{13} \in [\underline{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{13}], \ \text{any} \ \rho_{23}^* \in [\underline{\rho}_{23}, \bar{\rho}_{23}]$$

and

$$\hat{\kappa}(\rho^*) = (\frac{\hat{b}_1}{\sigma_1^2}, 0, 0)^{\mathsf{T}}, \quad R(\hat{b}, \rho^*) = \hat{\beta}_1^2.$$
 (5.5.33)

Let us show that  $\hat{\beta}_1^2$  in (5.5.33) is strict minimum value in the sense that  $R(\hat{b}, \rho^*) = \hat{\beta}_1^2$  if and only if  $\rho_{12}^* = \hat{\varrho}_{12} \in [\underline{\rho}_{12}, \overline{\rho}_{12}], \ \rho_{13}^* = \hat{\varrho}_{13} \in [\underline{\rho}_{13}, \overline{\rho}_{13}]$  and any  $\rho_{23}^* \in [\underline{\rho}_{23}, \overline{\rho}_{23}]$ . We express  $\Sigma(\rho)$  as the following block matrix

$$\Sigma(\rho) = \begin{pmatrix} \sigma_1^2 & C_1^{\mathsf{T}} \\ C_1 & \Sigma_{-1}(\rho_{23}) \end{pmatrix},$$

where the vector  $C_1 = (\sigma_1 \sigma_2 \rho_{12}, \sigma_1 \sigma_3 \rho_{13})^{\mathsf{T}}$ .

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & \mathbf{0}_{1\times 2} \\ -\frac{C_1}{\sigma_1^2} & I_{2\times 2} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \sigma_1^2 & C_1^{\mathsf{T}} \\ C_1 & \Sigma_{-1}(\rho_{23}) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -\frac{C_1^{\mathsf{T}}}{\sigma_1^2} \\ \mathbf{0}_{2\times 1} & I_{2\times 2} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \sigma_1^2 & \mathbf{0}_{1\times 2} \\ \mathbf{0}_{2\times 1} & A \end{pmatrix}, \quad (5.5.34)$$

where  $A = \sum_{-1} (\rho_{23}) - \frac{C_1 C_1'}{\sigma_1^4}$  is 2 × 2 positive definite matrix. Inverting on both sides of (5.5.34), we get

$$\Sigma^{-1}(\rho) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -\frac{C_1^{\mathsf{T}}}{\sigma_1^2} \\ \mathbf{0}_{2\times 1} & I_{2\times 2} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \sigma_1^{-2} & \mathbf{0}_{1\times 2} \\ \mathbf{0}_{2\times 1} & A^{-1} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \mathbf{0}_{1\times 2} \\ -\frac{C_1}{\sigma_1^2} & I_{2\times 2} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (5.5.35)

We express  $\hat{b}$  as  $(\hat{b}_1, \hat{b}_{-1}^{\dagger})^{\dagger}$  and then write  $R(\hat{b}, \rho)$  as two nonnegative decompositions from (5.5.35),

$$R(\hat{b},\rho) = \hat{\beta}_1^2 + (\hat{b}_{-1} - \frac{\hat{b}_1}{\sigma_1^2}C_1)^{\intercal}A^{-1}(\hat{b}_{-1} - \frac{\hat{b}_1}{\sigma_1^2}C_1)$$
  

$$\geq \hat{\beta}_1^2,$$

where in the last inequality, '=' holds if and only if  $\hat{b}_{-1} - \frac{\hat{b}_1}{\sigma_1^2}C_1 = 0$ , i.e.  $\rho_{12}^* = \hat{\varrho}_{12}$ ,  $\rho_{13}^* = \hat{\varrho}_{13}$ . This corresponds to case **1.** of Proposition 5.4.3.

**2.**  $\hat{\kappa}^1 \hat{\kappa}^2(\rho^*) \neq 0$ ,  $\hat{\kappa}^1 \hat{\kappa}^3(\rho^*) = 0$ ,  $\hat{\kappa}^2 \hat{\kappa}^3(\rho^*) = 0$ . In this case, we express  $\Sigma(\rho)$  as the following block-matrix form for convenience,

$$\Sigma(\rho) = \begin{pmatrix} \Sigma_{-3}(\rho_{12}) & C_3 \\ C_3^{\mathsf{T}} & \sigma_3^2 \end{pmatrix},$$

where the vector  $C_3 = (\sigma_1 \sigma_3 \rho_{13}, \sigma_2 \sigma_3 \rho_{23})^{\intercal}$ .

By first transforming  $\Sigma(\rho)$  to block diagonal matrix as (5.5.35) and then taking inverse, we obtain

$$\Sigma(\rho)^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} I_{2\times 2} & -\Sigma_{-3}(\rho_{12})^{-1}C_3 \\ \mathbf{0}_{1\times 2} & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \Sigma_{-3}(\rho_{12})^{-1} & \mathbf{0}_{2\times 1} \\ \mathbf{0}_{1\times 2} & a(\rho)^{-1} \end{pmatrix} \\ \begin{pmatrix} I_{2\times 2} & \mathbf{0}_{2\times 1} \\ -C_3^{\intercal}\Sigma_{-3}(\rho_{12})^{-1} & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$
(5.5.36)

where  $a(\rho) = \sigma_3^2 - C_3^{\mathsf{T}} \Sigma_{-3}(\rho_{12})^{-1} C_3$  is positive.

Recalling the definition of  $\kappa(\hat{b},\rho)$  and  $R(\hat{b},\rho)$ , we obtain from (5.5.36)

$$\begin{cases} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{\kappa}^{1}(\rho) \\ \hat{\kappa}^{2}(\rho) \end{pmatrix} = \Sigma_{-3}(\rho_{12})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-3} - \hat{\kappa}^{3}(\rho)\Sigma_{-3}(\rho_{12})^{-1}C_{3} \\ \hat{\kappa}^{3}(\rho) = \frac{1}{a(\rho)}(\hat{b}_{3} - C_{3}^{\intercal}\Sigma_{-3}(\rho_{12})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-3}) \end{cases}$$
(5.5.37)

and

$$R(\hat{b},\rho) = \hat{b}_{-3}^{\mathsf{T}} \Sigma_{-3}(\rho_{12})^{-1} \hat{b}_{-3} + a(\rho) \left(\hat{\kappa}^{3}(\rho)\right)^{2}.$$
 (5.5.38)

In the following, we write  $\hat{b}_{-3}^{\intercal}\Sigma_{-3}(\rho_{12})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-3}$  as  $R(\hat{b}_{-3},\rho_{12})$ . As  $\hat{\kappa}^3(\rho^*) = 0$ , we obtain from (5.5.32) that

$$\sigma_1 \sigma_2 \hat{\kappa}^1 \hat{\kappa}^2 (\rho_{12}^*) (\rho_{12} - \rho_{12}^*) \leq 0 \quad \text{for all } \rho_{12} \in [\underline{\rho}_{12}, \overline{\rho}_{12}]$$
(5.5.39)

and from (5.5.37) and (5.5.38) that

$$\begin{cases} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{\kappa}^{1}(\rho_{12}^{*}) \\ \hat{\kappa}^{2}(\rho_{12}^{*}) \end{pmatrix} = \Sigma_{-3}(\rho_{12}^{*})^{-1}\hat{b}_{-3} \\ R(\hat{b},\rho^{*}) = R(\hat{b}_{-3},\rho_{12}^{*}). \end{cases}$$
(5.5.40)

This is the case of ambiguous correlation in the two-risky assets: risky asset 1 and risky asset 2 with ambiguous correlation  $\rho_{12}$  in  $[\rho_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{12}]$ . In this case,  $\hat{\kappa}^1(\rho^*)$  and  $\hat{\kappa}^2(\rho^*)$  are not zero, therefore we have that from Proposition 5.4.2

$$\rho_{12}^* = \bar{\rho}_{12} \mathbf{1}_{\{\bar{\rho}_{12} < \hat{\varrho}_{12}\}} + \underline{\rho}_{12} \mathbf{1}_{\{\underline{\rho}_{12} > \hat{\varrho}_{12}\}}.$$
(5.5.41)
## 5.5. Appendix

By setting  $g(\rho_{12}^*, \rho_{13}, \rho_{23}) := a(\rho_{12}^*, \rho_{13}, \rho_{23})\kappa^3(\rho_{12}^*, \rho_{13}, \rho_{23})$  for fixed  $\rho_{12}^*$  in (5.5.41), we deduce from (5.5.37) that the function

$$(\rho_{13},\rho_{23}) \mapsto g(\rho_{12}^*,\rho_{13},\rho_{23}) = \hat{b}_3 - \sigma_1 \sigma_3 \hat{\kappa}^1(\rho_{12}^*) \rho_{13} - \sigma_2 \sigma_3 \hat{\kappa}^2(\rho_{12}^*) \rho_{23},$$

is linear in  $(\rho_{13}, \rho_{23}) \in [\underline{\rho}_{13}, \overline{\rho}_{13}] \times [\underline{\rho}_{23}, \overline{\rho}_{23}]$ , and has the same sign as  $\hat{\kappa}^3(\rho_{12}^*, \rho_{13}, \rho_{23})$  due to the positiveness of  $a(\rho_{12}^*, \rho_{13}, \rho_{23})$ . To study the condition of  $\kappa^3(\rho^*) = 0$ , we discuss it in the following two cases:

- (i) if  $\bar{\rho}_{12} < \hat{\varrho}_{12}$ , then  $\hat{\kappa}^1 \hat{\kappa}^2(\bar{\rho}_{12}) > 0$ , the function  $(\rho_{13}, \rho_{23}) \mapsto g(\bar{\rho}_{12}, \rho_{13}, \rho_{23})$  has the same monotonicity with respect to  $\rho_{13}, \rho_{23}$ . Therefore, to ensure that the function  $g(\bar{\rho}_{12}, \rho_{13}, \rho_{23})$  has a root in  $[\underline{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{13}] \times [\underline{\rho}_{23}, \bar{\rho}_{23}]$ , we need  $g(\bar{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23})$  $g(\bar{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23}) \leq 0$ , or equivalently  $\hat{\kappa}^3(\bar{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}) \hat{\kappa}^3(\bar{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23}) \leq 0$ .
- (ii) if  $\underline{\rho}_{12} > \hat{\varrho}_{12}$ , then  $\hat{\kappa}^1 \hat{\kappa}^2(\underline{\rho}_{12}) < 0$ , the function  $(\rho_{13}, \rho_{23}) \mapsto g(\underline{\rho}_{12}, \rho_{13}, \rho_{23})$  has the opposite monotonicity with respect to  $\rho_{13}$ ,  $\rho_{23}$ . Therefore, when  $g(\underline{\rho}_{12}, \overline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}) g(\underline{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \overline{\rho}_{23}) \leq 0$ , or equivalently  $\hat{\kappa}^3(\underline{\rho}_{12}, \overline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}) \hat{\kappa}^3(\underline{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \overline{\rho}_{13}) \leq 0$ , the function  $g(\underline{\rho}_{12}, \rho_{13}, \rho_{23})$  has a root in  $[\underline{\rho}_{13}, \overline{\rho}_{13}] \times [\underline{\rho}_{23}, \overline{\rho}_{23}]$ .

Therefore, we deduce that  $R(\hat{b}, \rho) \ge R(\hat{b}_{-3}, \rho_{12}) \ge R(\hat{b}_{-3}, \bar{\rho}_{12} \mathbf{1}_{\{\bar{\rho}_{12} < \hat{\varrho}_{12}\}} + \underline{\rho}_{12} \mathbf{1}_{\{\underline{\rho}_{12} > \hat{\varrho}_{12}\}})$  and that '=' holds if and only if  $\rho_{12}^* = \bar{\rho}_{12} \mathbf{1}_{\{\bar{\rho}_{12} < \hat{\varrho}_{12}\}} + \underline{\rho}_{12} \mathbf{1}_{\{\underline{\rho}_{12} > \hat{\varrho}_{12}\}}$  and  $\rho_{13}^*, \rho_{23}^*$  satisfies  $\hat{\kappa}^3(\rho_{12}^*, \rho_{13}^*, \rho_{23}^*) = 0$ . This corresponds to subcases **2.**(i) and **2.**(ii) of Proposition 5.4.3.

**3.**  $\hat{\kappa}^1 \hat{\kappa}^2(\rho^*) = 0$ ,  $\hat{\kappa}^1 \hat{\kappa}^3(\rho^*) \neq 0$ ,  $\hat{\kappa}^2(\rho^*) \hat{\kappa}^3(\rho^*) = 0$ . In this case, we make permutations as follows,

$$\begin{pmatrix} \hat{\kappa}^{-2}(\rho) \\ \hat{\kappa}^{2}(\rho) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \Sigma_{-2}(\rho_{13}) & C_{2} \\ C_{2}^{\mathsf{T}} & \sigma_{2}^{2} \end{pmatrix}^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{b}_{-2} \\ \hat{b}_{2} \end{pmatrix},$$
 (5.5.42)

where  $\hat{\kappa}^{-2}(\rho) = (\hat{\kappa}^1(\rho), \hat{\kappa}^3(\rho))^{\intercal}$  and  $C_2 = (\sigma_1 \sigma_2 \rho_{12}, \sigma_2 \sigma_3 \rho_{23})^{\intercal}$ . Using (5.5.42) and proceeding with the same arguments as in the case **2.**, we obtain the result of  $\hat{\kappa}^2(\rho^*) = 0$ ,  $\hat{\kappa}^1(\rho^*)\hat{\kappa}^3(\rho^*) \neq 0$  as described in the subcases **3.**(i) and **3.**(ii) of Proposition 5.4.3.

**4.**  $\hat{\kappa}^1 \hat{\kappa}^2(\rho^*) = 0, \ \hat{\kappa}^1 \hat{\kappa}^3(\rho^*) = 0, \ \hat{\kappa}^2(\rho^*) \hat{\kappa}^3(\rho^*) \neq 0.$ Note that

$$\begin{pmatrix} \hat{\kappa}^{-1}(\rho) \\ \hat{\kappa}^{1}(\rho) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \Sigma_{-1}(\rho_{23}) & C_{1} \\ C_{1}^{\mathsf{T}} & \sigma_{1}^{2} \end{pmatrix}^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{b}_{-1} \\ \hat{b}_{1} \end{pmatrix},$$
 (5.5.43)

where  $\hat{\kappa}^{-1}(\rho) = (\hat{\kappa}^2(\rho), \hat{\kappa}^3(\rho))^{\intercal}$  and  $C_1 = (\sigma_1 \sigma_2 \rho_{12}, \sigma_1 \sigma_3 \rho_{13})^{\intercal}$ . Using (5.5.43) and proceeding with the same arguments as in the case **2.**, we obtain the result of  $\hat{\kappa}^1(\rho^*) = 0$ ,  $\hat{\kappa}^2(\rho^*)\hat{\kappa}^3(\rho^*) \neq 0$  as described in subcases **4.**(i) and **4.**(ii) of Proposition 5.4.3.

**5.**  $\hat{\kappa}^1 \hat{\kappa}^2(\rho^*) \neq 0, \ \hat{\kappa}^1 \hat{\kappa}^3(\rho^*) \neq 0, \ \hat{\kappa}^2(\rho^*) \hat{\kappa}^3(\rho^*) \neq 0.$ 

In this case, we see from (5.5.32) that each  $\rho_{ij}^*$  takes value in  $\{\underline{\rho}_{ij}, \overline{\rho}_{ij}\}$  relying on the sign of  $\hat{\kappa}^i \hat{\kappa}^j (\rho^*)$ . Note that once the signs of  $\hat{\kappa}^1 \hat{\kappa}^2 (\rho^*)$  and  $\hat{\kappa}^1 \hat{\kappa}^3 (\rho^*)$  are known, the sign of  $\hat{\kappa}^2 (\rho^*) \hat{\kappa}^3 (\rho^*)$  is determined. Therefore, by combination, there are 4 possible sub-cases as described in the case **5**. of Proposition 5.4.3.

As  $\hat{\kappa}^i(\rho^*)\hat{\kappa}^j(\rho^*) \neq 0$  in each sub case, l.h.s of (5.5.32) is strictly negative for any  $\rho \in \Gamma \setminus \{\rho^*\}$ . From the first-order characterization for convexity of  $R(\hat{b},\rho)$  (see e.g. Section 3.1.3 in [BV04]) and (5.5.3), we obtain for any  $\rho \in \Gamma \setminus \{\rho^*\},\$ 

$$\begin{aligned} R(\hat{b},\rho) &\geq R(\hat{b},\rho^{*}) + (\rho - \rho^{*})^{\mathsf{T}} D_{\rho} R(\hat{b},\rho^{*}) \\ &= R(\hat{b},\rho^{*}) - \sum_{j=1}^{3} \sum_{i=1}^{j-1} \sigma_{i} \sigma_{j} \hat{\kappa}^{i}(\rho^{*}) \hat{\kappa}^{j}(\rho^{*})(\rho_{ij} - \rho^{*}_{ij}) \\ &> R(\hat{b},\rho^{*}), \end{aligned}$$

which indicates that  $\rho^*$  in each sub-case of case 5. in Proposition 5.4.3 is a strict minimum of  $R(\hat{b}, \rho)$ .

As  $R(\hat{b}, \rho^*)$  in this subcase is strict minimum value, we conclude that each subcase in Proposition 5.4.3 is exclusive.

By combining this with Lemma 5.5.2, we obtain  $b^*$  described as in Proposition 5.4.3.

# 5.5.6 Proof of Proposition 5.4.4

We express  $\Sigma(\rho)$  in block matrix form,

$$\Sigma(\rho) = \begin{pmatrix} \sigma_1^2 & C^{\mathsf{T}} \\ C & \Sigma_{-1}(\rho) \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (5.5.44)$$

where the vector  $C = (\sigma_1 \sigma_2 \rho_{12}, \dots, \sigma_1 \sigma_d \rho_{1d})^{\mathsf{T}}$ .

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & \mathbf{0}_{1 \times (d-1)} \\ -\frac{C}{\sigma_1^2} & I_{(d-1) \times (d-1)} \end{pmatrix} \Sigma(\rho) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -\frac{C^{\mathsf{T}}}{\sigma_1^2} \\ \mathbf{0}_{(d-1) \times 1} & I_{(d-1) \times (d-1)} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \sigma_1^2 & \mathbf{0}_{1 \times (d-1)} \\ \mathbf{0}_{(d-1) \times 1} & A \end{pmatrix}, \quad (5.5.45)$$

where  $I_{(d-1)\times(d-1)}$  is  $d-1\times d-1$  identity matrix and  $A = \sum_{-1}(\rho) - \frac{CC^{\tau}}{\sigma_1^4}, d-1\times d-1 > \mathbf{0}$ . Inverting on both sides of (5.5.45), we get

$$\Sigma(\rho)^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -\frac{C^{\mathsf{T}}}{\sigma_1^2} \\ \mathbf{0}_{(d-1)\times 1} & I_{(d-1)\times (d-1)} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \sigma_1^{-2} & \mathbf{0}_{1\times (d-1)} \\ \mathbf{0}_{(d-1)\times 1} & A^{-1} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \mathbf{0}_{1\times (d-1)} \\ -\frac{C}{\sigma_1^2} & I_{(d-1)\times (d-1)} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(5.5.46)

We write b as  $(b_1, b_{-1}^{\dagger})^{\dagger}$  where  $b_{-1}$  denotes b with the first component removed, and express from (5.5.46)  $R(b, \rho)$  as two nonnegative parts

$$R(b,\rho) = \beta_1^2 + (b_{-1} - \frac{b_1}{\sigma_1^2}C)^{\intercal} A^{-1}(b_{-1} - \frac{b_1}{\sigma_1^2}C)$$
  
$$\geq \underline{\beta}_1^2.$$

Note that  $\underline{\beta}_1^2$  can be attained if and only if  $b_1 = \underline{b}_1$  and  $b_{-1} - \frac{b_1}{\sigma_1^2}C = 0$ , which is equivalent to

$$b_1^* = \underline{b}_1, \quad \beta_i^* = \underline{\beta}_1 \rho_{1i}^* \quad 2 \le i \le d.$$

$$(5.5.47)$$

As long as  $|\rho_{1i}^*|$  in (5.5.47) is less than 1, we can complete the other values of  $\rho_{ij}^* \in (-1, 1)$  such that  $\rho^*$  belongs to  $\mathbb{C}_{>+}^d$ . For instance, by choosing  $\rho_{ij}^* = \rho_{1i}^* \rho_{1j}^* = \frac{\beta_i^* \beta_j^*}{\beta_{-}^2}$ ,  $2 \le i < j \le d$ , we check that  $C(\rho^*) \in C(\rho^*)$ 

132

#### 5.5. Appendix

 $\mathbb{S}_{>+}^d$ . A sufficient condition is  $\underline{\beta}_1 > \max_{j \neq 1} \underline{\beta}_j$ . Therefore, if  $\underline{\beta}_1 > \max_{i \neq 1} \underline{\beta}_i$ , then

$$\min_{\Delta \times \mathbb{C}_{>+}^{d}} R(b,\rho) = \underline{\beta}_{1}^{2},$$

$$b_{1}^{*} = \underline{b}_{1}, \ \rho_{1i}^{*} = \frac{\beta_{i}^{*}}{\underline{\beta}_{1}} \quad \text{for any } \beta_{i}^{*} \in [\underline{\beta}_{i}, \min(\bar{\beta}_{i}, \underline{\beta}_{1})).$$
(5.5.48)

Moreover, in this case, we obtain from (5.5.46)

$$\kappa(b^*, \rho^*) = \Sigma(\rho^*)^{-1}b^* = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{b_1^*}{\sigma_1^2} - \frac{C^*}{\sigma_1^2}A^{-1}(b^*_{-1} - \frac{C}{\sigma_1^2})\\ A^{-1}(b^*_{-1} - \frac{C}{\sigma_1^2})) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{b_1}{\sigma_1^2}\\ \mathbf{0}_{(d-1)\times 1} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (5.5.49)

# 5.5.7 Proof of Proposition 5.4.5

As  $\Delta$  and  $\Gamma$  are compact, we know that  $\min_{\Delta \times \Gamma} R(b, \rho)$  exists. In the following, we compute the minimum  $(b^*, \rho^*)$  of  $R(b, \rho)$  by using (5.5.7) with d = 2: for any  $(b, \rho) \in \prod_{i=1}^2 [\underline{b}_i, \overline{b}_i] \times [\underline{\rho}, \overline{\rho}]$ ,

$$\sum_{1 \le i \le 2} \kappa^{i}(b^{*}, \rho^{*})(b_{i} - b_{i}^{*}) - \sigma_{1}\sigma_{2}\kappa^{1}(b^{*}, \rho^{*})\kappa^{2}(b^{*}, \rho^{*})(\rho - \rho^{*}) \ge 0,$$
(5.5.50)

where  $\kappa(b, \rho)$  is explicitly written as

$$\kappa(b,\rho) = \Sigma(\rho)^{-1}b = \frac{1}{1-\rho^2} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{b_1}{\sigma_1^2} - \frac{b_2}{\sigma_1\sigma_2}\rho\\ \frac{b_2}{\sigma_2^2} - \frac{b_1}{\sigma_1\sigma_2}\rho \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (5.5.51)

From (5.5.50), we have the following cases:

- 1. If  $\kappa^1(b^*, \rho^*) \neq 0$ ,  $\kappa^2(b^*, \rho^*) = 0$ , then solving (5.5.51) yields  $\rho^* = \frac{\beta_2^*}{\beta_1^*}$  and  $\kappa^1(b^*, \rho^*) = \frac{b_1^*}{\sigma_1^2} \ge \frac{b_1}{\sigma_1^2} > 0$ . Substituting these back in (5.5.50), we have  $b_1^* = \underline{b}_1$  and  $\rho^* = \frac{\beta_2^*}{\beta_1} \in [\frac{\beta_2}{\beta_1}, \min(1, \frac{\overline{\beta}_2}{\beta_1})]$ . As  $\rho^*$  has to belong to  $[\underline{\rho}, \overline{\rho}]$ , we have  $[\frac{\beta_2}{\beta_1}, \min(1, \frac{\overline{\beta}_2}{\beta_1})] \cap [\underline{\rho}, \overline{\rho}] \neq \emptyset$ , i.e.  $\underline{\rho} \le \min(1, \frac{\overline{\beta}_2}{\beta_1})$  and  $\overline{\rho} \ge \frac{\beta_2}{\beta_1}$ . This is the case as described in 1. of Proposition 5.4.5.
- **2.** If  $\kappa^{1}(b^{*}, \rho^{*}) = 0$ ,  $\kappa^{2}(b^{*}, \rho^{*}) \neq 0$ , then solving (5.5.51) yields  $\rho^{*} = \frac{\beta_{1}^{*}}{\beta_{2}^{*}}$  and  $\kappa^{2}(b^{*}, \rho^{*}) = \frac{b_{2}^{*}}{\sigma_{2}^{2}} \geq \frac{b_{2}}{\sigma_{2}^{2}} > 0$ . Substituting these in (5.5.50), we have  $b_{2}^{*} = \underline{b}_{2}$  and  $\rho^{*} = \frac{\beta_{1}^{*}}{\underline{\beta}_{2}} \geq \frac{\beta_{1}}{\underline{\beta}_{2}} \geq 1$ , a contradiction with  $|\rho^{*}| < 1$ .
- **3.** If  $\kappa^1(b^*, \rho^*) > 0$ ,  $\kappa^2(b^*, \rho^*) > 0$ , then we have  $b^* = (\underline{b}_1, \underline{b}_2)$ ,  $\rho^* = \overline{\rho}$ . Using (5.5.51), we obtain  $\overline{\rho} < \frac{\beta_2}{\beta_1}$ , which is described as in case **2.** of Proposition 5.4.5.
- **4.** If  $\kappa^1(b^*, \rho^*) > 0$ ,  $\kappa^2(b^*, \rho^*) < 0$ , then we have  $b^* = (\underline{b}_1, \overline{b}_2)$ ,  $\rho^* = \underline{\rho}$ . Using (5.5.51), we obtain  $\underline{\rho} > \min(1, \frac{\overline{\beta}_2}{\underline{\beta}_1})$ , which is described in case **3.** of Proposition 5.4.5.
- **5.** If  $\kappa^1(b^*, \rho^*) < 0$ ,  $\kappa^2(b^*, \rho^*) > 0$ , then we have  $b^* = (\bar{b}_1, \underline{b}_2)$ ,  $\rho^* = \underline{\rho}$ . Using (5.5.51), we obtain  $\bar{\beta}_1 < \underline{\rho} \ \underline{\beta}_2$ , a contradiction with  $\underline{\beta}_1 \geq \underline{\beta}_2$ .

6. If  $\kappa^1(b^*, \rho^*) < 0$ ,  $\kappa^2(b^*, \rho^*) < 0$ , then we have  $b^* = (\bar{b}_1, \bar{b}_2)$ ,  $\rho^* = \bar{\rho}$ . Using (5.5.51), we obtain  $\bar{\beta}_1 < \bar{\rho}\bar{\beta}_2$  and  $\bar{\beta}_2 < \bar{\rho}\bar{\beta}_1$ , a contradiction with natural bound of  $|\bar{\rho}| < 1$ .

## 5.5.8 Proof of Proposition 5.4.6

As  $\Delta = \prod_{i=1}^{3} [\underline{b}_{i}, \overline{b}_{i}]$  and  $\Gamma = \prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq 3} [\underline{\rho}_{ij}, \overline{\rho}_{ij}]$  are compact, we already know that  $(b^{*}, \rho^{*}) = \arg \min_{\Delta \times \Gamma} R(b, \rho)$  exists. we compute the minimum of the function  $(b, \rho) \mapsto R(b, \rho)$  over  $\Delta \times \Gamma$  by applying the optimality condition (5.5.7) when d = 3:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{3} \kappa^{i}(b^{*}, \rho^{*})(b_{i} - b_{i}^{*}) - \sum_{j=1}^{3} \sum_{i=1}^{j-1} \sigma_{i} \sigma_{j} \kappa^{i} \kappa^{j}(\rho^{*})(\rho_{ij} - \rho_{ij}^{*}) \geq 0.$$
(5.5.52)

We consider the following possible exclusive cases depending on the number of zero components in  $\hat{\kappa}(b^*, \rho^*)$ :

**1.**  $\kappa^1 \kappa^2(b^*, \rho^*) = 0$ ,  $\kappa^1 \kappa^3(b^*, \rho^*) = 0$ ,  $\kappa^2 \kappa^3(b^*, \rho^*) = 0$ .

In this case, (5.5.52) immediately holds. As we assume that  $\underline{\beta}_1 \geq \underline{\beta}_2 \geq \underline{\beta}_3 > 0$ , (5.5.48) and (5.5.49) in Section 5.5.6 yields the explicit expression of  $(b^*, \rho^*)$ ,  $\kappa(\overline{b^*}, \rho^*)$  and  $\overline{R}(b^*, \rho^*)$ 

$$b_1^* = \underline{b}_1, \ \rho_{1j}^* = \frac{\beta_j^*}{\underline{\beta}_1}, \quad \text{for any } \rho_{1j}^* \in [\underline{\rho}_{1j}, \bar{\rho}_{1j}] \cap [\frac{\underline{\beta}_j}{\underline{\beta}_1}, \min(1, \frac{\bar{\beta}_j}{\underline{\beta}_1})), \quad j = 2, 3, \tag{5.5.53}$$

and

$$\kappa(b^*, \rho^*) = (\frac{\underline{b}_1}{\sigma_1^2}, 0, 0)^{\intercal}, \ R(\theta^*) = \underline{\beta}_1^2.$$
(5.5.54)

Let us show that  $\underline{\beta}_1^2$  is strict minimum value in the sense that  $R(\theta^*) = \underline{\beta}_1^2$  if and only if  $b_1^* = \underline{b}_1$ ,  $b_2^* = \underline{b}_1 \rho_{12}^*$ ,  $b_3^* = \underline{b}_1 \rho_{13}^*$ . From the block-matrix form of  $\Sigma(\rho)^{-1}$  in (5.5.35), we write  $R(b, \rho)$  as two nonnegative parts

$$R(b,\rho) = \beta_1^2 + (b_{-1} - \frac{b_1}{\sigma_1^2} C_1)^{\mathsf{T}} A^{-1} (b_{-1} - \frac{b_1}{\sigma_1^2} C_1)$$
  
 
$$\geq \underline{\beta}_1^2,$$

where  $C_1 = (\sigma_1 \sigma_2 \rho_{12}, \sigma_1 \sigma_3 \rho_{13})^{\intercal}$  and  $A = \Sigma_{-1}(\rho_{23}) - \frac{C_1 C_1^{\intercal}}{\sigma_1^4} > \mathbf{0}$ . '=' holds true if and only if  $b_1 = \underline{b}_1$  and  $b_{-1} - \frac{\underline{b}_1}{\sigma_1^2} C_1 = 0$ , i.e.  $b_1^* = \underline{b}_1, \beta_2^* = \underline{\beta}_1 \rho_{12}^*, \beta_3^* = \underline{\beta}_1 \rho_{13}^*$ .

**2.**  $\kappa^1 \kappa^2(b^*, \rho^*) \neq 0, \, \kappa^1 \kappa^3(b^*, \rho^*) = 0, \, \kappa^2 \kappa^3(b^*, \rho^*) = 0.$ In this case, we obtain from (5.5.36)

$$\begin{cases} \binom{\kappa^{1}(b,\rho)}{\kappa^{2}(b,\rho)} = \Sigma_{-3}(\rho_{12})^{-1}b_{-3} - \kappa^{3}(\rho)\Sigma_{-3}(\rho_{12})^{-1}C_{3} \\ \kappa^{3}(b,\rho) = \frac{1}{a(\rho)}(b_{3} - C_{3}^{\intercal}\Sigma_{-3}(\rho_{12})^{-1}b_{-3}) \end{cases}$$
(5.5.55)

and

$$R(b,\rho) = b_{-3}^{\mathsf{T}} \Sigma_{-3}(\rho_{12})^{-1} b_{-3} + a(\rho) \left(\kappa^3(b,\rho)\right)^2.$$
(5.5.56)

## 5.5. Appendix

When there is no ambiguity, we write  $b_{-3}\Sigma_{-3}(\rho_{12})b_{-3}$  as  $R(b_{-3},\rho_{12})$ . As  $\kappa^3(b^*,\rho^*)=0$ , we get from (5.5.52) that

$$\kappa^{1}(b^{*},\rho^{*})(b_{1}-b_{1}^{*})+\kappa^{2}(b^{*},\rho^{*})(b_{2}-b_{2}^{*})-\sigma_{1}\sigma_{2}\kappa^{1}\kappa^{2}(b^{*},\rho^{*})(\rho_{12}-\rho_{12}^{*}) \geq 0. \quad (5.5.57)$$

and from (5.5.55) and (5.5.56) that

$$\begin{cases} \binom{\kappa^{1}(b_{-3}^{*},\rho_{12}^{*})}{\kappa^{2}(b_{-3}^{*},\rho_{12}^{*})} = \Sigma_{-3}(\rho_{12}^{*})^{-1}b_{-3}^{*} \\ R(b^{*},\rho^{*}) = R(b_{-3}^{*},\rho_{12}^{*}) \end{cases}$$
(5.5.58)

This is the case of mixing drift uncertainty  $(b_1, b_2)$  in  $[\underline{b}_1, \overline{b}_1] \times [\underline{b}_2, \overline{b}_2]$  and correlation ambiguity  $\rho_{12} \in [\underline{\rho}_{12}, \overline{\rho}_{12}]$  in the two-risky asset described in Proposition 5.4.5. Therefore, we obtain the explicit expression of  $b_1^*$ ,  $b_2^*$  and  $\rho_{12}^*$ 

$$b_{1}^{*} = \underline{b}_{1}, \ b_{2}^{*} = \underline{b}_{2} \mathbf{1}_{\{\bar{\rho}_{12} < \frac{\beta_{2}}{\beta_{1}}\}} + \bar{b}_{2} \mathbf{1}_{\{\underline{\rho}_{12} > \frac{\bar{\beta}_{2}}{\beta_{1}}\}}, \ \rho_{12}^{*} = \underline{\rho}_{12} \mathbf{1}_{\{\bar{\rho}_{12} < \frac{\beta_{2}}{\beta_{1}}\}} + \bar{\rho}_{12} \mathbf{1}_{\{\underline{\rho}_{12} > \frac{\bar{\beta}_{2}}{\beta_{1}}\}}$$
(5.5.59)

By setting  $g(b_1^*, b_2^*, b_3, \rho_{12}^*, \rho_{13}, \rho_{23}) := a(b_1^*, b_2^*, b_3, \rho_{12}^*, \rho_{13}, \rho_{23}) \kappa^3(b_1^*, b_2^*, b_3, \rho_{12}^*, \rho_{13}, \rho_{23})$  for fixed  $b_1^*, b_2^*$  and  $\rho_{12}^*$  in (5.5.59), we deduce from (5.5.55) that the function

$$(b_3, \rho_{13}, \rho_{23}) \mapsto g(b_1^*, b_2^*, b_3, \rho_{12}^*, \rho_{13}, \rho_{23}) = b_3 - \sigma_1 \sigma_3 \rho_{13} \kappa^1 (b_{-3}^*, \rho_{12}^*) - \sigma_2 \sigma_3 \rho_{23} \kappa^2 (b_{-3}^*, \rho_{12}^*)$$

is linear in  $(b_3, \rho_{13}, \rho_{23}) \in [\underline{b}_3, \overline{b}_3] \times [\underline{\rho}_{13}, \overline{\rho}_{13}] \times [\underline{\rho}_{23}, \overline{\rho}_{23}]$ , and has the same sign as  $\kappa^3(b_1^*, b_2^*, b_3, \rho_{12}^*, \rho_{13}, \rho_{23})$  due to the positiveness of  $a(b_1^*, b_2^*, b_3, \rho_{12}^*, \rho_{13}, \rho_{23}) = 0$ . To study the condition of  $\kappa^3(b_1^*, b_2^*, b_3, \rho_{12}^*, \rho_{13}, \rho_{23})$ , we discuss it in the following two cases:

(i) If  $\bar{\rho}_{12} < \frac{\underline{\beta}_2}{\underline{\beta}_1}$ , then  $\kappa^1(\underline{b}_1, \underline{b}_2, \bar{\rho}_{12}) > 0$ ,  $\kappa^2(\underline{b}_1, \underline{b}_2, \bar{\rho}_{12}) > 0$ , the linear function  $(b_3, \rho_{13}, \rho_{23}) \mapsto g(\underline{b}_1, \underline{b}_2, b_3, \bar{\rho}_{12}, \rho_{13}, \rho_{23})$  is increasing in  $b_3$ , decreasing in  $\rho_{13}$  and  $\rho_{23}$ . To ensure that the function  $g(\underline{b}_1, \underline{b}_2, b_3, \bar{\rho}_{12}, \rho_{13}, \rho_{23})$  has a root in  $[\underline{b}_3, \bar{b}_3] \times [\underline{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{13}] \times [\underline{\rho}_{23}, \bar{\rho}_{23}]$ , we need

$$g(\underline{b}_1, \underline{b}_2, \underline{b}_3, \bar{\rho}_{12}, \bar{\rho}_{13}, \bar{\rho}_{23}) \leq 0 \leq g(\underline{b}_1, \underline{b}_2, b_3, \bar{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23}),$$

or equivalently,

$$\kappa^3(\underline{b}_1,\underline{b}_2,\underline{b}_3,\bar{\rho}_{12},\bar{\rho}_{13},\bar{\rho}_{23}) \le 0 \le \kappa^3(\underline{b}_1,\underline{b}_2,\bar{b}_3,\bar{\rho}_{12},\underline{\rho}_{13},\underline{\rho}_{23}).$$

(ii) If  $\underline{\rho}_{12} > \min(1, \frac{\beta_2}{\underline{\beta}_1})$ , then  $\kappa^1(\underline{b}_1, \overline{b}_2, \underline{\rho}_{12}) > 0$ ,  $\kappa^2(\underline{b}_1, \overline{b}_2, \underline{\rho}_{12}) < 0$ . The linear function  $(b_3, \rho_{13}, \rho_{23}) \mapsto g(\underline{b}_1, \overline{b}_2, b_3, \underline{\rho}_{12}, \rho_{13}, \rho_{23})$  is increasing in  $b_3$  and  $\rho_{23}$ , and decreasing in  $\rho_{13}$ . As  $(b_3^*, \rho_{13}^*, \rho_{23}^*)$  satisfying  $g(\underline{b}_1, \overline{b}_2, b_3^*, \underline{\rho}_{12}, \rho_{13}^*, \rho_{23}^*) = 0$  has to belong to  $[\underline{b}_3, \overline{b}_3] \times [\underline{\rho}_{13}, \overline{\rho}_{13}] \times [\underline{\rho}_{23}, \overline{\rho}_{23}]$ , we obtain

$$\kappa^3(\underline{b}_1, \overline{b}_2, \overline{b}_3, \underline{\rho}_{12}, \underline{\rho}_{13}, \overline{\rho}_{23}) \ge 0 \ge \kappa^3(\underline{b}_1, \overline{b}_2, \underline{b}_3, \underline{\rho}_{12}, \overline{\rho}_{13}, \underline{\rho}_{23})$$

Therefore, we deduce that

$$R(b,\rho) \geq R(\underline{b}_{1},\underline{b}_{2},\bar{\rho}_{12})1_{\{\bar{\rho}_{12}<\frac{\beta_{2}}{\bar{\beta}_{1}}\}} + R(\underline{b}_{1},\bar{b}_{2},\underline{\rho}_{12})1_{\{\underline{\rho}_{12}>\frac{\bar{\beta}_{2}}{\bar{\beta}_{1}}\}}$$
(5.5.60)

and that '=' holds if and only if  $b_1^* = \underline{b}_1$ ,  $b_2^* = \underline{b}_2 \mathbf{1}_{\{\bar{\rho}_{12} < \frac{\beta}{\underline{\beta}_1}\}} + \overline{b}_2 \mathbf{1}_{\{\underline{\rho}_{12} > \frac{\beta}{\underline{\beta}_1}\}}$ ,  $\rho_{12}^* = \underline{\rho}_{12} \mathbf{1}_{\{\underline{\rho}_{12} \geq \frac{\beta}{\underline{\beta}_1}\}} + \bar{\rho}_{12} \mathbf{1}_{\{\underline{\rho}_{12} \leq \frac{\beta}{\underline{\beta}_1}\}}$ . This corresponds to the subcases **2.**(i) and **2.**(ii) as described in Proposition 5.4.6. **3.**  $\kappa^1 \kappa^2(b^*, \rho^*) = 0$ ,  $\kappa^1 \kappa^3(b^*, \rho^*) \neq 0$ ,  $\kappa^2 \kappa^3(b^*, \rho^*) = 0$ . In this case, we make permutations as follows,

$$\begin{pmatrix} \kappa^{-2}(b,\rho) \\ \kappa^{2}(b,\rho) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \Sigma_{-2}(\rho_{13}) & C_{2} \\ C_{2}^{\mathsf{T}} & \sigma_{2}^{2} \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix}^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} b_{-2} \\ b_{2} \end{pmatrix},$$
 (5.5.61)

where  $\kappa^{-2}(b,\rho) = (\kappa^1(b,\rho), \kappa^3(b,\rho))^{\intercal}$  and  $C_2 = (\sigma_1 \sigma_2 \rho_{12}, \sigma_2 \sigma_3 \rho_{23})^{\intercal}$ . Using (5.5.61) and proceeding with the same arguments as in the case **2.**, we obtain the result of  $\kappa^2(b^*, \rho^*) = 0$ ,  $\kappa^1 \kappa^3(b^*, \rho^*) \neq 0$ as described in case **3.**(i) and **3.**(ii) of Proposition 5.4.6. Proceeding with the same arguments as in the case of  $\kappa^3(b^*, \rho^*) = 0$ , we obtain the results of case  $\kappa^2(b^*, \rho^*) = 0$  described in subcase **3.**(i) and **3.**(ii) of Proposition 5.4.6

**4.**  $\kappa^1 \kappa^2(b^*, \rho^*) = 0, \ \kappa^1 \kappa^3(b^*, \rho^*) = 0, \ \kappa^2 \kappa^3(b^*, \rho^*) \neq 0.$ Note that

$$\begin{pmatrix} \kappa^{-1}(b,\rho) \\ \kappa^{1}(b,\rho) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \Sigma_{-1}(\rho_{23}) & C_{1} \\ C_{1}^{\mathsf{T}} & \sigma_{1}^{2} \end{pmatrix}^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} b_{-1} \\ b_{1} \end{pmatrix},$$
 (5.5.62)

where  $\kappa^{-1}(b,\rho) = (\kappa^2(b,\rho), \kappa^3(b,\rho))^{\intercal}$  and the vector  $C_1 = (\sigma_1 \sigma_2 \rho_{12}, \sigma_1 \sigma_3 \rho_{13})^{\intercal}$ . Using (5.5.62) and proceeding with the same arguments as in case **2.**, we obtain the result of  $\kappa^1(b^*, \rho^*) = 0$ ,  $\kappa^2 \kappa^3(b^*, \rho^*) \neq 0$  as described in subcases **4.**(i) and **4.**(ii) of Proposition 5.4.6.

**5.**  $\kappa^1 \kappa^2(b^*, \rho^*) \neq 0, \ \kappa^1 \kappa^3(b^*, \rho^*) \neq 0, \ \kappa^2 \kappa^3(b^*, \rho^*) \neq 0.$ 

In this case, we see from (5.5.52) that each  $b_i^*$  takes value in  $\{\underline{b}_i, \overline{b}_i\}$  depending on the sign of  $\kappa^i(b^*, \rho^*)$ and that each  $\rho_{ij}^*$  takes value in  $\{\underline{\rho}_{ij}, \overline{\rho}_{ij}\}$  depending on the sign of  $\kappa^i \kappa^j(b^*, \rho^*)$ . Moreover, due to

the assumption  $\underline{\beta}_1 > \underline{\beta}_2 > \underline{\beta}_3 > 0$ , we obtain that  $R(b^*, \rho^*) = \sum_{i=1}^3 b_i^* \kappa^i(b^*, \rho^*) > 0$ , hence at least one component of  $\kappa(b^*, \rho^*)$  is positive. By combination, there are 7 possible subcases as described in case **5.** of Proposition 5.4.6.

As  $\kappa^i \kappa^j(b^*, \rho^*) \neq 0$  in each possible subcase, l.h.s of (5.5.52) is strictly negative for any  $(b, \rho) \in \Delta \times \Gamma \setminus \{(b^*, \rho^*)\}$ . From first order condition of convexity of  $R(b, \rho)$  at point  $(b^*, \rho^*)$ , we have for any  $(b, \rho) \in \Delta \times \Gamma \setminus \{(b^*, \rho^*)\}$ 

$$R(b,\rho) \geq R(b^*,\rho^*) + \sum_{i=1}^{3} \kappa^i(b^*,\rho^*)(b_i - b_i^*) - \sum_{j=1}^{3} \sum_{i=1}^{j-1} \sigma_i \sigma_j \kappa^i \kappa^j(\rho^*)(\rho_{ij} - \rho_{ij}^*) > R(b^*,\rho^*),$$

which indicates that  $(b^*, \rho^*)$  in each subcase of case 5. in Proposition 5.4.6 is strict minimum of  $R(b, \rho)$ .

As  $R(b, \rho)$  in each subcase is strict minimum value, we conclude that each subcase in Proposition 5.4.6 is exclusive.

136

# Bibliography

- [ABP17] R. Aïd, M. Basei, and H. Pham. The coordination of centralised and distributed generation. arXiv preprint arXiv:1705.01302, 17.
- [AD01] N. U. Ahmed and X. Ding. Controlled McKean-Vlasov equation. Communications on Applied Analysis, 5:183–206, 2001.
- [AD10] D. Andersson and B. Djehiche. A maximum principle for SDEs of mean-field type. *Applied Mathematics and Optimization*, 63:341–356, 2010.
- [AGS08] L. Ambrosio, N. Gigli, and G. Savaré. Gradient Flows: in Metric Spaces and in the Space of Probability Measures. Springer Science & Business Media, 2008.
- [Ahu16] S. Ahuja. Wellposedness of mean field games with common noise under a weak monotonicity condition. *SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization*, 54(1):30–48, 2016.
- [BC10] S. Basak and G. Chabakauri. Dynamic mean-variance asset allocation. The Review of Financial Studies, 23(8):2970–3016, 2010.
- [BCP18] E. Bayraktar, A. Cosso, and H. Pham. Randomized dynamic programming principle and Feynman-Kac representation for optimal control of McKean-Vlasov dynamics. *Transactions* of the American Mathematical Society, 370(3):2115–2160, 2018.
- [BDL11] R. Buckdahn, B. Djehiche, and J. Li. A general stochastic maximum principle for SDEs of mean-field type. Applied Mathematics and Optimization, 64(2):197–216, 2011.
- [BFY13] A. Bensoussan, J. Frehse, and P. Yam. Mean Field Games and Mean Field Type Control theory. *Springer Briefs in Mathematics*, 2013.
- [BFY15] A. Bensoussan, J. Frehse, and P. Yam. The Master equation in mean-field theory. Journal de Mathématiques Pures et Appliquées, 103(6):1441–1474, 2015.
- [BFY17] A. Bensoussan, J. Frehse, and P. Yam. On the interpretation of the Master equation. Stochastic Processes and their Applications, 127(7):2093–2137, 2017.
- [BGUW12] P. Boyle, L. Garlappi, R. Uppal, and T. Wang. Keynes meets Markowitz: The trade-off between familiarity and diversification. *Management Science*, 58(2):253–272, 2012.
- [BHL<sup>+</sup>18] A. Balata, C. Huré, M. Laurière, H. Pham, and I. Pimentel. A class of Finite-Dimensional Numerically Solvable McKean-Vlasov Control Problems. CEMRACS 2017, to appear, 2018.
- [BK17] D. Becherer and K. Kentia. Good deal hedging and valuation under combined uncertainty about drift and volatility. *Probability, Uncertainty and Quantitative Risk*, 2(1):13, 2017.
- [BLM17] R. Buckdahn, J. Li, and J. Ma. A mean-field stochastic control problem with partial observations. *The Annals of Applied Probability*, 27(5):3201–3245, 2017.
- [BLPR17] R. Buckdahn, J. Li, S. Peng, and C. Rainer. Mean-field stochastic differential equations and associated PDEs. *The Annals of Probability*, 45(2):824–878, 2017.

- [BM14] T. Björk and A. Murgoci. A theory of Markovian time-inconsistent stochastic control in discrete time. *Finance and Stochastics*, 18(3):545–592, 2014.
- [BP17] M. Basei and H. Pham. Linear-quadratic McKean-Vlasov stochastic control problems with random coefficients on finite and infinite horizon, and applications. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1711.09390*, 17.
- [BP17] S. Biagini and M. Pınar. The robust Merton problem of an ambiguity averse investor. Mathematics and Financial Economics, 11(1):1–24, 2017.
- [BSYY16] A. Bensoussan, K. C. Sung, P. Yam, and S. P. Yung. Linear-quadratic mean field games. Journal of Optimization Theory and Applications, 169(2):496–529, 2016.
- [BTMN00] A. Ben-Tal, Margalit, and Arkadi Nemirovski. Robust modeling of multi-stage portfolio problems. In *High performance optimization*, pages 303–328. Springer, 2000.
- [BV04] S. Boyd and L. Vandenberghe. *Convex optimization*. Cambridge university press, 2004.
- [Car12] P. Cardaliaguet. Notes on mean field games. Notes from P.L.Lions lectures at Collège de France, https://www.ceremade.dauphine.fr/ cardaliaguet/MFG20130420.pdf, 2012.
- [CCD15] J. F. Chassagneux, D. Crisan, and F. Delarue. A probabilistic approach to classical solutions of the master equation for large population equilibria. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1411.3009*, 2015.
- [CCS07] L. E. Calvet, J. Y. Campbell, and P. Sodini. Down or out: Assessing the welfare costs of household investment mistakes. *Journal of Political Economy*, 115(5):707–747, 2007.
- [CD14] R. Carmona and F. Delarue. The master equation for large population equilibriums. In Stochastic analysis and applications 2014, pages 77–128. Springer, 2014.
- [CD15] R. Carmona and F. Delarue. Forward-backward stochastic differential equations and controlled McKean–Vlasov dynamics. *The Annals of Probability*, 43(5):2647–2700, 2015.
- [CD18] R. Carmona and F. Delarue. Probabilistic Theory of Mean Field Games with Applications I-II. Springer, 2018.
- [CDH18] Z. Chen, K. Ding, and N. Huang. Robust mean variance optimization problem under Rényi divergence information. Optimization, 67(2):287–307, 2018.
- [CDL13] R. Carmona, F. Delarue, and A. Lachapelle. Control of Mckean–Vlasov dynamics versus mean field games. *Mathematics and Financial Economics*, 7(2):131–166, 2013.
- [CDL16] R. Carmona, F. Delarue, and D. Lacker. Mean field games with common noise. The Annals of Probability, 44(6):3740–3803, 2016.
- [CDLL15] P. Cardaliaguet, F. Delarue, J. M. Lasry, and P. L. Lions. The Master equation and the convergence problem in mean field games. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1509.02505*, 2015.
- [CFS15] R. Carmona, J. P. Fouque, and L. Sun. Mean field games and systemic risk. Communications in Mathematical Sciences, 13(4):911–933, 2015.
- [CK94] I. Cooper and E. Kaplanis. Home bias in equity portfolios, inflation hedging, and international capital market equilibrium. *The Review of Financial Studies*, 7(1):45–60, 1994.
- [CTT16] J. Claisse, D. Talay, and X. Tan. A pseudo-Markov property for controlled diffusion processes. SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization, 54(2):1017–1029, 2016.
- [CZ16] R. Carmona and X. Zhu. A probabilistic approach to mean field games with major and minor players. The Annals of Applied Probability, 26(3):1535–1580, 2016.
- [Dhr78] P. J. Dhrymes. Mathematics for econometrics. Technical report, Springer, 1978.
- [Doo94] J. L. Doob. *Measure theory*. Springer, 1994.

## BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [DV95] D. Dawson and J. Vaillancourt. Stochastic McKean-Vlasov equations. Nonlinear Differential Equations and Applications, 2(2):199–229, 1995.
- [ELN13] R. Elliott, X. Li, and Y. Ni. Discrete time mean-field stochastic linear-quadratic optimal control problems. *Automatica*, 49(11):3222–3233, 2013.
- [FGS15] G. Fabbri, F. Gozzi, and A. Swiech. Stochastic Optimal Control in Infinite Dimensions: Dynamic Programming and HJB Equations, with Chapter 6 by M. Fuhrman and G. Tessitore, 2015.
- [FK09] J. Feng and M. Katsoulakis. A comparison principle for Hamilton–Jacobi equations related to controlled gradient flows in infinite dimensions. Archive for rational mechanics and analysis, 192(2):275–310, 2009.
- [FL16] M. Fischer and G. Livieri. Continuous time mean-variance portfolio optimization through the mean field approach. ESAIM: Probability and Statistics, 20:30–44, 2016.
- [FP91] K. R. French and J. M. Poterba. Investor diversification and international equity markets. Technical report, National Bureau of Economic Research, 1991.
- [FP15] M. Fuhrman and H. Pham. Randomized and backward SDE representation for optimal control of non-Markovian SDEs. The Annals of Applied Probability, 25(4):2134–2167, 2015.
- [FPW16] J. P. Fouque, C. S. Pun, and H. Y. Wong. Portfolio optimization with ambiguous correlation and stochastic volatilities. SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization, 54(5):2309–2338, 2016.
- [FS06] W. H. Fleming and H. M. Soner. Controlled Markov processes and viscosity solutions, volume 25. Springer Science and Business Media, 2006.
- [GL16] M. Guidolin and H. Liu. Ambiguity aversion and underdiversification. Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis, 51(4):1297–1323, 2016.
- [GLL11] O. Guéant, J.M. Lasry, and P.L. Lions. Mean field games and applications. In Paris-Princeton lectures on mathematical finance 2010, pages 205–266. Springer, 2011.
- [GNT08] W. Gangbo, T. Nguyen, and A. Tudorascu. Hamilton-Jacobi equations in the Wasserstein space. Methods and Applications of Analysis, 15(2):155–184, 2008.
- [GS15a] W. Gangbo and A. Święch. Existence of a solution to an equation arising from the theory of mean field games. *Journal of Differential Equations*, 259(11):6573–6643, 2015.
- [GŚ15b] W. Gangbo and A. Święch. Metric viscosity solutions of Hamilton–Jacobi equations depending on local slopes. Calculus of Variations and Partial Differential Equations, 54(1):1183– 1218, 2015.
- [GT18] W. Gangbo and A. Tudorascu. On differentiability in the Wasserstein space and wellposedness for Hamilton–Jacobi equations. Journal de Mathématiques Pures et Appliquées, 2018.
- [GUW06] L. Garlappi, R. Uppal, and T. Wang. Portfolio selection with parameter and model uncertainty: A multi-prior approach. *The Review of Financial Studies*, 20(1):41–81, 2006.
- [GX13] P. Glasserman and X. Xu. Robust portfolio control with stochastic factor dynamics. Operations Research, 61(4):874–893, 2013.
- [HMC06] M. Huang, R. Malhamé, and P. Caines. Large population stochastic dynamic games: closedloop McKean-Vlasov systems and the Nash certainty equivalence principle. Communications in Information and Systems, 6(3):221–252, 2006.

- [Hub01] G. Huberman. Familiarity breeds investment. The Review of Financial Studies, 14(3):659–680, 2001.
- [IP17] A. Ismail and H. Pham. Robust Markowitz mean-variance portfolio selection under ambiguous covariance matrix. *Mathematical Finance*, 2017.
- [JM03] R. Jagannathan and T. Ma. Risk reduction in large portfolios: Why imposing the wrong constraints helps. *The Journal of Finance*, 58(4):1651–1683, 2003.
- [JMW08] B. Jourdain, S. Méléard, and W. Woyczynski. Nonlinear SDEs driven by Lévy processes and related PDEs. ALEA, Latin American Journal of Probability, 4:1–29, 2008.
- [JZ15] H. Jin and X. Y. Zhou. Continuous-time portfolio selection under ambiguity. Mathematical Control and Related Fields, 5:475–488, 2015.
- [Kac56] M. Kac. Foundations of kinetic theory. In Proceedings of the Third Berkeley Symposium on Mathematical Statistics and Probability, volume 3, pages 171–197. University of California Press Berkeley and Los Angeles, California, 1956.
- [Kry08] N. Krylov. Controlled diffusion processes, volume 14. Springer Science and Business Media, 2008.
- [KX99] T. Kurtz and J. Xiong. Particle representations for a class of nonlinear SPDEs. Stochastic Processes and their Applications, 83(1):103–126, 1999.
- [Lac16] D. Lacker. A general characterization of the mean field limit for stochastic differential games. Probability Theory and Related Fields, 165(3-4):581–648, 2016.
- [Lac17] D. Lacker. Limit Theory for Controlled McKean–Vlasov Dynamics. SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization, 55(3):1641–1672, 2017.
- [Lio88] P. L. Lions. Viscosity solutions of fully nonlinear second order equations and optimal stochastic control in infinite dimensions. Part I: the case of bounded stochastic evolutions. 161:243– 278, 1988.
- [Lio89a] P. L. Lions. Viscosity solutions of fully nonlinear second order equations and optimal stochastic control in infinite dimensions. Part II: optimal control of Zakai's equation. In *Stochastic* partial differential equations and applications II, pages 147–170. Springer, 1989.
- [Lio89b] P. L. Lions. Viscosity solutions of fully nonlinear second-order equations and optimal stochastic control in infinite dimensions. Part III: Uniqueness of viscosity solutions for general secondorder equations. Journal of Functional Analysis, 86(1):1–18, 1989.
- [Lio12] P. L. Lions. Théorie des jeux à champs moyen. Cours au Collège de France www. college-defrance. fr/site/pierre-louis-lions/, 2006-2012.
- [LL07] J. M. Lasry and P. L. Lions. Mean field games. Japanese journal of mathematics, 2(1):229– 260, 2007.
- [LP14] M. Laurière and O. Pironneau. Dynamic programming for mean-field type control. *Comptes Rendus Mathematique*, 352(9):707–713, 2014.
- [LR14] Q. Lin and F. Riedel. Optimal consumption and portfolio choice with ambiguity. *arXiv* preprint arXiv:1401.1639, 2014.
- [LW04] O. Ledoit and M. Wolf. A well-conditioned estimator for large-dimensional covariance matrices. Journal of multivariate analysis, 88(2):365–411, 2004.
- [LZ00] D. Li and X.Y. Zhou. Continuous-time mean-variance portfolio selection: A stochastic LQ framework. Applied Mathematics and Optimization, 42(1):19–33, 2000.

## BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [LZ17] J. Liu and X. Zeng. Correlation Ambiguity and Under-Diversification. preprint, available at https://ssrn.com/abstract=2692692 or http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2692692, 2017.
- [Mar52] H. Markowitz. Portfolio selection. The journal of finance, 7(1):77–91, 1952.
- [McK67] H. P. McKean. Propagation of chaos for a class of non-linear parabolic equations. Stochastic Differential Equations (Lecture Series in Differential Equations, Session 7, Catholic Univ., 1967), pages 41–57, 1967.
- [MPZ15] A. Matoussi, D. Possamaï, and C. Zhou. Robust utility maximization in nondominated models with 2BSDE: the uncertain volatility model. *Mathematical Finance*, 25(2):258–287, 2015.
- [MV07] T. Mitton and K. Vorkink. Equilibrium underdiversification and the preference for skewness. The Review of Financial Studies, 20(4):1255–1288, 2007.
- [NN18] A. Neufeld and M. Nutz. Robust utility maximization with Lévy processes. *Mathematical Finance*, 28(1):82–105, 2018.
- [Pen10] S. Peng. Nonlinear expectations and stochastic calculus under uncertainty. arXiv preprint arXiv:1002.4546, 2010.
- [Pha09] H. Pham. Continuous-time stochastic control and applications with financial applications. Stoch. Model. Appl. Probab, 61, 2009.
- [Pro05] P. Protter. Stochastic differential equations. In Stochastic integration and differential equations, pages 249–361. Springer, 2005.
- [PW16] H. Pham and X. Wei. Discrete Time McKean–Vlasov Control Problem: A Dynamic Programming Approach. Applied Mathematics and Optimization, 74(3):487–506, 2016.
- [PW17] H. Pham and X. Wei. Dynamic Programming for Optimal Control of Stochastic McKean– Vlasov Dynamics. SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization, 55(2):1069–1101, 2017.
- [PW18] H. Pham and X. Wei. Bellman equation and viscosity solutions for mean-field stochastic control problem. ESAIM: Control, Optimisation and Calculus of Variations, 24(1):437–461, 2018.
- [PWZ18] H. Pham, X. Wei, and C. Zhou. Portfolio diversification and model uncertainty: a robust dynamic mean-variance approach. arXiv preprint arXiv: 1809.01464, 2018.
- [RBM07] F. Rapisarda, D. Brigo, and F. Mercurio. Parameterizing correlations: a geometric interpretation. IMA Journal of Management Mathematics, 18(1):55–73, 2007.
- [RY99] D. Revuz and M. Yor. Continuous martingales and Brownian motion. 1999.
- [Sch96] E. Schultz. Workers put too much in their employer's stock. *Wall Street Journal*, page 1, 1996.
- [Sch07] A. Schied. Optimal investments for risk-and ambiguity-averse preferences: a duality approach. Finance and Stochastics, 11(1):107–129, 2007.
- [ST02] H. Soner and N. Touzi. Dynamic programming for stochastic target problems and geometric flows. *Journal of the European Mathematical Society*, 4(3):201–236, 2002.
- [Str85] H. Strasser. Mathematical theory of statistics: statistical experiments and asymptotic decision theory, volume 7. Walter de Gruyter, 1985.
- [Szn91] A. S. Sznitman. Topics in propagation of chaos. In Lecture Notes in Mathematics, pages 165–251. Springer, 1991.

- [Tal09] D. Talay. Model risk in finance: Some modeling and numerical analysis issues. In *Handbook of Numerical Analysis*, volume 15, pages 3–28. Elsevier, 2009.
- [TTU13] R. Tevzadze, T. Toronjadze, and T. Uzunashvili. Robust utility maximization for a diffusion market model with misspecified coefficients. *Finance and Stochastics*, 17(3):535–563, 2013.
- [UW03] R. Uppal and T. Wang. Model misspecification and underdiversification. The Journal of Finance, 58(6):2465–2486, 2003.
- [Vil08] C. Villani. Optimal transport: old and new, volume 338. Springer Science and Business Media, 2008.
- [VNV10] S. Van Nieuwerburgh and L. Veldkamp. Information acquisition and under-diversification. The Review of Economic Studies, 77(2):779–805, 2010.
- [Wag80] D. Wagner. Survey of measurable selection theorems: an update. In Measure Theory Oberwolfach 1979, pages 176–219. Springer, 1980.
- [Won68] W. M. Wonham. On a matrix Riccati equation of stochastic control. SIAM Journal on Control, 6(4):681–697, 1968.
- [WZ17] C. Wu and J. Zhang. An elementary proof for the structure of derivatives in probability measures. arXiv preprint arXiv:1705.08046, 2017.
- [Yon13] J. Yong. Linear-quadratic optimal control problems for mean-field stochastic differential equations. SIAM journal on Control and Optimization, 51(4):2809–2838, 2013.